






PROCLAMATION 
 

WHEREAS, On July 26, 1990, President George Herbert Walker Bush signed the Americans with 
Disabilities Act (ADA) into law; and 

WHEREAS, The ADA provides 54 million Americans with disabilities protection from 
discrimination in employment, access to goods and services, and communications; and 

WHEREAS, The new Civil Rights Division of the Texas Workforce Commission created by the 
Texas Legislature provides employment protections for people with disabilities; and 

WHEREAS, Texas employers have provided employees with disabilities with flexible work hours, 
sign language interpreters, accessible web sites, and adaptive technology; and 

WHEREAS, Since April of 1994, 23,091 building projects have been certified as compliant with 
the 'Texas Accessibility Standards’; 12,957 of these have received an "Access for All" decal; and 

WHEREAS, In an effort to meet the ADA's requirement to offer people with disabilities services 
in the most appropriate integrated setting, Texas implemented an initiative resulting in more 
than 5,000 individuals with disabilities moving from nursing facilities into less restrictive 
community services and more than 900 individuals with mental retardation or a related 
condition moving from large state institutions to community settings; and 

WHEREAS, Since 1990, Relay Texas, a service through which people with disabilities can communicate 
by telephone more efficiently and effectively, has translated more than 53 million calls; and 

WHEREAS, The Governor's Committee on People with Disabilities facilitates implementation of 
the ADA through a newly designed web page which includes compliance survey results of sports 
and performance arenas, city emergency preparedness sites, Texas jails, selected Texas cities 
and counties, state contracted hotels, updated information about assistance animals, 
employment protections and building accessibility 

NOW, THEREFORE the Mayor and the City of Leander do hereby proclaim July 27, 2014 as 

ADA Awareness Day 
Signed this 17th day of July, 2014.     Attest:             
__________________________                    _____________________________ 
Christopher Fielder, Mayor                                                    Debbie Haile, City Secretary 



 
 

1                                                                                 

 
 
 

MINUTES 
REGULAR CITY COUNCIL 

CITY OF LEANDER, TEXAS 
 

Pat Bryson Municipal Hall 
201 North Brushy Street ~ Leander, Texas 

Thursday ~ July 3, 2014 at 7:00 PM   

  
  1.  Open meeting, Invocation, Pledges of Allegiance  
        Mayor Fielder opened the meeting at 7:00 p.m. and welcomed those in attendance 
        Mayor Pro Tem Garcia delivered the invocation 
 
  2.  Roll Call 
       All present 
 
  3.  Staff Comments:  
       Steve Bosak, Director of Parks & Recreation informed Council about Liberty Fest 
 
  4.  Citizen Comments:  Three (3) minutes allowed per speaker  
       Please turn in speaker request form before the meeting begins 
       Rhonda Conatser,  1808 Southcreek Drive – asked that her neighborhood (Northcreek) be  
       cleaned up 
 
  5.  Proclamation recognizing July 2104 as “Open My World Therapeutic Riding Center” in the City of  
       Leander.  Sponsored by Council Member Dishongh 
       Council Member Dishongh read the Proclamation and presented it to Donna Rowland with 
       Open My World Therapeutic Riding Center 
 
       Donna Rowland gave a presentation to Council 

  
   
 
   
  6.  Approval of the minutes: June 19, 2014 
 
  7.  Acceptance of Modifications to Contributing Zone Plan for Heritage Glen Section 1 
 
  8.  Acceptance of Subdivision Infrastructure Improvements for Carneros Ranch Section One 
 
  9.  Second Reading of an Ordinance on Zoning Case #14-Z-010: amending Ordinance #05-018,  
       the Composite Zoning Ordinance a parcel located at 1405 Leander Drive, Leander, Williamson  
       County, Texas 
 
10.  Second Reading of an Ordinance on Zoning Case #14-Z-012: amending Ordinance #05-018,  
       the Composite Zoning Ordinance for a parcel generally located approximately 190 feet from the  

              Mayor – Christopher Fielder        Place 4 – Ron Abruzzese 
              Place 1 – Andrea Navarrette                                     Place 5 – Jason Dishongh  
              Place 2 – Kirsten Lynch                                            Place 6 – David Siebold  

   Place 3 – Simon Garcia (Mayor Pro Tem)                City Manager – Kent Cagle 
                                                                                                      

CONSENT AGENDA: ACTION 



 
 

2                                                                                 

       north of the intersection of Vista Ridge Drive and Bagdad Road on the west side of Bagdad  
       Road, Leander, Williamson County, Texas 
 
11.  A Resolution expressing Intent to Finance Expenditures to be incurred by the City of Leander,  
       Texas 
 
12.  Authorize City Manager to execute Agreement with First Southwest Company for Financial  
       Advisory Services 
 
13.  Authorize City Manager to execute Agreement with Bickerstaff, Heath, Delgado, Acosta LLP for  
       Bond Counsel Services on Oak Creek Public Improvement District Bonds 
 
14.  Authorize City Manager to execute Agreement with Bickerstaff, Heath, Delgado, Acosta LLP for  
       Bond Counsel Services 
  
        Motion made by Council Member Siebold to approve the consent agenda.  Second by  
        Council Member Navarrette.  Motion passes, all voting “aye” 
 

 
 
 
 
15. First public hearing on voluntary annexation of an area of land being 121.748 acres, more or less, 

generally located on County Road 280 west of Bagdad Road, and including the abutting streets, 
roadways, and rights-of-way, being located in Williamson County, Texas and adjacent and contiguous 
to the city limits 

       No speakers 
 
16. First public hearing on voluntary annexation of an area of land being 41.669 acres, more or less, 

generally located on Hero Way east of County Road 270, and including the abutting streets, roadways, 
and rights-of-way, being located in Williamson County, Texas and adjacent and contiguous to the city 
limits. 

       No speakers 
 

       
       
17.  Public Hearing on an Ordinance Granting a Public Utility Easement in Benbrook Ranch Park 
       Steve Bosak, Director of Parks and Recreation explained 
 
       Action on an Ordinance Granting a Public Utility Easement in Benbrook Ranch Park  
 
       Motion made by Council Member Siebold to approve.  Second by Council Member Dishongh. 
       Motion passes, all voting “aye” 
 
18.  Continuation of Public Hearing on a Resolution creating the Oak Creek Public Improvement District 

and an agreement with Sentinel/Cotter Leander, LLC 
 
       Action on Agreement with Developer regarding terms and conditions related to the creation of the 

Public Improvement District 
 
       Action on a Resolution authorizing the creation of the Oak Creek Public Improvement District 
 
        James Lyon, 2209 Buffalo Gap inquired on the due diligence of this project 
 
        Mayor Fielder made a motion to continue the public hearing to July 17, 2014 meeting.  
        Second by Council Member Dishongh.  Motion passes, all voting “aye” 

PUBLIC HEARING 



 
 

3                                                                                 

 
          No other action taken 
 
 
 
 19.  Public Hearing on Composite Zoning Ordinance Case # 14-OR-003: consider amending section of the 

Composite Zoning Ordinance, to add the definition of ornamental trees and riparian corridors and to 
modify the definition of a significant tree, update the standards regarding landscape requirements to 
add and modify requirements for drainage and detention facilities, to amend the site development 
standards to include the protection of riparian corridors and to update the parking lot connections 
requirements 

        Tom Yantis, Director of Development Services explained 
 
       Action on Composite Zoning Ordinance Case #14-OR-003: amendments to the Composite   
       Zoning Ordinance 
 
      Motion made by Council Member Siebold to direct staff to draw up an amendment based on staff 

recommendations and the discussion by council and bring back for the second reading at which 
time changes can be made if necessary.  Second by Council Member Navarrette. 

      Motion passes, all voting “aye” 
 

 20. Public Hearing on Subdivision Ordinance Case #14-OR-005: Consider amending sections of the 
Subdivision Ordinance to add provisions for the protection of riparian corridors, to add requirements 
associated with parking lot connections and to add tree survey requirements 

         Tom Yantis, Director of Development Services explained 
 
          Frank Stiles, 4180 Hwy 183 – made suggestions concerning the amendments   
          Rhonda Conatser, 1808 Southcreek Drive – talked about the trees in her yard 
 
         Action on Subdivision Case #14-OR-005: amendments to the Subdivision Ordinance 
 
         Motion made by Mayor Fielder to postpone action on this item until the July 17, 2014 Council 
         Meeting.  Second by Council Member Dishongh.  Motion passes, all voting “aye” 
 
 
 21.  Public Hearing on Zoning Case #14-Z-013: Consider action on the rezoning of 2,400 acres, more or 

less, known as the Transportation Oriented Development District (the "TOD").  The property is an area 
of approximately 2,400 acres in the Williamson County portion of the City of Leander, Texas as of May 
16, 2014, lying generally east of County Road 279 / Bagdad Road, north of East Crystal Falls 
Roadway, west of County Roads 269 and 270, and south of the San Gabriel River; including  US 
Highway 183  from generally north of its intersection with Sonny Drive to south of its intersection with 
High Gabriel East; including the 183A Toll Road from just south of its intersection with High Gabriel 
East to approximately 2,500 feet south of its intersection with RM 2243, and  including the following 
subdivisions Old Town, and the Original Town of Leander Mason's, Atkin's, and Walker's Additions from 
current zoning of PUD, Planned Unit Development to amended PUD, Planned Unit Development to 
modify the land use plan for the area and to amend the development regulations included in the Smart 
Code and additional standards applicable to the areas designated as Conventional Development, 
Leander, Williamson County, Texas 

 
Mayor Fielder asked for a break for 5 minutes at 8:35 pm 
Council reconvened from break at 8:41pm 
 

         Tom Yantis, Director of Development Services explained 
 
         Kristiana Alfsen 1511 Justin Lane Austin – spoke in favor Option C 
         Lance Hughes 2609 Westlake Drive – spoke in favor of Option C 
         Sam Winters Brazos Street, Austin – would like to see boundaries moved 
         Frank Stiles 4180 Hwy. 183 – made suggestions on regulations 
         Alma Madison, 301 N. East Street – asked for clarification concerning her neighborhood 



 
 

4                                                                                 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

      Action on Zoning Case #14-Z-013: an Ordinance rezoning the Transportation Oriented Development 
District (TOD), Leander, Williamson County, Texas 

 
      Map Adoption: 

  
  Motion made by Council Member Siebold  to approve Option B Map based on P & Z  
  recommendations .  Second by Council Member Abruzzese. 
 
  Substitute Motion made by Mayor Fielder to approve Option C with the inclusion of adding  
  down  to 2243 but not across 2243 to take in Mr. Leslie’s property.  Second by Mayor Pro Tem  
  Garcia. 
 
  Council Member Siebold withdrew his first motion.  Council Member Abruzzese withdrew his  
  second to the first motion. 
 
  Substitute motion made by Council Member Navarrette to approve Option B with the inclusion  
  of the area north of San Gabriel as shown in Option A.  Second by Council Member Siebold.  
 
  Tom Yantis answered questions from Council 
 
  Mayor Fielder withdrew his substitute motion.  Mayor Pro Tem Garcia withdrew his second to  
  the substitute motion. 
   
  Amended Motion made by Council Member Navarrette to approve Option B removing south of  
2243 and changing it to CD and to include north of San Gabriel as S-1 as shown in Option A and  
calling the changed area Option D.  Second by Council Member Siebold.  Motion passes,  

  5 to 2 with Council Members Lynch and Abruzzese voting against. 
 
  CD Areas and Roadways:   
 

   Motion made by Council Member Dishongh to approve with change concerning 2243 as  
   discussed and to make 2243 a “B” street to include solid building frontage and include San  
   Gabriel intersection at Mel Mathis to 183A as an “A” street.  Second by Council Member 
   Abruzzese. Motion passes, all voting “aye” 
 
   Smart Code Updates: 
 
  Motion made by Council Member Dishongh to bring this item back with staff recommendations.  
  Second by Mayor Pro Tem Garcia.  Motion passes, 6 to 1 with Council Member Lynch voting  
  against. 
 
  Council Member Dishongh asked for CD Areas and Roadways item to be revisited.  
 
  Amended Motion made by Council Member Dishongh to keep the above motion but to  include 
  the recommendation made by P & Z to incentivize the inclusion of pedestrian items along  
  roadways.  Second by Council Member Abruzzese.  Motion passes, all voting “aye”. 

 
 
 

22.  Second Reading of an Ordinance on Zoning Case #13-Z-027: amending Ordinance #05-018,  

REGULAR AGENDA 



 
 

5                                                                                 

       the Composite Zoning Ordinance for the property located to the southwest of the intersection of  
       San Gabriel Pkwy. & US Hwy. 183, Leander, Williamson County, Texas 
 
       Mayor Fielder announced that this item has been postponed 
 
 
23.  Consider Award of Construction Contract for Ronald Reagan Water Line North Project 
       Wayne Watts, City Engineer explained 
 
       Motion made by Mayor Pro Tem Garcia to approve.  Second by Council Member Navarrette. 
       Motion passes, all voting “aye” 
 

      24.  Consider a Reimbursement Agreement with Catalina Ranch, LLC for the oversizing of a wastewater  
             Line 
              
             Mayor Fielder announced that this item has been postponed 
 
      25.  Consider recommendation from the Planning & Zoning Commission related to procedures of Concept  
             Plans, Preliminary Plats and Final Plats 

       Tom Yantis, Director of Development Services explained 
 
       Motion made by Council Member Navarrette to approve.  Second by Council Member Siebold. 
       Motion passes, all voting “aye” 
 
26.  Council Members Closing Statements 
       Council Members gave their closing statements 
 
27.  Adjournment 
       With there being no further business, the meeting adjourned at 10:34 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
        Attest: 
 
 
      ______________________________                            _______________________________ 
      Christopher Fielder, Mayor               Debbie Haile, TRMC, City Secretary 
 
 
 



AGENDA ITEM # 10 

 
 

Executive Summary 

July 17, 2014 

 

Council Agenda Subject:  Consider Acceptance of Subdivision Infrastructure Improvements 
for Magnolia Creek, Section 5. 
 
Background:  The subdivision infrastructure improvements required for Magnolia Creek, 
Section 5 have been installed, inspected, and found to be satisfactorily completed.  All 
documentation required for acceptance of the subdivision has been received, including record 
drawings, statement of substantial completion prepared by a Professional Engineer licensed 
in the State of Texas, copies of all inspection reports and certified test results, electronic files 
of the improvements and final plat, affidavit of all bills paid, and a two-year term 
Maintenance Bond. The Maintenance Bond will commence its two year term upon City 
Council acceptance, as anticipated, on July 17, 2014 which will provide warranty and 
maintenance coverage for the infrastructure improvements through July 17, 2016.  The 
Engineering Department will perform a formal inspection of the improvements 
approximately 30 days prior to the expiration of the Maintenance Bond to assure that any 
defects in materials, workmanship, or maintenance are corrected prior to expiration of the 
bond. 
 
Origination:   Wayne S. Watts, P.E., CFM, City Engineer 
 
Financial Consideration: N/A 
 
Recommendation:  Staff recommends City Council’s formal acceptance of the subdivision 
infrastructure improvements for Magnolia Creek, Section 5. 
 
Attachments:  Engineer’s Concurrence Letter, Maintenance Bond, Affidavits of All Bills 
Paid, and Final Pay Estimates 
 
Prepared by:  Wayne S. Watts, P.E., CFM, City Engineer 





















AGENDA ITEM # 11 
 

 
 

Executive Summary 

 

July 17, 2014 

 

Council Agenda Subject:  Consider Dedication and Acceptance of Crystal Falls Town Ctr. 
Lot 3 – Blk “A” Water & Wastewater Improvements 
 
Background:  As part of the site development infrastructure requirements for this project, 
the water and wastewater improvements have been concluded, inspected, and found to be 
satisfactorily completed.  All documentation required for acceptance of the offsite utility 
improvements have been received, including record drawings, statement(s) of substantial 
completion prepared by a Professional Engineer licensed in the State of Texas, copies of all 
inspection reports and certified test results, electronic files of the improvements and final 
plat(s), affidavit(s) of all bills paid, and a two-year term Maintenance Bond(s). The 
Maintenance Bond(s) will commence the two year term upon City Council acceptance, as 
anticipated, on July 17, 2014, which will provide warranty and maintenance coverage for the 
utility improvements through July 17, 2016.  The Engineering Department will perform a 
formal inspection of the improvements approximately 30 days prior to the expiration of the 
Maintenance Bond(s) to assure that any defects in materials, workmanship, or maintenance 
are corrected prior to expiration of the bond. 
 
Origination:   Wayne S. Watts, P.E., CFM, City Engineer 
 
Financial Consideration: N/A 
 
Recommendation:  Staff recommends City Council’s formal acceptance of the Crystal Falls 
Town Ctr. Lot 3 – Blk “A” Water and Wastewater Improvements 
   
Attachments:  Engineer’s Concurrence Letter(s), Maintenance Bond(s), Affidavit(s) of All 
Bills Paid, and Final Pay Estimate(s) 
 
Prepared by:  Wayne S. Watts, P.E., CFM, City Engineer 





















AGENDA ITEM # 12 

 
Executive Summary 

 
July 17, 2014 

 
 
Agenda Subject: Consideration of a License Agreement for the installation and 

maintenance of irrigation, lighting, hardscape, signage, decorative 
street lights, entrance gates and related equipment, and temporary 
parking within the City rights-of-way. 

 
Background: The Travisso, Ltd has requested a licensing agreement to construct, 

install, and maintain (1) landscaping; (2) landscape lighting; (3) 
irrigation system for landscaping; (4) hardscape to include entry 
monuments, walls, and structures;  (5) entry and community signage; 
(6) decorative streetlights; (7) decorative street signs that comply 
with City regulations; and (8) private entrance gates & operating 
equipment within the right of way of all roadways in Travisso Subdivision 
as shown in Exhibit A.  In addition to the above improvements, temporary 
parking areas will be permitted as shown in Exhibit B.   

  
Origination: Applicant:  Adib Khoury, Vice President (TMC Travisso GP, 

LLC) on behalf of the Travisso, Ltd. 
Financial  
Consideration: None 
 
Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the proposed license agreement. 
 
Attachments: 1.  License Agreement  
 2.  Exhibits A & B 
 3.  Insurance Certificate 
  
Prepared By:   Tom Yantis, AICP  
 Development Services Director    
  
 07/10/2014 



LICENSE AGREEMENT 
 
 
The City of Leander, Texas a municipal corporation and political subdivision of the State of Texas 
situated in Travis & Williamson County, Texas (“the City” or “Licensor”), and the Travisso, Ltd, a 
Texas limited partnership, (“Licensee”) enter into this License Agreement (“Agreement”) on this 
the ____ day of  ___________, 2014, upon the terms and conditions set forth below. 
 
I. PURPOSE OF LICENSE AGREEMENT.  The City grants to Licensee permission to use 

the licensed property for the following purposes only:  
 
 Construction, installation, and maintenance of the following improvements for the 

Travisso Subdivision (the “Subdivision”) located in the rights-of-way of all 
roadways located in the Subdivision being:  (1) landscaping; (2) landscape lighting; 
(3) irrigation system for landscaping;  (4) hardscape to include entry monuments, 
walls, and structures; (5) entry and community signage; (6) decorative streetlights; 
(7) decorative street signs that comply with City regulations; and (8) private entrance 
gates and related operating equipment; hereinafter referred to as the 
“Improvements”.  The general locations of the rights-of-way containing the 
Improvements are more particularly shown in Exhibit “A”.  The rights-of-way are 
more particularly shown on the approved final plats of the Subdivision proposed 
within the boundary of the Subdivision shown in Exhibit “A”.  In addition to the 
named Improvements, Licensee is authorized to install and use temporary parking 
spaces as more particularly shown in the attached Exhibit “B”.   

 
The above-described properties, hereinafter referred to as the “licensed property”, are further shown 
in Exhibits “A” and “B” attached to this Agreement and incorporated by reference for all purposes. 
 
The City makes this grant solely to the extent of its right, title and interest in the licensed property, 
without any express or implied warranties. 
 
Licensee agrees that: (A) the construction of the Improvements permitted by this Agreement shall 
be done in compliance with all applicable City, County, State and/or Federal laws, ordinances, 
regulations and policies now existing or later adopted; (B) that all construction and installation of 
the Improvements will be completed in a timely manner without delay; (C) the Licensee will 
construct the Improvements according to plans filed with the City.  Any changes in construction 
must be approved the City; and (D) any Improvements located in the City’s right-of-way shall be 
subject to City approval prior to placement and installation.  Any such encroachment in the City’s 
right-of-way may necessitate further requirements and contractual agreements to be executed by 
Licensee with the City.  Any provision herein to the contrary notwithstanding, Licensee shall be 
liable for, and shall indemnify and hold the City harmless from all damages, causes of action, and 
claims arising out of or in connection with Licensee's installation, operation, maintenance or 
removal of the improvements permitted under this Agreement. 
 
II.  FEE.  No annual fee shall be due in connection with this Agreement. 
 



III.  THE CITY'S RIGHTS TO LICENSED PROPERTY.  This Agreement is expressly subject 
and subordinate to the present and future right of the City, its successors, assigns, lessees, grantees, 
and Licensees, to construct, install, establish, maintain, use, operate, and renew any public utilities 
facilities, franchised public utilities, rights-of-way, roadways, or streets on, beneath, or above the 
surface of the licensed property. 
 
Said uses of the licensed property by the City are permitted even though such use may substantially 
interfere with or destroy Licensee's use of the licensed property, or the Improvements.  In case of a 
declared emergency, damage to or destruction of Licensee's property shall be at no charge, cost, 
claim, or liability to the City, its agents, contractors, officers, or employees. 
 
Notwithstanding any provisions in this Agreement to the contrary, the City retains the right to enter 
upon the licensed property, at any time and without notice, assuming no obligation to Licensee, to 
remove any of the licensed improvements or alterations thereof whenever such removal is deemed 
necessary for: (a) exercising the City's rights or duties with respect to the licensed property; (b) 
protecting persons or property; or (c) the public health or safety with respect to the licensed 
property. 
 
IV.  INSURANCE.  Licensee shall, at its sole expense, provide a commercial general liability 
insurance policy, written by a company acceptable to the City and licensed to do business in Texas, 
with a combined single limit of not less than $600,000.00, which coverage may be provided in the 
form of a rider and/or endorsement to a previously existing insurance policy.  Such insurance 
coverage shall include the City as an additional-insured.  This insurance coverage shall cover all 
perils arising from the activities of Licensee, its officers, employees, agents, or contractors, relative 
to this Agreement, or otherwise within the public right-of-way and property within the licensed 
area.  Licensee shall be responsible for any deductibles stated in the policy.  A certificate of 
insurance evidencing such coverage shall be delivered to the City Secretary of the City within thirty 
(30) days of the effective date of this Agreement. 
 
Licensee shall not cause any insurance to be canceled nor permit any insurance to lapse. All 
insurance certificates shall include a clause to the effect that the policy shall not be canceled, 
reduced, restricted or otherwise limited until forty-five (45) days after the City has received written 
notice as evidenced by a return receipt of registered or certified mail. 
 
V.  INDEMNIFICATION.  Licensee shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the City and its 
officers, agents and employees against all claims, suits, demands, judgments, expenses, including 
attorney's fees, or other liability for personal injury, death, or damage to any person or property 
which arises from or is in any manner caused by the Licensee's construction or maintenance of the 
Improvements or use of the licensed property.  This indemnification provision, however shall not 
apply to any claims, suits, damage, costs, losses, or expenses arising solely from the negligent or 
willful acts of the City; provided that for the purposes of the foregoing, the City's act of entering into 
this Agreement shall not be deemed to be a “negligent or willful act.” 
 
VI.  CONDITIONS. 
 
A. Licensee's Responsibilities.  Licensee will be responsible for any damage to or repair of the 



Improvements.  Further, Licensee shall reimburse the City for all costs of replacing or repairing any 
property of the City or of others which was damaged or destroyed as a result of activities under this 
Agreement by, or on behalf of, Licensee. 
 
B. Maintenance.  Licensee shall maintain the licensed property and the Improvements in good 
condition and making any necessary repairs to the Improvements at its expense.   
 
C. Modification of Improvements.  Licensee agrees that modification of the Improvements 
shall be at Licensee’s expense.  Licensee shall obtain the proper permits prior to any modification of 
the Improvements.  This Agreement, until its expiration or revocation, shall run as a covenant with 
the land, and the terms and conditions of this Agreement shall be binding on the grantees, 
successors and assigns of Licensee.  Licensee shall cause any immediate successors-in-interest to 
have actual notice of this Agreement. 
 
D. Default.  In the event that Licensee fails to maintain the licensed property or otherwise 
comply with the terms or conditions as set forth herein, then the City shall give Licensee written 
notice thereof, by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, to the address set forth 
below.  Licensee shall have thirty (30) days from the date of receipt of such notice to take action to 
remedy the failure complained of, and, if Licensee does not satisfactorily remedy the same within 
the thirty (30) day period, the City may terminate this Agreement. 
 
Licensee Address      Licensor Address 
 
Travisso, Ltd       City of Leander 
Attention: Heath Melton     Attention:  City Manager 
11200 Lakeline Blvd      P.O. Box 319 
Austin, TX, 78717      Leander, Texas 78641 
        
VII.COMMENCEMENT AND TERMINATION.  This Agreement shall begin with the 
effective date and continue thereafter for so long as Licensee is constructing or maintaining the 
Improvements as set forth herein.  If Licensee abandons construction or maintenance of all or any 
part of the Improvements or licensed property as set forth in this Agreement, then this Agreement 
shall expire and terminate following thirty (30) days written notice to the Licensee if such 
abandonment has not been remedied by the Licensee within such period. The City shall thereafter 
have the same complete title to the licensed property so abandoned as though this Agreement had 
never been made and shall have the right to enter the licensed property and terminate the rights of 
Licensee, its successors and assigns hereunder.  All installations of Licensee not removed shall be 
deemed property of the City as of the time abandoned.  
 
VIII.   TERMINATION. 
 
A. Termination by Licensee.  This Agreement may be terminated by Licensee by delivering 
written notice of termination to the City not later than thirty (30) days before the effective date of 
termination.  If Licensee so terminates, then it shall remove all installations, other than the 
Improvements, that it made from the licensed property within the thirty (30)day notice period at its 
sole cost and expense.  Failure to do so shall constitute a breach of this Agreement. 



 
B. Termination by City.  Subject to prior written notification to Licensee or its successor-in-
interest, this Agreement is revocable by the City if: 
 
 1. The licensed Improvements, or a portion of them, interfere with the City's right-of-

way; 
 
 2. Use of the right-of-way area becomes necessary for a public purpose; 
 
 3. The licensed Improvements, or a portion of them, constitute a danger to the public 

which the City deems not be remediable by alteration or maintenance of such 
Improvements; 

 
 4. Despite thirty (30) days written notice to Licensee, maintenance or alteration 

necessary to alleviate a danger to the public has not been made; or 
 
 5. Licensee fails to comply with the terms and conditions of this Agreement including, 

but not limited to any insurance or license fee requirements specified herein. 
 
IX. EMINENT DOMAIN.  If eminent domain is exerted on the licensed property by 
paramount authority, then the City will, to the extent permitted by law, cooperate with Licensee to 
effect the removal of Licensee’s affected installations and Improvements thereon, at Licensee's sole 
expense.  Licensee shall be entitled to retain all monies paid by the condemning authority to 
Licensee for Licensee's installations and Improvements taken, if any. 
 
X. INTERPRETATION.  Although drawn by the City, this Agreement shall, in the event of 
any dispute over its meaning or application, be interpreted fairly and reasonably, and neither more 
strongly for or against either party. 
 
XI. APPLICATION OF LAW.  This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of 
Texas.  If the final judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction invalidates any part of this 
Agreement, then the remaining parts shall be enforced, to the extent possible, consistent with the 
intent of the parties as evidenced by this Agreement. 
 
XII. VENUE.  Venue for all lawsuits concerning this Agreement will be in Williamson County, 
Texas. 
 
XIII. COVENANT RUNNING WITH LAND; WAIVER OF DEFAULT.  This Agreement and 
all of the covenants herein shall run with the land; therefore, the conditions set forth herein shall 
inure to and bind each party's successors and assigns.  Either party may waive any default of the 
other at any time, without affecting or impairing any right arising from any subsequent or other 
default. 
 
XIV. ASSIGNMENT; HOMEOWNER’S ASSOCIATION.  (a)  Licensee shall not assign, 
sublet or transfer its interest in this Agreement without the written consent of the City, which 
consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. 



 
(b)  The City Manager may approve an assignment, sublease, or transfer of interest in this 
Agreement to a home owner’s association for the Subdivision (the “HOA”) that meets the 
requirements of this paragraph. The HOA must have been legally established and maintenance 
obligations for the Improvements must have been assigned to the HOA.  The HOA must have a 
binding, continuing responsibility for the maintenance and operation of the Improvements and 
shall establish adequate funding for such maintenance and operation. The HOA’s maintenance 
obligation shall be noted on the plat for the Subdivision and in the restrictive covenants filed of 
record for the Subdivision in a form that is acceptable to the City.  The restrictive covenants 
shall: provide for a monthly, semi-annual or annual assessment(s) sufficient to fund the 
maintenance and operation of the Improvements; shall give the City the authority to judicially 
enforce the covenants requiring adequate assessments to be made and collected and the streets to 
be maintained and repaired; and shall provide for the City to recover any attorney’s fees and 
expenses incurred in judicial enforcement.   Provided however, that nothing herein shall obligate 
the City to maintain and repair the Improvements.  This Agreement may not be assigned, sublet, or 
transferred until the Licensee or the HOA submits proof to the City of compliance with this 
paragraph and the insurance requirements under this Agreement.  Subject to compliance with this 
paragraph and the insurance requirements set forth herein, Licensee shall furnish to the City a copy 
of any such assignment or transfer of any of Licensee’s rights in this Agreement, including the 
name, address, and contact person of the assignee, along with the date of assignment or transfer. 
 
 ACCEPTED, this the ____ day _____________, 2014. 
 
    
    LICENSOR: CITY OF LEANDER, TEXAS 
 
       By:_______________________  
       Name: Kent Cagle    
       Title:   City Manager 
 
    LICENSEE: _______________________________ 
        
       By: ______________________  
       Name: ____________________  
       Title: _____________________ 
 
 
THE STATE OF TEXAS  § 
COUNTY OF _____________ § 
 
This instrument was acknowledged before me on this the ____ day of ____________ , 2014, by 
Kent Cagle, City Manager for the City of Leander, Texas, on behalf of the City. 
 
      _____________________________   
           Notary Public - State of Texas 
 



 
 
 
 
THE STATE OF TEXAS  § 
COUNTY OF ______________ § 
 
This instrument was acknowledged before me on this the ____ day ____________ 2014, by 
_____________________________, ______________________________________ of the 
___________________________________, on behalf of said entity. 
       
       ______________________________  
            Notary Public - State of Texas 
 





rstover
Text Box
EXHIBIT B



Allied World National Assurance Company   10690-001

Ironshore Specialty Insurance Company     25445-091

877-945-7378 888-467-2378
certificates@willis.com

Willis of Florida, Inc.
c/o 26 Century Blvd.
P. O. Box 305191
Nashville, TN  37230-5191

805 Las Cimas Parkway, Suite 350
Austin, TX  78746

X

X

X

  2,000,000

    100,000

      5,000

  2,000,000

  4,000,000

  4,000,000

A 03083986 6/1/2013 6/1/2018

$10,000,000 per Occurrence         
$10,000,000 aggregage              

Excess UmbrellaB 001687100 6/1/2013 6/1/2018

Certificate Holder is an Additional Insured as required by written contract.

Travisso, LTD

03/20/2014Page 1 of 1

21291135

Leander, TX  78641
P.O. Box 319
Attention:  City Manager
City of Leander

Coll:4366886 Tpl:1778477 Cert:21291135

DATE (MM/DD/YYYY)

PRODUCER

INSURED

INSR ADD’L SUBR POLICY EFF POLICY EXP
TYPE OF INSURANCE POLICY NUMBER LIMITSLTR INSRD WVD (MM/DD/YYYY) (MM/DD/YYYY)

GENERAL LIABILITY

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY

UMBRELLA LIAB

EXCESS  LIAB

WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS’ LIABILITY Y / N

N / A

(Mandatory in NH)

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES (Attach Acord 101, Additonal Remarks Schedule, if more space is required)

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

CONTACT
NAME:
PHONE FAX
(A/C, NO, EXT): (A/C, NO):
E−MAIL
ADDRESS:

INSURER(S)AFFORDING COVERAGE NAIC #

INSURER A:

INSURER B:

INSURER C:

INSURER D:

INSURER E:

INSURER F:

EACH OCCURRENCE
DAMAGE TO RENTED

$

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY $PREMISES (Ea occurence)

CLAIMS−MADE OCCUR MED EXP (Any one person) $

PERSONAL & ADV INJURY $

GENERAL AGGREGATE $

GEN’L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER: PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG $
PRO-

POLICY LOCJECT $
COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT

$(Ea accident)

ANY AUTO

ALL OWNED
AUTOS

BODILY INJURY(Per person) $

SCHEDULED
AUTOS

HIRED AUTOS

BODILY INJURY(Per accident) $

NON-OWNED
AUTOS

PROPERTY DAMAGE
$(Per accident)

$

EACH OCCURRENCEOCCUR

CLAIMS−MADE AGGREGATE

$

$

DED $RETENTION $
WC STATU- OTH-

TORY LIMITS ER

E.L. EACH ACCIDENT $ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE
OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED?

If yes, describe under
DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below

E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE $

E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT $

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN. THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE 
THE  EXPIRATION  DATE  THEREOF,   NOTICE  WILL  BE  DELIVERED  IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW.  THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED 
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

IMPORTANT:  If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies)must be endorsed.  If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to
the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement. A statement on this certificate does not confer rights to the
certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBER: REVISION NUMBER:

CERTIFICATE HOLDER CANCELLATION

ACORD 25 (2010/05)
© 1988−2010 ACORD CORPORATION. All rights reserved. 

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE



AGENDA ITEM # 13 

 

 
Executive Summary 

 
July 17, 2014 

 
 
Agenda Subject:   Amendment to the Leander Chamber of Commerce Lease 

Agreement 
 
 
 
Background:   The Chamber of Commerce has a lease agreement with the City 

that was signed in 2011.  Bridget Brandt, President of the 
Chamber has requested to amend the agreement. 

 
 
Origination: Chamber of Commerce  
 
  
Financial  
Consideration:   No financial impact to the City 
 
  
Recommendation: No staff recommendation 
 
 
 
Attachments: Amended Lease Contract 
  
Prepared By: Debbie Haile, City Secretary  
 



 

 
1 

LEASE AGREEMENT 
 
This Lease Agreement is made and entered into by and between the City of Leander, Texas, 
(Landlord) and the Leander Chamber of Commerce (Tenant) effective as of      , 2014 
Landlord hereby leases to Tenant and Tenant hereby leases from Landlord that certain 
property and improvements, hereinafter called the "leased premises", located at 
100 N. Brushy Street, Leander, Williamson County, Texas. 

 
 
 
The primary term of this Lease shall be 60 months commencing on Jan. 1, 2015, and ending 
on the 31st, Dec. 2019, upon the following terms, conditions, and covenants: 
 
1. TAXES. Each year during the term of this Lease, Tenant shall pay all real estate 

taxes (if any) assessed against the leased premises. 
 
2. UTILITIES.  Tenant shall pay to the City 50% of utility billing per month for utility 

services provided by the Landlord to the leased premises during the lease term. Such 
utility services may include City-provided utilities, gas, electric, sanitation, 
telephone, cable, and Internet. 

 
3. HOLDING OVER.  Failure of Tenant to surrender the leased premises at the 

expiration of the Lease constitutes a holding over which shall be construed as a 
tenancy from month to month at a monthly rental agreed in writing between the 
parties; provided that absent such written agreement the rental shall be $1.00 per 
year. 

  
4. RENT.  Tenant agrees to and shall pay Landlord at 200 W. Willis Street, Leander, 

Williamson County, Texas, or at such other place Landlord shall designate from time 
to time in writing, as rent for the leased premises, the sum of One Dollar ($1.00) per 
year and the performance of the services set forth in Exhibit “A” attached hereto and 
incorporated herein for all purposes. 

   
5. USE.  Tenant shall use the leased premises for offices and functions of Tenant as the 

Chamber of Commerce of the City, including but not limited to providing the services 
for the City as set forth in Exhibit “A”.  Subject to prior approval by the City, Tenant 
shall be responsible for making such improvements to the leased premises as 
necessary and reasonable to make the leased premises habitable and suitable to the 
purposes of the Tenant. 

 
6. SECURITY DEPOSIT.  None. 
 
7. INSURANCE.  Landlord shall pay for fire and extended coverage insurance on the 

building and other real property improvements on the leased premises, and the 
proceeds thereof, if any, shall be payable solely to Landlord.  Tenant shall obtain and 
keep in effect a policy of general liability insurance.  Tenant may, in its discretion, 
obtain insurance on the furnishings and equipment of Tenant in the leased premises. 

 
8. CONDITION OF PREMISES.  Tenant has examined and accepts the leased premises in 

its present condition AS IS WHERE IS as suitable for the purposes for which the 
same are leased, and does hereby accept the leased premises regardless of 



 

 
2 

reasonable deterioration between the date of this Lease and the date Tenant begins 
occupying the leased premises.   

 
9. MAINTENANCE AND REPAIRS.  Tenant shall keep the foundation; the exterior walls; 

glass; windows; doors; door closure devices; window and door frames; molding; 
locks; hardware; interior painting or other treatment of exterior walls; and the roof 
of the leased premises in good and sufficient repair suitable for the use and 
occupancy of the leased premises by Tenant, except that Tenant shall not be 
required to make any repairs occasioned by the act or negligence of Landlord, its 
employees, licensees and agents. If Tenant is responsible for any such repair and 
maintenance, Landlord agrees to give Tenant written notice of needed repairs. 
Tenant shall make such repairs within a reasonable time.  Landlord shall notify 
Tenant immediately of any emergency repairs.  Tenant shall keep the leased 
premises in good, clean condition and shall at its sole cost and expense, make all 
needed repairs and replacements, including replacement of cracked or broken glass, 
except for repairs and replacements required to be made by Landlord under this 
section.  If any repairs required to be made by Tenant hereunder are not made 
within ten (10) days after written notice delivered to Tenant by Landlord, Landlord 
may at its option make such repairs without liability to Tenant for any loss or 
damage which may result by reason of such repairs, and Tenant shall pay to 
Landlord upon demand as additional rent hereunder the cost of any such repairs 
made by Landlord (if any) as a result of a written request by Tenant.  At the 
termination of this Lease, Tenant shall deliver the leased premises in good order and 
condition, reasonable wear and tear excepted.  Tenant will have no duty to make any 
repair that: (a) would constitute a replacement of the roof, foundation, wall, or 
heating or cooling equipment; (b) would be classified as a capital expenditure; or (c) 
were Tenant subject to federal income taxes, Tenant would not be eligible to deduct 
the entire cost in the year expended as a maintenance and repair expense.  Tenant 
shall be solely responsible for making any and all repairs or improvements to the 
leased premises that are necessary or required by Tenant to make and keep the 
leased premises habitable by Tenant and suitable for the Tenant's use and 
occupancy, subject to the right of Tenant to cancel this Lease agreement and vacate 
the leased premises at anytime.  Tenant shall have the duty to make any and all 
repairs necessary to correct or repair any item or defect that may be a danger to any 
person.   

 
10.  ALTERATIONS.  All alterations, additions, improvements, except trade fixtures, installed 

at expense of Tenant, shall become the property of Landlord and shall remain upon 
and be surrendered with the leased premises as a part of thereof on this lease.  Such 
alterations, additions, and improvements may only be made with the prior written 
consent of Landlord, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.  No cooling 
tower, equipment, or structure of any kind shall be placed on the roof or elsewhere 
on the leased premises by Tenant without prior written permission of Landlord.  If 
such permission is granted, such work or installation shall be done at Tenant's 
expense and in such a manner that the roof shall not be damaged thereby.  If it 
becomes necessary to remove such cooling tower, equipment or structure 
temporarily, so that repairs to the roof can be made, Tenant shall promptly repair at 
its expense any damages resulting from such removal.  At the termination of this 
Lease, Tenant shall deliver the leased premises in as good order and condition as the 
leased premises exist on the commencement of this Lease agreement, natural 
deterioration only excepted.  Unless waived in writing by Landlord, any damage 



 

 
3 

caused by the installation or removal of trade fixtures shall be repaired at Tenant's 
expense prior to the expiration of the lease term.  All alterations, improvements, 
additions, and repairs made by Tenant shall be made in good and workmanlike 
manner.  Landlord consents to the Tenant making such alterations and 
improvements as are reasonably necessary and convenient to provide the services 
and to serve the agencies referenced in Section 5 above. 

  
11. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS.  Tenant shall, at its own expense, 

comply with all laws, orders, and requirements of all governmental entities with 
reference to the use and occupancy of the leased premises.  Tenant and Tenant's 
agents, employees and invitees shall fully comply with any rules and regulations 
governing the use of the building or other improvements to the leased premises as 
required by Landlord.  Landlord may make reasonable changes in such rules and 
regulations from time to time as deemed advisable for the safety, care and 
cleanliness of the leased premises, provided same are in writing and are not in 
conflict with this Lease. 

 
12. ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING.  Tenant shall not assign this Lease nor sublet the 

leased premises or any interest therein without the prior written consent of Landlord.  
An assignment or subletting without the prior written consent of Landlord shall be 
void and shall, at the option of Landlord terminate this Lease.   

 
13. DESTRUCTION.  In the event the leased premises is partially damaged or destroyed 

or rendered partially unfit for occupancy by fire or other casualty, Tenant shall give 
immediate notice to Landlord.  Landlord may repair the damage and restore the 
leased premises to substantially the same condition as immediately prior to the 
occurrence of the casualty.  Such repairs, if any, will be made at Landlord's expense 
unless due to Tenant's negligence.  Landlord shall allow Tenant a fair reduction of 
rent during the time the leased premises are partially unfit for occupancy. If the 
leased premises are totally destroyed or deemed by the Landlord to be rendered 
unfit for occupancy by fire or other casualty, or if Landlord shall decide not to repair 
or rebuild, this Lease shall terminate and the rent shall be paid to the time of such 
casualty. 

 
14. TENANT DEFAULT AND REMOVAL OF ABANDONED PROPERTY.  If Tenant abandons 

the leased premises or otherwise defaults in the performance of any obligations or 
covenants herein, Landlord may enforce the performance of this Lease in any 
manner provided by law.  Subject only to the opportunity to cure as provided in this 
section, this Lease may be terminated at Landlord's discretion if such abandonment 
or default continues for a period of 30 days after Landlord notifies Tenant of such 
abandonment or default and of Landlord's intention to declare this Lease terminated.  
Such notice shall be sent by Landlord to Tenant at Tenant's last known address by 
certified mail.  Unless the Tenant has completely removed or cured default within the 
30-day period, or, if not fully cured, the Tenant is making continuing and diligent 
effort to cure such default, this Lease shall terminate.  Thereafter, Landlord or its 
agents shall have the right without further notice or demand, to enter the leased 
premises and remove all property without being deemed guilty of trespass and 
without waiving any other remedies for arrears of rent or breach of covenant.  Upon 
abandonment or default by the Tenant, the remaining unpaid portion of the rental 
from paragraph 4 herein, shall become due and payable.  For purposes of this 
section, Tenant is presumed to have abandoned the premises if goods, equipment, 



 

 
4 

or other property, in an amount substantial enough to indicate a probable intent to 
abandon the premises, is being or has been removed from the premises and the 
removal is not within the normal course of Tenant's business.  Landlord shall have 
the right to store any property of Tenant that remains on premises that are 
abandoned; and, in addition to Landlord's other rights, Landlord may dispose of the 
stored property if Tenant does not claim the property within 60 days after the date 
the property is stored, provided Landlord delivers by certified mail to Tenant at 
Tenant's last known address a notice stating that Landlord may dispose of Tenants' 
property if Tenant does not claim the property within 60 days after the date the 
property is stored.  In the event a default by Tenant is not cured within 30 days after 
notice of default and intent to terminate, and the Lease is not terminated as a result 
of a continuing and diligent effort to cure such default, the Tenant, its successors and 
assigns, shall pay the reasonable and necessary costs and expenses if any, incurred 
by Landlord by reason of such default continuing after the 30 day notice period.   

 
15. INTERRUPTION OF UTILITIES.  Landlord or Landlord's agent may not interrupt or 

cause the interruption of utility service paid directly to the utility company by Tenant 
unless interruption results from bona fide repairs, construction, an emergency, or are 
interrupted by Landlord acting as the City in compliance with its rules, regulations or 
ordinances.  If any utility services furnished by Landlord are interrupted for other 
than a failure to pay or a regulatory purpose, and continue to be interrupted despite 
the good faith efforts of Landlord to remedy same, Landlord shall not be liable in any 
respect for damages to the person or property of Tenant or Tenant's employees, 
agents, or guests, and same shall not be construed as grounds for constructive 
eviction or abatement of rent.  Landlord shall use reasonable diligence to repair and 
remedy such interruption promptly. 

 
16. EXCLUSION OF TENANT.  Landlord may not intentionally prevent Tenant from 

entering the leased premises except by judicial process. 
 
17. LIEN.  None. 
 
18. SUBORDINATION.  Landlord is hereby irrevocably vested with full power and 

authority to subordinate this Lease to any mortgage, deed of Trust, or other lien 
hereafter placed on the demised premises and Tenant agrees on demand to execute 
such further instruments subordinating this Lease as Landlord may request, provided 
such subordination shall be on the express condition that this Lease shall be 
recognized by the mortgagee, and the rights of Tenant shall remain in full force and 
effect during the term of this Lease so long as Tenant shall continue to perform all 
the covenants and conditions of this lease. 

 
19. INDEMNITY.  Landlord and its employees and agents shall not be liable to Tenant or 

to Tenant's employees, patrons, visitors, invitees, or any other persons for an injury 
to any such persons or for any damage to personal property caused by an act, 
omission, or neglect of Tenant or Tenant's agents or of any other tenant of the 
premises of which the leased premises is a part.  To the extent, if any, permitted by 
law, Tenant agrees to indemnify and hold Landlord and its employees and agents 
harmless from any and all claims for such injury and damages, whether the injury 
occurs on or off the leased premises.  In addition, to the extent provided by 
insurance obtained by Tenant, or funds appropriated therefore by Tenant, if 
Landlord, by reason of Landlord's ownership of the leased premises, is named as a 



 

 
5 

defendant in any claim for injury to any person or for any damage to personal 
property caused by an act, omission, or neglect of Tenant or Tenant's agents or of 
any other tenant of the premises of which the leased premises is a part, Tenant shall 
provide with Landlord’s consent, or otherwise pay all reasonable and necessary costs 
of Landlord's defense.  

 
20. SIGNS.  Tenant shall not post or paint any signs at, on, or about the leased premises 

or paint the exterior walls of the building except with the prior written consent of the 
Landlord.  Such consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.  Landlord shall have the 
right to remove any sign or signs in order to maintain the leased premises or to 
make any repairs or alterations thereto.  Landlord hereby consents to one sign if 
authorized by the applicable City ordinances. 

 
21. TENANT BANKRUPTCY.  If Tenant becomes bankrupt or makes voluntary assignment 

for the benefit of creditors or if a receiver is appointed for Tenant, Landlord may 
terminate this Lease by giving five (5) days written notice to Tenant of Landlord's 
intention to do so and subject to compliance with all applicable laws regarding 
bankruptcy, assignments or receivership. 

 
22. CONDEMNATION.  If the whole or any substantial part of the leased premises is 

taken for any public or quasi-public use under any governmental law, ordinance or 
regulation or by right of eminent domain or should the leased premises be sold to a 
condemning authority under threat of condemnation, this Lease shall terminate and 
the rent shall be abated during the unexpired portion of the Lease effective from the 
date of the physical taking of the leased premises.   

 
23. HAZARDOUS MATERIALS.  Landlord warrants and represents that the property does 

not contain "Hazardous Materials", as that phrase is defined herein.  For purposed of 
this provision, the phrase "Hazardous Materials" shall mean and include any toxic 
contaminated or other hazardous materials including, without limitation, asbestos, 
PCB, transformers, underground storage containers, materials containing any 
radioactive substances, petroleum base products, paints, solvents, lead, cyanide, 
DDT, acids, pesticides, ammonium compounds, and any other substance forming a 
component part of the improvements which has heretofore or may in the future be 
determined to contain toxic wastes, hazardous materials, or undesirable substances 
injurious to the health of occupants living or working in or around the subject 
Property.  Landlord acknowledges that current, past, and future federal, state, and 
local laws and regulations may have had or continue to have any interest in the 
Property, including, but not limited to, current, past, and future owners and users, 
including tenants, of the Property.  The cost and expense of such clean up may be 
substantial.  Landlord further acknowledges and agrees that Landlord shall look 
solely to experts and professionals selected by Landlord to advise Landlord with 
respect to the condition of the Property.  Landlord hereby agrees to indemnify, 
defend, and hold Tenant harmless of and from any and all liability, claim, debt, 
damage, cost, or expense, including reasonable attorneys' fees, related to or arising 
out of or in any way connected to Hazardous Materials and/or toxic wastes and/or 
any other undesirable substances affecting the Property. 

 
24. BROKER'S FEE.  None.  
 
25. NOTICES.  Notices to Tenant shall be by certified mail or other delivery to the leased 



 

 
6 

premises at the below address, or such other address as given by Tenant to Landlord 
in writing.  Notices to Landlord shall be by certified mail to the place where rent is 
payable. 

 
   City of Leander 
   City Manager 
   200 West Willis St. 
   P.O. Box 319 
   Leander, Texas 78646 
 
   Greater Leander Chamber of Commerce 
   President 
   PO Box 556 
   Leander, Texas   78646 
 
26. DEFAULT BY LANDLORD.  In the event of breach by Landlord of any covenant, 

warranty, term or obligation of this Lease, then Landlord's failure to cure same or 
commence a good faith effort to cure same within 30 days after written notice 
thereof by Tenant shall be considered a default and shall entitle Tenant either to 
terminate this Lease or cure the default and make the necessary repairs and any 
expense incurred by Tenant shall be reimbursed by the Landlord after reasonable 
notice of the repairs and expenses incurred; provided that Tenant shall never be 
entitled to any damages or reimbursement greater in amount than the annual rental 
payable pursuant to this Lease.  If any utility services furnished by Landlord are 
interrupted and continue to be interrupted despite the good faith efforts of the 
Landlord to remedy same, Landlord shall not be liable in any respect for damages to 
the person or property of Tenant or Tenant's employees, agents, or guests, and 
same shall not be construed as grounds for constructive eviction or abatement of 
rent.  Landlord shall use reasonable diligence to repair and remedy such interruption 
promptly. 

 
27. NON-APPROPRIATION.  Notwithstanding anything contained in this Lease to the 

contrary, each and every financial obligation of the Landlord pursuant to this Lease is 
subject to Landlord budgeting appropriations therefore In the event no funds or 
insufficient funds are appropriated or budgeted by Landlord for any expenditures 
required to be made by Landlord under this Lease, Tenant may in its discretion 
terminate this Lease without penalty or expense to Tenant of any kind whatsoever. 

   
28. RIGHT OF ENTRY.  Landlord shall have the right during normal business hours to 

enter the leased premises: a) to inspect the general condition and state of repair 
thereof; b) to make repairs required or permitted under this lease; or c) for any 
other reasonable purpose. 

 
29. WAIVER OF BREACH.  The waiver by Landlord of any breach of any provision of this 

Lease shall not constitute a continuing waiver or a waiver of any subsequent breach 
of the same or a different provision of this Lease. 

 
30. TIME OF ESSENCE.  This is expressly declared to be of the essence in this Lease. 
 
31. BINDING OF HEIRS AND ASSIGNS.  All provisions of this Lease shall extend to and 

bind, or inure to the benefit not only of the parties to this Lease but to each and 



 

 
7 

every one of the heirs, executors, representatives, successors, and assigns of 
Landlord and Tenant. 

 
32. RIGHTS AND REMEDIES CUMULATIVE.  The rights and remedies by this Lease are 

cumulative and the use of any one right or remedy by either party shall not preclude 
or waive its right to use any or all other remedies.  Said rights and remedies are 
given in addition to any other rights the parties may have by law, statute, ordinance, 
or otherwise. 

 
33. TEXAS LAW TO APPLY.  This agreement shall be construed under and in accordance 

with the laws of the State of Texas.  Venue shall lie and be exclusively in Williamson 
County, Texas. 

 
34. LEGAL CONSTRUCTION.  In case any one or more of the provisions contained in this 

agreement shall for any reason be held to be invalid, illegal, or unenforceable in any 
respect, such invalidity, illegality, or unenforceability shall not affect any other 
provision hereof and this agreement shall be construed as if such invalid, illegal, or 
unenforceable provision had never been contained herein. 

 
35. PRIOR AGREEMENTS SUPERSEDED.  This agreement constitutes the sole and only 

agreement of the parties to this Lease and supersedes any prior understandings or 
written or oral agreements between the parties respecting the subject matter of this 
Lease.   

 
36. AMENDMENT.  No amendment, modification, or alteration of the terms hereof shall 

be binding unless it is in writing, dated subsequent to the date hereof and duly 
executed by the parties. 

 
37. ATTORNEY'S FEES.  Any signatory to this Lease agreement who is the prevailing 

party in any legal proceeding against any other signatory brought under or with 
relation to this lease agreement or this transaction shall be additionally entitled to 
recover court costs, reasonable attorney fees, and all other out-of-pocket costs of 
litigation, including deposition, travel and witness costs, from the nonprevailing 
party. 

 
38. SPECIAL PROVISIONS.  All renovation costs will be paid by Tenant, and Tenant may 

remodel, renovate and improve the interior of the building for use by Tenant; 
provided that Tenant shall not weaken or place in hole or opening in the roof or any 
load bearing wall or structure.  

 
39. [RESERVED]  
 
40. QUIET ENJOYMENT.  Landlord agrees that upon paying the rent and performing the 

obligations herein contained, Tenant will peaceably and quietly have, hold and enjoy 
the rented premises for the agreed term. 

 
41. [RESERVED] 
   
 
 EXECUTED this the        day of                 2014, to be effective as of the ____ day of 

_____ 2015. 



 

 
8 

 
City of Leander, Texas   Greater Leander Chamber of Commerce 
 (Landlord)      (Tenant) 
 
 
                    ____________                         _______       ____________            
 
 



 

 
9 

EXHIBIT “A” 
 
The consideration and rents to be provided and paid by the Tenant to the Landlord pursuant 
to the attached Lease Agreement are as follows: 
 

(1) One Dollar ($1.00) per year; 
 

(2) Tenant shall keep and maintain an office in the leased premises during the lease 
term; 

 
(3) The office shall be adequately staffed by Tenant and open to the public during 

regular, scheduled business hours for at least twenty (20) hours per week during the 
lease term; 

 
(4) During the lease term, Tenant shall provide the following services for Landlord: 

 
(a) tourism services to visitors to City who contact the Tenant; 
 
(b) distribution of welcome packets to prospective residents 

 
(c) assistance with economic development of current and prospective businesses 

 
(d) assistance for local charities  

 
(e) education and networking services for local businesses 



AGENDA ITEM # 14 

 

 
Executive Summary 

July 17, 2014 

 

Agenda Subject:  Second public hearing on the voluntary annexation of an area of land being a 
121.748 acres, more or less, tract of land generally located on CR 280 west of Bagdad Rd. and 
including the abutting streets, roadways, and rights-of-way; being located in Williamson 
County, Texas and adjacent and contiguous to the city limits.  
  
Background:  The resolution setting the two public hearings for July 3 and July 17, 2014 was 
approved by Council on May 15, 2014.  The property is known as the Greatwood subdivision 
and is located off of CR 280 and is subject to a development agreement approved by the City 
Council on September 30, 2013. The first reading of the ordinance is scheduled for August 7, 
2014 and the second and final reading is scheduled for August 21, 2014.  This is a voluntary 
annexation. 
     
Origination:  Applicant 
 
Recommendation:  Staff recommends conducting the second public hearing 
 
Attachments:  

1. Map 
2. Annexation Resolution 
 

Prepared by:   Tom Yantis, AICP 
 Director of Development Services 
 
 7/9/2014 



CR 279

CR 280

LIVE OAK RD

OAK CREEK RD

TERRY LN

SHORT RD

GLORY LN

MOCKINGBIRD HILL

VA
LL

EY
 VI

EW
 R

D

CR 279

Greatwood

Leander City Limits
Leander ETJ
County Line
Proposed Annexation Area

Ë
0 500 1,000

Feet

Greatwood
Voluntary

Annexation







AGENDA ITEM # 15 

 

 
Executive Summary 

July 17, 2014 

 

Agenda Subject:  Second public hearing on the voluntary annexation of an area of land being a 
41.669 acres, more or less, tract of land generally located on Hero Way east of CR 270 and 
including the abutting streets, roadways, and rights-of-way;  in Williamson County, Texas. 
  
Background:  The resolution setting the two public hearings for July 3 and July 17, 2014 was 
approved by Council on May 15, 2014.  The property is known as the Wilde tract and is located 
off of Hero Way east of CR 270. The first reading of the ordinance is scheduled for August 7, 
2014 and the second and final reading is scheduled for August 21, 2014.  This is a voluntary 
annexation. 
  
     
Origination:  Applicant 
 
Recommendation:  Staff recommends conducting the second public hearing 
 
Attachments:  

1. Map 
2. Resolution 
 

Prepared by:   Tom Yantis, AICP 
 Director of Development Services 
 
 7/9/2014 



CR 270

HERO WAY

RM 2243

BAKER LN

CR
 26

9

183A TOLL RD FR NB

183A TOLL RD NB

MI
KE

S 
WA

Y

JENNIFER LN

AIR
PO

RT D
R

PVR 918

LEN BAR LN

E SAN GABRIEL PKWY

183A TOLL RD SB

HAWKINS DR
NORWOOD DR

RM 2243

Larson Commercial

Leander City Limits
Leander ETJ
County Line
Proposed Annexation Area

Ë
0 500 1,000

Feet

Larson Commercial
Voluntary Annexation







AGENDA ITEM # 16 

 

 
Executive Summary 

July 17, 2014 

 

Agenda Subject:  First public hearing on the voluntary annexation of several tracts of land 
including the 9.999 acres, more or less, Parker tract, the 0.1442 acre, more or less, Stence tract, 
the 140.232 acres, more or less, Cannon tract, the 36.69 and 21.985 acres, more or less, 
Christianson tracts, and the 13.63 and 39.59 acres, more or less, Garlock tracts all located  in 
Williamson County, Texas. 
  
Background:  Council approved the resolution setting the public hearings for these annexations 
on June 5, 2014.  The properties include the Parker tract adjacent to the Reagan's Overlook 
subdivision, the Cannon and Stence tracts along CR 175, and the Christianson and Garlock tracts 
east of Ronald Reagan Blvd. and north of the South San Gabriel River.  The resolution sets the 
two public hearings for July 17, 2014 and July 24, 2014.  The July 24, 2014 meeting will be a 
special called meeting of the Council. The first reading of the ordinance is scheduled for August 
21, 2014 at a and the second and final reading is scheduled for September 4, 2014.  These are 
voluntary annexations. 
     
Origination:  Applicants 
 
Recommendation:  Staff recommends conducting the first public hearing. 
 
Attachments:  

1. Resolution with exhibits 
2. Annexation Schedule 
3. Location maps 
 

Prepared by:   Tom Yantis, AICP 
 Director of Development Services 
 
 7/9/2014 



































SCHEDULE FOR VOLUNTARY ANNEXATION  
PARKER, RED OAK VALLEY, SPRINGWOOD 

DATE ACTION/EVENT LEGAL AUTHORITY 
June 5, 2014 
 

COUNCIL BY WRITTEN RESOLUTION Directs 
notification to land owners; and sets two (2) Public 
Hearings July 17, 2014 and July 24, 2014; Council 
directs development of service plan for area to be annexed.  

Loc. Gov’t Code, §§ 43.063 & 43.065; 
Public Hearings: are on or after the 40th day 
but before 20th day before institution of 
proceedings.  

By June 16, 2014 NOTICE TO property owners & utility providers  Loc. Gov’t Code § 43.062(a) 
July 2, 2014** 
Publish notice of First 
Public Hearing and 
send school district 
notice 
 
July 9, 2014** 
Publish notice of  
Second Public 
Hearings  

NEWSPAPER NOTICES RE: FIRST AND SECOND 
PUBLIC HEARINGS; (If applicable, certified Notice to 
Railroad). POST NOTICE OF HEARINGS ON CITY’S 
WEBSITE AND MAINTAIN UNTIL HEARINGS 
COMPLETE; 
 
SCHOOL DISTRICT NOTICE (notify each school 
district of possible impact w/in the period prescribed for 
publishing the notice of the First Public Hearing.)  

Not less than 10 days nor more than 20 days 
before 1st and 2nd public hearings.  Loc. 
Gov’t Code, §43.063 (c). 
 
 
 
Loc. Gov’t Code § 43.905; send school 
district notice not less than 10 days nor more 
than 20 days before the First Public Hearing. 

Ten days after the date 
the first notice of 
Public Hearing is 
published 

LAST DAY FOR SUBMISSION OF WRITTEN 
PROTEST BY RESIDENTS (10 days after first 
newspaper notice) 

Site hearing required if 10% of adult 
residents of tracts protest within 10 days after 
1st newspaper notice. Loc. Gov’t Code, § 
43.063 (b) 

July 17, 2014* 1st PUBLIC HEARING AND PRESENT SERVICE 
PLAN (Not more than 40 days before the 1st reading of 
ordinance) REGULAR MEETING  

Not less than 20 days nor more than 40 days 
before reading of ordinance.  Loc. Gov’t 
Code, §§ 43.063(a) & 43.065.  

July 24, 2014* 2nd PUBLIC HEARING AND PRESENT SERVICE 
PLAN (At least 20 days before 1st reading of ordinance.) 
SPECIAL CALLED MEETING  

Not less than 20 days nor more than 40 days 
before reading of ordinance.  Loc. Gov’t 
Code, §§ 43.063(a) & 43.065. 

Institution Date 
August 21, 2014* 

FIRST READING OF ORDINANCE  
REGULAR MEETING 

Date of institution of proceedings.  Not less 
than 20 days from the second public hearing 
nor more than 40 days from the first public 
hearing. 

September 4, 2014; 
Or at a special called 
meeting after the 1st 
First Reading   

SECOND-FINAL READING OF ORDINANCE  
REGULAR MEETING 

Not more than 90 days after 1st reading of 
Ordinance § 43.064. 

Within 30 days of 
Second Reading  

CITY SENDS COPY OF MAP showing boundary 
changes to County Voter Registrar in a format that is 
compatible with mapping format used by registrar 

Elec. Code §42.0615 

Within 60 days of 
Second Reading 

CITY PROVIDES CERTIFIED COPY OF 
ORDINANCE AND MAPS TO:  
 

1. County Clerk 
2. County Appraisal District 
3. County Tax Assessor Collector 
4. 911 Addressing 
5. Sheriff’s Office 
6. City Department Heads 
7. State Comptroller 
8. Franchise Holders 

 

*Dates in BOLD are MANDATORY dates to follow this schedule.  Please advise if deviation. 
**Newspaper notices to paper by 5p.m. the preceding Wednesday  
 



RM 2243

RO
NA

LD
 W

 R
EA

GA
N 

BL
VD

CR 175

UNITY DR

CR 264

VISTA HEIGHTS DR

CR 274

FL
IN

TL
OC

K 
DRBRANCH HOLW

HI
GH

 LO
NE

SO
ME

 TR
L

LIMESTONE CREEK RD

RO
NA

LD
 W

 R
EA

GA
N 

BL
VD

Ë
0 400 800

Feet

Parker Annexation Tract

Parker Tract Annexation

WCAD Parcel Boundaries
Leander City Limits
Parker Tract



CR 175

CR 176

RM 2243

DRVW

WHISPER LN

FOLSOM CT

ESCALERA PKWY

CR 175

RM 2243

RM 2243

ESCALERA PKWYË
0 400 800

Feet

Stence Annexation Tract
(10' Strip Along CR 175)

Cannon Annexation Tracts

Cannon Tracts Annexation

Stence Tract
WCAD Parcel Boundaries
Leander City Limits
Cannon Tracts



CR 175

RM 2243

RABBITS TAIL DRLYME RIDGE DR

WEDGESCALE PASS

FE
AT

HE
R R

EE
D D

R

CR 175

RM 2243

Ë
0 250 500

Feet

Stence Annexation Tract
(10' Strip Along CR 175)

Sarita Valley Subdivision

Stence Tract Annexation

WCAD Parcel Boundaries
Leander City Limit
Stence Tract



RO
NA

LD
 W

 R
EA

GA
N 

BL
VD

BRADLEY RANCH RD

CR 274

SANTA MARIA ST

FOSINI CVVIA DE SIENNA BLVD

RONALD W
 REAGAN BLVD

Ë
0 400 800

Feet

Christianson Annexation Tract

Christianson Tract
WCAD Parcel Boundaries
Leander City Limits

Christianson Tract Annexation



RO
NA

LD
 W

 R
EA

GA
N 

BL
VD

BRADLEY RANCH RD

CR 274

SANTA MARIA ST

FOSINI CVVIA DE SIENNA BLVD

RONALD W
 REAGAN BLVD

Ë
0 400 800

Feet

Garlock Annexation Tracts
Garlock Tracts
WCAD Parcel Boundaries
Leander City Limits

Garlock Tracts Annexation



AGENDA ITEM # 17 

 

 
Executive Summary 

July 17, 2014 

 

Agenda Subject:  Continue the Public Hearing and consider action on a resolution creating the 
Oak Creek Public Improvement District and an agreement with Sentinel/Cotter Leander, LLC. 
  
Background:  The City Council conducted a workshop on December 5, 2013 to discuss public 
improvement districts and the potential to create a PID for two specific projects.  One of those 
projects was the Oak Creek development near the intersection of 183 and San Gabriel Blvd.  
Since that meeting, the Oak Creek project has continued to progress with applications for zoning 
and preliminary plat.  The developers of Oak Creek have also met with staff to discuss their 
proposal to create a PID on the property and to enter an agreement for TIRZ reimbursements for 
certain infrastructure improvements associated with the project. 
 
At the April 17, 2014 meeting, Council directed staff to proceed with the steps necessary to 
accept the PID petition and schedule the public hearing for the creation of the PID.  On May 1, 
2014 the Council accepted the petition for the creation of the Oak Creek PID.  On June 5, 2014 
the Council opened the public hearing on the creation of the PID and continued it until July 3, 
2014.  At the July 3, 2014 meeting the Council continued the public hearing until July 17, 2014. 
 
This item provides for the statutorily required public hearing to be held, allows for the Council to 
approve a resolution creating the PID and approve an agreement with the developer regarding 
terms and conditions related to the creation and dissolution of the PID. 
     
Origination:  Applicant: Sentinel/Cotter Leander, LLC 
 
Recommendation:  Staff recommends continuing the public hearing, approving the resolution 
creating the PID and approve the letter agreement related to the terms and conditions of the 
creation of the PID.   
 
Attachments:  

1. Resolution 
2. Agreement 

 
Prepared by:   Tom Yantis, AICP 



AGENDA ITEM # 17 

 

 Director of Development Services 
 
 7/9/14 



  
 

RESOLUTION NO. __________ 
 

A RESOLUTION REGARDING THE CREATION OF OAK CREEK 
PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT AND ORDERING PUBLIC 
IMPROVEMENTS TO BE MADE FOR THE BENEFIT OF SUCH 
DISTRICT; PROVIDING FOR A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE; AND CONTAINING 
OTHER MATTERS RELATING TO THE SUBJECT 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Leander, Texas (the "City") is authorized by Chapter 372, 

Texas Local Government Code, as amended (the "Act") to create a public improvement district 
and to levy special assessments against property within the district to pay the costs of public 
improvement projects that confer a special benefit on property within the district; 

 
WHEREAS, on March 17, 2014, there was submitted to and filed with the City 

Secretary of the City pursuant to the Act that certain "Petition for the Creation of a Public 
Improvement District to Finance Improvements to Oak Creek S u b d i v i s i o n " (the "Petition") 
requesting the establishment of a public improvement district covering approximately 150.894 
acres described in the Petition and Exhibit A attached hereto, and to be known as the "Oak Creek 
Public Improvement District" (the "District"); 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council of the City (the "City Council") ha s  r e v i e w e d  t h e  

Petition and determined that the Petition satisfies the requirements of the Act; 
 

WHEREAS, after providing the notices required by the Act and by the Texas Open 
Meetings Act, Chapter 551, Texas Government Code, as amended (the "Open Meetings Act"), 
the City Council conducted a public hearing on June 5, 2014, to determine the advisability of 
creating and establishing the District and undertaking the public improvement projects described 
in the Petition; 

 
WHEREAS, the public hearing was continued and reconvened on July 3, 2014, to allow 

the City Council to hear evidence and make findings as to the advisability, nature and cost of the 
improvements the boundaries of the district and the method of assessment and apportionment of 
costs between the District and the City;  

 
WHEREAS, all owners of property located within the proposed District and all other 

interested persons were given the opportunity at such public hearing to speak for or against the 
creation of the District and the proposed public improvements; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council has made findings based on the information contained in 

the petition presented to the City Council and the comments received at the public hearing. 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF LEANDER , TEXAS; 

 
Section 1. The City Council hereby approves the statements contained in the preamble 

of this Resolution and finds that all statements are true and correct and incorporate the same in 



  
 

the body of this Resolution. 
 

Section 2. The City Council, after considering the Petition and the evidence and 
testimony presented at the public hearing, hereby finds and determines that: 

 
(a) the Petition was filed with the City Secretary and was signed by owners of 

taxable real property representing more than 50 percent of the appraised value of 
taxable real property liable for assessment under the proposal, as determined by 
the current appraisal roll of the appraisal district in which the property is located, 
and by the record owners of real property liable for assessment under the proposal 
who own taxable real property that constitutes more than 50 percent of the area of 
all real property that is liable for assessment under the proposal;  

 
(b) the proposed public improvements described in the Petition a n d  i n  E x h i b i t  

B  t o  t h i s  R e s o l u t i o n  are of the nature of the public improvements 
described in Section 372.003 of Texas Local Government Code, as amended, and 
are advisable and desirable improvements for the District; 

 
(c) the proposed public improvements will promote the interests of the City and are 

of the nature that will confer a special benefit on all property within the District 
by enhancing the value of such property located within the District; 

 
(d) the boundaries of the District include all of the property that is set forth and 

described in Exhibit A attached hereto and made a part hereof for all purposes; 
 
(e) the nature of the proposed improvements and estimated costs thereof are set forth 

and described in Exhibits B and C attached hereto and made a part hereof for all 
purposes; 

 
(f) the assessment of costs of the proposed improvements will be levied on each 

parcel of property within the Public Improvement District in a manner that 
results in imposing equal shares of the costs on property similarly benefitted; 

 
(g) the costs of the improvements shall be apportioned between the District and City 

such that all such costs are paid from the assessments levied on the property 
within the District and other sources available to the owners and developers of the 
property within the District, as further described in Exhibit C; and 

 
(h) the District shall be managed without the creation of an advisory body. 

 
Section 3. Based on the foregoing, the Oak Creek Public Improvement District is 

hereby created and the public improvements described in Exhibits B and C are authorized to be 
made in accordance with the service and assessment plan for the Oak Creek Public Improvement 
District to be approved by the City Council at a future meeting. 

 
Section 4. After adoption of this resolution, the City Secretary is authorized and directed 

to cause a copy of this resolution to be published in a newspaper of general circulation within 



  
 

the City. 
 

Section 5. If any section, article, paragraph, sentence, clause, phrase or word in this 
resolution or application thereof to any persons or circumstances is held invalid or 
unconstitutional by a court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not affect the validity of 
the remaining portions of this resolution; and the City Council hereby declares it would have 
passed such remaining portions of the resolution despite such invalidity, which remaining portions 
shall remain in full force and effect. 

 
Section 6. The authorization of the District pursuant to this resolution shall take 

effect upon publication of this resolution as provided above. 
 
 
PASSED, APPROVED AND EFFECTIVE  this __________________, 2014. 
 
 
       City of Leander, Texas 
 
 
              
       Christopher Fielder,  Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 

 
       
Debbie Haile, City Secretary 
 
 
 

[SEAL] 
 
 
 
 

 



  
 

EXHIBIT B 

 
Proposed Pu b l i c  Improvements 

 
Sanitary Sewer – South Brook Drive – The sanitary sewer line along South Brook 
Drive consists of approximately 1,880 linear feet of 8-inch SDR-26 PVC gravity line 
with approximately 11 four foot diameter manholes.     
 
Sanitary Sewer – West Broade Street – The sanitary sewer line along West Broade 
Street consists of approximately 2,840 linear feet of 8-inch SDR-26 PVC gravity line 
with approximately 17 manholes.  Additionally, there is approximately 450 linear feet of 
15-inch SDR-26 PVC gravity line with approximately 4 manholes along West Broade 
Street.    
 
Drainage – South Brook Drive – Drainage improvements along South Brook Drive 
consist of approximately 2,970 linear feet of Reinforced Concrete Pipe (RCP) storm 
sewer ranging in size from 18 inches up to 60 inches.  Drainage improvements also 
include approximately 5 junction boxes and approximately 8 curb inlets. 
 
Drainage – West Broade Street – Drainage improvements along West Broade Street 
consist of approximately 2,540 linear feet of Reinforced Concrete Pipe (RCP) storm 
sewer ranging in size from 18 inches up to 60 inches.  Drainage improvements also 
include approximately 9 junction boxes and approximately 9 curb inlets. 
 
Primary Entry Feature – San Gabriel Parkway - The primary entry feature is located 
on the southwest corner of San Gabriel Parkway and West Broade Street. The design 
features a stone tower and entry monument sign face.  An enhanced paving pattern will 
be  incorporated into the roadway to emphasize the entry. Native landscape material will 
be planted around the entry feature to provide color and texture.  A few stands of mature 
trees will be planted behind the monument sign.  

Secondary Entry Feature - The community’s secondary entry feature is located on the 
east side of West Broade Street at the southern edge of the community. The secondary 
entry will be similar in design to the Primary Entry, but smaller in scale. The secondary 
entry feature will be surrounded by native, drought tolerant plants and trees. A dry 
stream bed will curve in front of the entry feature and continue on the west side of West 
Broade Street, contributing to a cohesive entry experience.  
 
Neighborhood Entry Features - Neighborhood entry features reflect the design 
aesthetic and materials established by the primary and secondary entry features. Signs 
displaying the neighborhood name will be located at the entry to neighborhoods and 
sited to be easily viewed from the roadway.   
 
Walls at Collectors - Masonry walls will be constructed along both sides of West 
Broade Street and along San Gabriel Parkway to provide an attractive border along the 
community boundary.  The wall materials will complement the stone material utilized in 
the entry features described above.  Masonry columns will be incorporated into the walls 



  
 

at regular intervals along the roadway frontage.   
 
Collector Road Landscape - Native and drought tolerant landscape including turf, 
ornamental grasses and xeriscaped planting beds will be installed along West Broade 
Street, San Gabriel Parkway and the eastern section of South Brook Drive. The 
landscaping along the road is intended to create a unique sense of place and enhance the 
natural beauty of the community.  
 
Native Area Re-vegetation - For designated parcels within the community, plans are in 
place to repair any damage caused during construction. Areas disturbed by site grading 
will be reseeded with native grass mix and wildflowers.  
 
Pond Treatments - The area surrounding the water quality retention/detention ponds 
will be enhanced to create attractive community amenities. The land will be fine graded 
and an enhanced seed mix will be placed onto the slopes to re-establish native grasses 
and wildflowers.  Trees native to Central Texas will be planted around the ponds and 
irrigated.   
 
Pond Aeration - An aeration fountain will be installed in the water quality retention 
pond to circulate the water and prevent stagnation. The fountain will also create an 
aesthetic amenity for the pond.  
 
Mail Service - Mail kiosks throughout the community will be enhanced to feature a 
shade covering and/or masonry base and column. Approximately 10 kiosks will be 
located throughout the community, near street lights, to allow convenient drive up 
access for residents. Mail kiosks will be constructed to Federal and City standards and 
specifications.  
 
Trailheads - Community trails comprised of 6’ and 8’ wide concrete walkways will be 
constructed to wind along West Broade Street and through the greenbelt to ultimately 
connect with the Benbrook Park Trail to the west. Trailheads will be located within the 
neighborhoods to connect the internal local sidewalks to the hike and bike trail. The 
trailheads may include features such as benches, trash cans, enhanced landscaping and 
dog stations.   

 

 
  



  
 

EXHIBIT C 
 

Estimated Costs of Public Improvements  
 
 The estimated total cost of the proposed public improvements is $4,046,205.00 
(excluding required reserves and cost of issuance), which may be modified to conform to actual 
expenses.  The costs of the improvements will be paid by assessment of the property owners 
within the proposed Public Improvement District.  The City will pay none of the costs of the 
proposed improvements from funds other than such assessments.  The remaining costs of the 
proposed improvements, as well as any other infrastructure required for the property, will be 
paid from sources other than the City or assessments from property owners. 







AGENDA ITEM # 18 

 

 
Executive Summary 

 
July 17, 2014 

 
 
Agenda Subject: Zoning Case  14-Z-016: Hold a public hearing and consider action 

on the rezoning of a tract of land generally located on the west side 
of Raider Way, approximately 1,620 ft from the northwest corner 
of the intersection of E. Crystal Falls Pkwy and Raider Way; 0.48 
acres more or less of land located in the Elijah D. Harmon Survey, 
Abstract #6 and being a portion of Lot 1, Block A, Final Plat 
Cantwell Tract Subdivision; WCAD Parcel #R497326. Currently, 
the property is zoned Interim SFR-1-B  (Single Family Rural) and 
the applicant is proposing to zone the property MF-2-B (Multi-
Family), Leander, Williamson County, Texas. 

 
Background: This request is the second step in the rezoning process.   
 
Origination: Applicant: Brian J. Parker on behalf of Crystal Falls 

LTD. 
 
Financial  
Consideration: None 
 
Recommendation: See Planning Analysis.  The Planning & Zoning Commission 

unanimously recommended approval of the request at the July 10, 
2014 meeting. 

 
Attachments: 1.   Planning Analysis 
 2.   Current Zoning Map  
 3.   Aerial Map 
 4.   Letter of Intent 
 5. Ordinance 
 6. Minutes – Planning & Zoning Commission July 10, 2014 
  
Prepared By:   Tom Yantis 
 Development Services Director  07/11/2014 
 



Attachment #1                

 

 
P L A N N I N G A N A L Y S I S  

 
ZONING CASE 14-Z-016 

Parkway Crossing 
 
GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
Owner: Crystal Falls LTD. 
 
Current Zoning: Interim SFR-1-B (Single Family Rural) 
    
Proposed Zoning: MF-2-B (Multi-Family) 
 
Size and Location: The property is generally located 1,620 ft from the northwest corner of the 

intersection of E. Crystal Falls Pkwy and Raider Way; and is 
approximately 0.48 acres more or less 

 
Staff Contact:   Martin Siwek, GISP   
 Planner      
   
 
ABUTTING ZONING AND LAND USE: 
 
The table below lists the abutting zoning and land uses. 
 

 ZONING LAND USE 

NORTH  Interim SFR-1-B Developed Single Family Home 

EAST Interim SFR-1-B  Developed: Rouse High School and Knox Wylie Middle 
School 

SOUTH Interim SFR-1-B Developed Single Family Home 

WEST MF-2-B Vacant Multi-Family tract. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
      



Attachment #1                

 

COMPOSITE ZONING ORDINANCE INTENT STATEMENTS 
 

 
USE COMPONENT: 
 

MF – MULTI-FAMILY:   
Features:  Apartments (25 un./ac. if Type A; 18 un./ac. if Type B) 
Intent:  Development of multi-family dwelling structures. Such components are generally 

intended to serve as a buffer between single-family neighborhoods and more intensive uses 
such as commercial uses or arterial roadways.  Such components are also intended to create 
more variety in housing opportunities and in the fabric of the community but are intended to be 
utilized in small areas to avoid large tracts devoted to strictly multi-family residential 
development.  The goal is to avoid more than twenty-five (25) acres of contiguous land having 
a Multi-Family component.  Access should be provided by a collector or higher classification 
street. 

 
SITE COMPONENT: 
 

TYPE 2:   
Features:  Accessory buildings greater of 10% of primary building or 120 sq. ft.; accessory 

dwellings for SFR, SFE and SFS; drive-thru service lanes; uses not to exceed 40,000 sq. ft.; 
multi-family provides at least 35% of units with an enclosed garage parking space. 

Intent:   
(1) The Type 2 site component may be utilized with non-residential developments that are adjacent to 

a residential district or other more restrictive district to help reduce potential negative impacts to 
the more restrictive district and to provide for an orderly transition of development intensity.   

(2) The Type 2 site component is intended to be utilized for residential development not meeting the 
intent of a Type 1 site component and not requiring the additional accessory structure or accessory 
dwelling privileges of the Type 3 site component. 

(3) This component is intended to be utilized with the majority of LO and LC use components except 
those that meet the intent of the Type 1 or Type 3 site component or with any use requiring drive-
through service lanes. 

(4) This component is generally not intended to be utilized with LI and HI use components except 
where such component is adjacent to, and not adequately buffered from, residential districts or 
other more restricted districts, and except as requested by the land owner. 

 
ARCHITECTURAL COMPONENTS: 

 

TYPE B:   
Features:  85% masonry 1st floor, 50% overall; 4 or more architectural features. 
Intent:   
(1) The Type B architectural component is intended to be utilized for the majority of residential 

development except that which is intended as a Type A architectural component.   
(2) Combined with appropriate use and site components, this component is intended to help provide 

for harmonious land use transitions.   
(3) This component may be utilized to raise the building standards and help ensure compatibility for 

non-residential uses adjacent to property that is more restricted.   
(4) This component is intended for the majority of the LO and LC use components except those 

meeting the intent of the Type A or C architectural components. 



Attachment #1                

 

 
 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN STATEMENTS: 
 

The following Comprehensive Plan statements may be relevant to this case: 
 Provide Opportunities for coordinated, well-planned growth and development that are 

consistent with the Comprehensive Plan. 
 Plan for continued growth and development that improves the community’s overall 

quality of life and economic viability. 
 Strive for a fiscal balance of land uses that will create a positive impact upon the City of 

Leander’s budget and overall tax base. 
 

 

ANALYSIS: 
 

The applicant is requesting to rezone the property from Interim SFR-1-B (Single Family Rural) 
district to MF-2-B (Multi-Family) district.  The intent of the applicant’s request is to provide for 
a secondary means of ingress/egress to the project site. 
 
The property’s present zoning classification would prohibit a non-residential driveway from 
being built within a residential district, and the rezoning of this acreage would relieve the 
property from this limitation. 
 
The proposed property to be rezoned would provide frontage for ingress and egress onto Raider 
Way for the approximate 27 acre tract.  The land uses presently utilizing this collector class 
street include Rouse High School, Wylie Middle School, Central Baptist Church, and three 
single family homes. 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 

Staff recommends approval of the requested MF-2-B (Multi-Family) district.  The requested site 
component is compatible with the adjacent land uses, and meets the intent statement of the use 
component for Multi-Family districts to provide access to collector or higher classified street.   



LEANDER CROSSING

ROUSE
HS

WYLIE
MS

CRYSTALCROSSINGPH 1

RIDGEWOODNORTH

RIDGEWOODSOUTHPH 1

GLOBAL VILLAGE

CRYSTAL SPRINGS

COLD SPRINGS,SEC 5

MARBELLA

STEWARTCROSSING

2A2A

3A

3B

2A
3A

1B
1C2A

2A

2A
2A

3A

3A

3A

2A

3A

3A

2A

3A

3A

183A TOLL RD SB

183A TOLL RD NB

PVR 921

183A TOLL RD FR SB

183A TOLL RD FR NB

PV
R 

92
0

RA
ID

ER
 W

AY

E WOODVIEW DR

E CRYSTAL FALLS PKWY

183A

CR 279

RM 2243

S U
S 1

83

US 183

RM 2243

Ë 0 200 400
Feet

ZONING CASE 14-Z-016
Attachment #2
Current Zoning Map
Parkway Crossing

SFR
SFE
SFS
SFU
SFC
SFL

SFT
SFU/MH
TF
MF
LO
LC 

GC
HC
HI
PUD

CITY MAPË

City Limits
Subject Property
Future Annexation Per DA
Involuntary Annexation
Voluntary Annexation

Municipal Dr



LEANDER CROSSING

ROUSE
HS

WYLIE
MS

CRYSTALCROSSINGPH 1

RIDGEWOODNORTH

RIDGEWOODSOUTHPH 1

OAKRIDGE,SEC4

GLOBAL VILLAGE

CRYSTAL SPRINGS

COLD SPRINGS,SEC 5

MARBELLA

STEWARTCROSSING

183A TOLL RD SB

183A TOLL RD NB

PV
R 

92
0

183A TOLL RD FR SB

183A TOLL RD FR NB

PV
R 

92
1

RA
ID

ER
 W

AY

E WOODVIEW DR

E CRYSTAL FALLS PKWY

183A

CR 279

RM 2243

S U
S 1

83

US 183

RM 2243

Ë 0 200
Feet

CITY MAPË

Subject Property

City Limits

ZONING CASE 14-Z-016 Attachment #3
Aerial Exhibit - Approximate Boundaries
Parkway Crossing



msiwek
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 4



Amending Ordinance 05-018-00 

ORDINANCE NO #  
 

ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF LEANDER, TEXAS, AMENDING THE 
ZONING ORDINANCE BY REZONING ONE PARCEL OF LAND FROM 
INTERIM SFR-1-B (SINGLE-FAMILY RURAL) TO MF-2-B (MULTI-
FAMILY); MAKING FINDINGS OF FACT; AND PROVIDING FOR 
RELATED MATTERS.  

 
 Whereas, the owner of the property described herein after (the "Property") has requested 
that the Property be rezoned;  
 
 Whereas, after giving at least ten days written notice to the owners of land within two 
hundred feet of the Property, the Planning & Zoning Commission held a public hearing on the 
proposed rezoning and forwarded its recommendation on the rezoning to the City Council; 
   
 Whereas, after publishing notice of the public hearing at least fifteen days prior to the date 
of such hearing, the City Council at a public hearing has reviewed the request and the circumstances 
of the Property and finds that a substantial change in circumstances of the Property, sufficient to 
warrant a change in the zoning of the Property, has transpired; 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF LEANDER, TEXAS, THAT: 
 
Section 1.  Findings.  The foregoing recitals are hereby found to be true and correct and are hereby 
adopted by the City Council and made a part hereof for all purposes as findings of fact. 
 
Section 2.  Amendment of Zoning Ordinance.  Ordinance No. 05-018, as amended, the City of 
Leander Composite Zoning Ordinance (the "Zoning Ordinance" or "Code"), is hereby modified and 
amended by rezoning the Property as set forth in Section 3. 
 
Section 3. Applicability. This ordinance applies to the following parcels of land, which is herein 
referred to as the “Property.”  That certain parcel of land being 0.48 acres, more or less, located in 
Leander, Williamson County, Texas, being more particularly described in Exhibit “A”, legally 
described as 0.48 acres of land located in the Elijah D. Harmon Survey, Abstract Number 6 and a 
portion of Lot 1, Block A, Final Plat Cantwell Tract Subdivision being more particularly described 
in Exhibit “B”; more particularly described in Document Number 2011085705 of the Official 
Public Records of Williamson County, Texas, and identified by tax identification number R497326.   
 
Section 4.  Property Rezoned.  The Zoning Ordinance is hereby amended by changing the zoning 
district for the Property from Interim SFR-1-B (Single-Family Rural) to MF-2-B (Multi-Family). 
 
Section 5. Recording Zoning Change. The City Council directs the City Secretary to record this 
zoning classification on the City’s official zoning map with the official notation as prescribed by 
the City’s zoning ordinance. 
 
Section 6.  Severability.  Should any section or part of this ordinance be held unconstitutional, 
illegal, or invalid, or the application to any person or circumstance for any reasons thereof 



Amending Ordinance 05-018-00 

ineffective or inapplicable, such unconstitutionality, illegality, invalidity, or ineffectiveness of such 
section or part shall in no way affect, impair or invalidate the remaining portion or portions thereof; 
but as to such remaining portion or portions, the same shall be and remain in full force and effect 
and to this end the provisions of this ordinance are declared to be severable. 
 
Section 7.  Open Meetings.  That it is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at 
which this ordinance is passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of the time, 
place, and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open Meetings Act, Chapt. 551, 
Loc. Gov't. Code. 
 
 
 PASSED AND APPROVED on First Reading this the 17th day of July, 2014. 
 FINALLY PASSED AND APPROVED on this the 7th day of August, 2014. 
 
 
THE CITY OF LEANDER, TEXAS ATTEST: 
 
 
 
__________________________________ _____________________________ 
Christopher Fielder, Mayor     Debbie Haile, City Secretary 
 



ROUSE
HS

WYLIE
MS

CRYSTALCROSSINGPH 1

RIDGEWOODSOUTHPH 1

GLOBAL VILLAGE

CRYSTAL SPRINGS

COLD SPRINGS,SEC 5

MARBELLA

STEWARTCROSSING

2A2A

3A

3B

2A
3A

1B
1C2A

2A

2A
2A

3A

3A

3A

2A

3A

3A

2A

3A

3A

183A TOLL RD SB

183A TOLL RD NB

PVR 921

183A TOLL RD FR SB

183A TOLL RD FR NB

PV
R 

92
0

RA
ID

ER
 W

AY

E WOODVIEW DR

E CRYSTAL FALLS PKWY

183A

CR 279

RM 2243

S U
S 1

83

US 183

RM 2243

Ë 0 200 400
Feet

EXHIBIT A
Zoning Case
14-Z-016
Current Zoning Map
Parkway Crossing

SFR
SFE
SFS
SFU
SFC
SFL

SFT
SFU/MH
TF
MF
LO
LC 

GC
HC
HI
PUD

CITY MAPË

Subject Property
City Limits
Future Annexation Per DA
Involuntary Annexation
Voluntary Annexation

Municipal Dr









AGENDA ITEM # 19 
 

 
Executive Summary 

 
July 17, 2014 

 
 
Agenda Subject: Zoning Case 13-Z-027: Second reading and consider action on the 

rezoning of several tracts of land generally located to the 
Southwest of the intersection of San Gabriel Pkwy & US 183; 
150.894 acres more or less; WCAD Parcels #R395875, R031699, 
R524552, and R525192. Currently, the property is zoned PUD 
(Planned Unit Development) and the applicant is proposing an 
amendment to the PUD, Leander, Williamson County, Texas.  

 
Background: This request is the final step in the rezoning process.   
 
Origination: Applicant: Mark Baker on behalf of Sentinel Cotter Leander LLC. 
 
Financial  
Consideration: None 
 
Recommendation: See Planning Analysis. The Planning & Zoning Commission 

unanimously recommended approval with staff recommendation at 
the March 27, 2014 meeting.  The City Council unanimously 
approved the Planning & Zoning Commission recommendation at 
the April 03, 2014 meeting. 

  
 The applicant has requested that the architectural standards for the 

PUD be modified to match the new CD Sector Standards. 
 
Attachments: 1.   Planning Analysis 
 2.   Current Zoning Map 
 3.   Aerial Map 
 4.  Proposed PUD clean draft 
 4a. Proposed PUD redline from 1st reading 
 5.   Letter of Intent  
 6.   Ordinance 
 7.  Letter from applicant regarding architectural standards 
  
Prepared By: Tom Yantis, AICP  



Attachment # 1                 

 

 
P L A N N I N G A N A L Y S I S  

 
ZONING CASE 13-Z-027 

OAK CREEK PUD 
 
 
GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
Owner: Sentinel Cotter Leander LLC. 
 
Current Zoning: PUD/TOD (Planned Unit Development/Transit Oriented Development) 
    
Proposed Zoning: PUD/TOD (Planned Unit Development/Transit Oriented Development) 
  
Size and Location: The property located to the Southwest of the intersection of San Gabriel 

Pkwy & US 183 and includes approximately 150.894 acres in size. 
 
Staff Contact:   Robin M. Griffin, AICP   
 Senior Planner      
   
ABUTTING ZONING AND LAND USE: 
 
The table below lists the abutting zoning and land uses. 
 

 ZONING LAND USE 

NORTH PUD/TOD Undeveloped Land located within the TOD 

EAST PUD/TOD Undeveloped Land located within the TOD 

SOUTH 

SFU-2-B 
SFC-2-B 
GC-3-C 

PUD/TOD 

Established Single-Family Homes  
Single-Family Homes under construction (Northside Meadow) 
Undeveloped Property zoned for commercial 
Plain Elementary School 

WEST OCL Established Single-Family Homes (Benbrook Ranch) 
        

  



Attachment # 1                 

 

COMPOSITE ZONING ORDINANCE INTENT STATEMENTS 
 
USE COMPONENTS:   

PUD – PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT: 
The purpose and intent of the Planned Unit Development (PUD) district is to design unified 
standards for development in order to facilitate flexible, customized zoning and subdivision 
standards which encourage imaginative and innovative designs for the development of 
property within the City.  The intent of this zoning request is to provide for the design of a 
development which permits a mixed-residential community.  The intent of this zoning district 
is to cohesively regulate the development to assure compatibility with adjacent single-family 
residences, neighborhoods, and commercial properties within the region. 

  
 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN STATEMENTS: 
 
The following Comprehensive Plan statements may be relevant to this case: 
 Plan for continued growth and development that improves the community’s overall 

quality of life and economic viability. 
 Provide for a variety of sustainable housing options for all age groups and economic 

levels.  Determine ways to successfully integrate this variety within neighborhoods so as 
to accommodate the different needs of families throughout their life cycle.  Create more 
desirable and livable neighborhoods while respecting the goal of maintaining stable real 
estate values and housing marketability. 

 Establish high standards for development. 
 

 

ANALYSIS: 
 
The applicant is requesting the PUD (Planned Unit Development) district in order to allow for 
the development of a mixed residential community that will include a variety of housing types as 
well as multi-family development.   The proposal includes detached residential lot widths 
ranging from as narrow as forty (40’) feet to over sixty (60’) feet wide and attached townhomes.  
The applicant has incorporated the mixture of residential districts in a well integrated 
neighborhood plan providing a variety of lot sizes within the same neighborhood.    
 
The PUD proposal includes the following base zoning districts:  SFU-2-B (Single-Family 
Urban), SFC-2-B (Single-Family Compact), SFL-2-B (Single-Family Limited), SFT-2-B 
(Single-Family Townhome), and MF-2-B (Multi-Family).    
 
The table below identifies the proposed development standards for the residential zoning 
districts,  setbacks, and lot sizes for this project.  The primary difference between the Composite 
Zoning Ordinance and the proposed PUD is the lot size and the setbacks associated with the 
SFL-2-B district.  The ordinance currently requires the lot width to be 41 feet and the minimum 
lot size to be 4100 square feet.  The applicant is proposing an alley loaded product associated 
with the SFL-2-B district and is requesting reduced rear and front setbacks.  In addition, each 
zoning district is required to have a minimum of 100 units to ensure a variety of housing types.  
The density of the MF-2-B district is limited to 12 units per acre.  The MF-2-B and SFT-2-B 



Attachment # 1                 

 

districts are limited to townhomes and/or cluster detached single-family condominiums.  
Traditional style apartment complexes are not permitted. 
 

 
RESIDENTIAL USES  

DETACHED  
50 ft. & wider 
lot (SFC/SFU) 

DETACHED 
narrower than  
50 ft. lot (SFL 

base, alley loaded) 

ATTACHED 
Townhome (SFT 

base, alley loaded) 

CLUSTER / MF 
(Setbacks are for 

perimeter) 

Lot Area 
(minimum) 5,500 s.f.  4,000 s.f. 1,800 s.f. n/a 

Lot Width 
(minimum) 50 ft. 40 ft. 20 ft. n/a 

Front Setback 
(minimum) 

20 ft. (25’ street 
facing garage) 15 ft. 10 ft. 20 ft. 

Side Setback 
(minimum) 5 ft. 5 ft. 0 ft./10 ft. 10 ft. building 

separation 

Street Side Setback 
(minimum) 

15 ft. (20’street 
facing garage) 15 ft. 15 ft. 20 ft. 

Rear Setback 
(minimum) 15 ft. 6 ft. 6 ft. 20 ft. 

Lot Depth 
(minimum) 110 ft. 100 ft. 90 ft. n/a 

 
 
All residential properties within the SFC-2-B and SFU-2-B base zoning districts shall comply 
with Article 8, Conventional Zone of the 2005 Leander SmartCode.  This section states that 
100% of all first story walls shall be stone, stucco, or brick and 80% of the overall structure is 
stone, stucco, or brick.  The properties with the base zoning districts of SFL-2-B and MF-2-B are 
proposed to be native stone (or synthetic equivalent), brick, stucco, split faced block (for piers, 
foundation walls and chimneys), wood lap siding, or Hardi Plank siding (equivalent or better) 
and shall comply with Exhibit D of the PUD document. 
 
Proposed Variations from the Composite Zoning Ordinance and/or Subdivision Ordinance: 

1. Reduced flag lot width for the water quality ponds from the required 25 feet to 15 feet. 
 
Additional Standards Not Required by the Composite Zoning Ordinance: 

1. Construction of a 6 foot tall masonry wall with columns adjacent to lots that back or side 
onto West Broade Street.  Wrought iron fencing with masonry columns is allowed in 
locations where views into the neighborhood would be desirable.   

2. All lots which back onto parks or floodplain areas shall utilize 6 foot, wrought iron view 
fencing. 

  



Attachment # 1                 

 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Staff recommends approval of the requested PUD.  The proposed PUD promotes more flexibility 
with the location of the single-family districts and incorporates a mixture of multi-family and 
single-family townhome uses as a transition from W Broade Street towards US 183.  This 
application effectively utilizes composite zoning to incorporate a variety of land uses while 
maintaining high form standards.  The requested PUD meets the intent statements of the 
Composite Zoning Ordinance and the goals of the Comprehensive Plan. 



SAVANNA RANCH,SEC 1

BENBROOK RANCH,
SEC 2

BENBROOK
RANCH
PARK

DEVINE
LAKE
PARK

BENBROOK RANCH,
SEC 1

PLAIN
ES

LEANDER
PARK & RIDE
RAIL STATION

EONCR,SEC 2

EONCR,SEC 1
EONCR,SEC 3

ESTATES OF
NORTH CREEK

RANCH, SEC 4
BAGDAD

ES

NORTHCREEK,SEC 3
HAWKESLANDING

NORTH CREEKSEC 2

NORTH CREEKSEC 1
NORTHCREEKCOMMPARK

LEANDER 2243
SUBDIVISION

H.E.B

BAGDAD
CEMETERY

BAGDADMEADOWS

OLD TOWNVILLAGE,SEC 2

OLD TOWNVILLAGE,SEC 1
LISD LISD

LISD

LEO
CTR

WA
LK

ER
 A

DD
ITI

ON

ATKIN ADDITION

MASONS ADDITION

ORIGINAL TOWN OF LEANDER

N. CREEK
RANCH
PARK

NORTH CREEK DR

NORTHSIDE MEADOW

4C

5D

4C

4C

3A

4C

4C

5D

4C

4C

4C4C

5D

4C
4C

US
 18

3

OLD 2243 WEST

HALSEY DR

W SAN GABRIEL PKWY

ME
L M

AT
HI

S A
VE

N 
US

 18
3

183A TOLL RD FR SB

HERITAGE GROVE RD

W BR
OAD

E S
T

183A TOLL RD FR NB

HERO WAY

RANCHERO RD

N BAGDAD RD

SOUTH BROOK DR

WH
ITL

EY
 D

R

OA
K 

GR
OV

E R
D

RE
MI

NG
TO

N 
DR

NORTH CREEK BLVD

AIKEN DR

CR 276

CL
AY

TO
N 

DR

BU
RG

ES
S D

R

E SAN GABRIEL PKWY

CR 279

MATHESON DR

WASHBURN DR

BA
RC

LA
Y 

DR

TABERNASH DR

FLANAGAN DR

W METRO DR

HE
ND

ER
SO

N 
DR

JO
PP

A R
D

HE
NS

LE
Y D

R

LOS ROBLES RD

MIDDLE BROOK DR

EN
CI

NI
TA

 D
R

PA
MP

AS
 R

IC
AS

 D
R

ES
TA

NC
IA

 W
AY SA

N 
VI

CE
NT

E 
DR

METRO DR

US
 18

3 S
B

CO
UL

EE
 D

R

E EVANS ST

RUBLES CT

CA
MI

NO
 R

EA
L D

R

JOE BATES DR

MIDDLE BROOK DR

MIDDLE BROOK DR

183A

CR 279

RM 2243

S U
S 1

83

US 183

RM 2243

± 0 800
Feet

ZONING CASE 13-Z-027
Attachment #2
Current Zoning Map
Oak Creek PUD

SFR
SFE
SFS
SFU
SFC 
SFL

SFT 
SFU/MH
TF
MF
LO 
LC

GC
HC
HI
PUD

CITY MAPË

Subject Property
City Limits
Future Annexation Per DA
Involuntary Annexation
Voluntary Annexation



US
 18

3

W SAN GABRIEL PKWY

HERITAGE GROVE RD

HA
LS

EY
 D

R

N US 183
RE

MI
NG

TO
N 

DR

RANCHERO RD

W BR
OAD

E S
T

CL
AY

TO
N 

DR

SOUTH BROOK DR

W METRO DR

RA
NC

HO
 VI

EJ
O 

LN

JO
PP

A R
D

LOS ROBLES RD

NORTH CREEK BLVD

CAMINO ALTO DR

PA
MP

AS
 R

IC
AS

 D
R

SA
WYE

R T
RL

ES
TA

NC
IA 

WA
Y SA

N 
VI

CE
NT

E 
DR

CO
UL

EE
 D

R

ES
CO

ND
ID

O 
DR

METRO DR

CA
MI

NO
 R

EA
L D

R

JOE BATES DR

RUBLES CT

SA
BIN

AS
 D

R

MIDDLE BROOK DR

183A

CR 279

RM 2243

S U
S 1

83

US 183

RM 2243

Ë0 200
Feet

CITY MAPË

Subject Property
City Limits

ZONING CASE 13-Z-027 Attachment #3
Aerial Exhibit - Approximate Boundaries
Oak Creek PUD



 

Oak Creek - Planned Unit Development  Page1 of 8 

Exhibit C  
 

Oak Creek Planned Unit Development 
 
A. Purpose and Intent 
 

The Oak Creek PUD is composed of approximately 150 acres, as described in Exhibit 
A (Field Notes).  The development of this property is planned as a high quality, 
residentialcommunity with a variety of residential product types. 
 
Oak Creek has been designed to create walkable, pedestrian friendly neighborhoods.  
The contents of this PUD further explain and illustrate the overall appearance and 
function desired for this community.  A Conceptual Site Layout and Land Use Plan has 
been attached to this PUD, Exhibit 1, to illustrate the design intent for the property.  
The Conceptual Site Layout and Land Use Plan is intended to serve as a guide to 
illustrate the general community vision and design conceptsand is not intended to serve 
as a final document.  The Conceptual Site Layout and Land Use Plandepicts a mix of 
residential products and open space areas which are contemplated within the 
community. 

 
B. Applicability and Base Zoning 
 

All aspects regarding the development of this PUD shall complythe City of Leander 
Composite Zoning Ordinance, except as established in this exhibit, titled Exhibit C. 
 
For the purpose of establishing development standards for the PUD, base zoning 
districts have been selected from the Leander Composite Zoning Ordinance for the 
various residential products proposed within the PUD. 
 

� For Lots 60’ and wider: Base Zoning District SFU Single Family Urban (SFU-
2-B) 

� For Lots 50’-59’: Base Zoning District SFC Single Family Compact (SFC-2-B) 
� For Lots 40’-49’: Base Zoning District SFL Single Family Limited (SFL-2-B) 
� For Single Family Townhomes: SFT – Single Family Townhouse (SFT-2-B) 
� For Cluster Housing: MF – Multi Family (MF-2-B) 

 
This PUD allows the flexibility to mix the various residential products and define 
boundaries for each lot type during the platting process.  Each plat or site plan 
submitted to the City will identify the use at the time of City Submittal. All 
neighborhoods within the PUD will comply with the modified development standards 
of this PUD.  In the case that this PUD does not address a specific City requirement, the 
Leander Composite Zoning Ordinance shall apply.  In the event of a conflict between 
this PUD and the base zoning districtfound in the Leander Composite Zoning 
Ordinance, this PUD shall control. 

 
 
 



 

Oak Creek - Planned Unit Development  Page2 of 8 

 
C. Conceptual Site Layout and Land Use Plan 
 

Exhibit 1 attached is a conceptual development plan intended to visually convey the 
design intent for the Oak Creek community.  The design of the community is not final, 
and is subject to refinement during the platting and site planning stages.  This PUD 
zoning document does not constitute plat or site plan approval of the attached plan. 
 
The Oak Creek project is comprised of a mix of various single family detached 
products as well as townhomes and cluster products. Oak Creek will include a cohesive 
network of open spaces, including parks, water quality areas, floodplain and trail 
corridors.  The open spaceand trails system combined with the sidewalk network will 
be critical in establishing a walkable, inviting community.  
 
The product placement within the community is planned to provide the following 
development pattern: 
 
SFL Single Family Limited 
Alley loaded, 40’ lots will be located west of West Broade Street and adjacent to the 
southern boundary line which is shared with the Northside Meadow development.  The 
extension of South Brook Drive will be faced with alley loaded product to provide an 
attractive architectural street scene which will ultimately connect to the adjacent TOD 
uses located along Highway 183.  The alley loaded product will also reduce driveways 
along South Brook Drive to Plain Elementary School. 
 
SFC Single Family Compact/SFU Single Family Urban 
The area north of the alley loaded product and west of West Broade Street will contain 
a mix of 50’, 60’ and 70’ conventional single familyproduct types with access points to 
the central park and trail system.  Extensions of Coulee Drive and Middle Brook Drive 
will connect into the new neighborhoods, providing a seamless connection to the 
adjacent Benbrook Ranch and Heritage Glen developments. 
 
MF Multi Family/SFT Single Family Townhouse/Cluster 
The parcels located east of West Broade Street are directly adjacent to the area 
designated as T5 on the City of Leander TOD map.  The parcels are planned for higher 
density attached townhomes or cluster with a maximum density of 12 units per acre.  
The cluster product is a detached single family unit that is developed as a condo 
regime.  If a cluster product is proposed, the site will be processed as a single lot site 
plan.  The units will be sold as condos with common open space areas that are 
maintained by a Homeowners Association. 
 
To ensure a variety and mix of residential product types within Oak Creek, the 
following standards have been established:  

 
Residential Product Type Requirements 

1. MF Multi Family/SFT Single Family Townhome(Cluster, Townhome) 
� Minimum of 100 units 



 

Oak Creek - Planned Unit Development  Page3 of 8 

2. SFL Single Family Limited-Alley Loaded lots 
� Minimum of 100 units 

3. SFC Single Family Compact – 50’ lots 
� Minimum of 100 units 

4. SFU Single Family Urban-60’ lots 
� Minimum of 100 units 

 
D. Allowable Uses 
 

The uses allowed within the Oak CreekPUD shall comply with the list of permitted 
uses defined in Article III, Section 17 of the Leander Composite Zoning Ordinance for 
the appropriate base zoning district.  Cluster housing shall be considered a single 
family, detached use which is permitted in a MF Multi Family base district with a 
maximum density of 12 units per acre. 

 
E. Lot Design Standards 
 

Residential Areas: 
 
Oak Creek will include a variety of residential product types and sizes from detached 
single family homes to townhomes.  The detached residential has been broken into two 
categories based upon lot width and size.  The attached product has been grouped into 
one category and Cluster housing has been designated as an individual category.  
Detailed design standards are included within this PUD, Table E.1, based upon the type 
of residential product.  
 
The Oak Creekdevelopment will comply with the Development Standards set forth in 
Table E.1 
  



 

Oak Creek - Planned Unit Development  Page4 of 8 

Table E.1 – Development Standards 
 

RESIDENTIAL USES   

DETACHED  
50 ft. & wider 
lot (SFC/SFU) 

DETACHED  
narrower than  
50 ft. lot (SFL 

base, alley loaded) 

ATTACHED 
Townhome (SFT 

base, alley loaded) 

CLUSTER/ MF 
(Setbacks are for 

perimeter) 

Lot Area 
(minimum) 

5,500 s.f. 4,000 s.f. 1,800 s.f. n/a 

Lot Width 
(minimum) 

50 ft. 40 ft. 20 ft. n/a 

Front Setback 
(minimum) 

20 ft. (25’ street 
facing garage) 

15 ft. 10 ft. 20 ft. 

Side Setback 
(minimum) 

5 ft. 5 ft. 0 ft./10 ft. 10 ft. building 
separation 

Street Side Setback 
(minimum) 

15 ft. (20’street 
facing garage) 

15 ft. 15 ft. 20 ft. 

Rear Setback 
(minimum) 

15 ft. 6 ft. 6 ft. 20 ft. 

Lot Depth 
(minimum) 

110 ft. 100 ft. 90 ft. n/a 

 
 
F. Parkland/Open Space/Trails 
 

Open space within Oak Creek will create a network of trails and parkland that creates 
distinct neighborhoods and provides pedestrian walkways throughout the community.  
The Oak Creek PUD will contribute approximately 31 acres of open space consisting of 
parks, floodplain, greenbelt trail corridors and water quality ponds.  The parkland and 
proposed trails and amenities shall be consistent with the approved Concept Plan Sheet 
2 Parkland Exhibit (Exhibit 1). 
 
The following criteria shall be considered allowable for parkland credit within Oak 
Creek. 
 

1. Neighborhood Pocket Parks - Minimum of ½ acre 
2. Minimum of 100’ of street frontage 
3. Water quality pond areas that are designed as an amenity 
4. Open space trail corridors located along West Broade Street between the back 

of lots and the right of way 
 

Oak Creek is located in close proximity to Benbrook Park.  A primary 8’ wide, concrete 
trail will be constructed within the floodplain which will provide a connection point for 
linkage between the Benbrook trail and West Broade Street and from West Broade 
Street east and south to connect with South Brook Drive (see approved Concept Plan 



 

Oak Creek - Planned Unit Development  Page5 of 8 

Sheet 2 Parkland Exhibit).  An additional 8’ wide, concrete trail will be provided along 
the entire length of West Broade Street which will meander in and out of the right of 
way and adjacent open space corridor located on the western side of the roadway. 

 
G. Roadway Design 
 

The Oak Creek community will incorporate the following right of way standards. 
 

1. All single family detached roadways for base districts SFU Single Family Urban 
and SFC Single Family Compact shall utilize Primary Residential Street section 
ST-50-28 as defined in Table 10C of the Leander SmartCode. 

 
2. All alley loaded residential product in base districts SFL Single Family Limited 

and SFT Single Family Townhouse shall utilize Primary Residential Street 
section ST-48-26 as defined in Table 10C of the Leander SmartCode. 

 
3. All alleys shall conform to the RA-20 Rear Alley section as defined in Table 

10C of the Leander SmartCode. 
 

4. Streets within a Cluster Housing project will be private streets within a site plan.  
The pavement width shall be a minimum of 26 feet in width with 10 foot Public 
Utility Easements PUE on each side of the street.    

 
5. Due to the pedestrian oriented design and emphasis on an attractive streetscape, 

several traffic calming measures are allowed within Oak Creek.  A traffic circle 
shall be incorporated at the intersection of South Brook Drive and West Broade 
Street with a minimum radius of 70 feet. 

 
6. Additional traffic calming islands shall be allowed along South Brook Drive.  

The minimum pavement width between landscape islands shall be 24 feet.   
Parallel parking shall be allowed on both sides of South Brook Drive with the 
driving lanes tapering at intersections to create traffic calming islands.  Changes 
in paving material such as stamped concrete or pavers shall be allowed at the 
intersections and traffic circle. 



 

Oak Creek - Planned Unit Development  Page6 of 8 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

H. Architectural Criteria  
 

The PUD shall comply with the architectural standards of the Composite Zoning 
Ordinance and the Conventional Development Sector of the City of Leander 
SmartCode adopted July 17, 2014.  Single family residential products within the SFL 
Single Family Limited, and SFT Single Family Townhouse base zoning districts and 
detached single family residential products within the MF Multi Family base zoning 
district (i.e. cluster single family developed as a site plan) may utilize cementious fiber 
planking to meet the masonry requirement.   



 

Oak Creek - Planned Unit Development  Page7 of 8 

 
I.  Walls and Fencing 
 

All lots within Oak Creek which back or side onto West Broade Street shall have a 
solid, 6 foot tall masonry wall with columns located along the rear or side lot line.  
Wrought iron fencing with masonry columns is allowed in locations where views into 
the neighborhood would be desirable.   
 
All lots which back onto parks or floodplain areas shall utilize 6 foot, wrought iron 
view fencing. 
 

J. Flag Lots 
 

In order to provide a legal lot for the water quality ponds within Oak Creek, the 
minimum flag lot width shall be 15 feet.  This provision shall not apply to residential 
lots. 
 

  



 

Oak Creek - Planned Unit Development  Page8 of 8 

Exhibit 1 
 

Conceptual Site Layout and Land Use Plan 
   

 



P.O.B.

CHARLES COCHRAN SURVEY
ABSTRACT 134

ZONE X

960

960

960

960

960

960

965

965

965

965

965

965

965

9
6

5

965
965

965

965

965

965

96
5

965
965

96
5

965

965

970

970

970

970

970

970

970

9
7

0

970

970

970

97
0

970

970

97
0

970

970

970

970

975

975

975

975

975

975

9
7

59
7

5

975

975

975

975

975

97
5

975

975

975975

975

975

9
7

5

975
975 975

975

980 980

980

980

980

980

980

980

980

980

980

980

9
8

0

980

980

980

980

980

980
980

980

980

980

98
0

985

985

985

985

98
5

985

985
985

985

985

985

985

985

985

985

985

985

985

98
5

9
8

5

98
5

98
5

990

9
9

0

9
9

0

990

99
0

990 990

990 990

990

990

990

990

990

990

990

990

990

990
990

9
9

0 9
9

0

99
0

990990

990

995

9
9

5

99
5

995

995

995

995

995

995

99
5

995

995

995

995

995

1000

1000

10
00

1000

1000

1000

1000

1000

1000

1000

1
0

0
0

1005

1005

1005

1005

1005

1005

1005

1005
1005

1010

1010

10
10

10
10

1010

1010

1015

1015

1015

1020

985

E
X

H
IB

IT
 1

L
E
A

N
D

E
R

, 
T

E
X

A
S

O
A

K
 C

R
E
E
K

C
O

N
C

E
P

T
U

A
L
 S

IT
E
 L

A
Y

O
U

T

A
N

D
 L

A
N

D
 U

S
E
 P

L
A

N

VICINITY MAP

The reproduction, copying or other use of this drawing without the

written consent of SEC Planning, LLC is prohibited.

1.

Issue Date:

5.

4.

2.

3.

130078-SELA
Project No.

2013C

SEC Planning, LLC

Drawn By: MB

December 20, 2013

Issued:

Revisions:

1.

5.

4.

2.

3.

Reviewed By: MB

PUD Submittal 12/20/13

Q:\130078-SELA\Cadfiles\PLANNING\

Submittals\Concept Plan

Submittal\Concept A 2013-08-15.dwg

PUD Plan Revision 02/11/14

PUD Plan Revision 03/20/14

NEW HOPE RD.

B
A
G

D
A
D

 R
D

.

SOUTH SAN GABRIEL

R
EA

G
A

N
 B

LV
D

.

U
.S. 183

U
.S. 183A

FM 1431

S.H. 29

SAN GABRIEL PARKWAY

SITE

LEANDER
CITY OF

4201 W. Parmer Lane Bldg A Suite 220

Austin, TX 78727

T 512.246.7003

F 512.246.7703

www.secplanning.com

Email : info@secplanning.com

LAND PLANNING

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE

COMMUNITY BRANDING

SEC Planning, LLC
Austin, Texas

SENTINEL/COTTER LEANDER, LLC
9111 JOLLYVILLE ROAD

SUITE 212
AUSTIN, TX 78759
T: 949-922-2512

OWNER: MICHELLE

WATERSTONE TYLERVILLE, LP
10500 AVERY CLUB DRIVE

SUITE 900
AUSTIN, TX 78717

OWNER: TYLERVILLE

LEGEND
(SFC) (SFU) SINGLE FAMILY COMPACT/SINGLE FAMILY URBAN

MAJOR RIGHT-OF-WAY

FLOODPLAIN

(SFT) (MF) SINGLE FAMILY TOWNHOUSE/CLUSTER

8' TRAIL

(SFL) SINGLE FAMILY LIMITED

FIRE STATION

MASONRY WALL



15

22

17

18

19
20

21

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

66

67

68

70

71

72

16

30

73

69

(64' R.O.W.)

JEANNE A. THOMPSON
3.150 ACRES
(2000053933)

WATERSTONE TYLERVILLE, L.P.

107.928 AC.

(2004063370)

BLOCK H

BENBROOK RANCH

SECTION ONE

PHASE TWO

(Y/345)

(R
IG

H
T O

F W
A

Y
 W

ID
TH

 V
A

R
IE

S
)

BOUNDARY LINE AGREEMENT

(1455/296)

APPROX.

CENTERLINE OF

BRUSHY CREEK

APPROX.

CENTERLINE OF

BRUSHY CREEK

APPROX.

CENTERLINE OF

BRUSHY CREEK

ESTATES OF

NORTH CREEK RANCH

SECTION TWO

(V/293)

(50' R
.O

.W
.)

36

35

34

33

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

LEANDER I.S.D.

LOT 1, BLOCK D

HERITAGE GLEN SECTION ONE

(CC/369)

9

8

7

6

5

4

3

2

1

10

(6
0'

 R
.O

.W
.)

14

13
12

11
10

9

8

7
6

5

4

3

2

1

1

BLOCK C

HERITAGE GLEN SECTION ONE

(CC/369)

BLOCK A

(CC/369)

BLOCK K

(V/293)

BLOCK A

(V/293)

14

15

LOT 1A BLOCK B

BENBROOK RANCH

SEC. ONE PH. ONE

(W/295)

LOT 3 BLOCK H

BENBROOK RANCH

SEC. TWO PH. ONE

(CC/3)

LOT 3 BLOCK H

BENBROOK RANCH

SEC. TWO PH. ONE

(CC/3)

PORTION OF

164.466 AC.

(2004063368)

WATERSTONE MICHELLE, L.P.

PORTION OF 164.466 AC.

(2004063368)

WATERSTONE TYLERVILLE, L.P.

107.928 AC.

(2004063370)

JEANNE A. THOMPSON
3.150 ACRES
(2000053933)

HEB GROCERY CO.

78.978 ACRES

(2003003109)

HEB GROCERY CO.

78.978 ACRES

(2003003109)

BLOCK B

HERITAGE GLEN SECTION ONE

(CC/369)

(50' R
.O.W

.)

U
S

 H
IG

H
W

A
Y

 183

S
A

B
IN

A
S

 D
R

LEA3

/ /

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

/
/

/
/

X

X

/ / /

/ / /

20' W
ID

E
 S

.W
.B

.T.

E
S

M
T. (549/813)

20' W
ID

E
 S

.W
.B

.T. E
S

M
T.

(594/785)

APPROXIMATE

LOCATION OF

20' WIDE

RIGHT-OF-WAY

(1275/165)

APPROXIMATE

LOCATION OF

20' WIDE

RIGHT-OF-WAY

(1275/165)

APPROXIMATE

LOCATION OF

20' WIDE

RIGHT-OF-WAY

(1275/165)

PARCEL 9E
0.039 AC.

DRAINAGE ESMT.
(2005068805)

PARCEL 10E
0.541 AC.

DRAINAGE ESMT.
(2005068805)

15' UTIL. ESMT.
(200601423)

0.36 AC
EASEMENT

AREA

S

AP

CH

CH

CH

CH

AP

AP

AP

S

UN

ZWA

ZWA

P.O.C.

P.O.B.

WWMH
WWMH

WWMH

WWMH

WWMH

WWMH

T

SSMH

SSMH

SSMH

SSMH

T

T

V

V

V

W
W

W

W

W

W
W

MH

WWMH

WWMH

WWMH

WWMH

WWMH

OU

OU

OU

P.O.B.

FEMA ZONE AE

SCALED FROM MAP

FEMA ZONE AESCALED FROM MAP

FEMA Z
ONE A

E

SCALE
D F

ROM M
AP

FEMA ZONE AE

SCALE
D FROM M

AP

FEM
A ZO

NE AE

SCALED FRO
M

 M
AP

SHADED ZONE X

FEMA ZONE AE
SCALED FROM MAP

SHADED ZONE X

FENCE IS

2.1' ON SUBJECT

FENCE IS

0.6' ON SUBJECT

FENCE IS

1.7' ON SUBJECT

FENCE IS

0.4' OFF

SUBJECT

8' X 8'

BOX CULVERTS

18" RCP

CONC.

WALK

CONC.

WALK

CONC.

HEADWALL

CURB &

GUTTER

CURB &

GUTTER

CURB &

GUTTER

STONE

COLUMN

UTILITY

VAULT

GATE

18" CMP

C
O

N
C

.

CONC.

HEADWALL

C
O

N
C

.

CONC.

HEADWALL

GUARDRAIL

ASPH. ROAD

TERMINATES

ON SUBJECT

ASPH. ROAD

TERMINATES

ON SUBJECT

HEADWALL

HEADWALL

HEADWALL

(3) 3'X2' BOX
CULVERTS

(3) 3'X2' BOX
CULVERTS

(3) 3'X2' BOX
CULVERTS

ROCK
GABIAN

ROCK
GABIAN

ASPH. ROAD

EXISTING 8"

WATER LINE AND

VALVE
EXISTING 8" WW

LINE HERITAGE

GLEN SECTION

ONE (TO BE

RELOCATED)

EXISTING WW

SERVICES (TO

BE REMOVED)

EXISTING WATER

QUALITY POND

12" PVC'S UNDER

BERM

12" PVC'S UNDER

BERM

12" PVC'S UNDER

BERM

ROCK GABION

ROCK GABION

EXISTING 8"

WATER LINE AND

FIRE HYDRANT

EXISTING 8"

WATER LINE AND

FIRE HYDRANT

EXISTING

OVERHEAD PEC

POWER LINE (TO

BE RELOCATED)

(TO BE
RELOCATED)

21"
WASTEWATER

LINE

21"
WASTEWATER

LINE

FEMA
FLOODPLAIN

MAP #
48491CO455E

FEMA
FLOODPLAIN

MAP #
48491CO455E

(S77°05'00"W 634.71')

(S77°06'00"W 1312.43')

(S77°09'00"W 837.97')

S75°04'10"W 603.40'

S75°04'31"W 1312.45'

S75°07'18"W 837.81'

S82°30'17"E 435.20'

S
21°01'11"E

 1329.18'

(S89°25'00"E 872.34')

(S89°39'00"E 440.74')

L1
L2

L3
L4

L5
L6

L7

L8

L9

L10

L11 L23

L24

L2
5

L2
6

L2
7

(S71°06'00"W 1225.27')

S69°09'11"W 369.12'

(N
14

°2
7'

00
"W

 1
71

3.
85

')

N
26

°5
8'

52
"E

 2
27

.4
9'

(N
29

°0
2'

00
"E

 2
27

.6
0'

)

N88°19'34"E 440.91'

N88°34'02"E 636.85'

(S
18°59'00"E

 1328.87')

N69°06'43"E 245.27'

N52°34'57"E
 241.82'

N63°51'43"E 260.61'

S73°28'22"W

59.85'

N21°07'13"W 186.87'

(N21°06'28"W 186.93')

N68°51'57"E 154.83'

(N68°53'32"E 154.78')

N
21

°0
6'

14
"W

 7
44

.1
5'

(N
21

°0
6'

35
"W

 7
44

.3
7'

)

S68°53'22"W 750.35'

(S68°53'11"W 750.34')

S
18

°2
4'

23
"E

 2
13

.3
9'

(S
18

°2
5'

46
"E

 2
13

.3
6'

)

C
1

C2

C3

S75°04'10"W

30.83'

S
21

°0
1'

11
"E

 1
47

8.
67

'

N88°34'02"E 234.28'

S26°33'24"E

1360.29'

N
16

°2
9'

54
"W

 1
00

9.
33

'

S74°30'40"W

146.22'

N
20°44'42"W

 453.14'

N
20°44'42"W

 747.56'

(N
20°44'42"W

)

S77°11'17"E 206.16'
(S77°11'25"E 205.87')

S76°33'22"E 999.84'
(S76°33'31"E 999.78')

S76°10'25"E 306.57'
(S76°10'34"E 306.57')

55.92'

N
19

°5
3'

11
"E

13
3.

80
'

S06°04'20"W
0.38'

146.24'

20.00'

L1

L2
L3

L4

L18
L19

L2
0

S
01

°4
5'

13
"W

28
4.

57
'

C1
C2

C3
C4

The reproduction, copying or other use of this drawing without the

written consent of SEC Planning, LLC is prohibited.

1.

Issue Date:

5.

4.

2.

3.

130078-SELA
Project No.

2013C

SEC Planning, LLC

Drawn By: MB

September 6, 2013

Issued:

Revisions:

1.

5.

4.

2.

3.

Reviewed By: MB

City Concept Submittal 09/6/13

Q:\130078-SELA\Cadfiles\PLANNING\

Submittals\Concept Plan

Submittal\Concept A 2013-08-15.dwg

City Concept Submittal 10/7/13

City Concept Submittal 10/24/13

City Concept Submittal 11/05/13

L
E
A

N
D

E
R

, 
T

E
X

A
S

P
A

R
K

L
A

N
D

 E
X

H
IB

IT

M
IC

H
E
L
L
E
 /

 T
Y

L
E
R

V
IL

L
E
 T

R
A

C
T

C
O

N
C

E
P

T
 P

L
A

N
 -

 S
H

E
E
T

 2

VICINITY MAP

NEW HOPE RD.

B
A
G

D
A
D

 R
D

.

SOUTH SAN GABRIEL

R
EA

G
A

N
 B

LV
D

.

U
.S. 183

U
.S. 183A

FM 1431

S.H. 29

SAN GABRIEL PARKWAY

SITE

LEANDER
CITY OF

4201 W. Parmer Lane Bldg A Suite 220

Austin, TX 78727

T 512.246.7003

F 512.246.7703

www.secplanning.com

Email : info@secplanning.com

LAND PLANNING

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE

COMMUNITY BRANDING

SEC Planning, LLC
Austin, Texas

SENTINEL/COTTER LEANDER, LLC
700 LAVACA STREET

SUITE 900
AUSTIN, TX 78701
T: 949-922-2512

OWNER: MICHELLE

WATERSTONE TYLERVILLE, LP
10500 AVERY CLUB DRIVE

SUITE 900
AUSTIN, TX 78717

OWNER: TYLERVILLE

PARKLAND NOTES:

ALL PROPOSED PARK IMPROVEMENTS WILL MEET CITY PARK & FACILITY EQUIPMENT STANDARDS AND U.S.
CONSUMER PRODUCTS SAFETY COMMISSION - PUBLICATION 32

PARK IMPROVEMENTS WILL INCLUDE A PLAYGROUND, RESTROOM FACILITY, TRAILS, PICNIC AREAS
AND OPEN PLAY

PARKLAND CALCULATIONS

OPTION TWO:

689 / 100 x 3.50 = 24.12 AC.
(# OF DWELLING UNITS) (PROPOSED PUBLIC PARK ACREAGE OR FEE IN LIEU)

689 X $350 = $241,150
(# OF DWELLING UNITS) (VALUE OF PROPOSED PARK IMPROVEMENTS)

FLOODPLAIN
OPEN SPACE / PARKS

TRAIL

NEIGHBORHOOD PARK

16.4
14.9

5,700

31.3TOTAL ACRES

ACRES
ACRES
L.F.

LEGEND



 

Oak Creek - Planned Unit Development  Page1 of 20 

Exhibit C  
 

Oak Creek Planned Unit Development 
 
A. Purpose and Intent 
 

The Oak Creek PUD is composed of approximately 150 acres, as described in Exhibit 
A (Field Notes).  The development of this property is planned as a high quality, 
residentialcommunity with a variety of residential product types. 
 
Oak Creek has been designed to create walkable, pedestrian friendly neighborhoods.  
The contents of this PUD further explain and illustrate the overall appearance and 
function desired for this community.  A Conceptual Site Layout and Land Use Plan has 
been attached to this PUD, Exhibit 1, to illustrate the design intent for the property.  
The Conceptual Site Layout and Land Use Plan is intended to serve as a guide to 
illustrate the general community vision and design conceptsand is not intended to serve 
as a final document.  The Conceptual Site Layout and Land Use Plandepicts a mix of 
residential products and open space areas which are contemplated within the 
community. 

 
B. Applicability and Base Zoning 
 

All aspects regarding the development of this PUD shall complythe City of Leander 
Composite Zoning Ordinance, except as established in this exhibit, titled Exhibit C. 
 
For the purpose of establishing development standards for the PUD, base zoning 
districts have been selected from the Leander Composite Zoning Ordinance for the 
various residential products proposed within the PUD. 
 

� For Lots 60’ and wider: Base Zoning District SFU Single Family Urban (SFU-
2-B) 

� For Lots 50’-59’: Base Zoning District SFC Single Family Compact (SFC-2-B) 
� For Lots 40’-49’: Base Zoning District SFL Single Family Limited (SFL-2-B) 
� For Single Family Townhomes: SFT – Single Family Townhouse (SFT-2-B) 
� For Cluster Housing: MF – Multi Family (MF-2-B) 

 
This PUD allows the flexibility to mix the various residential products and define 
boundaries for each lot type during the platting process.  Each plat or site plan 
submitted to the City will identify the use at the time of City Submittal. All 
neighborhoods within the PUD will comply with the modified development standards 
of this PUD.  In the case that this PUD does not address a specific City requirement, the 
Leander Composite Zoning Ordinance shall apply.  In the event of a conflict between 
this PUD and the base zoning districtfound in the Leander Composite Zoning 
Ordinance, this PUD shall control. 

 
 
 



 

Oak Creek - Planned Unit Development  Page2 of 20 

 
C. Conceptual Site Layout and Land Use Plan 
 

Exhibit 1 attached is a conceptual development plan intended to visually convey the 
design intent for the Oak Creek community.  The design of the community is not final, 
and is subject to refinement during the platting and site planning stages.  This PUD 
zoning document does not constitute plat or site plan approval of the attached plan. 
 
The Oak Creek project is comprised of a mix of various single family detached 
products as well as townhomes and cluster products. Oak Creek will include a cohesive 
network of open spaces, including parks, water quality areas, floodplain and trail 
corridors.  The open spaceand trails system combined with the sidewalk network will 
be critical in establishing a walkable, inviting community.  
 
The product placement within the community is planned to provide the following 
development pattern: 
 
SFL Single Family Limited 
Alley loaded, 40’ lots will be located west of West Broade Street and adjacent to the 
southern boundary line which is shared with the Northside Meadow development.  The 
extension of South Brook Drive will be faced with alley loaded product to provide an 
attractive architectural street scene which will ultimately connect to the adjacent TOD 
uses located along Highway 183.  The alley loaded product will also reduce driveways 
along South Brook Drive to Plain Elementary School. 
 
SFC Single Family Compact/SFU Single Family Urban 
The area north of the alley loaded product and west of West Broade Street will contain 
a mix of 50’, 60’ and 70’ conventional single familyproduct types with access points to 
the central park and trail system.  Extensions of Coulee Drive and Middle Brook Drive 
will connect into the new neighborhoods, providing a seamless connection to the 
adjacent Benbrook Ranch and Heritage Glen developments. 
 
MF Multi Family/SFT Single Family Townhouse/Cluster 
The parcels located east of West Broade Street are directly adjacent to the area 
designated as T5 on the City of Leander TOD map.  The parcels are planned for higher 
density attached townhomes or cluster with a maximum density of 12 units per acre.  
The cluster product is a detached single family unit that is developed as a condo 
regime.  If a cluster product is proposed, the site will be processed as a single lot site 
plan.  The units will be sold as condos with common open space areas that are 
maintained by a Homeowners Association. 
 
To ensure a variety and mix of residential product types within Oak Creek, the 
following standards have been established:  

 
Residential Product Type Requirements 

1. MF Multi Family/SFT Single Family Townhome(Cluster, Townhome) 
� Minimum of 100 units 



 

Oak Creek - Planned Unit Development  Page3 of 20 

2. SFL Single Family Limited-Alley Loaded lots 
� Minimum of 100 units 

3. SFC Single Family Compact – 50’ lots 
� Minimum of 100 units 

4. SFU Single Family Urban-60’ lots 
� Minimum of 100 units 

 
D. Allowable Uses 
 

The uses allowed within the Oak CreekPUD shall comply with the list of permitted 
uses defined in Article III, Section 17 of the Leander Composite Zoning Ordinance for 
the appropriate base zoning district.  Cluster housing shall be considered a single 
family, detached use which is permitted in a MF Multi Family base district with a 
maximum density of 12 units per acre. 

 
E. Lot Design Standards 
 

Residential Areas: 
 
Oak Creek will include a variety of residential product types and sizes from detached 
single family homes to townhomes.  The detached residential has been broken into two 
categories based upon lot width and size.  The attached product has been grouped into 
one category and Cluster housing has been designated as an individual category.  
Detailed design standards are included within this PUD, Table E.1, based upon the type 
of residential product.  
 
The Oak Creekdevelopment will comply with the Development Standards set forth in 
Table E.1 
  



 

Oak Creek - Planned Unit Development  Page4 of 20 

Table E.1 – Development Standards 
 

RESIDENTIAL USES   

DETACHED  
50 ft. & wider 
lot (SFC/SFU) 

DETACHED  
narrower than  
50 ft. lot (SFL 

base, alley loaded) 

ATTACHED 
Townhome (SFT 

base, alley loaded) 

CLUSTER/ MF 
(Setbacks are for 

perimeter) 

Lot Area 
(minimum) 

5,500 s.f. 4,000 s.f. 1,800 s.f. n/a 

Lot Width 
(minimum) 

50 ft. 40 ft. 20 ft. n/a 

Front Setback 
(minimum) 

20 ft. (25’ street 
facing garage) 

15 ft. 10 ft. 20 ft. 

Side Setback 
(minimum) 

5 ft. 5 ft. 0 ft./10 ft. 10 ft. building 
separation 

Street Side Setback 
(minimum) 

15 ft. (20’street 
facing garage) 

15 ft. 15 ft. 20 ft. 

Rear Setback 
(minimum) 

15 ft. 6 ft. 6 ft. 20 ft. 

Lot Depth 
(minimum) 

110 ft. 100 ft. 90 ft. n/a 

 
 
F. Parkland/Open Space/Trails 
 

Open space within Oak Creek will create a network of trails and parkland that creates 
distinct neighborhoods and provides pedestrian walkways throughout the community.  
The Oak Creek PUD will contribute approximately 31 acres of open space consisting of 
parks, floodplain, greenbelt trail corridors and water quality ponds.  The parkland and 
proposed trails and amenities shall be consistent with the approved Concept Plan Sheet 
2 Parkland Exhibit (Exhibit 1). 
 
The following criteria shall be considered allowable for parkland credit within Oak 
Creek. 
 

1. Neighborhood Pocket Parks - Minimum of ½ acre 
2. Minimum of 100’ of street frontage 
3. Water quality pond areas that are designed as an amenity 
4. Open space trail corridors located along West Broade Street between the back 

of lots and the right of way 
 

Oak Creek is located in close proximity to Benbrook Park.  A primary 8’ wide, concrete 
trail will be constructed within the floodplain which will provide a connection point for 
linkage between the Benbrook trail and West Broade Street and from West Broade 
Street east and south to connect with South Brook Drive (see approved Concept Plan 



 

Oak Creek - Planned Unit Development  Page5 of 20 

Sheet 2 Parkland Exhibit).  An additional 8’ wide, concrete trail will be provided along 
the entire length of West Broade Street which will meander in and out of the right of 
way and adjacent open space corridor located on the western side of the roadway. 

 
G. Roadway Design 
 

The Oak Creek community will incorporate the following right of way standards. 
 

1. All single family detached roadways for base districts SFU Single Family Urban 
and SFC Single Family Compact shall utilize Primary Residential Street section 
ST-50-28 as defined in Table 10C of the Leander SmartCode. 

 
2. All alley loaded residential product in base districts SFL Single Family Limited 

and SFT Single Family Townhouse shall utilize Primary Residential Street 
section ST-48-26 as defined in Table 10C of the Leander SmartCode. 

 
3. All alleys shall conform to the RA-20 Rear Alley section as defined in Table 

10C of the Leander SmartCode. 
 

4. Streets within a Cluster Housing project will be private streets within a site plan.  
The pavement width shall be a minimum of 26 feet in width with 10 foot Public 
Utility Easements PUE on each side of the street.    

 
5. Due to the pedestrian oriented design and emphasis on an attractive streetscape, 

several traffic calming measures are allowed within Oak Creek.  A traffic circle 
shall be incorporated at the intersection of South Brook Drive and West Broade 
Street with a minimum radius of 70 feet. 

 
6. Additional traffic calming islands shall be allowed along South Brook Drive.  

The minimum pavement width between landscape islands shall be 24 feet.   
Parallel parking shall be allowed on both sides of South Brook Drive with the 
driving lanes tapering at intersections to create traffic calming islands.  Changes 
in paving material such as stamped concrete or pavers shall be allowed at the 
intersections and traffic circle. 



 

Oak Creek - Planned Unit Development  Page6 of 20 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

H. Architectural Criteria  
 

The PUD shall comply with the architectural standards of the Composite Zoning 
Ordinance and the Conventional Development Sector of the City of Leander 
SmartCode adopted July 17, 2014.  Single family residential products within the SFL 
Single Family Limited, and SFT Single Family Townhouse base zoning districts and 
detached single family residential products within the MF Multi Family base zoning 
district (i.e. cluster single family developed as a site plan) may utilize cementious fiber 
planking to meet the masonry requirement.   



 

Oak Creek - Planned Unit Development  Page7 of 20 

All residential product within the SFC Single Family Compact and SFU Single Family 
Urban base zoning districts shall comply with Article 8, Conventional Zone of the 2005 
Leander SmartCode. 
 
All residential product within the SFL Single Family Limited, SFT Single Family 
Townhouse and Multi Family base zoning districts shall comply with Article 6, Tables 
21A, 21B, 21C, 21D, 21E, 21F, 21G, 21H, 21J, 21K, 21L and 21M of the 2005 
Leander SmartCode.  See Exhibit 2 of this PUD for the tables.  Masonry standards for 
the SFL, SFT and MF base districts are defined in Table 21A of Exhibit 2 and require 
building walls to be finished in native stone (or synthetic equivalent), brick, stucco, 
split faced block (for piers, foundation walls and chimneys), wood lap siding, or Hardi 
Plank siding (equivalent or better) 

 
I. Walls and Fencing 
 

All lots within Oak Creek which back or side onto West Broade Street shall have a 
solid, 6 foot tall masonry wall with columns located along the rear or side lot line.  
Wrought iron fencing with masonry columns is allowed in locations where views into 
the neighborhood would be desirable.   
 
All lots which back onto parks or floodplain areas shall utilize 6 foot, wrought iron 
view fencing. 
 

J. Flag Lots 
 

In order to provide a legal lot for the water quality ponds within Oak Creek, the 
minimum flag lot width shall be 15 feet.  This provision shall not apply to residential 
lots. 
 

  



 

Oak Creek - Planned Unit Development  Page8 of 20 

Exhibit 1 
 

Conceptual Site Layout and Land Use Plan 
   



 

Oak Creek - Planned Unit Development  Page9 of 20 

 Exhibit 2 
 

Architectural Standards Tables 

 
 

  

Formatted: Centered, Indent: Left:  0", First
line:  0"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Centered, No widow/orphan
control, Tab stops:  -1", Left +  6.5", Right

Formatted: Centered, No widow/orphan
control, Tab stops:  -1", Left +  6.5", Right +
Not at  0.63"



 

Oak Creek - Planned Unit Development  Page10 of 20 

  



 

Oak Creek - Planned Unit Development  Page11 of 20 

  



 

Oak Creek - Planned Unit Development  Page12 of 20 

  
  



 

Oak Creek - Planned Unit Development  Page13 of 20 

  
  



 

Oak Creek - Planned Unit Development  Page14 of 20 

  
  



 

Oak Creek - Planned Unit Development  Page15 of 20 

  



 

Oak Creek - Planned Unit Development  Page16 of 20 

  
  



 

Oak Creek - Planned Unit Development  Page17 of 20 

 

  
  



 

Oak Creek - Planned Unit Development  Page18 of 20 

  



 

Oak Creek - Planned Unit Development  Page19 of 20 

  



 

Oak Creek - Planned Unit Development  Page20 of 20 

  
 

 



rstover
Text Box
ATTACHMENT #5



Amending Ordinance 05-018-00 

ORDINANCE NO #  
 

ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF LEANDER, TEXAS, AMENDING THE 
PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT KNOWN AS THE TRANSIT 
ORIENTED DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT FOR SEVERAL PARCELS OF 
LAND BY CREATING THE OAK CREEK PLANNED UNIT 
DEVELOPMENT AND ADOPTING A PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT 
PLAN FOR SUCH PARCELS; MAKING FINDINGS OF FACT; AND 
PROVIDING FOR RELATED MATTERS. 
 

 Whereas, the owner of the property described herein after (the "Property"), which is located 
within the planned unit development known as the Transit Oriented Development District (the 
“TODD”), has requested that the Property be rezoned and a planned unit development plan (the 
“PUD plan”) for the Oak Creek Planned Unit Development (“PUD”) be adopted; 
 
 Whereas, after giving at least ten days written notice to the owners of land within two 
hundred feet of the Property, the Planning & Zoning Commission held a public hearing on the 
proposed rezoning and forwarded its recommendation on the rezoning to the City Council; 
 
 Whereas, after publishing notice of the public hearing at least fifteen days prior to the date 
of such hearing, the City Council at a public hearing has reviewed the request and the circumstances 
of the Property and finds that a substantial change in circumstances of the Property, sufficient to 
warrant a change in the zoning of the Property, has transpired; 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF LEANDER, TEXAS, THAT: 
 
Section 1. Findings.  The foregoing recitals are hereby found to be true and correct and are hereby 
adopted by the City Council and made a part hereof for all purposes as findings of fact. 
 
Section 2. Amendment of TODD Ordinance.  Ordinance No.05-026, as amended, the City of 
Leander TODD Ordinance, is hereby modified and amended for these Properties as set forth in 
Section 3. 
 
Section 3. Property Rezoned.  The TODD Ordinance is hereby amended by creation of the Oak 
Creek PUD and adoption of the PUD plan attached hereto as Exhibit C and incorporated herein for 
all purposes for  several parcels, which are herein referred to as the “Property,”generally located to 
the southwest of the intersection of San Gabriel Pkwy and US 183, and more particularly 
described as follows:  those certain parcels of land being 150.894 acres, more or less, located in 
Leander, Williamson County, Texas, being more particularly shown and described in Exhibits 
“A” and “B”; and identified by tax identification numbers R395875, R031699, R524552, and 
R525192.  The Property is zoned to the planned unit development district known as the Oak 
Creek PUD within the TODD.  The Property shall be developed and occupied in compliance 
with the PUD plan attached hereto as Exhibit C, the Conventional Development Sector Standards 
of the Smart Code (defined in the TODD Ordinance), the Composite Zoning Ordinance, and 
other applicable regulations of the City.   
  



Amending Ordinance 05-018-00 

Section 4. Recording Zoning Change. The City Council directs the City Secretary to record this 
zoning classification on the City’s official zoning map with the official notation as prescribed by 
the City’s zoning ordinance. 
 
Section 5.Severability.  Should any section or part of this ordinance be held unconstitutional, 
illegal, or invalid, or the application to any person or circumstance for any reasons thereof 
ineffective or inapplicable, such unconstitutionality, illegality, invalidity, or ineffectiveness of such 
section or part shall in no way affect, impair or invalidate the remaining portion or portions thereof; 
but as to such remaining portion or portions, the same shall be and remain in full force and effect 
and to this end the provisions of this ordinance are declared to be severable. 
 
Section 6.Open Meetings.  That it is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at 
which this ordinance is passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of the time, 
place, and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open Meetings Act, Chapt. 551, 
Loc. Gov't. Code. 
 
 
 PASSED AND APPROVED on First Reading this the 3rd day of April, 2014. 
 FINALLY PASSED AND APPROVED on this the 17th day of July, 2014. 
 
 
THE CITY OF LEANDER, TEXAS ATTEST: 
 
 
 
__________________________________ _____________________________ 
Christopher Fielder, Mayor     Debbie Haile, City Secretary 
 





SAVANNA RANCH,SEC 1

BENBROOK RANCH,
SEC 2

BENBROOK
RANCH
PARK

BENBROOK RANCH,
SEC 1

PLAIN
ES

LEANDER
PARK & RIDE
RAIL STATION

EONCR,SEC 2

EONCR,SEC 1
EONCR,SEC 3

ESTATES OF
NORTH CREEK
RANCH, SEC 4

BAGDAD
ES

NORTHCREEK,SEC 3

NORTHCREEKCOMMPARK

LEANDER 2243
SUBDIVISION

H.E.B

LISD

WA
LK

ER
 A

DD
ITI

ON

MASONS ADDITION

ORIGINAL TOWN OF LEANDER

N. CREEK
RANCH
PARK

NORTH CREEK DR

NORTHSIDE MEADOW

4C

4C

5D

4C

3A

4C

4C

4C

US
 18

3

HA
LS

EY
 DR

W SAN GABRIEL PKWY

HERITAGE GROVE RD

N US 183

W BR
OAD

E S
T

ME
L M

AT
HI

S A
VE

RANCHERO RD

WH
ITL

EY
 D

R

RE
MI

NG
TO

N 
DR

183A TOLL RD FR SB

CL
AY

TO
N 

DR

SOUTH BROOK DR

BU
RG

ES
S D

R

183A TOLL RD FR NB

NORTH CREEK BLVD

W METRO DR

RA
NC

HO
 VI

EJ
O 

LN

E SAN GABRIEL PKWY

JO
PP

A R
D

HE
NS

LE
Y D

R

LOS ROBLES RD

CAMINO ALTO DR

PA
MP

AS
 R

IC
AS

 D
R

OA
K 

GR
OV

E R
D

SA
WYE

R T
RL

ES
TA

NC
IA

 W
AY

SA
N 

VI
CE

NT
E 

DR

METRO DR

CO
UL

EE
 D

R

ES
CO

ND
ID

O 
DR

RUBLES CT

CA
MI

NO
 R

EA
L D

R

JOE BATES DR

MIDDLE BROOK DR

183A

CR 279

RM 2243

S U
S 1

83

US 183

RM 2243

± 0 200
Feet

EXHIBIT B
Zoning Case
13-Z-027
Oak Creek PUD

SFR
SFE
SFS
SFU
SFC 
SFL

SFT 
SFU/MH
TF
MF
LO 
LC

GC
HC
HI
PUD

CITY MAPË

Subject Property
City Limits
Future Annexation Per DA
Involuntary Annexation
Voluntary Annexation



 

Oak Creek - Planned Unit Development  Page1 of 8 

Exhibit C  
 

Oak Creek Planned Unit Development 
 
A. Purpose and Intent 
 

The Oak Creek PUD is composed of approximately 150 acres, as described in Exhibit 
A (Field Notes).  The development of this property is planned as a high quality, 
residentialcommunity with a variety of residential product types. 
 
Oak Creek has been designed to create walkable, pedestrian friendly neighborhoods.  
The contents of this PUD further explain and illustrate the overall appearance and 
function desired for this community.  A Conceptual Site Layout and Land Use Plan has 
been attached to this PUD, Exhibit 1, to illustrate the design intent for the property.  
The Conceptual Site Layout and Land Use Plan is intended to serve as a guide to 
illustrate the general community vision and design conceptsand is not intended to serve 
as a final document.  The Conceptual Site Layout and Land Use Plandepicts a mix of 
residential products and open space areas which are contemplated within the 
community. 

 
B. Applicability and Base Zoning 
 

All aspects regarding the development of this PUD shall complythe City of Leander 
Composite Zoning Ordinance, except as established in this exhibit, titled Exhibit C. 
 
For the purpose of establishing development standards for the PUD, base zoning 
districts have been selected from the Leander Composite Zoning Ordinance for the 
various residential products proposed within the PUD. 
 

� For Lots 60’ and wider: Base Zoning District SFU Single Family Urban (SFU-
2-B) 

� For Lots 50’-59’: Base Zoning District SFC Single Family Compact (SFC-2-B) 
� For Lots 40’-49’: Base Zoning District SFL Single Family Limited (SFL-2-B) 
� For Single Family Townhomes: SFT – Single Family Townhouse (SFT-2-B) 
� For Cluster Housing: MF – Multi Family (MF-2-B) 

 
This PUD allows the flexibility to mix the various residential products and define 
boundaries for each lot type during the platting process.  Each plat or site plan 
submitted to the City will identify the use at the time of City Submittal. All 
neighborhoods within the PUD will comply with the modified development standards 
of this PUD.  In the case that this PUD does not address a specific City requirement, the 
Leander Composite Zoning Ordinance shall apply.  In the event of a conflict between 
this PUD and the base zoning districtfound in the Leander Composite Zoning 
Ordinance, this PUD shall control. 

 
 
 



 

Oak Creek - Planned Unit Development  Page2 of 8 

 
C. Conceptual Site Layout and Land Use Plan 
 

Exhibit 1 attached is a conceptual development plan intended to visually convey the 
design intent for the Oak Creek community.  The design of the community is not final, 
and is subject to refinement during the platting and site planning stages.  This PUD 
zoning document does not constitute plat or site plan approval of the attached plan. 
 
The Oak Creek project is comprised of a mix of various single family detached 
products as well as townhomes and cluster products. Oak Creek will include a cohesive 
network of open spaces, including parks, water quality areas, floodplain and trail 
corridors.  The open spaceand trails system combined with the sidewalk network will 
be critical in establishing a walkable, inviting community.  
 
The product placement within the community is planned to provide the following 
development pattern: 
 
SFL Single Family Limited 
Alley loaded, 40’ lots will be located west of West Broade Street and adjacent to the 
southern boundary line which is shared with the Northside Meadow development.  The 
extension of South Brook Drive will be faced with alley loaded product to provide an 
attractive architectural street scene which will ultimately connect to the adjacent TOD 
uses located along Highway 183.  The alley loaded product will also reduce driveways 
along South Brook Drive to Plain Elementary School. 
 
SFC Single Family Compact/SFU Single Family Urban 
The area north of the alley loaded product and west of West Broade Street will contain 
a mix of 50’, 60’ and 70’ conventional single familyproduct types with access points to 
the central park and trail system.  Extensions of Coulee Drive and Middle Brook Drive 
will connect into the new neighborhoods, providing a seamless connection to the 
adjacent Benbrook Ranch and Heritage Glen developments. 
 
MF Multi Family/SFT Single Family Townhouse/Cluster 
The parcels located east of West Broade Street are directly adjacent to the area 
designated as T5 on the City of Leander TOD map.  The parcels are planned for higher 
density attached townhomes or cluster with a maximum density of 12 units per acre.  
The cluster product is a detached single family unit that is developed as a condo 
regime.  If a cluster product is proposed, the site will be processed as a single lot site 
plan.  The units will be sold as condos with common open space areas that are 
maintained by a Homeowners Association. 
 
To ensure a variety and mix of residential product types within Oak Creek, the 
following standards have been established:  

 
Residential Product Type Requirements 

1. MF Multi Family/SFT Single Family Townhome(Cluster, Townhome) 
� Minimum of 100 units 



 

Oak Creek - Planned Unit Development  Page3 of 8 

2. SFL Single Family Limited-Alley Loaded lots 
� Minimum of 100 units 

3. SFC Single Family Compact – 50’ lots 
� Minimum of 100 units 

4. SFU Single Family Urban-60’ lots 
� Minimum of 100 units 

 
D. Allowable Uses 
 

The uses allowed within the Oak CreekPUD shall comply with the list of permitted 
uses defined in Article III, Section 17 of the Leander Composite Zoning Ordinance for 
the appropriate base zoning district.  Cluster housing shall be considered a single 
family, detached use which is permitted in a MF Multi Family base district with a 
maximum density of 12 units per acre. 

 
E. Lot Design Standards 
 

Residential Areas: 
 
Oak Creek will include a variety of residential product types and sizes from detached 
single family homes to townhomes.  The detached residential has been broken into two 
categories based upon lot width and size.  The attached product has been grouped into 
one category and Cluster housing has been designated as an individual category.  
Detailed design standards are included within this PUD, Table E.1, based upon the type 
of residential product.  
 
The Oak Creekdevelopment will comply with the Development Standards set forth in 
Table E.1 
  



 

Oak Creek - Planned Unit Development  Page4 of 8 

Table E.1 – Development Standards 
 

RESIDENTIAL USES   

DETACHED  
50 ft. & wider 
lot (SFC/SFU) 

DETACHED  
narrower than  
50 ft. lot (SFL 

base, alley loaded) 

ATTACHED 
Townhome (SFT 

base, alley loaded) 

CLUSTER/ MF 
(Setbacks are for 

perimeter) 

Lot Area 
(minimum) 

5,500 s.f. 4,000 s.f. 1,800 s.f. n/a 

Lot Width 
(minimum) 

50 ft. 40 ft. 20 ft. n/a 

Front Setback 
(minimum) 

20 ft. (25’ street 
facing garage) 

15 ft. 10 ft. 20 ft. 

Side Setback 
(minimum) 

5 ft. 5 ft. 0 ft./10 ft. 10 ft. building 
separation 

Street Side Setback 
(minimum) 

15 ft. (20’street 
facing garage) 

15 ft. 15 ft. 20 ft. 

Rear Setback 
(minimum) 

15 ft. 6 ft. 6 ft. 20 ft. 

Lot Depth 
(minimum) 

110 ft. 100 ft. 90 ft. n/a 

 
 
F. Parkland/Open Space/Trails 
 

Open space within Oak Creek will create a network of trails and parkland that creates 
distinct neighborhoods and provides pedestrian walkways throughout the community.  
The Oak Creek PUD will contribute approximately 31 acres of open space consisting of 
parks, floodplain, greenbelt trail corridors and water quality ponds.  The parkland and 
proposed trails and amenities shall be consistent with the approved Concept Plan Sheet 
2 Parkland Exhibit (Exhibit 1). 
 
The following criteria shall be considered allowable for parkland credit within Oak 
Creek. 
 

1. Neighborhood Pocket Parks - Minimum of ½ acre 
2. Minimum of 100’ of street frontage 
3. Water quality pond areas that are designed as an amenity 
4. Open space trail corridors located along West Broade Street between the back 

of lots and the right of way 
 

Oak Creek is located in close proximity to Benbrook Park.  A primary 8’ wide, concrete 
trail will be constructed within the floodplain which will provide a connection point for 
linkage between the Benbrook trail and West Broade Street and from West Broade 
Street east and south to connect with South Brook Drive (see approved Concept Plan 



 

Oak Creek - Planned Unit Development  Page5 of 8 

Sheet 2 Parkland Exhibit).  An additional 8’ wide, concrete trail will be provided along 
the entire length of West Broade Street which will meander in and out of the right of 
way and adjacent open space corridor located on the western side of the roadway. 

 
G. Roadway Design 
 

The Oak Creek community will incorporate the following right of way standards. 
 

1. All single family detached roadways for base districts SFU Single Family Urban 
and SFC Single Family Compact shall utilize Primary Residential Street section 
ST-50-28 as defined in Table 10C of the Leander SmartCode. 

 
2. All alley loaded residential product in base districts SFL Single Family Limited 

and SFT Single Family Townhouse shall utilize Primary Residential Street 
section ST-48-26 as defined in Table 10C of the Leander SmartCode. 

 
3. All alleys shall conform to the RA-20 Rear Alley section as defined in Table 

10C of the Leander SmartCode. 
 

4. Streets within a Cluster Housing project will be private streets within a site plan.  
The pavement width shall be a minimum of 26 feet in width with 10 foot Public 
Utility Easements PUE on each side of the street.    

 
5. Due to the pedestrian oriented design and emphasis on an attractive streetscape, 

several traffic calming measures are allowed within Oak Creek.  A traffic circle 
shall be incorporated at the intersection of South Brook Drive and West Broade 
Street with a minimum radius of 70 feet. 

 
6. Additional traffic calming islands shall be allowed along South Brook Drive.  

The minimum pavement width between landscape islands shall be 24 feet.   
Parallel parking shall be allowed on both sides of South Brook Drive with the 
driving lanes tapering at intersections to create traffic calming islands.  Changes 
in paving material such as stamped concrete or pavers shall be allowed at the 
intersections and traffic circle. 



 

Oak Creek - Planned Unit Development  Page6 of 8 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

H. Architectural Criteria  
 

The PUD shall comply with the architectural standards of the Composite Zoning 
Ordinance and the Conventional Development Sector of the City of Leander 
SmartCode adopted July 17, 2014.  Single family residential products within the SFL 
Single Family Limited, and SFT Single Family Townhouse base zoning districts and 
detached single family residential products within the MF Multi Family base zoning 
district (i.e. cluster single family developed as a site plan) may utilize cementious fiber 
planking to meet the masonry requirement.   



 

Oak Creek - Planned Unit Development  Page7 of 8 

 
I.  Walls and Fencing 
 

All lots within Oak Creek which back or side onto West Broade Street shall have a 
solid, 6 foot tall masonry wall with columns located along the rear or side lot line.  
Wrought iron fencing with masonry columns is allowed in locations where views into 
the neighborhood would be desirable.   
 
All lots which back onto parks or floodplain areas shall utilize 6 foot, wrought iron 
view fencing. 
 

J. Flag Lots 
 

In order to provide a legal lot for the water quality ponds within Oak Creek, the 
minimum flag lot width shall be 15 feet.  This provision shall not apply to residential 
lots. 
 

  



 

Oak Creek - Planned Unit Development  Page8 of 8 

Exhibit 1 
 

Conceptual Site Layout and Land Use Plan 
   

 



P.O.B.

CHARLES COCHRAN SURVEY
ABSTRACT 134

ZONE X

960

960

960

960

960

960

965

965

965

965

965

965

965

9
6

5

965
965

965

965

965

965

96
5

965
965

96
5

965

965

970

970

970

970

970

970

970

9
7

0

970

970

970

97
0

970

970

97
0

970

970

970

970

975

975

975

975

975

975

9
7

59
7

5

975

975

975

975

975

97
5

975

975

975975

975

975

9
7

5

975
975 975

975

980 980

980

980

980

980

980

980

980

980

980

980

9
8

0

980

980

980

980

980

980
980

980

980

980

98
0

985

985

985

985

98
5

985

985
985

985

985

985

985

985

985

985

985

985

985

98
5

9
8

5

98
5

98
5

990

9
9

0

9
9

0

990

99
0

990 990

990 990

990

990

990

990

990

990

990

990

990

990
990

9
9

0 9
9

0

99
0

990990

990

995

9
9

5

99
5

995

995

995

995

995

995

99
5

995

995

995

995

995

1000

1000

10
00

1000

1000

1000

1000

1000

1000

1000

1
0

0
0

1005

1005

1005

1005

1005

1005

1005

1005
1005

1010

1010

10
10

10
10

1010

1010

1015

1015

1015

1020

985

E
X

H
IB

IT
 1

L
E
A

N
D

E
R

, 
T

E
X

A
S

O
A

K
 C

R
E
E
K

C
O

N
C

E
P

T
U

A
L
 S

IT
E
 L

A
Y

O
U

T

A
N

D
 L

A
N

D
 U

S
E
 P

L
A

N

VICINITY MAP

The reproduction, copying or other use of this drawing without the

written consent of SEC Planning, LLC is prohibited.

1.

Issue Date:

5.

4.

2.

3.

130078-SELA
Project No.

2013C

SEC Planning, LLC

Drawn By: MB

December 20, 2013

Issued:

Revisions:

1.

5.

4.

2.

3.

Reviewed By: MB

PUD Submittal 12/20/13

Q:\130078-SELA\Cadfiles\PLANNING\

Submittals\Concept Plan

Submittal\Concept A 2013-08-15.dwg

PUD Plan Revision 02/11/14

PUD Plan Revision 03/20/14

NEW HOPE RD.

B
A
G

D
A
D

 R
D

.

SOUTH SAN GABRIEL

R
EA

G
A

N
 B

LV
D

.

U
.S. 183

U
.S. 183A

FM 1431

S.H. 29

SAN GABRIEL PARKWAY

SITE

LEANDER
CITY OF

4201 W. Parmer Lane Bldg A Suite 220

Austin, TX 78727

T 512.246.7003

F 512.246.7703

www.secplanning.com

Email : info@secplanning.com

LAND PLANNING

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE

COMMUNITY BRANDING

SEC Planning, LLC
Austin, Texas

SENTINEL/COTTER LEANDER, LLC
9111 JOLLYVILLE ROAD

SUITE 212
AUSTIN, TX 78759
T: 949-922-2512

OWNER: MICHELLE

WATERSTONE TYLERVILLE, LP
10500 AVERY CLUB DRIVE

SUITE 900
AUSTIN, TX 78717

OWNER: TYLERVILLE

LEGEND
(SFC) (SFU) SINGLE FAMILY COMPACT/SINGLE FAMILY URBAN

MAJOR RIGHT-OF-WAY

FLOODPLAIN

(SFT) (MF) SINGLE FAMILY TOWNHOUSE/CLUSTER

8' TRAIL

(SFL) SINGLE FAMILY LIMITED

FIRE STATION

MASONRY WALL



15

22

17

18

19
20

21

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

66

67

68

70

71

72

16

30

73

69

(64' R.O.W.)

JEANNE A. THOMPSON
3.150 ACRES
(2000053933)

WATERSTONE TYLERVILLE, L.P.

107.928 AC.

(2004063370)

BLOCK H

BENBROOK RANCH

SECTION ONE

PHASE TWO

(Y/345)

(R
IG

H
T O

F W
A

Y
 W

ID
TH

 V
A

R
IE

S
)

BOUNDARY LINE AGREEMENT

(1455/296)

APPROX.

CENTERLINE OF

BRUSHY CREEK

APPROX.

CENTERLINE OF

BRUSHY CREEK

APPROX.

CENTERLINE OF

BRUSHY CREEK

ESTATES OF

NORTH CREEK RANCH

SECTION TWO

(V/293)

(50' R
.O

.W
.)

36

35

34

33

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

LEANDER I.S.D.

LOT 1, BLOCK D

HERITAGE GLEN SECTION ONE

(CC/369)

9

8

7

6

5

4

3

2

1

10

(6
0'

 R
.O

.W
.)

14

13
12

11
10

9

8

7
6

5

4

3

2

1

1

BLOCK C

HERITAGE GLEN SECTION ONE

(CC/369)

BLOCK A

(CC/369)

BLOCK K

(V/293)

BLOCK A

(V/293)

14

15

LOT 1A BLOCK B

BENBROOK RANCH

SEC. ONE PH. ONE

(W/295)

LOT 3 BLOCK H

BENBROOK RANCH

SEC. TWO PH. ONE

(CC/3)

LOT 3 BLOCK H

BENBROOK RANCH

SEC. TWO PH. ONE

(CC/3)

PORTION OF

164.466 AC.

(2004063368)

WATERSTONE MICHELLE, L.P.

PORTION OF 164.466 AC.

(2004063368)

WATERSTONE TYLERVILLE, L.P.

107.928 AC.

(2004063370)

JEANNE A. THOMPSON
3.150 ACRES
(2000053933)

HEB GROCERY CO.

78.978 ACRES

(2003003109)

HEB GROCERY CO.

78.978 ACRES

(2003003109)

BLOCK B

HERITAGE GLEN SECTION ONE

(CC/369)

(50' R
.O.W

.)

U
S

 H
IG

H
W

A
Y

 183

S
A

B
IN

A
S

 D
R

LEA3

/ /

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

/
/

/
/

X

X

/ / /

/ / /

20' W
ID

E
 S

.W
.B

.T.

E
S

M
T. (549/813)

20' W
ID

E
 S

.W
.B

.T. E
S

M
T.

(594/785)

APPROXIMATE

LOCATION OF

20' WIDE

RIGHT-OF-WAY

(1275/165)

APPROXIMATE

LOCATION OF

20' WIDE

RIGHT-OF-WAY

(1275/165)

APPROXIMATE

LOCATION OF

20' WIDE

RIGHT-OF-WAY

(1275/165)

PARCEL 9E
0.039 AC.

DRAINAGE ESMT.
(2005068805)

PARCEL 10E
0.541 AC.

DRAINAGE ESMT.
(2005068805)

15' UTIL. ESMT.
(200601423)

0.36 AC
EASEMENT

AREA

S

AP

CH

CH

CH

CH

AP

AP

AP

S

UN

ZWA

ZWA

P.O.C.

P.O.B.

WWMH
WWMH

WWMH

WWMH

WWMH

WWMH

T

SSMH

SSMH

SSMH

SSMH

T

T

V

V

V

W
W

W

W

W

W
W

MH

WWMH

WWMH

WWMH

WWMH

WWMH

OU

OU

OU

P.O.B.

FEMA ZONE AE

SCALED FROM MAP

FEMA ZONE AESCALED FROM MAP

FEMA Z
ONE A

E

SCALE
D F

ROM M
AP

FEMA ZONE AE

SCALE
D FROM M

AP

FEM
A ZO

NE AE

SCALED FRO
M

 M
AP

SHADED ZONE X

FEMA ZONE AE
SCALED FROM MAP

SHADED ZONE X

FENCE IS

2.1' ON SUBJECT

FENCE IS

0.6' ON SUBJECT

FENCE IS

1.7' ON SUBJECT

FENCE IS

0.4' OFF

SUBJECT

8' X 8'

BOX CULVERTS

18" RCP

CONC.

WALK

CONC.

WALK

CONC.

HEADWALL

CURB &

GUTTER

CURB &

GUTTER

CURB &

GUTTER

STONE

COLUMN

UTILITY

VAULT

GATE

18" CMP

C
O

N
C

.

CONC.

HEADWALL

C
O

N
C

.

CONC.

HEADWALL

GUARDRAIL

ASPH. ROAD

TERMINATES

ON SUBJECT

ASPH. ROAD

TERMINATES

ON SUBJECT

HEADWALL

HEADWALL

HEADWALL

(3) 3'X2' BOX
CULVERTS

(3) 3'X2' BOX
CULVERTS

(3) 3'X2' BOX
CULVERTS

ROCK
GABIAN

ROCK
GABIAN

ASPH. ROAD

EXISTING 8"

WATER LINE AND

VALVE
EXISTING 8" WW

LINE HERITAGE

GLEN SECTION

ONE (TO BE

RELOCATED)

EXISTING WW

SERVICES (TO

BE REMOVED)

EXISTING WATER

QUALITY POND

12" PVC'S UNDER

BERM

12" PVC'S UNDER

BERM

12" PVC'S UNDER

BERM

ROCK GABION

ROCK GABION

EXISTING 8"

WATER LINE AND

FIRE HYDRANT

EXISTING 8"

WATER LINE AND

FIRE HYDRANT

EXISTING

OVERHEAD PEC

POWER LINE (TO

BE RELOCATED)

(TO BE
RELOCATED)

21"
WASTEWATER

LINE

21"
WASTEWATER

LINE

FEMA
FLOODPLAIN

MAP #
48491CO455E

FEMA
FLOODPLAIN

MAP #
48491CO455E

(S77°05'00"W 634.71')

(S77°06'00"W 1312.43')

(S77°09'00"W 837.97')

S75°04'10"W 603.40'

S75°04'31"W 1312.45'

S75°07'18"W 837.81'

S82°30'17"E 435.20'

S
21°01'11"E

 1329.18'

(S89°25'00"E 872.34')

(S89°39'00"E 440.74')

L1
L2

L3
L4

L5
L6

L7

L8

L9

L10

L11 L23

L24

L2
5

L2
6

L2
7

(S71°06'00"W 1225.27')

S69°09'11"W 369.12'

(N
14

°2
7'

00
"W

 1
71

3.
85

')

N
26

°5
8'

52
"E

 2
27

.4
9'

(N
29

°0
2'

00
"E

 2
27

.6
0'

)

N88°19'34"E 440.91'

N88°34'02"E 636.85'

(S
18°59'00"E

 1328.87')

N69°06'43"E 245.27'

N52°34'57"E
 241.82'

N63°51'43"E 260.61'

S73°28'22"W

59.85'

N21°07'13"W 186.87'

(N21°06'28"W 186.93')

N68°51'57"E 154.83'

(N68°53'32"E 154.78')

N
21

°0
6'

14
"W

 7
44

.1
5'

(N
21

°0
6'

35
"W

 7
44

.3
7'

)

S68°53'22"W 750.35'

(S68°53'11"W 750.34')

S
18

°2
4'

23
"E

 2
13

.3
9'

(S
18

°2
5'

46
"E

 2
13

.3
6'

)

C
1

C2

C3

S75°04'10"W

30.83'

S
21

°0
1'

11
"E

 1
47

8.
67

'

N88°34'02"E 234.28'

S26°33'24"E

1360.29'

N
16

°2
9'

54
"W

 1
00

9.
33

'

S74°30'40"W

146.22'

N
20°44'42"W

 453.14'

N
20°44'42"W

 747.56'

(N
20°44'42"W

)

S77°11'17"E 206.16'
(S77°11'25"E 205.87')

S76°33'22"E 999.84'
(S76°33'31"E 999.78')

S76°10'25"E 306.57'
(S76°10'34"E 306.57')

55.92'

N
19

°5
3'

11
"E

13
3.

80
'

S06°04'20"W
0.38'

146.24'

20.00'

L1

L2
L3

L4

L18
L19

L2
0

S
01

°4
5'

13
"W

28
4.

57
'

C1
C2

C3
C4

The reproduction, copying or other use of this drawing without the

written consent of SEC Planning, LLC is prohibited.

1.

Issue Date:

5.

4.

2.

3.

130078-SELA
Project No.

2013C

SEC Planning, LLC

Drawn By: MB

September 6, 2013

Issued:

Revisions:

1.

5.

4.

2.

3.

Reviewed By: MB

City Concept Submittal 09/6/13

Q:\130078-SELA\Cadfiles\PLANNING\

Submittals\Concept Plan

Submittal\Concept A 2013-08-15.dwg

City Concept Submittal 10/7/13

City Concept Submittal 10/24/13

City Concept Submittal 11/05/13

L
E
A

N
D

E
R

, 
T

E
X

A
S

P
A

R
K

L
A

N
D

 E
X

H
IB

IT

M
IC

H
E
L
L
E
 /

 T
Y

L
E
R

V
IL

L
E
 T

R
A

C
T

C
O

N
C

E
P

T
 P

L
A

N
 -

 S
H

E
E
T

 2

VICINITY MAP

NEW HOPE RD.

B
A
G

D
A
D

 R
D

.

SOUTH SAN GABRIEL

R
EA

G
A

N
 B

LV
D

.

U
.S. 183

U
.S. 183A

FM 1431

S.H. 29

SAN GABRIEL PARKWAY

SITE

LEANDER
CITY OF

4201 W. Parmer Lane Bldg A Suite 220

Austin, TX 78727

T 512.246.7003

F 512.246.7703

www.secplanning.com

Email : info@secplanning.com

LAND PLANNING

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE

COMMUNITY BRANDING

SEC Planning, LLC
Austin, Texas

SENTINEL/COTTER LEANDER, LLC
700 LAVACA STREET

SUITE 900
AUSTIN, TX 78701
T: 949-922-2512

OWNER: MICHELLE

WATERSTONE TYLERVILLE, LP
10500 AVERY CLUB DRIVE

SUITE 900
AUSTIN, TX 78717

OWNER: TYLERVILLE

PARKLAND NOTES:

ALL PROPOSED PARK IMPROVEMENTS WILL MEET CITY PARK & FACILITY EQUIPMENT STANDARDS AND U.S.
CONSUMER PRODUCTS SAFETY COMMISSION - PUBLICATION 32

PARK IMPROVEMENTS WILL INCLUDE A PLAYGROUND, RESTROOM FACILITY, TRAILS, PICNIC AREAS
AND OPEN PLAY

PARKLAND CALCULATIONS

OPTION TWO:

689 / 100 x 3.50 = 24.12 AC.
(# OF DWELLING UNITS) (PROPOSED PUBLIC PARK ACREAGE OR FEE IN LIEU)

689 X $350 = $241,150
(# OF DWELLING UNITS) (VALUE OF PROPOSED PARK IMPROVEMENTS)

FLOODPLAIN
OPEN SPACE / PARKS

TRAIL

NEIGHBORHOOD PARK

16.4
14.9

5,700

31.3TOTAL ACRES

ACRES
ACRES
L.F.

LEGEND



Sentinel Land Company, LLC 

Dear Tom: 

As we discussed tiiis afternoon, we would like to modify the Architectural Standards in our PUD to match the 
new Architectural Standards for Conventional Development section of the TOD and also allow for us to utilize 
cementious fiber planking to meet the masonry requirement for the Alley Loaded 41' product as well as the 
multifamily Townhome and Cluster products. 

We would appreciate your help in accomplishing this at the next City Council meeting on July 17, 2014 

Thanks, 

President 

9111 Jollyville Road, Suite 212, Austin, Texas (512) 351-9887 



AGENDA ITEM # 20 
 

 

 
Executive Summary 

 
July 17, 2014 

 
 
Agenda Subject: Composite Zoning Ordinance Case 14-OR-003:  Second reading 

and consider action on amending sections of the Composite Zoning 
Ordinance, to add the definition of ornamental trees and riparian 
corridors and to modify the definition of a significant tree, update 
the site standards regarding landscape requirements, to add and 
modify requirements for drainage and detention facilities, to 
amend the site development standards to include the protection of 
riparian corridors, and to update the parking lot connections 
requirements.   

 
Background: One of the goals of the Comprehensive Plan is to "Enhance 

protective measures for areas of unique environmental quality."  
The plan goes on to identify two specific objectives, 1) adopt 
standards for the protection of significant trees, and 2) adopt 
standards and practices to protect significant riparian corridors.  In 
addition, it is the City's goal to foster the conservation of natural 
resources including water conservation.  The Planning & Zoning 
Commission identified this item as Priority #3 at the November 14, 
2013 meeting.  Staff is proposing the following amendments to the 
Composite Zoning Ordinance in order to achieve these goals: 
1. Addition of the definition of ornamental trees and riparian 

corridors 
2. Modification of the definition of a significant tree 
3. Update the site standards regarding landscape requirements 
4. Addition and modification of the requirements for drainage and 

detention facilities 
5. Amendment of the site development standards to include the 

protection of riparian corridors 
6. Update the parking lot connections requirements 

 
Origination: City of Leander Planning Department 
 
 



AGENDA ITEM # 20 
 

Financial  
Consideration: None 
 
Recommendation: See Planning Analysis.  The Planning & Zoning Commission 

unanimously recommended approval of the following 
recommendations at the June 26, 2014 meeting: 
1. Approval of the amendments to the Composite Zoning 

Ordinance with the following changes: 
a. Include Firewise Community provisions. 
b. Change the requirement for residential tree 

protection to include a tree survey for the entire 
property that surveys trees 8 caliper inches and 
greater.  In addition, require mitigation for removal 
of trees that are 8 caliper inches with the 
replacement ratio of 1” to 1” for trees between 8” to 
18” and 2” to 1” for trees over 18”. 

c. Add a penalty for trees that are removed without a 
permit. 

d. Clarify the tree species associated with "cedar" 
listed in the definition of significant trees. 

The City Council recommended approval of the following 
recommendations at the July 03, 2014 meeting: 
1. Approval of the amendments to the Composite Zoning 

Ordinance with the following changes: 
a. Change the requirement for residential tree 

protection to include a tree survey for the entire 
property that surveys trees 8 caliper inches and 
greater.  In addition, require mitigation for removal 
of trees that are 8 caliper inches with the 
replacement ratio of 1” to 1” for trees between 8” to 
18” and 2” to 1” for trees over 18”. 

b. Add a penalty for trees that are removed without a 
permit. 

c. Clarify the tree species associated with "cedar" 
listed in the definition of significant trees.   

d. Add a non-disturbance zone around the footprint of 
homes. 

 
Attachments: 1.   Summary of Proposed Amendments 
 2. Ordinance 
  
Prepared By: Tom Yantis, AICP  
   Development Services Director   07/10/2014 
 
 



1 
 

COMPOSITE ZONING ORDINANCE AMENDMENTS 

ARTICLE I – GENERAL 
 
SECTION 6:  DEFINITIONS 
Grow Green Guide means the Grow Green Guide to Native & Adaptive Landscape Plants 
published by the City of Austin Watershed Protection Department and the Texas AgriLife 
Extension Service.  This guide provides earthwise plant choices for developments in the 
region. 
 
Ornamental Tree means a tree that is identified as a small tree/large shrub in the 
preferred plant list maintained by the Planning Department or the Grow Green Guide. 
 
Riparian Corridor means any defined stream channel including the area up to the ordinary 
high water (or bankfull-flow line), as well as all riparian (streamside) vegetation in 
contiguous adjacent uplands.  Riparian Corridors also includes the Secondary Trail Corridors 
identified in the City of Leander Parks, Recreation & Open Space Master Plan. 
 
Significant Tree means a living tree that the City desires to preserve to the greatest extent 
possible. They include trees  identified in the preferred plant list maintained by the Planning 
Department or the Grow Green Guide.  hardwood trees such as oak, elm, pecan, walnut, 
hickory, cherry, cypress, redbud and any rare species.  They do not include hackberry, 
mountain juniper, ash juniper, cedar, bois d’arc, cottonwood, chinaberry or sycamore, except 
for an unusually large or significant specimen or any other invasive species listed in the Grow 
Green Guide. 

 
ARTICLE VI – SITE STANDARDS 

SECTION 1:  LANDSCAPING AND SCREENING REQUIREMENTS 
(a) Purpose. 

(1) For providing for the orderly, safe, attractive and healthful development of land 
located within the community and promoting the health, safety and general 
welfare of the community, it is deemed necessary to establish requirements for 
the installation and maintenance of landscaping elements and other means of site 
improvements in developed properties.  

(2) To enhance the community's ecological, environmental and aesthetic qualities. 
(3) Paved surfaces, automobiles, buildings and other improvements produce increases 

in air temperatures, a problem especially noticeable in this southern region, 
whereas plants have the opposite effect through transpiration and the creation of 
shade. Likewise, impervious surfaces created by development generate greater 
water runoff causing problems from contamination, erosion and flooding. 
Preserving and improving the natural environment and maintaining a working 
ecological balance are of increasing concern. The fact that the use of landscape 
elements can contribute to the processes of air purification, oxygen regeneration, 
water absorption, water purification, and noise, glare and heat abatement as well 
as the preservation of the community's aesthetic qualities indicates that the use of 



2 
 

landscape elements is of benefit to the health, welfare and general well being of 
the community and, therefore, it is proper that the use of such elements be 
required. 

(4) The City experiences frequent droughts; therefore, it is the purpose of this Section 
to encourage the use of drought resistant vegetation. 
 

(b) General. 
(1) Installation: All landscape materials shall be installed and maintained according to 

generally accepted landscape practices for the region.  Low water demanding 
landscapes, are encouraged and should include plants recommended by the Lower 
Colorado River Authority’s Texas Hill Country Landscape Option Specifications, a 
copy of which is available in the City Planning Department. 

(2) Maintenance: The owner of landscaped property shall be responsible for the 
maintenance of all landscape areas. Said areas shall be maintained so as to 
present a healthy, neat and orderly appearance at all times and shall be kept free 
of refuse and debris. All planted areas shall be provided with a readily available 
water supply and watered as necessary to ensure continuous healthy growth and 
development.  Landscape irrigation systems shall not be mandatory with low 
water demanding landscapes, which are encouraged.  Maintenance shall include 
the removal of dead plant material and its replacement if that material was used 
to meet the requirements of this section. 

(3) Significant Trees greater than eight (8) inches in caliper shall be preserved to the 
greatest extent reasonably possible. Significant Trees removed during 
construction shall be supplanted with Replacement Trees if required by the 
landscape requirements of this section.  No Significant Tree shall be removed until 
a tree protection plan has been approved by the Director of Planning in accordance 
with this Chapter.  Significant Trees may be removed only in accordance with the 
approved tree protection plan, and trees must be protected during construction 
activities on the property in accordance with the approved tree protection plan.  This 
provision only applies to projects before the certificate of occupancy has been issued 
for single-family and two-family developments. 

(4) Replacement Trees. 
(i) Replacement Trees shall be a minimum of two (2) inches in caliper measured 

four (4’) feet above finished grade immediately after planting. A list of 
recommended replacement trees shall be maintained by the Department of 
Planning and shall include those trees listed in the Grow Green Guide. 

(ii) If the developer chooses to substitute trees not included on the 
recommended list, those trees shall have an average mature crown greater 
than fifteen (15) feet in diameter to meet the requirements of this section. 
Trees having an average mature crown less than fifteen (15) feet in diameter 
may be substituted by grouping trees so as to create at maturity the 
equivalent of a fifteen foot (15) diameter crown if the drip line area is 
maintained. 

(iii) A minimum pervious area three (3) feet in radius, and not less than fifty 
percent (50%) of the calculated drip line area is required around the trunks 
of all existing and proposed trees.  The radius of a drip line area is calculated 
as the trunk caliper times twelve.  (Example:  An eight inch caliper tree has 
a drip line of eight feet in radius.) 

(5) Shrubs, vines and ground cover planted pursuant to this section shall be healthy 
nursery stock.  

(6) Turfgrass. 
(i) All turfgrass installed shall have summer dormancy capabilities and shall be 

one of the varieties set forth in Exhibit “B” the preferred plant list maintained 



3 
 

by the Planning Department or the Grow Green Guide.  Buffalo grass, zoysia 
grass or Bermuda grass are recommended for sunny sections of the 
landscape.   

(ii) Turfgrass shall be limited to two thirds (2/3) of the lot after subtracting the 
impervious cover for single-family and two-family lots.  Alternative options  
to turfgrass can include native and adaptive landscape plants as specified in 
the Grow Green Guide, mulch, crushed granite, or similar material.  No more 
than fifty (50%) percent of the lot may consist of non-plant material.  

(iii)  The maximum landscape that may be planted in turfgrass for the types of 
development listed in subsection (c)(1)(i) through (iv) below shall be limited 
to fifty (50%) percent of the required landscape area The maximum 
landscape that may be planted in turfgrass for commercial development 
(listed in subsections (i) through (iv) below) is fifty (50) percent.   

 

All Cultivars which achieved at least 80% recovery after 60 days without precipitation 
or rainfall 
  EXHIBIT B   
  11/22/2006 Stat. 11/22/2006 
Cultivar Species % Recovery Grouping Uniformity 
Celebration Bermudagrass 100.0 a 9.00 a 
Grimes EXP Bermudagrass 100.0 a 9.00 a 
Common Bermuda Bermudagrass 98.8 ab 9.00 a 
GN1 Bermudagrass 98.8 ab 9.00 a 
Tifway 419 Bermudagrass 98.8 ab 9.00 a 
Tex Turf Bermudagrass 97.5 ab 9.00 a 
TifSport Bermudagrass 97.5 ab 9.00 a 
Buffalograss Buffalograss 95.0 abc 9.00 a 
Floratam Saint Augustine 88.8 abcd 8.50 a 

Source: Chalmers, et. Al., Evaluation of sixty-Day Drought Survival in San Antonio of 
Established Turfgrass Species and Cultivars: Year 1,San Antonio Water System, 2006 

(6)(7) Synthetic or artificial lawns or plants shall not be used in lieu of plant 
requirements. 

(7)(8) The use of architectural planters may be permitted in fulfillment of landscape 
requirements. 

(8)(9) Any approved decorative aggregate or pervious brick pavers shall qualify for up to 
ten percent (10%) of the required landscaping if contained in planting areas, but no 
credit shall be given for concrete or other impervious surfaces. 

(9)(10) Other than single-family and two-family development, setback areas shall be 
landscaped per the standards of this section. 
 

(c) Landscape Requirements. 
(1) A minimum percentage of the total lot area of property on which development 

occurs, after the effective date of this ordinance, shall be devoted to landscape 
development in accordance with the following schedule.  Such percentages may 
include setback areas.  The maximum landscape that may be planted in turfgrass 
for commercial development (listed in subsections (i) through (iv) below) is fifty 
(50) percent.  However, all non-single-family and non-two-family setback areas 



4 
 

are required to be landscaped in accordance with (23) below even if they exceed 
the following percentages: 
(i) Multifamily Dwellings, 20% 
(ii) Office and Professional Uses, 15% 
(iii) Commercial Uses, 15% 
(iv) Industrial or manufacturing, 10% 
(v) Single-family-Dwellings and Two-Family dwellings, see Item (34) below 
(vi) Schools, churches, community centers and parks, 15%.  

 
(2) The following may not be counted toward the above landscape area requirements: 

(i) Detention and water quality ponds unless such ponds are designed as 
follows: 
a. The ponds shall utilize earthen berms.   
b. Any structural stabilization shall be limited to the use of native stone 

(except for outlet structures) and shall be limited to not more than thirty 
percent (30%) of the perimeter of the pond.   

c. Such ponds shall be seamlessly integrated with the landscaping. 
d. Such ponds shall be not greater than eighteen inches deep. 
e. Such ponds shall not comprise more than 25% of the required 

landscaped area. 
(ii) Utility, mechanical and electrical facilities.  
(iii) Sidewalks or other paved surfaces except for any decorative aggregate or 

pervious brick pavers if contained in planting areas and comprising less than 
ten percent (10%) of the required landscape area. 

(iv) Landscaped areas less than four feet in width.  In calculating the width of 
landscaped areas, such areas shall not be divided by any form of pavement 
(e.g. sidewalks, detention or water quality ponds, paving, etc.) 
 

(3) (The following is for other than single-family or two-family development) Trees 
and shrubs identified on the preferred plant list and included in the Grow Green 
Guide,  shall be utilized within the required landscaping as described below.  At 
least seventy five percent (75%) of the planted trees are required to be significant 
trees such as oak, elm, pecan, walnut, hickory, cherry, cypress, redbud and any 
rare species.  Existing significant trees and shrubs that are retained in healthy 
condition may count toward fulfillment of these requirements.  In calculating the 
credit from existing significant trees and shrubs that are retained, shrubs shall be 
credited on a one for one basis if such shrub is equivalent or greater in size to a 
comparable five gallon container grown shrub.  Trees shall be credited on a caliper 
inch basis (for every one caliper inch of a tree that is saved, credit shall be given 
for one caliper inch of a tree required to be planted), with saved significant trees 
over 18” caliper counting on a one for two basis (for every one caliper inch of a 
significant tree over 18” caliper that is saved, credit shall be given for two caliper 
inches of a tree required to be planted). 
(i) For every six hundred (600) square feet of landscape area and setback area 

required by this ordinance, two (2) shade trees (two inch caliper or larger) 
and four (4) shrubs (five gallon container size or larger) shall be planted.  
Two ten gallon ornamental trees may be substituted for every one required 
shade tree as long as at least half of the required number of shade trees is 
installed. 

(ii) To allow for larger landscaped activity areas at school facilities, for every 600 
sq. ft. of landscaping required by this section, 1 tree and 3 shrubs (five 
gallon container size or larger) shall be planted. 



5 
 

(iii) To reduce the thermal impact of unshaded parking lots, additional trees shall 
be planted as necessary so that the center point of each parking space is no 
more than 50 feet away from the trunk of a tree.  

(1) (4) Minimum landscape requirements for detached single-family and two-family 
residential structures (except for townhouses on lots less than thirty-five feet wide 
in the SFT district) shall be two (2) two-inch significant trees such as oak, elm, 
pecan, walnut, hickory, cherry, cypress, redbud and any rare species measured 
eighteen inches above finished grade immediately after planting, three (3) one-
gallon shrubs, three (3) five-gallon shrubs and lawn turf grass or an alternative 
material as defined in (b)(6)(ii) of this Section from the front property line to the 
front two (2) corners of the structure and a minimum coverage area extending 3’ 
from the slab/foundation to protect water runoff from the roof drip line.  If lawn 
grass is not used in this area, then rain gutter systems shall be in place.  One 
three and a half inch caliper tree may be substituted for two (2) two-inch trees if 
the tree is planted in the front yard.  Existing trees and shrubs that are retained in 
healthy condition may count toward fulfillment of these requirements.  Minimum 
landscape requirements for townhouses constructed in the SFT district on lots less 
than thirty-five feet wide are the same as above except that only one hardwood 
tree is required to be planted per lot. 

 
(5) Significant trees removed during construction shall be replaced based on a 

replacement ratio (inches removed to inches planted) as follows: 
(i) Replacement trees shall not be required for the removal of trees less than 

eight (8) inches in caliper. 
(ii) For every one caliper inch of existing significant tree eighteen (18) inches 

and larger that is no retained during construction in healthy condition, two 
caliper inches of significant trees shall be plated as replacement for projects. 
(other than single-family or two-family development meetng above 
requirements). 

(iii) For every one caliper inch of existing significant tree between eight (8) and 
eighteen (18) inches that exceeds 50% of total caliper inches that is not 
retained, one caliper inch of significant tree shall be planted as replacement 
for projects. (other than single-family or two-family development meeting 
above requirements). 

(iv) Existing hardwood trees less than the size required for replacement and 
greater than or equal to two inches in caliper, and existing hardwood trees 
between 8” and 18” to an extent greater than 50% of the total caliper inches 
that are retained during construction in healthy condition may be counted 
toward replacement requirements as well as toward planting requirements. 

(iv)(v) The required replacement trees for single-family or two-family 
developments may be planted in park or landscape lots that will be owned 
and maintained by the property owners association and located within the 
same subdivision.   

(v)(vi) A fee in lieu of planting replacement trees of not less than one 
hundred fifty dollars ($150) per required caliper inch may be paid by the 
applicant, or planting replacement trees in remote locations may be 
approved, if replacement plantings are not feasible on the site. 

(vi)(vii) Removal of Significant Trees larger than eighteen (18) inches in caliper 
for other than single-family or two-family development, or other than such 
trees included in an alternative tree preservation plan as described in (vii) 
below, requires approval of the Commission. 



6 
 

(vii)(viii) An alternative tree preservation plan may be approved by the Director 
of Planning for properties where existing tree cover is especially dense and 
the following are found: 

a. Removal of a significant number of trees is unavoidable,  
b. The applicant has planned the development so as to save the highest 

quality and greatest number of trees that could be reasonably expected,  
c. All areas of the site that can be reasonably utilized for tree replacement 

have been utilized, and 
d. The landscape area and tree planting requirements of this ordinance have 

been exceeded by at least fifty percent (50%), 
(ix) An applicant for a single-family or two-family preliminary plat or final plat 

(except in the SFR district) shall provide an aerial photo ora tree survey with 
the street and lot layout superimposed at a scale of 1”=100’ (or as 
appropriate).   The applicant shall provide a tree preservation plan that 
identifies the surveyed trees and the mitigation of the protected trees that 
are proposed for removal.and  aAn applicant for a commercial building 
permit shall provide a tree survey with the application identifying significant 
trees located on the property that meet the requirements indicated in this 
subsection.  The applicant shall provide a tree preservation plan that shows 
which trees are to be preserved and protected and which trees are to be 
replaced in accordance with the replacement requirements of this subsection, 
if any, and shall be required to demonstrate that lot lines, street layouts and 
site improvements have been designed and located and that lot width, depth 
and size flexibility as permitted by the applicable zoning district has been 
utilized to the maximum extent necessary to retain the maximum number of 
significant trees reasonably practicable.  The Director of Planning shall 
determine if adequate performance is achieved based on the standards of 
this paragraph.  Approval of the tree protection plan by the Director of 
Planning is required prior to preparation and submission of a subdivision or 
building permit application.  The applicant may appeal any decision of the 
Director to the Commission.  A decision of the Commission may be appealed 
to the City Council.  Any preserved or replacement trees may be counted 
toward the landscape requirements of this section.  See the Construction 
Plan requirements for details. 

(x) The Director of Planning may issue a tree removal permit for the removal of 
Significant Trees to the owner of a property that is zoned or otherwise 
authorized and actively used for agricultural purposes if it is demonstrated 
that the tree removal is for a legitimate agricultural purpose.  The tree 
mitigation requirements of this ordinance shall not apply to such permits.  If 
the property is rezoned or otherwise converted to a non-agricultural use 
within three years of the issuance of the tree removal permit the owner of the 
property shall be required to meet the tree mitigation requirements of this 
ordinance. 

(6) Credit for Significant Trees: In order to provide credit toward the preservation of 
existing significant trees, no more than fifty percent (50%) of the critical root zone 
shall be disturbed and/or distressed with impervious cover, and the remaining 
critical root zone shall consist of at least one hundred (100) square feet. 

(7) Invasive Species:  Multi-Family and non-residential projects are required to 
remove all invasive species for the portion of the project indentified within the 
limits of construction.  Single-family and two-family developments that remove all 



7 
 

invasive species as listed in the Grow Green Guide are eligible for a twenty-five 
(25%) percent credit towards the tree mitigation requirements.   

(8) Tree Diversification:  No more than fifty (50%) percent of the same species may 
be planted to meet the tree planting requirements. 

(9) A non-disturbance zone shall be maintained on single-family and two-family lots.  
A disturbance area no less than five (5’) feet from the foundation necessary for 
construction and grade transitions shall be permitted.  The trees located on the 
remainder of the lot shall not be removed unless a unique situation is approved by 
the Planning Director. 

(9)(10) The landscaping shall be placed upon that portion of a tract or lot that is 
being developed. Fifty percent (50%) of the required landscaped area and 
required plantings contained in (c) landscape requirements (above) shall be 
installed between the front property lines and the building being constructed. 
Undeveloped portions of a tract or lot shall not be considered landscaped, except 
as specifically approved by the City. Landscaping placed within public right-of-
ways shall not fulfill the minimum landscape requirements.  

(10)(11) No landscaping over three feet in height shall be planted within forty (40) feet 
of the intersection of any street pavement (see Figure N).  Any planted or existing 
vegetation within this area shall be kept pruned so that foliage shall not grow or 
exist within three and eight feet above the elevation of the curb closest to the 
vegetation. 

(11)(12) The Director of Planning may grant exceptions to these provisions to require a 
lesser amount of landscaping if the intent of this ordinance is met, and the 
reduction of the landscape area results in the preservation of natural features 
having comparable value. 

(12)(13) In cases of death or removal of a tree planted pursuant to the terms of this 
section, a replacement tree of equal size and type shall be required to be planted. 
A smaller tree that will have a mature crown similar to the tree removed may be 
substituted if the planting area or pervious cover provided for the larger tree in 
this section is retained. 

(13)(14) The location, calculations, size and description of all landscaping and 
screening materials proposed to satisfy the requirements of this section shall be 
shown on a Landscape Plan, and included with the construction plans. 

(14)(15) Landscape plans are required with all new multi-family and non-residential 
permits showing:  
(i) New and existing trees, shrubs, groundcover, turf areas and native areas.  
(ii) Proposed plantings by botanical name, common name, spacing, quantity, 

container size. 
(iii) Property lines, streets and street names 
(iv) Driveway(s), sidewalk(s) and other hardscape features 
(v) Existing and/or proposed buildings. 
(vi) Point of irrigation connection (POC) and water meter for the irrigation 

system. 
(15)(16) Soil Depth (New residential and non-residential)      

All new landscapes (non-residential and residential) are required to have a 
minimum of six inches (6") of soil depth in areas planted with turfgrass. This six-
inch (6") minimum soil depth will consist of 75 percent soil blended with 25 
percent compost. The soil/compost blend shall be incorporated into the top two 
inches of the native soil. The six-inch (6") depth requirement does not apply to 
the area between the drip line and trunk of existing trees, shrub beds or wildscape 
areas.  Areas with existing native vegetation that remain undisturbed shall be 
exempt from the soil depth provision of this section; provided that native soil and 



8 
 

vegetation in such area is fenced during construction and protected from 
disturbance and compaction during the construction process.  

(16)(17) Mulch (all non-residential properties). All exposed soil surfaces of non-turf 
areas within the developed landscape area must be mulched with a minimum two-
inch layer of organic material. Examples of organic material include pine bark, 
shredded cedar, composted leaves, and shredded landscape clippings. 
Native/wildscape areas are exempt. 

(17)(18) WaterWise Landscape Principles. These principles shall be an integral 
component of the landscape design and plan. Homebuilders shall be required to 
offer a WaterWise landscape option in any series of landscape options offered to 
home buyers.  The seven basic principles of WaterWise landscaping include: 
(i) Proper planning and design 
(ii) Proper soil preparation (compost-improved topsoil) 
(iii) Practical turfgrass selection of drought resistant-species  
(iv) Appropriate plant selection.  The plants listed as invasive plants to avoid  in 

the Grow Green Guide set forth in Exhibit “C” shall not be offered as part of a 
WaterWise landscape option. 

 
EXHIBIT C 

List of Invasive Plants Not Acceptable for Use  
The following list comes from the August 2004 edition of the Grow Green Guide to Native 
and Adapted Landscape Plants. 

Trees to Avoid 
Chinaberry    Melia azedarach 
Chinese Parasol Tree   Firmiana simplex 
Chinese Pistache   Pistacia chinensis 
Chinese Tallow    Sapium sebiferum 
Mimosa (non-native)   Albizzia julibrissin 
Paper Mulberry    Broussonetia papyrifera 
Salt Cedar    Tamarisk spp. 
Tree of Heaven    Ailanthus altissima 
Vitex     Vitex agnus-castus 
White Mulberry    Morus alba 
Shrubs to Avoid 
Chinese Photinia    Photinia spp. 
Common Privet    Ligustrum sinense, L. vulgare 
Japanese Ligustrum   Ligustrum lucidum 
Nandina (berrying varieties)  Nandina domestica 
Pyracantha    Pyracantha spp. 
Russian Olive    Elaeagnus angustifolia 
Wax Leaf Ligustrum   Ligustrum japonicum 
Vines to Avoid 
Cat’s Claw Vine    Macfadyena unguis-cati 
English Ivy    Hedera helix 
Japanese Honeysuckle   Lonicera japonica 
Kudzu     Pueraria lobata 
Vinca     Vinca major, V. Minor 



9 
 

Wisteria (non-native)   Wisteria sinensis, W. floribunda 
Other Plants to Avoid 
Elephant Ear    Alocasia spp., Colocasia spp. 
Giant Cane    Arundo donax 
Holly Fern    Cyrtomium falcatum 
Running Bamboo   Phyllostachys aurea 

(v) Efficient irrigation systems 
(vi) Use of mulches 
(vii) Appropriate maintenance 

 
(18)(19) Irrigation Requirements (New residential and non-residential installations): 

(i) All irrigation systems, both residential and non-residential, shall be installed 
in accordance with state law, Title 2 Texas Water Code, Chapter 34 and Title 
30 Texas Administrative Code, Chapter 344, as amended, as regulated and 
enforced by the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality (TCEQ). 
Irrigation contractors who install the irrigation system must be a TCEQ 
Licensed Irrigator.  

(ii) A permit shall be required for the installation of all automatic irrigation 
systems. 

(iii) All automatic irrigation systems are required to have a rain sensor connected 
to an irrigation controller in order to stop the irrigation cycle during and after 
a rainfall event. Rain sensors are to be installed in a location where rainfall is 
unobstructed, such as a rooftop or fence line. Rain sensors are to be 
adjusted at the one-fourth-inch setting. 

(iv) All new residential and non-residential irrigation systems are required to 
have pressure regulators if static pressure at the site exceeds the sprinkler 
manufacturer’s recommended operating range. Extensive misting due to high 
pressure wastes water. 

(v) Irrigation systems are to have a controller with multiple cycle, rain sensor 
capability and irrigation water budget feature. 

(vi) Sprinkler systems shall be designed as to minimize overspray onto the 
hardscape. 

(vii) Sprinkler heads shall be installed at least eight (8) inches from the curb. 
(viii) For strips of land less than six (6) feet in width, spray irrigation shall be 

prohibited and low-flow irrigation systems (such as drip, bubblers or micro-
irrigation) are required. For strips of land between six (6) feet and fifteen 
(15) feet in width, only low-flow irrigation (such as drip, bubblers or micro-
irrigation), or spray irrigation using low-angle spray nozzles designed for the 
specific width to be irrigated shall be permitted.  For strips of land more than 
fifteen (15) feet in width, only low precipitation rotors with low angle nozzles 
may be used to irrigate turf areas. Planting beds may be irrigated with low-
flow or spray irrigation. All spray heads must be designed to prevent low 
head drainage. 

(ix) The incorporation of treated effluent, rainwater, or water from rain/storm 
water systems in an irrigation system is encouraged. 

(19)(20) A property owner’s association may not include or enforce a provision in a 
dedicatory instrument that prohibits or restricts a property owner from: 
(i) Implementing measures promoting solid waste composting of vegetation, 

including grass clippings, leaves or brush, or leaving grass clippings 
uncollected on grass; 

(ii) Installing rain barrels or a rainwater harvesting system; or 
(iii) Implementing efficient irrigation systems, including underground drip or 



10 
 

other drip irrigation systems. 
(20)(21)  A property owner’s association may not include or enforce a provision that 

requires:  
(i) A defined irrigation schedule specified by the association unless at defined 

irrigation schedule is mandated by the association’s water supplier in order 
to curtail outdoor water use; 

(ii) Maintenance of the landscape to a specified level that requires the property 
owner to irrigate his or her landscape; 

(iii) Installation or maintenance of any specific variety or limited choice of 
varieties of turf grass; or 

(iv) The homeowner to install a minimum percentage of turf in the landscape. 
 

 
***** 

SECTION 7:  DRAINAGE AND DETENTION FACILITIES: 
(a) Purpose. 

The purpose of this section is provide for the design of drainage and detention facilities that 
contribute to the visual aesthetics of projects and limit the amounts of visible concrete that 
do not meet the requirements listed below.   

(b) Non-Residential and Multi-Family Drainage and Detention Facilities: 
(1) Non-residential and multi-family drainage facilities include all detention ponds, water 

quality ponds, outlet structures, berms, improved channels or other improvements 
associated with the drainage improvements.  Roadside swales and inlets are not 
included. 

(2) Non-residential and multi-family drainage facilities are not allowed within ten feet (10’) 
of street ROW except those which are necessary to convey drainage in the shortest 
possible route to or from street ROW. 

(3) Non-residential and multi-family drainage facilities located within the front setback shall 
not exceed 25% of the area of the front setback. 

(4) Any fencing around non-residential and multi-family detention ponds shall be 
constructed of wrought iron or tubular metal or other similar product. 

(5) Vertical walls for non-residential and multi-family drainage facilities shall be limited to 
not more than thirty (30%) percent of the perimeter of the pond excluding outlet 
structures.  The remainder of the perimeter shall be earthern embankment no steeper 
than 3:1 slope.  All exposed concrete is required to provide textured concrete and 
tinting in earthern colors, or masonry veneer including but not limited to ledgestone, 
fieldstone, or cast stone.   In the event that the drainage facility is below grade, 
concrete is permitted and screening requirements listed in Article VI, Section 1 (d) of 
this Ordinance shall apply. 

(c) Residential Drainage and Detention Facilities: 
(1) Residential drainage facilities include all detention ponds, water quality ponds, outlet 

structures, berms, improved channels or other improvements associated with the 
drainage improvements. Roadside swales and inlets are not included. 

(2) Residential drainage facilities shall utilize earthern berms and be designed with a curvi-
linear shape.  Any structural stabilization shall be limited to the use of native stone 
(except for outlet structures) and shall be limited to not more than thirty (30%) 
percent of the perimeter of the pond.  Such ponds shall be seamlessly integrated with 
the landscaping.     

(1)(3) All exposed concrete is required to provide textured concrete and tinting in 
earthern colors, or masonry veneer including but not limited to ledgestone, fieldstone, 
or cast stone.  In the event that the drainage facility is below grade, concrete is 



11 
 

permitted and screening requirements Article VI, Sec. 1 (d) of this Ordinance shall 
apply.  



12 
 

SECTION 14:   ADDITIONAL MULTI-FAMILY AND NON-RESIDENTIAL STANDARDS  
 
***** 
 
(a) Non-Residential and Multi-Family Drainage and Detention Facilities: 

(1) Non-residential and multi-family drainage facilities include all detention ponds, water 
quality ponds, outlet structures, berms, improved channels or other improvements 
associated with the drainage improvements. 

(2) Non-residential and multi-family drainage facilities are not allowed within ten feet (10’) 
of street ROW except those which are necessary to convey drainage in the shortest 
possible route to or from street ROW. 

(3) Non-residential and multi-family drainage facilities located within the front setback shall 
not exceed 25% of the area of the front setback. 

(4) Fencing is allowed around non-residential and multi-family detention ponds only if the 
fencing is constructed of wrought iron or tubular metal or other similar product. 

 
 

ARTICLE VI - SITE STANDARDS 

SECTION 13:  COMMERCIAL NON-RESIDENTIAL OR MULTI-FAMILY  PARKING LOT 
CONNECTIONS 
A commercial non-residential or multi-family site (zoned LO, LC or GC) contiguous with another 
commercial non-residential or multi-family site shall provide parking aisle connections to the 
boundary of the site for connection to such contiguous non-residential or multi-family 
commercial site unless such connection is determined to be inappropriate by the Department of 
Planning and Community Development.  The Department of Planning and Community 
Development shall make its determination after considering all relevant factors, including, but 
not limited to, the following: when there exists topographic constraints, environmental 
constraints, existing development that has not provided for such connections, or adjacent uses 
that are incompatible for the purposes of mixing traffic. 

 
 

ARTICLE IX - SITE DEVELOPMENT 

SECTION 3:  PROCEDURES FOR APPROVAL OF SITE PLANS  
(a) Site Plan Approval 

The Planning Department shall not approve a site plan until all reviewing departments 
of the city have indicated that the proposed site plan, with all applicable attachments, 
complies with all applicable provisions of the code of ordinances of the city including the 
Composite Zoning Ordinance and the Subdivision Ordinance.  Park land and park 
improvements shall be required for all multi-family development in accordance with the 
standards of Sec. 61 of the Subdivision Ordinance.  Development shall comply with 
regulations for Riparian Corridors set forth in Sec. 49 of the Subdivision Ordinance.  The 
Planning Department shall approve a site plan if the proposed development complies 
with all applicable codes of the city.  If the Planning Department finds that the site plan 
does not comply with all applicable codes of the city, the site plan shall be disapproved 
pending submittal of a site plan in compliance with the code of ordinances of the city. 
Approval of a site development permit authorizes the applicant to begin site 
development. 
 



13 
 

ARTICLE X – ADMINISTRATION 

SECTION 10:  ENFORCEMENT 

(a) Penalty 
(1) Penalty: Any person who shall violate any of the provisions of this ordinance, or 

shall fail to comply therewith, or with any of the requirements thereof, within the 
City limits shall be deemed guilty of an offense and shall be liable for a fine not to 
exceed the sum of two thousand dollars ($2000.00). Each day the violation exists 
shall constitute a separate offense. Such penalty shall be in addition to all the other 
remedies provided herein. 

(2) Administrative Penalty.  Any person who removes a Significant Tree greater than 8 
inches in caliper prior to approval of a tree protection plan, or who removes a 
Significant Tree greater than 8 inches in caliper that is not authorized to be removed 
under an approved tree protection plan shall be charged and shall pay a fee of 
$300 per inch for each Significant Tree greater than 8 inches in caliper removed in 
violation of this ordinance.  The City will rely on remaining evidence on site to 
determine if a violation of this ordinance has occurred.  For enforcement purposes 
the City will consider that any stump remaining on the property which is eight 
inches or more in diameter measured at ground level or higher was a stump of a 
Significant Tree greater than 8 inches in caliper.  Furthermore, any cut wood 
discovered on site will be considered evidence of a Significant Tree greater than 8 
inches in caliper if the diameter of the cut wood is measured at eight inches or 
greater at any point on any piece of cut wood.  A site development or building 
permit application for property from which one or more Significant Trees have been 
removed in violation of this ordinance may not be approved until an administrative 
penalty owed under this subsection has been paid.   

 



ORDINANCE NO.  
 
 AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF LEANDER, TEXAS AMENDING 

SECTIONS OF ARTICLE 14.200, THE COMPOSITE ZONING 
ORDINANCE, TO ADD THE DEFINITION OF THE GROW GREEN 
GUIDE, ORNAMENTAL TREES AND RIPARIAN CORRIDORS AND TO 
MODIFY THE DEFINITION OF A SIGNIFICANT TREE, UPDATE THE 
SITE STANDARDS REGARDING LANDSCAPE REQUIREMENTS, TO 
ADD AND MODIFY REQUIREMENTS FOR DRAINAGE AND 
DETENTION FACILITIES, TO AMEND THE SITE DEVELOPMENT 
STANDARDS TO INCLUDE THE PROTECTION OF RIPARIAN 
CORRIDORS, TO UPDATE THE PARKING LOT CONNECTIONS 
REQUIREMENTS; PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE, 
PROVIDING SAVINGS, EFFECTIVE DATE AND OPEN MEETINGS 
CLAUSES, AND PROVIDING FOR RELATED MATTERS. 

 
 Whereas, the Planning & Zoning Commission held a public hearing on the proposed 
amendments to Article 14.200, Leander Code of Ordinances (the “Composite Zoning Ordinance”), 
and forwarded its recommendation on the amendments to the City Council; and 
 
 Whereas, after publishing notice of the public hearing at least fifteen days prior to the date 
of such hearing, the City Council at a public hearing has considered the proposed amendments and 
finds that the amendments are reasonable and necessary to protect the health, safety, and welfare of 
the present and future residents of the City; 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF LEANDER, TEXAS, THAT: 
 
Section 1. Findings of Fact. The above and foregoing recitals are hereby found to be true and 
correct and are incorporated herein as findings of fact.  
 
Section 2. Amendment of Article I, Section 6.  Article I, Section 6 of the Composite Zoning 
Ordinance to add the following definitions: 
 

Grow Green Guide means the Grow Green Guide to Native & Adaptive Landscape Plants 
published by the City of Austin Watershed Protection Department and the Texas AgriLife 
Extension Service as amended from time to time.  This guide provides earthwise plant 
choices for developments in the region. 
 
Ornamental Tree means a tree that is identified as a small tree/large shrub in the preferred 
plant list maintained by the Planning Department or the Grow Green Guide. 
 
Riparian Corridor means any defined stream channel including the area up to the ordinary 
high water (or bankfull-flow line), as well as all riparian (streamside) vegetation in 
contiguous adjacent uplands.  Riparian Corridors also includes the Secondary Trail Corridors 
identified in the City of Leander Parks, Recreation & Open Space Master Plan. 
 
 



 
 -2- 

Significant Tree means a living tree that the City desires to preserve to the greatest extent 
possible. They include trees identified in the preferred plant list maintained by the Planning 
Department or the Grow Green Guide.  They do not include hackberry, mountain juniper, ash 
juniper, bois d’arc, cottonwood, chinaberry or sycamore, except for an unusually large or 
significant specimen or any other invasive species listed in the Grow Green Guide. 

 
Section 3. Amendment to Article VI, Section 1 (b)–(c).  Article VI, Section 1 (b)–(c) of the 
Composite Zoning Ordinance is hereby amended in its entirety as follows: 

 
(b)  General. 

(1) Installation: All landscape materials shall be installed and maintained according to 
generally accepted landscape practices for the region.  Low water demanding 
landscapes, are encouraged and should include plants recommended by the Lower 
Colorado River Authority’s Texas Hill Country Landscape Option Specifications, 
a copy of which is available in the City Planning Department. 

(2) Maintenance: The owner of landscaped property shall be responsible for the 
maintenance of all landscape areas. Said areas shall be maintained so as to present 
a healthy, neat and orderly appearance at all times and shall be kept free of refuse 
and debris. All planted areas shall be provided with a readily available water 
supply and watered as necessary to ensure continuous healthy growth and 
development.  Landscape irrigation systems shall not be mandatory with low 
water demanding landscapes, which are encouraged.  Maintenance shall include 
the removal of dead plant material and its replacement if that material was used to 
meet the requirements of this section. 

(3) Significant Trees greater than eight (8) inches in caliper shall be preserved to the 
greatest extent reasonably possible. Significant Trees removed during 
construction shall be supplanted with Replacement Trees if required by the 
landscape requirements of this section.  No Significant Tree shall be removed until 
a tree protection plan has been approved by the Director of Planning in accordance 
with this Chapter.  Significant Trees may be removed only in accordance with the 
approved tree protection plan, and trees must be protected during construction 
activities on the property in accordance with the approved tree protection plan.  This 
provision only applies to projects before the certificate of occupancy has been issued 
for single-family and two-family developments. 

(4) Replacement Trees. 
(i) Replacement Trees shall be a minimum of two (2) inches in caliper 

measured four (4’) feet above finished grade immediately after planting. A 
list of recommended replacement trees shall be maintained by the 
Department of Planning and shall include those trees listed in the Grow 
Green Guide. 

(ii) If the developer chooses to substitute trees not included on the 
recommended list, those trees shall have an average mature crown greater 
than fifteen (15) feet in diameter to meet the requirements of this section. 
Trees having an average mature crown less than fifteen (15) feet in diameter 
may be substituted by grouping trees so as to create at maturity the 



 
 -3- 

equivalent of a fifteen foot (15) diameter crown if the drip line area is 
maintained. 

(iii) A minimum pervious area three (3) feet in radius, and not less than fifty 
percent (50%) of the calculated drip line area is required around the trunks 
of all existing and proposed trees.  The radius of a drip line area is 
calculated as the trunk caliper times twelve.  (Example:  An eight inch 
caliper tree has a drip line of eight feet in radius.) 

(5) Shrubs, vines and ground cover planted pursuant to this section shall be healthy 
nursery stock.  

(6) Turfgrass. 
(i) All turfgrass installed shall have summer dormancy capabilities and shall be 

one of the varieties set forth in the preferred plant list maintained by the 
Planning Department or the Grow Green Guide.  Buffalo grass, zoysia grass 
or Bermuda grass are recommended for sunny sections of the landscape.   

(ii) Turfgrass shall be limited to two thirds (2/3) of the lot after subtracting the 
impervious cover for single-family and two-family lots.  Alternative options 
to turfgrass can include native and adaptive landscape plants as specified in 
the Grow Green Guide, mulch, crushed granite, or similar material.  No 
more than fifty (50%) percent of the lot may consist of non-plant material.  

(iii) The maximum landscape that may be planted in turfgrass for the types of 
development listed in subsection (c)(1)(i) through (iv) below shall be limited 
to fifty (50%) percent of the required landscape area.   

(7) Synthetic or artificial lawns or plants shall not be used in lieu of plant 
requirements. 

(8) The use of architectural planters may be permitted in fulfillment of landscape 
requirements. 

(9) Any approved decorative aggregate or pervious brick pavers shall qualify for up 
to ten percent (10%) of the required landscaping if contained in planting areas, but 
no credit shall be given for concrete or other impervious surfaces. 

(10) Other than single-family and two-family development, setback areas shall be 
landscaped per the standards of this section. 

 
(c) Landscape Requirements. 

(1) A minimum percentage of the total lot area of property on which development 
occurs, after the effective date of this ordinance, shall be devoted to landscape 
development in accordance with the following schedule.  Such percentages may 
include setback areas.  However, all non-single-family and non-two-family 
setback areas are required to be landscaped in accordance with (3) below even if 
they exceed the following percentages: 
(i) Multifamily Dwellings, 20% 
(ii) Office and Professional Uses, 15% 
(iii) Commercial Uses, 15% 
(iv) Industrial or manufacturing, 10% 
(v) Single-family-Dwellings and Two-Family dwellings, see Item (4) below 
(vi) Schools, churches, community centers and parks, 15%.  



 
 -4- 

 
(2) The following may not be counted toward the above landscape area requirements: 

(i) Detention and water quality ponds unless such ponds are designed as 
follows: 
a. The ponds shall utilize earthen berms.   
b. Any structural stabilization shall be limited to the use of native stone 

(except for outlet structures) and shall be limited to not more than thirty 
percent (30%) of the perimeter of the pond.   

c. Such ponds shall be seamlessly integrated with the landscaping. 
d. Such ponds shall be not greater than eighteen inches deep. 
e. Such ponds shall not comprise more than 25% of the required 

landscaped area. 
(ii) Utility, mechanical and electrical facilities.  
(iii) Sidewalks or other paved surfaces except for any decorative aggregate or 

pervious brick pavers if contained in planting areas and comprising less than 
ten percent (10%) of the required landscape area. 

(iv) Landscaped areas less than four feet in width.  In calculating the width of 
landscaped areas, such areas shall not be divided by any form of pavement 
(e.g. sidewalks, detention or water quality ponds, paving, etc.) 
 

(3) (The following is for other than single-family or two-family development) Trees 
and shrubs identified on the preferred plant list and included in the Grow Green 
Guide, shall be utilized within the required landscaping as described below.  At 
least seventy five percent (75%) of the planted trees are required to be significant 
trees such as oak, elm, pecan, walnut, hickory, cherry, cypress, redbud and any 
rare species.  Existing significant trees and shrubs that are retained in healthy 
condition may count toward fulfillment of these requirements.  In calculating the 
credit from existing significant trees and shrubs that are retained, shrubs shall be 
credited on a one for one basis if such shrub is equivalent or greater in size to a 
comparable five gallon container grown shrub.  Trees shall be credited on a 
caliper inch basis (for every one caliper inch of a tree that is saved, credit shall be 
given for one caliper inch of a tree required to be planted), with saved significant 
trees over 18” caliper counting on a one for two basis (for every one caliper inch 
of a significant tree over 18” caliper that is saved, credit shall be given for two 
caliper inches of a tree required to be planted). 
(i) For every six hundred (600) square feet of landscape area and setback area 

required by this ordinance, two (2) shade trees (two inch caliper or larger) 
and four (4) shrubs (five gallon container size or larger) shall be planted.  
Two ten gallon ornamental trees may be substituted for every one required 
shade tree as long as at least half of the required number of shade trees is 
installed. 

(ii) To allow for larger landscaped activity areas at school facilities, for every 
600 sq. ft. of landscaping required by this section, 1 tree and 3 shrubs (five 
gallon container size or larger) shall be planted. 



 
 -5- 

(iii) To reduce the thermal impact of unshaded parking lots, additional trees shall 
be planted as necessary so that the center point of each parking space is no 
more than 50 feet away from the trunk of a tree.  

(4) Minimum landscape requirements for detached single-family and two-family 
residential structures (except for townhouses on lots less than thirty-five feet wide 
in the SFT district) shall be two (2) two-inch significant trees such as oak, elm, 
pecan, walnut, hickory, cherry, cypress, redbud and any rare species measured 
eighteen inches above finished grade immediately after planting, three (3) one-
gallon shrubs, three (3) five-gallon shrubs and turf grass or an alternative material 
as defined in (b)(6)(ii) of this Section from the front property line to the front two 
(2) corners of the structure and a minimum coverage area extending 3’ from the 
slab/foundation to protect water runoff from the roof drip line.  If lawn grass is 
not used in this area, then rain gutter systems shall be in place.  One three and a 
half inch caliper tree may be substituted for two (2) two-inch trees if the tree is 
planted in the front yard.  Existing trees and shrubs that are retained in healthy 
condition may count toward fulfillment of these requirements.  Minimum 
landscape requirements for townhouses constructed in the SFT district on lots less 
than thirty-five feet wide are the same as above except that only one hardwood 
tree is required to be planted per lot 

(5) Significant trees removed during construction shall be replaced based on a 
replacement ratio (inches removed to inches planted) as follows: 
(i) Replacement trees shall not be required for the removal of trees less than 

eight (8) inches in caliper. 
(ii) For every one caliper inch of existing significant tree eighteen (18) inches 

and larger that is not retained during construction in healthy condition, two 
caliper inches of significant tree shall be planted as replacement for projects. 

(iii) For every one caliper inch of existing significant tree eighteen (18) inches 
and larger that is located within proposed right-of-way or utility easements 
in a single-family or two-family development, two caliper inches of 
significant tree shall be planted as replacement for projects.  The required 
replacement trees for single-family or two-family developments may be 
planted in park or landscape lots that will be owned and maintained by the 
property owners association.   

(iv) For every one caliper inch of existing significant tree between eight (8) and 
eighteen (18) inches that exceeds 50% of total caliper inches that is not 
retained, one caliper inch of significant tree shall be planted as replacement 
for projects. 

(v) Existing hardwood trees less than the size required for replacement and 
greater than or equal to two inches in caliper, and existing hardwood trees 
between 8” and 18” to an extent greater than 50% of the total caliper inches 
that are retained during construction in healthy condition may be counted 
toward replacement requirements as well as toward planting requirements. 

(vi) A fee in lieu of planting replacement trees of one hundred fifty dollars 
($150) per required caliper inch may be paid by the applicant. 



 
 -6- 

(vii) Removal of Significant Trees larger than eighteen (18) inches in caliper for 
other than single-family or two-family development, or other than such trees 
included in an alternative tree preservation plan as described in (viii) below, 
requires approval of the Commission. 

(viii) An alternative tree preservation plan may be approved by the Director of 
Planning for properties where existing tree cover is especially dense and the 
following are found: 

a. Removal of a significant number of trees is unavoidable,  
b. The applicant has planned the development so as to save the highest 

quality and greatest number of trees that could be reasonably expected,  
c. All areas of the site that can be reasonably utilized for tree replacement 

have been utilized, and 
d. The landscape area and tree planting requirements of this ordinance have 

been exceeded by at least fifty percent (50%). 
(ix) An applicant for a single-family or two-family preliminary plat or final plat  

shall provide a tree survey with the street and lot layout superimposed at a 
scale of 1”=100’ (or as appropriate).  The applicant shall provide a tree 
preservation plan that identifies the surveyed trees and the mitigation of the 
protected trees that are proposed for removal.  An applicant for a 
commercial building permit shall provide a tree survey with the application 
identifying significant trees located on the property that meet the 
requirements indicated in this subsection.  The applicant shall provide a tree 
preservation plan that shows which trees are to be preserved and protected 
and which trees are to be replaced in accordance with the replacement 
requirements of this subsection, if any, and shall be required to demonstrate 
that lot lines, street layouts and site improvements have been designed and 
located and that lot width, depth and size flexibility as permitted by the 
applicable zoning district has been utilized to the maximum extent necessary 
to retain the maximum number of significant trees reasonably practicable.  
The Director of Planning shall determine if adequate performance is 
achieved based on the standards of this paragraph.  Approval of the tree 
protection plan by the Director of Planning is required prior to preparation 
and submission of a subdivision or building permit application.  The 
applicant may appeal any decision of the Director to the Commission.  A 
decision of the Commission may be appealed to the City Council.  Any 
preserved or replacement trees may be counted toward the landscape 
requirements of this section.  See the Construction Plan requirements for 
details. 

(x) The Director of Planning may issue a tree removal permit for the removal of 
Significant Trees to the owner of a property that is zoned or otherwise 
authorized and actively used for agricultural purposes if it is demonstrated 
that the tree removal is for a legitimate agricultural purpose.  The tree 
mitigation requirements of this ordinance shall not apply to such permits.  If 
the property is rezoned or otherwise converted to a non-agricultural use 
within three years of the issuance of the tree removal permit the owner of 



 
 -7- 

the property shall be required to meet the tree mitigation requirements of 
this ordinance. 

(6) Credit for Significant Trees: In order to provide credit toward the preservation of 
existing significant trees, no more than fifty percent (50%) of the critical root 
zone shall be disturbed and/or distressed with impervious cover, and the 
remaining critical root zone shall consist of at least one hundred (100) square feet. 

(7) Invasive Species:  Multi-Family and non-residential projects are required to 
remove all invasive species for the portion of the project indentified within the 
limits of construction.  Single-family and two-family developments that remove 
all invasive species as listed in the Grow Green Guide, are eligible for a twenty-
five (25%) percent credit towards the tree mitigation requirements.   

(8) Tree Diversification:  No more than fifty (50%) percent of the same species may 
be planted to meet the tree planting requirements. 

(9) A non-disturbance zone shall be maintained on single-family and two-family lots.  
A disturbance area no less than five (5’) feet from the foundation necessary for 
construction and grade transitions shall be permitted.  The trees located on the 
remainder of the lot shall not be removed unless a unique situation is approved by 
the Planning Director. 

(10) The landscaping shall be placed upon that portion of a tract or lot that is being 
developed. Fifty percent (50%) of the required landscaped area and required 
plantings contained in (c) landscape requirements (above) shall be installed 
between the front property lines and the building being constructed. Undeveloped 
portions of a tract or lot shall not be considered landscaped, except as specifically 
approved by the City. Landscaping placed within public right-of-ways shall not 
fulfill the minimum landscape requirements.  

(11) No landscaping over three feet in height shall be planted within forty (40) feet of 
the intersection of any street pavement (see Figure N).  Any planted or existing 
vegetation within this area shall be kept pruned so that foliage shall not grow or 
exist within three and eight feet above the elevation of the curb closest to the 
vegetation. 

(12) The Director of Planning may grant exceptions to these provisions to require a 
lesser amount of landscaping if the intent of this ordinance is met, and the 
reduction of the landscape area results in the preservation of natural features 
having comparable value. 

(13) In cases of death or removal of a tree planted pursuant to the terms of this section, 
a replacement tree of equal size and type shall be required to be planted. A 
smaller tree that will have a mature crown similar to the tree removed may be 
substituted if the planting area or pervious cover provided for the larger tree in 
this section is retained. 

(14) The location, calculations, size and description of all landscaping and screening 
materials proposed to satisfy the requirements of this section shall be shown on a 
Landscape Plan, and included with the construction plans. 

(15) Landscape plans are required with all new multi-family and non-residential 
permits showing:  
(i) New and existing trees, shrubs, groundcover, turf areas and native areas.  



 
 -8- 

(ii) Proposed plantings by botanical name, common name, spacing, quantity, 
container size. 

(iii) Property lines, streets and street names 
(iv) Driveway(s), sidewalk(s) and other hardscape features 
(v) Existing and/or proposed buildings. 
(vi) Point of irrigation connection (POC) and water meter for the irrigation 

system. 
(16) Soil Depth (New residential and non-residential)      

All new landscapes (non-residential and residential) are required to have a 
minimum of six inches (6") of soil depth in areas planted with turfgrass. This six-
inch (6") minimum soil depth will consist of 75 percent soil blended with 25 
percent compost. The soil/compost blend shall be incorporated into the top two 
inches of the native soil. The six-inch (6") depth requirement does not apply to the 
area between the drip line and trunk of existing trees, shrub beds or wildscape 
areas.  Areas with existing native vegetation that remain undisturbed shall be 
exempt from the soil depth provision of this section; provided that native soil and 
vegetation in such area is fenced during construction and protected from 
disturbance and compaction during the construction process.  

(17) Mulch (all non-residential properties). All exposed soil surfaces of non-turf areas 
within the developed landscape area must be mulched with a minimum two-inch 
layer of organic material. Examples of organic material include pine bark, 
shredded cedar, composted leaves, and shredded landscape clippings. 
Native/wildscape areas are exempt. 

(18) WaterWise Landscape Principles. These principles shall be an integral component 
of the landscape design and plan. Homebuilders shall be required to offer a 
WaterWise landscape option in any series of landscape options offered to home 
buyers.  The seven basic principles of WaterWise landscaping include: 
(i) Proper planning and design 
(ii) Proper soil preparation (compost-improved topsoil) 
(iii) Practical turfgrass selection of drought resistant-species  
(iv) Appropriate plant selection.  The plants listed as invasive plants to avoid  in 

the Grow Green Guide,  shall not be offered as part of a WaterWise 
landscape option. 

(v) Efficient irrigation systems 
(vi) Use of mulches 
(vii) Appropriate maintenance 

(19) Irrigation Requirements (New residential and non-residential installations): 
(i) All irrigation systems, both residential and non-residential, shall be installed 

in accordance with state law, Title 2 Texas Water Code, Chapter 34 and 
Title 30 Texas Administrative Code, Chapter 344, as amended, as regulated 
and enforced by the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality (TCEQ). 
Irrigation contractors who install the irrigation system must be a TCEQ 
Licensed Irrigator.  

(ii) A permit shall be required for the installation of all automatic irrigation 
systems. 



 
 -9- 

(iii) All automatic irrigation systems are required to have a rain sensor connected 
to an irrigation controller in order to stop the irrigation cycle during and 
after a rainfall event. Rain sensors are to be installed in a location where 
rainfall is unobstructed, such as a rooftop or fence line. Rain sensors are to 
be adjusted at the one-fourth-inch setting. 

(iv) All new residential and non-residential irrigation systems are required to 
have pressure regulators if static pressure at the site exceeds the sprinkler 
manufacturer’s recommended operating range. Extensive misting due to 
high pressure wastes water. 

(v) Irrigation systems are to have a controller with multiple cycle, rain sensor 
capability and irrigation water budget feature. 

(vi) Sprinkler systems shall be designed as to minimize overspray onto the 
hardscape. 

(vii) Sprinkler heads shall be installed at least eight (8) inches from the curb. 
(viii) For strips of land less than six (6) feet in width, spray irrigation shall be 

prohibited and low-flow irrigation systems (such as drip, bubblers or micro-
irrigation) are required. For strips of land between six (6) feet and fifteen 
(15) feet in width, only low-flow irrigation (such as drip, bubblers or micro-
irrigation), or spray irrigation using low-angle spray nozzles designed for 
the specific width to be irrigated shall be permitted.  For strips of land more 
than fifteen (15) feet in width, only low precipitation rotors with low angle 
nozzles may be used to irrigate turf areas. Planting beds may be irrigated 
with low-flow or spray irrigation. All spray heads must be designed to 
prevent low head drainage. 

(ix) The incorporation of treated effluent, rainwater, or water from rain/storm 
water systems in an irrigation system is encouraged. 

(20) A property owner’s association may not include or enforce a provision in a 
dedicatory instrument that prohibits or restricts a property owner from: 
(i) Implementing measures promoting solid waste composting of vegetation, 

including grass clippings, leaves or brush, or leaving grass clippings 
uncollected on grass; 

(ii) Installing rain barrels or a rainwater harvesting system; or 
(iii) Implementing efficient irrigation systems, including underground drip or 

other drip irrigation systems. 
(21)  A property owner’s association may not include or enforce a provision that 

requires:  
(i) A defined irrigation schedule specified by the association unless at defined 

irrigation schedule is mandated by the association’s water supplier in order 
to curtail outdoor water use; 

(ii) Maintenance of the landscape to a specified level that requires the property 
owner to irrigate his or her landscape; 

(iii) Installation or maintenance of any specific variety or limited choice of 
varieties of turf grass; or 

(iv) The homeowner to install a minimum percentage of turf in the landscape. 
 



 
 -10- 

Section 4. Amendment to Article VI, Section 7.  Article VI, Section 7 of the Composite 
Zoning Ordinance is hereby amended in its entirety as follows: 

(a) Purpose. 
The purpose of this section is provide for the design of drainage and detention facilities that 
contribute to visual aesthetics of projects and limit the amounts of visible concrete that do 
not meet the requirements listed below.   

(b) Non-Residential and Multi-Family Drainage and Detention Facilities: 
(1) Non-residential and multi-family drainage facilities include all detention ponds, water 

quality ponds, outlet structures, berms, improved channels or other improvements 
associated with the drainage improvements.  Roadside swales and inlets are not 
included. 

(2) Non-residential and multi-family drainage facilities are not allowed within ten feet 
(10’) of street ROW except those which are necessary to convey drainage in the 
shortest possible route to or from street ROW. 

(3) Non-residential and multi-family drainage facilities located within the front setback 
shall not exceed 25% of the area of the front setback. 

(4) Any fencing around non-residential and multi-family detention ponds shall be 
constructed of wrought iron or tubular metal or other similar product. 

(5) Vertical walls for non-residential and multi-family drainage facilities shall be limited to 
not more than thirty (30%) percent of the perimeter of the pond excluding outlet 
structures.  The remainder of the perimeter shall be earthern embankment no steeper 
than 3:1 slope.  All exposed concrete is required to provide textured concrete and 
tinting in earthern colors, or masonry veneer including but not limited to ledgestone, 
fieldstone, or cast stone.   In the event that the drainage facility is below grade, concrete 
is permitted and screening requirements listed in Article VI, Section 1 (d) of this 
Ordinance shall apply. 

(c) Residential Drainage and Detention Facilities: 
(1) Residential drainage facilities include all detention ponds, water quality ponds, outlet 

structures, berms, improved channels or other improvements associated with the 
drainage improvements. Roadside swales and inlets are not included. 

(2) Residential drainage facilities shall utilize earthern berms and be designed with a curvi-
linear shape.  Any structural stabilization shall be limited to the use of native stone 
(except for outlet structures) and shall be limited to not more than thirty (30%) percent 
of the perimeter of the pond.  Such ponds shall be seamlessly integrated with the 
landscaping.     

(3) All exposed concrete is required to provide textured concrete and tinting in earthern 
colors, or masonry veneer including but not limited to ledgestone, fieldstone, or cast 
stone.  In the event that the drainage facility is below grade, concrete is permitted and 
screening requirements Article VI, Sec. 1 (d) of this Ordinance shall apply. 

 
Section 5. Amendment to Article VI, Section 13.  Article VI, Section 13 of the Composite 
Zoning Ordinance is hereby amended in its entirety as follows: 



 
 -11- 

SECTION 13:  NON-RESIDENTIAL OR MULTI-FAMILY  PARKING LOT 
CONNECTIONS 
A non-residential or multi-family site contiguous with another non-residential or multi-family 
site shall provide parking aisle connections to the boundary of the site for connection to such 
contiguous non-residential or multi-family site unless such connection is determined to be 
inappropriate by the Department of Planning.  The Department of Planning shall make its 
determination after considering all relevant factors, including, but not limited to, the 
following: when there exists topographic constraints, environmental constraints, existing 
development that has not provided for such connections, or adjacent uses that are 
incompatible for the purposes of mixing traffic. 

 
Section 6. Deletion of Article VI, Section 14 (c).  Article VI, Section 14 (c) of the Composite 
Zoning Ordinance is hereby deleted. 
 
Section 7. Amendment to Article IX, Section 3 (a).  Article IX, Section 3 (a) of the 
Composite Zoning Ordinance is hereby amended in its entirety as follows: 

SECTION 3:  PROCEDURES FOR APPROVAL OF SITE PLANS  
(a) Site Plan Approval 

The Planning Department shall not approve a site plan until all reviewing departments 
of the city have indicated that the proposed site plan, with all applicable attachments, 
complies with all applicable provisions of the code of ordinances of the city including 
the Composite Zoning Ordinance and the Subdivision Ordinance.  Park land and park 
improvements shall be required for all multi-family development in accordance with 
the standards of Sec. 61 of the Subdivision Ordinance.  Development shall comply with 
regulations for Riparian Corridors set forth in Sec. 49 of the Subdivision Ordinance.  
The Planning Department shall approve a site plan if the proposed development 
complies with all applicable codes of the city.  If the Planning Department finds that the 
site plan does not comply with all applicable codes of the city, the site plan shall be 
disapproved pending submittal of a site plan in compliance with the code of ordinances 
of the city. Approval of a site development permit authorizes the applicant to begin site 
development. 

 

Section 8.  Amendment of Article X, Section 10(a).   

(a)    (1) Penalty: Any person who shall violate any of the provisions of this ordinance, or 
shall fail to comply therewith, or with any of the requirements thereof, within the City 
limits shall be deemed guilty of an offense and shall be liable for a fine not to exceed the 
sum of two thousand dollars ($2000.00). Each day the violation exists shall constitute a 
separate offense. Such penalty shall be in addition to all the other remedies provided 
herein 

(2)  Administrative Penalty.  Any person who removes a Significant Tree greater 
than 8 inches in caliper prior to approval of a tree protection plan, or who removes a 



 
 -12- 

Significant Tree greater than 8 inches in caliper that is not authorized to be removed under 
an approved tree protection plan shall be charged and shall pay a fee of $300 per inch for 
each Significant Tree greater than 8 inches in caliper removed in violation of this 
ordinance.  The City will rely on remaining evidence on site to determine if a violation of 
this ordinance has occurred.  For enforcement purposes the City will consider that any 
stump remaining on the property which is eight inches or more in diameter measured at 
ground level or higher was a stump of a Significant Tree greater than 8 inches in caliper.  
Furthermore, any cut wood discovered on site will be considered evidence of a 
Significant Tree greater than 8 inches in caliper if the diameter of the cut wood is 
measured at eight inches or greater at any point on any piece of cut wood.  A site 
development or building permit application for property from which one or more 
Significant Trees have been removed in violation of this ordinance may not be approved 
until an administrative penalty owed under this subsection has been paid.   

Section 9. Conflicting Ordinances.  Exhibit “A”, Article 14.200, Leander Code of Ordinances 
and of Ordinance No. 05-018-00 is amended as provided herein.  All ordinances or parts thereof 
conflicting or inconsistent with the provisions of this ordinance as adopted herein, are hereby 
amended to the extent of such conflict.  In the event of a conflict or inconsistency between this 
ordinance and any other code or ordinance of the City, the terms and provisions of this ordinance 
shall govern. 
 
Section 10. Savings Clause.  All rights and remedies of the City of Leander are expressly saved 
as to any and all violations of the provisions of any ordinances affecting zoning within the City 
which have accrued at the time of the effective date of this ordinance; and, as to such accrued 
violations and all pending litigation, both civil and criminal, whether pending in court or not, under 
such ordinances, same shall not be affected by this ordinance but may be prosecuted until final 
disposition by the courts. 
 
Section 11. Effective Date.  This ordinance shall take effect immediately from and after its 
passage and publication in accordance with the provisions of the Tex. Loc. Gov't. Code and the City 
Charter. 
 
Section 12. Severability.  It is hereby declared to be the intention of the City Council that the 
sections, paragraphs, sentences, clauses and phrases of this Ordinance are severable and, if any 
phrase, sentence, paragraph or section of this Ordinance should be declared invalid by the final 
judgment or decree of any court of competent jurisdiction, such invalidity shall not affect any of the 
remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs and sections of this Ordinance, since the same 
would have been enacted by the City Council without the incorporation of this ordinance of any 
such invalid phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph or section.  If any provision of this Ordinance shall 
be adjudged by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, the invalidity shall not affect other 
provisions or applications of this Ordinance which can be given effect without the invalid provision, 
and to this end the provisions of this Ordinance are declared to be severable. 
 
Section 13. Open Meetings.  It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at 
which this ordinance is passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of the time, 



 
 -13- 

place and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open Meetings Act. 
 
 PASSED AND APPROVED on the 3rd day of July, 2014. 
 PASSED AND FINALLY APPROVED on the 17th day of July, 2014. 
 
THE CITY OF LEANDER, TEXAS ATTEST: 
 
 
__________________________________ _____________________________ 
Christopher Fielder, Mayor     Debbie Haile, City Secretary 





AGENDA ITEM # 21 
 

 

 
Executive Summary 

 
July 17, 2014 

 
 
Agenda Subject: Subdivision Ordinance Case 14-OR-005:  Consider action on 

amending sections of the Subdivision Ordinance, to add provisions 
for the protection of riparian corridors, to add requirements 
associated with parking lot connections and to add tree survey 
requirements.   

 
Background: One of the goals of the Comprehensive Plan is to "Enhance 

protective measures for areas of unique environmental quality."  
The plan goes on to identify two specific objectives, 1) adopt 
standards for the protection of significant trees, and 2) adopt 
standards and practices to protect significant riparian corridors.  In 
addition, it is the City's goal to foster the conservation of natural 
resources including water conservation.  The Planning & Zoning 
Commission identified this item as Priority #3 at the November 14, 
2013 meeting.  Staff is proposing the following amendments to the 
Subdivision Ordinance in order to achieve these goals.  Staff is 
proposing the following amendments to the Subdivision 
Ordinance: 
1. Addition of the definition and provisions for the protection of 

riparian corridors 
2. Addition of requirements associated with parking lot 

connections 
3. Addition of tree survey requirements 

 
Origination: City of Leander Planning Department 
 
Financial  
Consideration: None 
 
Recommendation: See Planning Analysis.  The Planning & Zoning Commission 

unanimously recommended approval of the following 
recommendation at the June 26, 2014 meeting: 



AGENDA ITEM # 21 
 

1. Approval of the amendments to the Subdivision Ordinance 
with the following recommended change: 

a. Change the requirement for residential to include a 
tree survey for the entire property that surveys trees 
8 caliper inches and greater.  In addition, require 
mitigation for removed trees that are 8 caliper 
inches with the replacement ratio of 1” to 1” for 
trees between 8” to 18” and 2” to 1” for trees over 
18”. 

The City Council recommended approval of the following 
recommendations at the July 03, 2014 meeting: 
1. Approval of the amendments to the Subdivision Ordinance 

with the following changes: 
a. Change the requirement for residential to include a 

tree survey for the entire property that surveys trees 
8 caliper inches and greater.  In addition, require 
mitigation for removed trees that are 8 caliper 
inches with the replacement ratio of 1” to 1” for 
trees between 8” to 18” and 2” to 1” for trees over 
18”. 

 
Attachments: 1.   Summary of Proposed Amendments 
 2. Ordinance 
   
Prepared By: Tom Yantis, AICP  
   Development Services Director   07/10/2014 



1 
 

SUBDIVISION ORDINANCE 

 
ARTICLE I – GENERAL 

SECTION 1.  DEFINITIONS 
Reciprocal access refers to connectivity between contiguous non-residential or multi-
family properties to allow for the connection of or access to drive lanes, fire lanes, 
driveways, or parking lots between such properties. 

Riparian Corridor means any defined stream channel including the area up to the 
ordinary high water (or bankfull-flow line), as well as all riparian (streamside) vegetation 
in contiguous adjacent uplands.  Riparian Corridors also includes the Secondary Trail 
Corridors identified in the City of Leander Parks, Recreation & Open Space Master Plan. 

Riparian Corridor Setback means a line or lines designating the minimum distance the 
closest wall of a structure is required to be from a Riparian Corridor.  Building 
projections (e.g. eaves, awnings, window boxes, and porch overhangs) may extend up 
to two feet into the Riparian Corridor Setback. 

 
ARTICLE II – PROCEDURE 

SECTION 22.  PRELIMINARY PLAT 

(c) Content. 
(2) Existing Conditions. 

***** 
(iii) A tree protection plan consisting of an aerial photo or a tree survey with the 

street and lot layout superimposed at a scale of 1”=100’ (or as appropriate) 
demonstrating that lot lines and street layouts have been designed and located 
and that lot width, depth and size flexibility (as permitted by the applicable 
zoning district if inside the City) has been utilized to the maximum extent 
necessary to retain the maximum number of significant trees reasonably 
practicable.   The applicant shall provide a tree preservation plan that identifies 
the surveyed trees and the mitigation of the protected trees that are proposed 
for removal.  The tree protection plan is required to be approved by the Director 
of Planning prior to submission of a preliminary plat application.  For every one 
caliper inch of existing significant tree between eight (8) and eighteen (18) 
inches that exceeds 50% of total caliper inches that is not retained, one caliper 
inch of significant tree shall be planted as replacement for projects.  For every 
one caliper inch of existing significant tree eighteen (18) inches and larger that 
is not retained during construction in healthy condition, two caliper inches of 
significant tree shall be planted as replacement for projects. Replacement trees 
shall be a minimum of two (2) caliper inches and identified on the City of 
Leander preferred plant list or included in the Grow Green Guide for Native and 
Adaptive Landscape Plants published by the City of Austin Watershed Protection 
and Texas A&M AgriLife Extension, as amended from time to time.  The tree 
protection plan is required to be approved by the Director of Planning prior to 
submission of a preliminary plat application. 



2 
 

ARTICLE III – DESIGN STANDARDS 

SECTION 42.  TRANSPORTATION IMPROVEMENTS 
(h) Non-Residential or Multi-Family Lot Connections.  Development and platting of non-
residential and multi-family properties shall provide for and allow reciprocal access for drive 
lanes, fire lanes, driveways, and parking lots between interior contiguous lots within a 
subdivision and lots adjacent to another subdivision or non-residential or multi-family property.   
 
***** 
 
SECTION 49.  RIPARIAN CORRIDORS 
Riparian Corridor setbacks shall be based on the following drainage criteria for all 
developments.  These setback requirements do not include trails.  No structure shall be 
erected or installed within the Riparian Corridor Setback.  The following Riparian Corridor 
Setbacks are established: 

(a) Creeks or swales draining more than five (5) acres but less than forty (40) acres 
shall have a minimum buffer width of twenty-five (25’) feet from the centerline of 
the creek or swale 

(b) Creeks or swales draining more than forty (40) acres but less than one hundred 
twenty-eight (128) acres shall have a minimum Riparian Corridor Setback of 
seventy-five (75’) feet from the centerline of the creek or swale. 

(c) Creeks or swales draining more than one hundred twenty-eight (128) acres but less 
than six hundred forty (640) acres shall have a minimum Riparian Corridor Setback 
of one hundred (100’) feet from the centerline of the creek or swale. 

(d) A minimum one hundred (100’) foot Riparian Corridor Setback is required off of the 
centerline of creeks identified on the City of Leander Parks, Recreation & Open Space 
Master Plan. 

 
 

ARTICLE V – ADMINISTRATION 
 

SECTION 77. ENFORCEMENT 
 
(a) Penalty.  

(1) Penalty.  Any person who shall violate any of the provisions of this Ordinance, or shall 
fail to comply therewith, or with any of the requirements thereof, within the City limits 
shall be deemed guilty of an offense and shall be liable for a fine not to exceed the 
sum of two thousand dollars ($2000.00). Each day the violation exists shall constitute 
a separate offense. Such penalty shall be in addition to all the other remedies provided 
herein 

(2) Administrative Penalty.  Any person who removes a Significant Tree greater than 8 
inches in caliper prior to approval of a tree protection plan, or who removes a 
Significant Tree greater than 8 inches in caliper that is not authorized to be removed 
under an approved tree protection plan shall be charged and shall pay a fee of $300 
per inch for each Significant Tree greater than 8 inches in caliper removed in violation 
of this ordinance.  The City will rely on remaining evidence on site to determine if a 
violation of this ordinance has occurred.  For enforcement purposes the City will 
consider that any stump remaining on the property which is eight inches or more in 
diameter measured at ground level or higher was a stump of a Significant Tree 
greater than 8 inches in caliper.  Furthermore, any cut wood discovered on site will be 



3 
 

considered evidence of a Significant Tree greater than 8 inches in caliper if the 
diameter of the cut wood is measured at eight inches or greater at any point on any 
piece of cut wood.  A site development or building permit application for property 
from which one or more Significant Trees have been removed in violation of this 
ordinance may not be approved until an administrative penalty owed under this 
subsection has been paid.   

 



  
 

ORDINANCE NO. 14-040-00 
 
 
 AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF LEANDER, TEXAS AMENDING 

SECTIONS OF EXHIBIT A, CHAPTER 10 OF THE CODE OF 
ORDINANCES, THE SUBDIVISION ORDINANCE, TO ADD 
PROVISIONS FOR THE PROTECTION OF RIPARIAN CORRIDORS, 
TO ADD REQUIREMENTS ASSOCIATED WITH PARKING LOT 
CONNECTIONS, AND TO ADD TREE PRESERVATION 
REQUIREMENTS; PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; 
PROVIDING SAVINGS; EFFECTIVE DATE AND OPEN MEETINGS 
CLAUSES; AND PROVIDING FOR RELATED MATTERS. 

 
 
 Whereas, the City Council held a public hearing on the proposed amendments to Exhibit A, 
Chapter 10, Leander Code of Ordinances (the “Subdivision Ordinance”);  
 
 Whereas, the City Council finds that the tree preservation standards adopted herein are 
reasonable and necessary  to preserve trees  as an important public resource enhancing the quality 
of life and the general welfare of the city and enhancing its unique character and physical, 
historical and aesthetic environment; to encourage the preservation of trees for the enjoyment of 
future generations; to encourage the preservation of trees  to provide health benefits by the 
cleansing and cooling of the air and contributing to psychological wellness; to encourage 
the preservation of trees to provide environmental elements by adding value to property, and 
reduction of energy costs through passive solar design utilizing trees; to encourage 
the preservation of trees to provide environmental elements necessary to reduce the amount of 
pollutants entering streams and to provide elements crucial to establishment of the local 
ecosystem; to provide tree preservation requirements and incentives to exceed those 
requirements that encourage the maximum preservation of trees; and to promote and protect the 
health, safety and welfare of the public by creating an urban environment that is aesthetically 
pleasing and that promotes economic development through an enhanced quality of life; and 
 
 Whereas, the City Council at a public hearing has considered the proposed amendments 
and finds that the amendments are reasonable and necessary to protect the health, safety, and 
welfare of the present and future residents of the City and to promote the orderly and healthful 
development of the community;  
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF LEANDER, TEXAS, THAT: 
 
Section 1. Findings of Fact.  The above and foregoing recitals are hereby found to be true and 
correct and are incorporated herein as findings of fact.   
 



 

 
 
 -2- 

Section 2. Amendment of Article I, Sections 1.  Article I, Section 1 of the Subdivision 
Ordinance is hereby amended to add the following definitions:  
 

Reciprocal access refers to connectivity between contiguous non-residential or multi-
family properties to allow for the connection of or access to drive lanes, fire lanes, 
driveways, or parking lots between such properties. 

 
Riparian Corridor means any defined stream channel including the area up to the 
ordinary high water (or bankfull-flow line), as well as all riparian (streamside) vegetation 
in contiguous adjacent uplands.  Riparian Corridors also includes the Secondary Trail 
Corridors identified in the City of Leander Parks, Recreation & Open Space Master Plan. 
 
Riparian Corridor Setback means a line or lines designating the minimum distance the 
closest wall of a structure is required to be from a Riparian Corridor.  Building 
projections (e.g. eaves, awnings, window boxes, and porch overhangs) may extend up to 
two feet into the Riparian Corridor Setback. 
 

Section 3. Amendment of Article II, Section 22(c)(2)(iii).  Article II, Section 22(c)(2)(iii) 
of the Subdivision Ordinance is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 

(iii) A tree protection plan consisting of a tree survey with the street and lot layout 
superimposed at a scale of 1”=100’ (or as appropriate) demonstrating that lot lines 
and street layouts have been designed and located and that lot width, depth and size 
flexibility (as permitted by the applicable zoning district if inside the City) has been 
utilized to the maximum extent necessary to retain the maximum number of 
significant trees reasonably practicable.  The applicant shall provide a tree 
preservation plan that identifies the surveyed trees and the mitigation of the 
protected trees that are proposed for removal.  The tree protection plan is required to 
be approved by the Director of Planning prior to submission of a preliminary plat 
application.  For every one caliper inch of existing significant tree between eight (8) 
and eighteen (18) inches that exceeds 50% of total caliper inches that is not 
retained, one caliper inch of significant tree shall be planted as replacement for 
projects.  For every one caliper inch of existing significant tree eighteen (18) inches 
and larger that is not retained during construction in healthy condition, two caliper 
inches of significant tree shall be planted as replacement for projects. Replacement 
trees shall be a minimum of two (2) caliper inches and identified on the City of 
Leander preferred plant list or included in the Grow Green Guide for Native and 
Adaptive Landscape Plants published by the City of Austin Watershed Protection 
and Texas A&M AgriLife Extension, as amended from time to time.  The tree 
protection plan is required to be approved by the Director of Planning prior to 
submission of a preliminary plat application. 

 



 

 
 
 -3- 

Section 4. Amendment of Article III, Section 42.  Article III, Section 42 of the Subdivision 
Ordinance is hereby amended to add subsection (h) to read as follows: 
 

(h) Non-Residential or Multi-Family Lot Connections.  Development and platting of 
non-residential and multi-family properties shall provide for and allow reciprocal access 
for drive lanes, fire lanes, driveways, and parking lots between interior contiguous lots 
within a subdivision and lots adjacent to another subdivision or non-residential or multi-
family property.   

 
Section 5. Amendment of Article III, Section 49.  Article III of the Subdivision Ordinance is 
hereby amended by adding Section 49 to read as follows: 

 
SECTION 49.  RIPARIAN CORRIDORS 
Riparian Corridor Setbacks shall be based on the following drainage criteria for all 
developments.  These setback requirements do not include trails and related 
improvements.  No structure shall be erected or installed within the Riparian Corridor 
Setback.  The following Riparian Corridor Setbacks are established: 

(a) Creeks or swales draining more than five (5) acres but less than forty (40) acres 
shall have a minimum Riparian Corridor Setback of twenty-five (25’) feet from 
the centerline of the creek or swale. 

(b) Creeks or swales draining more than forty (40) acres but less than one hundred 
twenty-eight (128) acres shall have a minimum Riparian Corridor Setback of 
seventy-five (75’) feet from the centerline of the creek or swale. 

(c) Creeks or swales draining more than one hundred twenty-eight (128) acres but 
less than six hundred forty (640) acres shall have a minimum Riparian Corridor 
Setback of one hundred (100’) feet from the centerline of the creek or swale. 

(d) A minimum one hundred (100’) foot Riparian Corridor Setback is required off of 
the centerline of creeks identified on the City of Leander Parks, Recreation & 
Open Space Master Plan 
 

Section 6. Amendment of Article III, Section 50.  Article III of the Subdivision 
Ordinance is hereby amended by adding Section 50 to read as follows: 

 
SECTION 50. TREE PRESERVATION 
 
No Significant Tree shall be removed until a tree protection plan has been approved by the 
Director of Planning in accordance with this Chapter.  Significant Trees may be removed 
only in accordance with the approved tree protection plan, and trees must be protected 
during construction activities on the property in accordance with the approved tree 
protection plan.   

 
 
Section 7. Amendment of Section 77.  Section 77 of the Subdivision Ordinance is hereby 
amended in its entirety to read as follow:   



 

 
 
 -4- 

(a) Penalty. Any person who shall violate any of the provisions of this Ordinance, or 
shall fail to comply therewith, or with any of the requirements thereof, within the 
City limits shall be deemed guilty of an offense and shall be liable for a fine not to 
exceed the sum of two thousand dollars ($2000.00). Each day the violation exists 
shall constitute a separate offense. Such penalty shall be in addition to all the other 
remedies provided herein. 

(b) Administrative Penalty.  Any person who removes a Significant Tree greater than 8 
inches in caliper prior to approval of a tree protection plan, or who removes a 
Significant Tree greater than 8 inches in caliper that is not authorized to be removed 
under an approved tree protection plan shall be charged and shall pay a fee of $__ 
per inch for each Significant Tree greater than 8 inches in caliper removed in 
violation of this ordinance.  The City will rely on remaining evidence on site to 
determine if a violation of this ordinance has occurred.  For enforcement purposes 
the City will consider that any stump remaining on the property which is eight 
inches or more in diameter measured at ground level or higher was a stump of a 
Significant Tree greater than 8 inches in caliper.  Furthermore, any cut wood 
discovered on site will be considered evidence of a Significant Tree greater than 8 
inches in caliper if the diameter of the cut wood is measured at eight inches or 
greater at any point on any piece of cut wood.  A plat or construction plan 
application for property from which one or more Significant Trees have been 
removed in violation of this ordinance may not be approved until an administrative 
penalty owed under this subsection has been paid.   

(c) Administrative Action. The City Engineer and/or the City Administrator shall 
enforce this Ordinance by appropriate administrative action, including but not 
limited to the rejection of plans, maps, plats and specifications not found to be in 
compliance with this Ordinance and good engineering practices, and the issuance 
of stop work orders. 

(d) Court Proceedings. Upon the request of the Council the City Attorney or other 
authorized attorney shall file an action in the district courts to enjoin the violation 
or threatened violation of this Ordinance, or to obtain declaratory judgment, and to 
seek and recover court costs and attorney fees, and/or to recover damages in an 
amount sufficient for the City to undertake any construction or other activity 
necessary to bring about compliance with a requirement regarding the property and 
established pursuant to this Ordinance. 

 
Section 8. Conflicting Ordinances.  Exhibit “A”, Chapter 10, Leander Code of Ordinances is 
amended as provided herein.  All ordinances or parts thereof conflicting or inconsistent with the 
provisions of this ordinance as adopted herein, are hereby amended to the extent of such conflict.  In 
the event of a conflict or inconsistency between this ordinance and any other code or ordinance of 
the City, the terms and provisions of this ordinance shall govern. 
 



 

 
 
 -5- 

Section 9. Savings Clause.  All rights and remedies of the City of Leander are expressly saved 
as to any and all violations of the provisions of any ordinances affecting subdivision within the City 
which have accrued at the time of the effective date of this ordinance; and, as to such accrued 
violations and all pending litigation, both civil and criminal, whether pending in court or not, under 
such ordinances, same shall not be affected by this ordinance but may be prosecuted until final 
disposition by the courts. 
 
Section 10.    Effective Date.  This ordinance shall take effect immediately from and after its 
passage and publication in accordance with the provisions of the Tex. Loc. Gov't. Code and the City 
Charter. 
 
Section 11. Severability.  It is hereby declared to be the intention of the City Council that the 
sections, paragraphs, sentences, clauses and phrases of this Ordinance are severable and, if any 
phrase, sentence, paragraph or section of this Ordinance should be declared invalid by the final 
judgment or decree of any court of competent jurisdiction, such invalidity shall not affect any of the 
remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs and sections of this Ordinance, since the same 
would have been enacted by the City Council without the incorporation of this ordinance of any 
such invalid phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph or section.  If any provision of this Ordinance shall 
be adjudged by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, the invalidity shall not affect other 
provisions or applications of this Ordinance which can be given effect without the invalid provision, 
and to this end the provisions of this Ordinance are declared to be severable. 
 
Section 12.    Open Meetings.  It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at 
which this ordinance is passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of the time, 
place and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open Meetings Act. 
 
 
 PASSED AND APPROVED on the 17th day of July, 2014. 
 
 
THE CITY OF LEANDER, TEXAS ATTEST: 
 
 
 
__________________________________ _____________________________ 
Christopher Fielder, Mayor     Debbie Haile, City Secretary 
 





AGENDA ITEM # 22 
 

 

 
Executive Summary 

 
July 03, 2014 

 
 
Agenda Subject: Zoning Case 14-Z-013:  Second reading and consider action on the 

rezoning of 2,400 acres, more or less, known as the Transportation 
Oriented Development District (the "TOD").  The property is an 
area of approximately 2,400 acres in the Williamson County 
portion of the City of Leander, Texas as of May 16, 2014, lying 
generally east of County Road 279 / Bagdad Road, north of East 
Crystal Falls Roadway, west of County Roads 269 and 270, and 
south of the San Gabriel River; including  US Highway 183  from 
generally north of its intersection with Sonny Drive to south of its 
intersection with High Gabriel East; including the 183A Toll Road 
from just south of its intersection with High Gabriel East to 
approximately 2,500 feet south of its intersection with RM 2243, 
and  including the following subdivisions Old Town, and the 
Original Town of Leander Mason's, Atkin's, and Walker's 
Additions.  The land is also more particularly described in field 
notes, maps and materials related to the proposed zoning.  The 
property is currently zoned Planned Unit Development ("PUD") and 
is proposed to be rezoned to amend the PUD to modify the land use 
plan for the area and to amend the development regulations included 
in the SmartCode and additional standards applicable to the areas 
designated as Conventional Development.  

 
Background: The SmartCode was first adopted in 2005 and this update process 

is intended to provide adjustments to the code to address issues and 
implement best practices that have arisen since its original 
adoption.  The SmartCode governs the development of the land 
within the Transit Oriented Development District. 

 
Origination: City of Leander Planning Department 
 
Financial  
Consideration: None 
 



AGENDA ITEM # 22 
 

Recommendation:  
 
See Planning Analysis.  The Planning & Zoning Commission recommended approval of 
the following recommendations at the June 26, 2014 meeting: 

1. Approval of the amended PUD for the TOD with the following 
recommendations: 

a. Approval of the Option B Sector Map. 
b. Approval of the SmartCode revisions including staff's 

recommended clean-up edits and directing staff to make the 
architectural standards more flexible. 

c. Approval of the following items associated with the Conventional 
District Standards: 
 Encourage pedestrian amenities along A & B Street types.   
 Clarify the calculation of the residential density (gross 

versus net) 
 Allow the Planning Director to be flexible with the alley 

loaded lot requirement. 
 
The City Council considered the recommendations of the Planning and Zoning 
Commisison at its July 3, 2014 meeting and made the following recommendations that 
are reflected in the revised drafts attached: 

1. Revise the Option B Sector Map to remove the area south of 2243 from 
the S1 Sector and add the area north of San Gabriel Blvd. between 183 
and 183A to the S1 Sector (as shown in the Option A map). 

2. Approval of the P&Z recommendation regarding the SmartCode revisions. 
3. Approval of the P&Z recommendation regarding the Conventional 

Development Sector Standards with the following modifications: 
a. Provide incentives for the provision of pedestrian amenities on A 

and B Streets. 
b. Require a continuous building frontage along A and B Streets 

 
Attachments: 1.  Planning Analysis 
 2.  Proposed Leander SmartCode (clean copy) 
 3.  Proposed Leander SmartCode (red-line from July 3rd draft) 
 4. Conventional Development Sector Standards (clean copy) 
 5. Conventional Development Sector Standards (red-line from 7/3 draft) 
 6. Sector Map 1 - Sectors 
 7. Sector Map 2 - Parks & Trails 
 8. Sector Map 3 - A, B, & C Streets 
 9. Sector Map 4 - Community Units 
 10. Sector Map 5 - Transect Zones 
 11. Zoning Exhibit 
 12. Ordinance 
 13. Minutes – Planning & Zoning Commission June 26, 2014 
 14. Letter from Consultants 
  



AGENDA ITEM # 22 
 

Prepared By: Tom Yantis, AICP  
   Development Services Director   06/27/2014 



Attachment # 1                 

 

 
P L A N N I N G A N A L Y S I S  

 
ZONING CASE 14-Z-013 

SMARTCODE AMENDMENT 
 
 
GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
Proposal: Amendment to the SmartCode 
 Adoption of a Sector Planning Area Map 
 Adoption of Conventional Development Sector Standards  
 
Size and Location: The property includes approximate 2,400 acres more or less known as the 

Transportation Oriented Development District (the “TOD”). 
 
Staff Contact:   Tom Yantis, AICP   
 Development Services Director     
   
CONVENTIONAL DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS 
 
The Conventional Development Standards will be a separate document from the SmartCode that 
establishes regulations for the properties that are designated as CD Sector (Conventional 
Development) on the Sector Planning Area Map.  These standards will be in addition to the 
standards required by the Composite Zoning Ordinance.  This sector allows for conventional 
single-use and mixed-use development with basic design standards to provide a transition to 
adjacent neighborhoods and pedestrian-oriented communities.  Developers will have the option 
to follow the standards listed in the SmartCode instead of the Composite Zoning Ordinance if 
they choose to design their development in the pattern of the Clustered Land Development 
(CLD) or Traditional Neighborhood Development (TND) as provided in Article 4 of the 
SmartCode. 
 
The additional standards include: 
 Designing the streets to meet the requirements of the A-Street, B-Street, or C-Street.  

The different street types will be allocated by quadrant of Town Center, Community 
Center and Neighborhood Center nodes as designated in the Comprehensive Plan. 

 Establishing the location of the parking for commercial districts 
 Identifying the required architectural component based on the street type and the use of 

the structure. 
 Establishing a minimum density of four units per acre. 
 Requiring access from alley for residential lot narrower than 50 feet. 

 
        

  



Attachment # 1                 

 

SECTOR PLANNING AREA MAP 
 
The new sector planning area map options have been drawn to address several of the concerns of the 
stakeholders, primarily the contraction of the area subject to the SmartCode, and more flexibility in 
planning and allocating Transect Zones. 
 
There are 5 proposed sectors on the Sector Planning Area map, S1 - General, S2-Transit, S3-Old 
Town, CD-Conventional Development and OS-Open Space.  Each sector is allocated with appropriate 
community types (i.e. Cluster Land Development, Traditional Neighborhood Development, Regional 
Center Development and Conventional).   Within the S1 and S2 sectors, the SmartCode is mandatory.  
Within the S3 sector, for properties that were platted and zoned prior to the adoption of the TOD, the 
property owner may choose to develop under either their prior conventional zoning district or the 
SmartCode.  Within the CD sector, the SmartCode is optional, if the landowner chooses not to use the 
SmartCode, they will propose a concept plan for their property that will establish the allowed mix of 
uses, and the composite zoning district in compliance with the comprehensive plan. 
 
Once a community type (i.e. CLD, TND or RCD)  is determined for an area subject to the SmartCode, 
a concept plan and preliminary plat are prepared that allocate the transect zones within the 
community.  For areas that have already been planned (i.e. Old Town and some of the properties 
around the rail station) the transect zones have already been established and are depicted on the Sector 
Map. 
 
 
 

SMARTCODE AMENDMENT 
 
The City with assistance from its consultants, Michael Watkins and Sandy Sorlien, has held a 
series of work sessions with stakeholders, Planning & Zoning Commission, and City Council to 
prepare amendments to the SmartCode.  The amendments to the SmartCode are intended to 
encourage development in the TOD and provide standards that are easier to implement and 
understand than the 2005 version of the SmartCode. 
 
Proposed amendments to the SmartCode include: 
 Add sector planning as a step prior to community unit planning to allow more flexibility 

in the allocation of transect zones once a property is ready for development 
 Add incentives to encourage development in Old Town 
 Revise Transect Zones for Old Town 
 Provide consolidated summary tables for the Transect Zones 
 Remove or reduce minimum building height requirements 
 Change minimum densities to maximum densities for residential 
 Allow more flexibility in parking location by adding B and C Street options 
 Streamline the development process to more closely match the processes in the 

Composite Zoning Ordinance and Subdivision Ordinance 
 Reorganize the development standards within the chapters of the SmartCode to make 

them easier to read and understand 
 Remove minimum parking standards and provide an option to establish maximum 

parking ratios 
 Add the Signage module which has easy to understand standards for signage 



Attachment # 1                 

 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
During the course of the public meetings related to the amendments to the SmartCode and the 
TOD PUD, there were three Sector Planning Map options developed.  Staff has presented all 
three options in the packet materials for this agenda item.  Staff recommends that P&Z choose 
one option to recommend to City Council for adoption. 
 
Within the text of the proposed amendments to the SmartCode in the architectural section 6.13 
on page SC49, there is optional text highlighted in red which provides more stringent standards.  
Staff recommends that the P&Z determine whether to include the more stringent standards or 
recommend removing that text before final adoption. 
 
Overall, staff recommends approval of the amended PUD for the Transit Oriented Development 
District to include adoption of the revised SmartCode, the CD Sector standards, and one of the 
three Sector Plans which  includes the sector planning map, the trails map, the A, B and C streets 
map, and the approved transect zones map. 



 

Leander SmartCode
Leander, Texas

Prepared by 
Sandy Sorlien / Smartcode Local & Michael Watkins Architect, llc

Adopted:  July 17, 2014



2

LEANDER SMARTCODEOUTLINE

ARTICLE 2
SECTORS

ARTICLE 4 & ARTICLE 5
COMMUNITY UNITS

ARTICLE 6
LOTS & BUILDINGS    

Sectors Community Units Transect Zones & Other Standards

Open Space OS Open Sector None N/A Regulated by
Park Land Dedication & Park 
Improvements Section of the 
Subdivision Ordinance

New
Development

S1 General Sector TND Traditional
Neighborhood
Development

T3
T4
T5

Sub-Urban Zone

General Urban Zone

Urban Center Zone

  Building Placement

  Building Form

  Building Function

   Parking Location

  Parking Maximums

  Landscape

  Light Levels

  Sound Levels

  Signage

  Architecture

S2 Station Sector RCD Regional Center
Development T4

T5
T6

General Urban Zone

Urban Center Zone

Urban Core Zone

Existing
Development

S3 Old Town Sector Clustered Land
Development T1

T3
T4

Natural Zone and/or
Rural Zone

Sub-Urban Zone

General Urban Zone

Traditional
Neighborhood
Development

T3
T4
T5

Sub-Urban Zone

General Urban Zone

Urban Center Zone

Other CB
CS

Civic Building

Civic Space

SD Special District

CD Conventional Development 
Sector CLD Clustered Land

Development T1
T3
T4

Natural Zone and/or
Rural Zone

Sub-Urban Zone

General Urban Zone

TND Traditional
Neighborhood
Development

T3
T4
T5

Sub-Urban Zone

General Urban Zone

Urban Center Zone

Composite Zoning Ordinance

T2

T2I N F I L L

CLD

I N F I L L

TND



LEANDER SMARTCODE

 CHAPTER 1 GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS
  1.1 AUTHORITY
  1.2 APPLICABILITY
  1.3 INTENT
  1.4 PROCESS
  1.5 VARIANCES
  1.6 INCENTIVES
  1.7 ALTERNATE & SAVINGS PROVISIONS
 TABLE 1A INTENT - SECTORS
 TABLE 1B  INTENT - COMMUNITY UNITS 
 TABLE 1C INTENT - TRANSECT ZONES

CHAPTER 2 SECTORS
  2.1 INSTRUCTIONS
  2.2 (S1) GENERAL SECTOR
  2.3 (S2) STATION SECTOR
  2.4 (S3) OLD TOWN SECTOR
  2.5 (CD) CONVENTIONAL DEV. SECTOR 
 TABLE 2A SECTOR, COMMUNITY UNIT & TRANSECT  
  ZONE ALLOCATION

 CHAPTER 3 THOROUGHFARES & CIVIC SPACES
  3.1 INSTRUCTIONS
  3.2 THOROUGHFARES - VEHICULAR LANES
  3.3 THOROUGHFARES - PUBLIC FRONTAGES
  3.4 CIVIC ZONES
  3.5 SPECIAL DISTRICTS
 TABLE 3A THOROUGHFARE ASSEMBLIES
 TABLE 3B VEHICULAR LANE DIMENSIONS
 TABLE 3C VEHICULAR LANE & PARKING ASSEMBLIES 
 TABLE 3D PUBLIC FRONTAGES - GENERAL
 TABLE 3E PUBLIC FRONTAGES - SPECIFIC
 TABLE 3F CIVIC SPACE
 TABLE 3G PUBLIC PLANTING
 TABLE 3H PUBLIC LIGHTING

CHAPTER 4 NEW COMMUNITIES
  4.1 INSTRUCTIONS
  4.2 SEQUENCE OF COMMUNITY DESIGN
  4.3 COMMUNITY UNITS
  4.4 PARTICIPATING PARCELS
  4.5 TRANSECT ZONES
  4.6 DENSITY CALCULATIONS
  4.7 SPECIAL DISTRICTS
  4.8 SPECIAL REQUIREMENTS

 CHAPTER 5 INFILL & REDEVELOPMENT
  5.1 INSTRUCTIONS
  5.2    COMMUNITY UNITS
  5.3 TRANSECT ZONES
  5.4 CIVIC ZONES
  5.5 SPECIAL REQUIREMENTS
  5.6 SPECIAL DISTRICTS

 CHAPTER 6 LOTS & BUILDINGS 
  6.1 INSTRUCTIONS
  6.2 PRE-EXISTING CONDITIONS
  6.3 SPECIAL REQUIREMENTS 
  6.4 BUILDING PLACEMENT
  6.5 BUILDING FORM
  6.6 BUILDING FUNCTION
  6.7 PARKING LOCATION
  6.8 PARKING MAXIMUMS
  6.9 LANDSCAPE
  6.10 LIGHT LEVELS
  6.11 SOUND LEVELS
  6.12 SIGNAGE
  6.13 ARCHITECTURE
 TABLE 6A BUILDING PLACEMENT 
 TABLE 6B BUILDING FORM - HEIGHT
 TABLE 6C BUILDING FORM - FRONTAGES
 TABLE 6D SIGNAGE
 TABLE 6E BUILDING FUNCTION
 TABLE 6F SPECIFIC FUNCTION  & USE

 CHAPTER 7 SUMMARY TABLES
 TABLE 7A SMARTCODE SUMMARY
 TABLE 7B SUMMARY OF T3
 TABLE 7C SUMMARY OF T4
 TABLE 7D SUMMARY OF T5
 TABLE 7E SUMMARY OF T6
 TABLE 7F SPECIAL DISTRICTS
  
 CHAPTER 8 DEFINITIONS OF TERMS
  8.1 DEFINITIONS
 TABLE 8A DEFINITIONS ILLUSTRATED

TABLE OF CONTENTS

  ADAPTED BY
  SANDY SORLIEN / SMARTCODE LOCAL &
  MICHAEL WATKINS ARCHITECT, LLC
  ILLUSTRATIONS BY DPZ & CO.
  FROM SMARTCODE V9.2



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC2

1.1  AUTHORITY
1.1.1 The action of Leander, Texas in the adoption of this Code is authorized under the 

City Charter of the City, Chp. 211 of the Local Government Code; Art. II, Sec. 5 of the 
Texas Constitution, and General Laws of the State of Texas.

1.1.2	 This	Unified	Development	Code	(“Code”),	as	land	development	regulation,	provid-
ing both zoning and subdivision standards, is adopted as one of the instruments of 
implementation of the public purposes and objectives of the Comprehensive Plan. 
This Code, the Sector Map, and the Transect Map are declared to be in accord with 
the Comprehensive Plan and ordinances of the City.

1.1.3 This Code, the Sector Map, and the Old Town and Station Transect Map were 
adopted by vote of the Leander City Council.

1.2  APPLICABILITY
1.2.1 This Code is the mandatory regulation for the area marked on the Sector Map as 

S1, S2, or S3 , with the exception of the S3 Old Town Sector where the Composite 
Zoning Ordinance is an option. If the SmartCode is selected, it shall become the 
sole and mandatory regulation for the property. 

1.2.2	 Provisions	of	this	Code	are	activated	by	“shall”	when	required;	“should”	when	rec-
ommended;	and	“may”	when	optional.		When recommended, compliance shall be 
required,	unless	an	alternative	is	approved	by	the	Planning	Director.

1.2.3	 The	provisions	of	this	Code,	when	in	conflict,	shall	take	precedence	over	those	of	
other codes, ordinances, regulations and standards of the City of Leander. 

1.2.4 The codes and ordinances of the City continue to be applicable to issues not covered 
by this Code except where those would contradict the Intent Section 1.3, in which 
case	the	conflict	would	be	resolved	in	favor	of	this	Code.

1.2.5 Words and terms used in this Code shall have the meaning given in Chapter 8, and 
if	not	defined	in	Chapter	8,	shall	take	their	commonly	accepted	meanings	when	used	
in	urban	planning.	In	the	event	of	conflicts	between	these	definitions	and	those	of	
other codes and ordinances of the City, those of this Code shall take precedence.

1.2.6 The metrics of the text standards and tables are an integral part of this Code. 
However, the diagrams and illustrations that accompany them shall be considered 
guidelines.

1.2.7	 Where	in	conflict,	numerical	metrics	shall	take	precedence	over	graphic	metrics.

1.3  INTENT 
 	The	intent	of	this	Code	is	to	enable,	encourage	and	qualify	the	implementation	of	

the following policies:
1.3.1  The AreA

 a. That the area should retain its natural infrastructure and visual character derived 
from topography, woodlands, farmlands, and riparian corridors.

	 b.	 That	growth	strategies	should	encourage	infill	and	redevelopment	in	parity	with	
new communities.

 c. That development should be structured in the neighborhood pattern and, if 
contiguous to urban areas, be integrated with the existing urban pattern. 

 d. That the pattern of development should respect historical precedents.
 e. That transportation corridors should be planned and reserved in coordination 

with land use and as directed by the CIP Roads and Major Street Network in 
the Transect Map.  

CHAPTER 1.  GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC3

	 f.	 That	green	corridors	and	flood	plain	should	be	used	to	define	and	connect	the	
neighborhoods within the Transect Map and the surrounding urbanized areas.

 g. That the area should include a framework of transit, pedestrian, and bicycle 
systems that provide alternatives to the automobile.

1.3.2 The CommuniTy
 a. That neighborhoods, including downtowns, should be compact, pedestrian-

oriented and mixed use. 
 b. That mixed-use neighborhoods, including downtowns, should be the preferred 

pattern of development, and that districts specializing in a single use should be 
the exception.

 c. That ordinary activities of daily living should occur within walking distance of 
most dwellings, allowing independence to those who do not drive. 

 d. That interconnected networks of thoroughfares should be designed to disperse 
traffic	and	reduce	the	length	of	automobile	trips.

 e. That within each pedestrian shed, a range of housing types and price levels 
should be provided to accommodate diverse ages and incomes.

 f. That appropriate building densities and land uses should be provided within 
walking distance of transit stops.

 g. That civic, institutional, and commercial activity should be embedded in neigh-
borhoods, including downtowns, not isolated in remote single-use complexes. 

 h. That schools should be sized and located to enable children to walk or bicycle to them.
	 i.	 That	a	range	of	open	space	including	parks,	squares,	and	playgrounds	should	

be distributed within neighborhoods, including downtowns. 
1.3.3 The BloCk And The Building

	 a.	 That	buildings	and	landscaping	should	contribute	to	the	physical	definition	of	
thoroughfares as civic places.

	 b.	 That	development	should	adequately	accommodate	automobiles	while	respect-
ing the pedestrian and the spatial form of public areas. 

 c. That the design of streets and buildings should reinforce safe environments 
and preserve accessibility.

 d. That landscape design should grow from local climate and topography, and that 
architecture should grow from local climate, topography, history, and building 
practice.

 e. That buildings should provide their inhabitants with a clear sense of geography 
and	climate	through	energy	efficient	methods.	

 f. That civic buildings and public gathering places should be provided as locations 
that reinforce community identity and support self-government.

 g. That civic buildings should be distinctive and appropriate to a role more important 
than the other buildings that constitute the fabric of the city.

 h. That the preservation and renewal of historic buildings should be facilitated, to 
affirm	the	continuity	and	evolution	of	society.

 i. That the harmonious and orderly evolution of urban areas should be secured 
by the use of this Code

 j. That an occupant should be entitled to all authorized functions delineated in 
this code for the applicable Transect Zone upon the approval of a PUD Plan 
and a Site Plan.

1.3.4 SeCTorS, CommuniTy uniTS, And The TrAnSeCT
	 a.	 That	Sector	designations	should	reflect	topographic	conditions,	existing	thor-

CHAPTER 1.  GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC4

oughfares and transit, existing development, and proximity to the rail station.
 b. That Community Unit types should vary from each other in composition and 

urban intensity to provide choices in living environments.
 c. That within Community Units, Transect Zones should provide choices in living 

environments as manifested by distinct physical character.
 d. That the Sector, Community Unit, and Transect Zone descriptions on Table 

1A, Table 1B, and Table 1C shall constitute the Intent of this Code with regard 
to the general character of each of these environments.

 e. That the Transect Zones are intended for mapping within Community Units, 
with the exception of T1 and T2, which may occur inside or outside Community 
Units. 

 f. That 20 years after the approval of each Transect Map or amendment to the 
Transect Map, the T3 Zone, T4 Zone, and T5 Zone shall be considered in a 
public process for succession to the next higher Transect Zone.

1.4  PROCESS 
1.4.1 generAl To All SeCTorS S1, S2, S3, Cd

 a. A Sector Map and a Transect Map delineating the location of certain Sectors and 
Transect Zones respectively, and the standards for each Sector and Transect 
Zone, have been determined through a process of consultation with stakehold-
ers, recommendations of the Planning and Zoning Commission, and adoption 
by the Leander City Council. Applications within the Traditional Development 
Sectors	of	 the	Sector	Map	 that	 require	no	Warrants	or	Exceptions,	or	only	
Warrants, shall be processed administratively without further recourse to public 
consultation as is consistent with State law and the City Charter, except for 
final	plat	approval	by	the	Planning	and	Zoning	Commission.		Any	information	
required	by	the	current	application	and	checklist	shall	apply.

 b. All development within the area covered by the Sector Map is zoned as a 
Planned	Unit	Development	(“PUD”).	The	Sector	Map,	including	any	approved	
Transect Zones, and this Code constitute the approved PUD plan.

 c. Amendments to the Sector Map or this Code shall follow the process for a 
zoning ordinance amendment as provided in the Composite Zoning Ordinance.

 d. The Planning Director shall advise on the use of this Code and aid in the design 
of the communities and buildings based on this Code.  

 e. The Planning Director, or another staff member appointed by the City Manager, 
shall have jurisdiction over any administrative process authorized under this 
Code.

 f. An applicant may appeal a decision of the Planning Director to the City Council.  
The City Manager or his or her designee shall provide a written recommenda-
tion to the City Council as the appeal is processed.

 g. Should a violation of an approved plan occur during construction, the Planning 
Director	may	require	the	owner	or	developer	to	stop,	remove,	and/or	mitigate	
the	violation,	or	require	the	owner	or	developer	to	secure	an	Exception	to	cover	
the violation.

1.4.2 SpeCifiC To TrAdiTionAl developmenT SeCTorS S1, S2, S3
 a. Owners of parcels regulated by a Traditional Development Sector on the Sec-

tor Map may submit Concept Plans for one or more Community Units, or for a 
Participating Parcel, as prescribed in Chapter 4.

CHAPTER 1.  GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC5

 b. Owners of lots already regulated by a Transect Map may submit Site Plans as 
prescribed	in	Chapter	6	or,	for	larger	areas,	Infill	plans	as	prescribed	in	Chapter	
5.

 c. An amendment to the Transect Map is the recorded result of an approved 
Community Plan.  Community Units are comprised of Transect Zones.  If a 
provision	of	 the	Sector	Map	or	Transect	Map	at	 its	boundary	conflicts	with	
plans	of	the	City	applicable	to	an	abutting	area,	the	conflict	will	be	reconciled	
by the City Council with preference given to the Sector Map or Transect Map 
and this Code.

	 d.	 Approval	of	a	Concept	Plan	 for	one	or	more	Community	Units	 that	 require	
Exceptions to this Code shall follow the process for a zoning ordinance amend-
ment as prescribed in the Composite Zoning Ordinance.

1.4.3 SpeCifiC To The ConvenTionAl developmenT SeCTor Cd
 a. Approval of a Concept Plan establishing the land uses and base zoning district(s) 

and development standards for all properties within the Conventional Develop-
ment	Sector	shall	follow	the	process	and	required	information	for	a	PUD	zoning	
ordinance	amendment	as	defined	in	the	Composite	Zoning	Ordinance.

 b. Upon approval of a Concept Plan within the Conventional Development Sec-
tor,	subsequent	development	approvals	shall	follow	the	requirements	of	the	
CD Development Standards and the Composite Zoning Ordinance for Site 
Development and the Subdivision Ordinance for Preliminary Plat, Construction 
Plans, and Final Plat.

1.5  VARIANCES 
1.5.1 There	 shall	 be	 two	 levels	 of	 Variance:	Warranted	Variances	 (“Warrants”)	 and	

Exceptional	Variances	(“Exceptions”).	Warrants may be granted administratively 
and Exceptions may be granted upon the approval of an Amended PUD Plan by 
the City Council, after it receives the recommendation of the Planning and Zoning 
Commission, or by the Board of Adjustment following the procedure for a Variance 
in the Composite Zoning Ordinance. 

1.5.2 A Warrant is a ruling that would permit a practice that is not consistent with a spe-
cific	provision	of	this	Code,	but	is	justified	by	the	provisions	of	Section	1.3	Intent.	
Regulations available for Warrants are listed in this Code. In addition, any metric 
(measurable) regulation is available for a Warrant.

1.5.3 Exceptions permit a practice that is not consistent with a provision nor the Intent of 
this Code (Section 1.3).

1.5.4	 The	request	for	an	Exception	shall	not	subject	the	entire	application	to	public	hear-
ing, but only that portion necessary to rule on the issue under consideration.

1.5.5	 Warrants	and	Exceptions	shall	be	considered	unique	and	shall	not	set	precedent	
for others.

 
1.6   INCENTIVES
1.6.1  To encourage development within the Traditional Development Sectors, the City 

Council authorizes the following incentives for the use of this Code, to the extent 
authorized by City Charter and State law:

	 a.	 Any	required	traffic	impact	analysis	shall	be	waived.
 b. Within Old Town, site development on four or fewer lots is exempt from road-

way	improvements	required	by	the	Roadway	Adequacy	ordinance,	but	shall	

CHAPTER 1.  GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC6

be	required	 to	comply	with	 the	right-of-way	dedication	 requirements	of	 that	
ordinance.

 c. Within Old Town, site development on four or fewer lots adjacent to a public 
alley	is	not	required	to	pave	the	alley.

 d. Within Old Town, parking lots for site development on four or fewer lots may 
use crushed granite with a concrete curb in lieu of a paved surface.

 e. Within Old Town, on individual lots that do not have a principal building, tem-
porary	buildings	that	meet	the	building	material	requirements	of	Chapter	6	are	
permitted for a period of up to two years.

1.7   ALTERNATIVE AND SAVINGS PROVISIONS  
1.7.1 Should any section or provision of this Code be declared by the Courts to be 

unconstitutional or invalid, such decision shall not affect the validity of the Code as 
a whole or any part thereof other than the part so declared to be unconstitutional 
or invalid.

CHAPTER 1.  GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC7

Traditional Development Sectors:
S1:		The	S1	General	Sector	has	relatively	flat	terrain	suitable	for	compact	villages	or	neigh-
borhoods connected to each other and Leander Station and/or Old Town by thoroughfares, 
including paths and trails.
S2:		The	S2	Station	Sector	has	relatively	flat	terrain	within	approximately	half-mile	of	the	
Leander Station, suitable for transit-oriented development.
S3:		The	S3	Old	Town	Sector	is	the	original	center	of	Leander.		The	terrain	is	flat	and	the	
development pattern is a compact small town with a center consisting of numerous civic 
and	commercial	buildings,	surrounded	by	houses.	The	Old	Town	Sector	is	suitable	for	infill	
development, urban succession, urban expansion, and pedestrian and bicycle connections 
to Leander Station.

Other:
CD: The CD Conventional Development Sector is mostly separated from the transit station 
and Old Town by major thoroughfares. Though it accommodates conventional single-use 
development, compact walkable villages and neighborhoods are also appropriate. 

TABLE 1A.  INTENT - SECTORS

OS OPEN SPACE
 

CD CONVENTIONAL
DEVELOPMENT
SECTOR:
SMARTCODE
OPTION

S1 GENERAL 
SECTOR  

S2 STATION 
SECTOR

S3 OLD TOWN 
SECTOR

CD CONVENTIONAL
DEVELOPMENT
SECTOR:
CZO OPTION

Table 1A:  Intent - Sectors.  This table provides descriptions of the general character of each Sector, as part of the Intent 
Section 1.3. The Community Units described on Table 1B are available for New Community planning within these Sectors, 
as prescribed in Chapter 2 and Chapter 4.



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC8

 TABLE 1B.  INTENT - COMMUNITY UNITS 

CommuniTy uniTS ConTAining TrAnSeCT ZoneS  

TND: A Traditional Neighborhood Development is a com-
plete village, small town, or neighborhood that has its own 
village	 center,	 town	 square,	 central	 plaza,	 or	 Main	 Street	
within walking distance of most residences. It provides a 
variety of residential types including single-family houses, 
duplexes, small apartment buildings, and, in the center, 
mixed-use buildings such as live-work units and shops, and 
civic buildings. It has playgrounds and other civic spaces 
scattered throughout the community.  It is usually 40 to 160 
acres with most of the land developed.

RCD: A Regional Center Development is a very urban town 
or city center with several blocks of Main Street functions 
within walking distance of most residences. Most of the 
buildings in the center of an RCD are mixed use with com-
mercial	on	the	ground	floor.	If	one-story	commercial	buildings	
are present, they are relatively high or have Western false 
fronts	 to	help	hold	 the	“outdoor	room”	of	 the	street	space.	
The RCD also provides several of the more urban dwelling 
types, including some houses on small lots, duplexes, town-
houses, apartment buildings, and, in the center, mixed-use 
buildings such as live-work units and apartments over com-
mercial. It has playgrounds and other civic spaces scattered 
throughout the community. It is oriented toward a train sta-
tion or other transit, and is usually 60 to 640 acres with most 
of the land developed.

CLD:  A Clustered Land Development, also known as a 
cluster or conservation development, is a compact rural 
settlement	with	 significant	 open	 land	 incorporated	 into	 its	
design. It is a small village or tiny town consisting of houses 
and a small center that consists of a general store, meet-
ing hall, church, and/or village green.  It is usually 20 to 60 
acres with half or less of the land developed.

Table 1B:  Intent - Community Units - This table provides descriptions of the general character of each Community Unit, 
as part of the Intent Section 1.3. 



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC9

TABLE 1C. INTENT - TRANSECT ZONES 

T1  NATURAL ZONE
 T1 Natural Zone consists of lands 

approximating or reverting to a wilder-
ness condition, including lands unsuit-
able for settlement due to topography, 
hydrology or vegetation.

 General Character: natural landscape with some agricultural use
 Building Placement:  n/a 
 Frontage Types:  n/a 
 Typical Building Height:  n/a  
 Civic Space Types:  parks, greenways
       Thoroughfare Types:     rural roads, highways, parkways, bikeways

T2  RURAL ZONE
 T2 Rural Zone consists of sparsely 

settled lands in open or cultivated states. 
These include woodland, agricultural 
land, grassland, and irrigable desert. 
Typical buildings are farmhouses, 
agricultural buildings, cabins, and villas.

 General Character: primarily agricultural with woodland & wetland and scattered buildings
 Building Placement:  variable setbacks    
 Frontage Types:  n/a 
 Typical Building Height:  1- to 2-story 
 Civic Space Types:  parks, greenways
      Thoroughfare Types:      roads, bikeways

T3  SUB-URBAN ZONE
 T3 Sub-Urban Zone consists of low 

density residential areas, adjacent to 
higher zones that have some mixed 
use. It has home occupations and 
outbuildings. Planting is naturalistic and 
setbacks are relatively deep. Blocks 
tend to be large and the roads irregular 
to accommodate natural conditions.

 General Character: landscaped yards surrounding detached houses; pedestrians occasion-
ally; naturalistic tree planting  

 Building Placement:  deep and variable front and side yard setbacks
 Frontage Types:  porches, fences, dooryards  
 Typical Building Height:  1- to 2-story 
 Civic Space Types:  parks, greens, greenways, playgrounds
      Thoroughfare Types:       roads, streets, avenues, bikeways

T4  GENERAL URBAN ZONE
 T4 General Urban Zone consists of a 

mixed use but primarily residential urban 
fabric. It includes a wide range of build-
ing types: detached, semi-detached, 
rowhouses, and small apartment 
buildings. Setbacks and landscaping 
are variable. Streets with curbs and 
sidewalks	define	medium-sized	blocks.

 General Character: mix of houses, townhouses & small apartment buildings, with scattered 
commercial activity; balance between landscape and buildings; presence 
of pedestrians 

 Building Placement:  shallow to medium front and side yard setbacks    
 Frontage Types:  porches, fences, dooryards 
 Typical Building Height:  1- to 3-story with a few taller apartment buildings 
 Civic Space Types: 	 squares	and	greens,	pocket	parks,	playgrounds			
      Thoroughfare Types:      streets, avenues, boulevards, bikeways

T5  URBAN CENTER ZONE
 T5 Urban Center Zone consists of 

higher density mixed use development 
that	accommodates	retail,	offices,	row-
houses, and apartments.  It has a tight 
network of streets, with wide sidewalks, 
steady street tree planting, and buildings 
set close to the sidewalks.

     General Character:	 Shops	with	apartments	and	office	above;		townhouses,	larger	apartment	
houses, live-works, and civic buildings; predominantly attached build-
ings; trees within the public right-of-way; substantial pedestrian activity, 
frequent	retail	frontages

 Building Placement:		 shallow	setbacks	or	none;	buildings	oriented	to	street	defining	a	street
 Frontage Types:  stoops, shopfronts, galleries 
 Typical Building Height:  2- to 4-story with some single story 
 Civic Space Types:		 plazas	and	squares,	pocket	parks,	playgrounds
      Thoroughfare Types:      streets, commercial streets, avenues, boulevards, bikeways

T6  URBAN CORE ZONE
 T6 Urban Core Zone consists of the 

highest density and height, with the 
greatest variety of uses, and civic build-
ings of regional importance. It tends to 
have larger blocks; streets have steady 
street tree planting, and buildings are set 
close to wide sidewalks. Typically only 
large towns and cities have an Urban 
Core Zone.

 General Character: medium to high-density mixed use buildings, entertainment, civic and 
cultural uses. Attached buildings forming continuous street wall; trees 
within public right-of-way; highest pedestrian and transit activity

 Building Placement: 	 	shallow	setbacks	or	none;	buildings	oriented	to	street,	defining	a	street
 Frontage Types:   stoops, forecourts, shopfronts, galleries and arcades
 Typical Building Height:  4-8 story with a few shorter buildings
 Civic Space Types:	 plazas	and	squares,	pocket	parks,	playgrounds
      Thoroughfare Types:       streets, commercial streets, avenues, boulevards, bikeways

Table 1C: Intent - Transect Zones. This table provides descriptions of the general character of each Transect Zone, as 
part of Intent Section 1.3. Transect Zones are intended for mapping within Community Units, with the exception of T1 and 
T2, which may occur inside or outside Community Units.



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC10

2.1  INSTRUCTIONS
2.1.1 This Chapter governs the interpretation of the Sector Map for all property in the S1, 

S2, S3, and CD Sectors. 
2.1.2 Sectors are comprised of open space and growth areas. Growth areas are intended 

for	 the	development	of	New	Communities,	prescribed	 in	Chapter	4,	or	 Infill	and	
Redevelopment, prescribed in Chapter 5.  Each Community Unit is comprised of 
Transect Zones, whose elements are prescribed in Chapter 6.

2.1.3 Upon approval of plans prepared according to Chapter 4 or Chapter 5, the Sector 
designation(s) for the plan area shall be replaced by the new Transect Zones. 

2.2  (S1) GENERAL SECTOR
2.2.1 The General Sector is assigned to the areas that can support mixed use because 

of their proximity to the Station Sector or proximity to the Old Town Sector, and their 
proximity to an existing or planned thoroughfare.

2.2.2 Within the General Sector, only communities in the pattern of Traditional Neighbor-
hood Development (TND) shall be permitted.

2.3  (S2) STATION SECTOR
2.3.1 The Station Sector is assigned to the approximate area within an average half-mile 

walk of the Leander rail station.  This area can support substantial mixed use because 
of its proximity to existing regional thoroughfares and transit. 

2.3.2 Within the Station Sector, only communities in the pattern of Regional Center 
Development (RCD) shall be permitted by right.  

2.4  (S3) OLD TOWN SECTOR
2.4.1 The Old Town Sector is mapped with Transect Zones for the existing urbanized 

center of Leander.  

2.5  (CD) CONVENTIONAL DEVELOPMENT SECTOR
2.5.1 Conventional Development designations are assigned to two types of areas:
 (a) locations adjacent to Highway 183A that are conducive to commercial and mixed 

use auto-oriented development patterns but not currently suitable for walkable pat-
terns.

 (b) edge locations that already have conventional auto-dependent residential devel-
opment	in	or	near	them,	or	have	been	identified	as	more	conducive	to	conventional	
development patterns.

2.5.2  The provisions of the CD Development Standards of this code, the Composite 
Zoning Ordinance, and the Subdivision Ordinance, as amended, shall apply to the 
CD Sector. 

2.5.3  As an option, developers may use this SmartCode to design communities in the 
pattern of Clustered Land Development (CLD) or Traditional Neighborhood Develop-
ment (TND) as provided in Article 4. If the SmartCode is elected, it shall be applied 
in its entirety for the CLD or TND, and not mixed with another code.

CHAPTER 2.  SECTOR STANDARDS



SC11

TABLE 2A.  SECTOR, COMMUNITY UNIT & TRANSECT ZONE ALLOCATION

TABLE 2A: Sector, Community Unit & Transect Zone Allocation.	 	Table	2A	 identifies	 the	conditions,	 including	both	
natural features and man-made infrastructure, that suggest areas suitable for preservation and/or development.  This table 
also	identifies	Community	Unit	types	of	various	intensities	that	are	appropriate	in	specific	Sectors,	and	allocates	ranges	of	
Transect Zones within each Community Unit.

ALREADY DEVELOPED AREAS

PROXIMITY TO MAJOR THOROUGHFARES 
AND TRANSIT

PROXIMITY TO TRANSIT OR OLD TOWN
PROXIMITY TO THOROUGHFARES

PROXIMITY TO HWY 183A
EDGE LOCATIONS

FLOOD PLAIN

LEGACY WOODLAND

LEGACY FARMLAND

LEGACY VIEWSHEDS

CLD RESIDUAL OPEN 
SPACES

SURFACE WATERBODIES

PROTECTED WETLANDS

PROTECTED HABITAT

RIPARIAN CORRIDORS

PURCHASED OPEN 
SPACE

CONSERV. EASEMENTS

LAND TRUST

TRANSPORT. COR-
RIDORS

◄ ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ►◄ --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ►◄ ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ►
(OPEN SPACE) (NEW COMMUNITIES) (OLD TOWN)

SECTORS OS OPEN SPACE
 

CD CONVENTIONAL DEVELOPMENT 
SECTOR

SMARTCODE OPTION

S1 GENERAL 
SECTOR  

S2 STATION
SECTOR

S3 OLD TOWN 
SECTOR

CD CD SECTOR
CZO OPTION

COMMUNITY 
UNITS CLD   OPTION TND   OPTION TND RCD

TR
AN

SE
CT

 Z
ON

E 
AL

LO
CA

TI
ON

 
W

IT
HI

N 
EA

CH
 C

OM
MU

NI
TY

 U
NI

T T1
50% MIN PERMITTED PERMITTED NOT PERMITTED

T2
T3 10 - 30% 10 - 30% 10 - 30% NOT PERMITTED VARIABLE

T4 20 - 40% 30 - 60% 30 - 60% 10 - 30% VARIABLE

T5 10 - 30% 10 - 30% 10 - 30% VARIABLE

T6 40 - 80%



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC12

3.1  INSTRUCTIONS
3.1.1 This Chapter applies to thoroughfares and Civic Zones. In both New Communities 

(Chapter	4)	and	Infill	(Chapter	5),	these	are	generally	mapped	after	determining	the	
locations of Transect Zones. 

3.1.2	 Thoroughfares	are	intended	for	use	by	vehicular,	bicycle,	and	pedestrian	traffic	to	
provide access to lots and Civic Spaces. Thoroughfares shall generally consist of 
Vehicular Lanes and Public Frontages.

3.1.3 Civic Spaces are intended primarily for use by pedestrians and bicyclists. 
3.1.4 Thoroughfares and Civic Spaces shall be designed in context with their Transect 

Zones. Thoroughfares shall be designed for the target speed of the Transect Zones 
through which they pass. The Public Frontages of thoroughfares that pass from 
one Transect Zone to another should be adjusted accordingly or, alternatively, the 
Transect Zone may follow the alignment of the thoroughfare to the depth of one lot, 
retaining a single Public Frontage throughout its trajectory. See Table 3D.

3.1.5 Within the more urban zones (T3, T4, T5, T6), pedestrian comfort shall be a primary 
consideration	of	the	thoroughfare.	Design	conflict	between	vehicular	and	pedestrian	
movement generally shall be decided in favor of the pedestrian. 

3.1.6 All new thoroughfares shall terminate at other thoroughfares, forming a network. Cul-
de-sacs, dead-ends, and hammerheads shall be subject to approval by Warrant to 
accommodate	specific	site	conditions	only.	Such	conditions	are	limited	to	impassable	
or uncrossable waterways, hillsides, or existing infrastructure blocking connection 
to another vehicular thoroughfare. Vehicular thoroughfares that cannot connect by 
virtue of the aforementioned site conditions  shall be connected to another vehicular 
thoroughfare by a bikeway, path, or trail.

3.1.7 Each lot shall enfront a vehicular thoroughfare or Civic Space, except that 20% of 
the lots within each Transect Zone may enfront a pedestrian passage. Lots that 
enfront more than one vehicular thoroughfare, Civic Space, or pedestrian passage 
shall comply with the Private Frontage Standards of Table 6C on each frontage. 

3.1.8 On a Preliminary Plat, B-Streets may be designated that are exempted by Warrant 
from	one	or	more	of	the	specified	Public	Frontage	or	Private	Frontage	requirements.	
See	Chapter	4	Special	Requirements.

3.1.9 A bikeway network consisting of Bicycle Trails, Bicycle Routes and Bicycle Lanes 
should be provided throughout the community. The community bicycle network should 
be connected to existing or proposed regional networks wherever possible.

3.1.10 Dimensions and details for paths and bikeways shall be approved by Warrant.
3.1.11 Within Special Districts, the standards for thoroughfares and Civic Spaces shall be   

determined by Exception.
3.1.12	 Rear	Alleys	shall	be	required	in	New	Communities	in	T4,	T5,	and	T6,	with	Rear	Lanes	

also permitted in T4.
3.1.13 Stormwater management on thoroughfares shall be accomplished primarily through 

pipes	or	infiltration,	by	retention	or	detention	in	vegetated	swales	or	tree	trenches	in	
the public frontage or median, and/or by channeling with raised curbs, as appropriate 
to the thoroughfare type.

3.1.14 Stormwater management on thoroughfares and lots shall be accomplished primarily 
through underground drainage channeled by raised curbs. There shall be no retention 
or	detention	required	on	the	individual	lots	unless	regional	options	are	unavailable.		If	
regional	options	are	unavailable,	temporary	detention	and	retention	may	be	required.	

CHAPTER 3.  THOROUGHFARES & CIVIC SPACES



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC13

3.2 THOROUGHFARES - VEHICULAR LANES
3.2.1 generAl To All ZoneS T1, T2, T3, T4, T5, T6

a. Thoroughfares may include vehicular lanes in a variety of widths for moving and 
for parked vehicles, and bicycles.  Vehicular Lane elements are provided on Table 
3B and Table 3C and are available by right. Complete new assemblies (Vehicular 
Lanes and Public Frontage) created from Table 3B, Table 3C, Table 3D, and/or 
Table 3E are subject to review by Warrant.

b.	 Retrofit	 of	 existing	 lanes	may	be	 accomplished	 by	 restriping,	 changing	 one-
way thoroughfares to two-way, reducing turning radii, adding on-street parking, 
changing parallel parking to diagonal, and/or removing pavement width by adding 
bioretention areas or planting strips.

3.3 THOROUGHFARES - PUBLIC FRONTAGES
3.3.1 generAl To All ZoneS T1, T2, T3, T4, T5, T6

a. The Public Frontage contributes to the character of the Transect Zone, and 
includes the types of bikeways, curbs, planters, street trees, and sidewalks. 

b. Public Frontage elements are provided on Table 3D and Table 3E and are avail-
able by right. Complete new assemblies (Vehicular Lanes and Public Frontage) 
created from Table 3B, Table 3C, Table 3D, and/or Table 3E are subject to review 
by Warrant.

c. Within the Public Frontages, the prescribed types of Public Planting and Public 
Lighting shall be as shown in Table 4C, Table 4D, Table 4G and Table 4H. The 
spacing	may	be	adjusted	by	Warrant	to	accommodate	specific	site	conditions.

d.		Retrofit	of	existing	thoroughfares	may	be	accomplished	in	the	Public	Frontage	by	
widening sidewalks, adding trees, and/or adding bioretention areas or planting 
strips. See Table 4G Thoroughfare Assemblies.

3.3.2 SpeCifiC To ZoneS T1, T2, T3
a. The Public Frontage shall include trees of various species, naturalistically clus-

tered, as well as understory.  
b.	 The	 introduced	 landscape	 shall	 consist	 primarily	 of	 native	 species	 requiring	

minimal irrigation, fertilization and maintenance, and depressed planting areas 
that	can	provide	rainwater	infiltration	where	useful.

3.3.3 SpeCifiC To Zone T4
a. The Public Frontage shall include trees planted in a regularly-spaced allee pattern 

of single or alternated species with shade canopies of a height that, at maturity, 
clears at least one story.

b.	 Planting	strips	and	medians	should	be	depressed	to	facilitate	rainwater	infiltration.
3.3.4 SpeCifiC To ZoneS T4, T5, T6

a. The introduced landscape shall consist primarily of durable species tolerant of 
soil compaction.

3.3.5 SpeCifiC To ZoneS T5, T6
a. The Public Frontage shall include trees planted in a regularly-spaced allee pattern 

with shade canopies of a height that, at maturity, clears at least one story. At retail 
frontages, the spacing of the trees may be irregular, to avoid visually obscuring 
the shopfronts.

CHAPTER 3.  THOROUGHFARES & CIVIC SPACES



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC14

3.4 CIVIC ZONES   

3.4.1 generAl
a.	 Civic	Zones	dedicated	for	public	use	shall	be	required	for	each	Community	Unit	

and designated on the Transect Map as Civic Space (CS), Civic Building (CB), 
or more generally Civic Zone (CZ).

b. A Civic Zone may be permitted by Warrant if it does not occupy more than 20% 
of a Pedestrian Shed, otherwise it is subject to the creation of a Special District. 
See Section 3.5.

c. Any single Civic Space large enough to fall under a Special District designation, 
and/or wholly or partially within an area already designated as parkland on the 
City Parks, Recreation & Open Space Master Plan, shall be considered in a public 
process per Section 61 Park Land Dedication and Park Improvements section of 
the Subdivision Ordinance.

d.	 The	Civic	Space	requirements	of	this	Code	shall	satisfy	the	requirement	for	the	
dedication of parkland pursuant to the Park Land Dedication and Park Improve-
ments section of the Subdivision Ordinance, but park improvement fees as 
required	therein	shall	still	apply.

e.	 Right-of-way	for	all	Primary	and	Secondary	Trails	identified		on	the	Transportation	
Plan	are	required	to	be	dedicated	as	Civic	Space.

3.4.2 CiviC SpACe (CS) generAl To ZoneS T3, T4, T5, T6 
a. Civic Spaces shall be assigned to a minimum of 5% cumulatively of the area of 

each Community Unit.
b. Any new Civic Spaces shall be designed in context with Transect Zones as gener-

ally described in Table 3F and approved by the Planning Director. 
c. Each Pedestrian Shed shall contain one main Civic Space at minimum. The main 

Civic Space shall be within 800 feet of the geographic center of each Pedestrian 
Shed, unless topographic conditions, pre-existing thoroughfare alignments or 
other circumstances prevent such location. 

d.	 A	Civic	Space	designed	and	equipped	as	a	playground	shall	be	provided	within	
800 feet of 75% minimum of the residential units within the Pedestrian Shed.

e. Each Civic Space shall have 50% minimum of its perimeter enfronting a thor-
oughfare, except for playgrounds and pocket parks.

f. Civic Spaces may be permitted within Special Districts by Warrant.

3.5 CIVIC SPACE SPECIAL DISTRICTS (SD) 
3.5.1 Special District designations shall be assigned to Civic Spaces that, by their intrinsic 

size,	function,	or	form,	cannot	conform	to	the	requirements	of	their Transect Zone(s).

CHAPTER 3.  THOROUGHFARES & CIVIC SPACES



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC15

Table 3A:  Thoroughfare Assemblies.  The assemblies of Table 3A are pre-approved and may be used in New Com-
munities	or	for	Infill	&	Redevelopment	by	right.		Changes	to	these	assemblies	are	subject	to	review	by	Warrant.		The	first	
two	letters	designate	the	thoroughfare	type.		The	second	two	designate	the	Right-Of-Way	width.		The	final	two	numbers	
designate the paving width from curb to curb (inside face). 

KEY ST-57-20
Thoroughfare Type
Right of Way Width
Pavement Width

THOROUGHFARE TYPES
Rear Lane:  RL
Rear Alley:  RA
Road:   RD
Street:   ST
Commercial Street:  CS
Avenue:   AV
Boulevard:  BV
Drive:   DR
Path:   PT
Passage:  PS

RL-24-12 RA-24-24
Thoroughfare Type Rear Lane Rear Alley

Transect Zone Assignment T3, T4 T4, T5, T6
Right-of-Way Width 24 feet 24 feet 

Pavement Width 12 feet 24 feet
Movement Yield Movement Slow Movement

Design Speed 10 MPH 10 MPH
Traffic	Lanes n/a n/a

Parking Lanes None None
Pavement  Radius Taper Taper

Walkway Type None None
Planter Type None None

 Curb Type Inverted Crown Inverted Crown or Roll Curb at Edges
Planting Type None None

TABLE 3A. THOROUGHFARE ASSEMBLIES



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC16

KEY ST-57-20
Thoroughfare Type
Right of Way Width
Pavement Width

Rear Lane:  RL
Rear Alley:  RA
Road:   RD
Street:   ST
Commercial Street:  CS
Avenue:   AV
Boulevard:  BV
Drive:   DR
Path:   PT
Passage:  PS

RD-50-14 RD-50-18
Thoroughfare Type Road Road

Transect Zone Assignment T1, T2, T3 T1, T2, T3
Right-of-Way Width 50 feet 50 feet 

Pavement Width 14 feet 18 feet
Movement Yield Movement Slow Movement

Design Speed 15 MPH 15 MPH
Traffic	Lanes 2 lanes 2 lanes

Parking Lanes None None
Pavement  Radius 25 feet 25 feet

Walkway Type Path optional Path optional
Planter Type Continuous Swale Continuous Swale

 Curb Type Swale  Swale 
Planting Type Trees clustered Trees clustered 

TABLE 3A. THOROUGHFARE ASSEMBLIES (CONT.)



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC17

KEY ST-57-20
Thoroughfare Type
Right of Way Width
Pavement Width

Rear Lane:  RL
Rear Alley:  RA
Road:   RD
Street:   ST
Commercial Street:  CS
Avenue:   AV
Boulevard:  BV
Drive:   DR
Path:   PT
Passage:  PS

ST-40-19 ST-50-26
Thoroughfare Type  Street  Street

Transect Zone Assignment T5, T6 T4, T5, T6
Right-of-Way Width 40 feet 50 feet

Pavement Width 19 feet 26 feet
Movement Slow Movement Free Movement

Design Speed 20 MPH 20 MPH
Traffic	Lanes 1 lane, one way 2 lanes

Parking Lanes One side @ 7 feet marked One side @ 8 feet marked
Pavement  Radius 15 feet 10 feet

Walkway Type 13/8 foot Sidewalk 5 foot Sidewalk
Planter Type 4x4 tree well 7 foot continuous Planter

 Curb Type Curb Curb
Planting Type Trees at 30 feet o.c. Avg. Trees at 30 feet o.c. Avg.

TABLE 3A. THOROUGHFARE ASSEMBLIES (CONT.)



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC18

KEY ST-57-20
Thoroughfare Type
Right of Way Width
Pavement Width

Rear Lane:  RL
Rear Alley:  RA
Road:   RD
Street:   ST
Commercial Street:  CS
Avenue:   AV
Boulevard:  BV
Drive:   DR
Path:   PT
Passage:  PS

ST-50-28 ST-52-32
Thoroughfare Type  Street  Street

Transect Zone Assignment T4, T5, T6 T3, T4
Right-of-Way Width 50 feet 52 feet 

Pavement Width 28 feet 32 feet
Movement Yield Movement Slow Movement

Design Speed 20 MPH 20 MPH
Traffic	Lanes 2 lane 2 lanes

Parking Lanes Both sides @ 8 feet unmarked Both sides @ 7 feet unmarked
Pavement  Radius 10 feet 10 feet

Walkway Type 5 foot Sidewalk  5 foot Sidewalk
Planter Type 6 foot continuous Planter 5 foot continuous Planter

 Curb Type Curb Curb
Planting Type Trees at 30 feet o.c. Avg. Trees at 30 feet o.c. Avg.

28 18

52

TABLE 3A. THOROUGHFARE ASSEMBLIES (CONT.)



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC19

KEY ST-57-20
Thoroughfare Type
Right of Way Width
Pavement Width

Rear Lane:  RL
Rear Alley:  RA
Road:   RD
Street:   ST
Commercial Street:  CS
Avenue:   AV
Boulevard:  BV
Drive:   DR
Path:   PT
Passage:  PS

ST-60-34 CS-50-22
Thoroughfare Type Street Commercial Street

Transect Zone Assignment T3, T4, T5 T5, T6
Right-of-Way Width 60 feet 50 feet

Pavement Width 34 feet 22 feet
Movement Slow Movement Slow Movement

Design Speed 20 MPH 20 MPH
Traffic	Lanes 2 lanes 1 lane, one way

Parking Lanes  Both Sides @ 7 feet marked One side @ 8 feet marked
Pavement  Radius 15 feet 15 feet

Walkway Type 6 foot Sidewalk 18/10 foot Sidewalk
Planter Type 7 foot continuous Planter 4x4 tree well

 Curb Type Curb Curb
Planting Type Trees at 30 feet o.c. Avg. Trees at 30 feet o.c. Avg.

TABLE 3A. THOROUGHFARE ASSEMBLIES (CONT.)



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC20

KEY ST-57-20
Thoroughfare Type
Right of Way Width
Pavement Width

Rear Lane:  RL
Rear Alley:  RA
Road:   RD
Street:   ST
Commercial Street:  CS
Avenue:   AV
Boulevard:  BV
Drive:   DR
Path:   PT
Passage:  PS

CS-55-29 CS-60-34
Thoroughfare Type Commercial Street Commercial Street

Transect Zone Assignment T5, T6 T5, T6
Right-of-Way Width 55 feet 60 feet

Pavement Width 29 feet 34 feet
Movement Slow Movement Slow Movement

Design Speed 20 MPH 20 MPH
Traffic	Lanes 1 lane, one way 2 lanes

Parking Lanes Both sides @ 7 feet marked Both sides @ 7 feet marked
Pavement  Radius 15 feet 10 feet

Walkway Type 13 foot Sidewalk 13 foot Sidewalk
Planter Type 4x4 tree well 4x4 tree well

 Curb Type Curb Curb
Planting Type Trees at 30 feet o.c. Avg. Trees at 30 feet o.c. Avg.

TABLE 3A. THOROUGHFARE ASSEMBLIES (CONT.)



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC21

KEY ST-57-20
Thoroughfare Type
Right of Way Width
Pavement Width

Rear Lane:  RL
Rear Alley:  RA
Road:   RD
Street:   ST
Commercial Street:  CS
Avenue:   AV
Boulevard:  BV
Drive:   DR
Path:   PT
Passage:  PS

CS-80-54 AV-75-40
Thoroughfare Type Commercial Street Avenue

Transect Zone Assignment T5, T6 T3, T4, T5
Right-of-Way Width 80 feet 75 feet 

Pavement Width 54 feet 40 feet total
Movement Slow Movement Slow Movement

Design Speed 25 MPH 25 MPH
Traffic	Lanes 2 lanes 2 lanes

Parking Lanes Both sides angled @ 17 feet marked  Both sides @ 8 feet marked
Pavement  Radius 10 feet 10 feet

Walkway Type 13 foot Sidewalk 6 foot Sidewalk
Planter Type 4x4 tree well 7 foot continuous Planter

 Curb Type Curb Curb or Swale 
Planting Type Trees at 30 feet o.c. Avg. Trees at 30 feet o.c. Avg.

TABLE 3A. THOROUGHFARE ASSEMBLIES (CONT.)

*	Alternatively,	“front-in”	diagonal	parking	
with 12’ travel lanes may be used.

* *



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC22

KEY ST-57-20
Thoroughfare Type
Right of Way Width
Pavement Width

Rear Lane:  RL
Rear Alley:  RA
Road:   RD
Street:   ST
Commercial Street:  CS
Avenue:   AV
Boulevard:  BV
Drive:   DR
Path:   PT
Passage:  PS

AV-90-56 BV-115-33
Thoroughfare Type Avenue Boulevard

Transect Zone Assignment T3, T4, T5 T5, T6
Right-of-Way Width 90 feet 115 feet

Pavement Width 56 feet total 20 feet - 33 feet - 20 feet
Movement Slow Movement Free Movement (inner lanes)

Design Speed 25 MPH 35 MPH
Traffic	Lanes 4 lanes 3 lanes, one turning lane & two one-way slip roads

Parking Lanes  Both sides @ 8 feet marked 8 feet
Pavement  Radius 10 feet 10 feet

Walkway Type 6 foot Sidewalk 6 foot Sidewalk
Planter Type 7 foot continuous Planter 7 foot continuous Planter

 Curb Type Curb or Swale Curb
Planting Type Trees at 30 feet o.c. Avg. Trees at 30 feet o.c. Avg.

10 1010 10 10 10 1111118 81212

TABLE 3A . THOROUGHFARE ASSEMBLIES (CONT.)



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC23

KEY ST-57-20
Thoroughfare Type
Right of Way Width
Pavement Width

Rear Lane:  RL
Rear Alley:  RA
Road:   RD
Street:   ST
Commercial Street:  CS
Avenue:   AV
Boulevard:  BV
Drive:   DR
Path:   PT
Passage:  PS

BV-126-44 BV-135-33
Thoroughfare Type Boulevard Boulevard

Transect Zone Assignment T5, T6 T5, T6
Right-of-Way Width 126 feet 135 feet

Pavement Width 20 feet - 44 feet - 20 feet 30 feet - 33 feet - 30 feet
Movement Free Movement (inner lanes) Free Movement

Design Speed 35 MPH 35 MPH
Traffic	Lanes 4 lanes & two one-way slip roads 3 lanes, one turning lane & two one-way slip roads

Parking Lanes 8 feet 8 feet
Pavement  Radius 10 feet 10 feet

Walkway Type 6 foot Sidewalk 6 foot Sidewalk
Planter Type 7 foot continuous Planter 7 foot continuous Planter

 Curb Type Curb Curb
Planting Type Trees at 30 feet o.c. Avg. Trees at 30 feet o.c. Avg.

8128128 11 11 11 11

126

1111118 814 8 814

TABLE 3A .THOROUGHFARE ASSEMBLIES (CONT.)



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC24
© Mike Lydon and Zachary ade Lson 2010 

KEY          ST-57-20-BL
Thoroughfare Type

Right of Way Width

Pavement Width

Transportation

THOROUGHFARE TYPES
Rear Lane:  RL
Rear Alley:  RA
Road:   RD
Street:   ST
Commercial Street:  CS
Avenue:   AV
Boulevard:  BV
Drive:   DR
Path:   PT
Passage:  PS
BIKEWAY TYPES
Bicycle Trail (Shared Use): BT
Bicycle Path (Shared Use):  BP
Bicycle Lane:  BL
   Conventional                     BLC 
   Buffered  BLB
   Buffered - Two-Way BLB2
   Physically Separated BLP
   Shoulder  BLS
   With Bicycle Box BLX
Shared Vehicular Lane: SL
Bicycle Boulevard: BB

ASSEMBLY DESIGNATION AV-84-56-BLX CS-104-76-BLB
Thoroughfare Type Avenue with Bicycle Lane with Bicycle Box Commercial Street with Buffered Bicycle Lanes
Right-of-Way Width 84 feet 104 feet

Pavement Width 56 feet 76 feet
Transect Zone Assignment (retrofit)	T3,	T4,	T5 (retrofit)	T5,	T6

PUBLIC FRONTAGE

Drainage Type  4" raised Curb 4" raised Curb
Turning Radius 10 feet. 10 feet
Walkway Type 14 foot Sidewalk both sides 14 foot Sidewalk both sides

Planter Type 6 foot tree wells 6 foot tree wells
Landscape Type trees at 30 feet o.c. avg. tree wells 30' o.c. avg.

Median Width 10 feet. n/a

VEHICULAR LANES

Traffic	Lane	Width 10 feet, turn lane 10 feet 10 feet
Parking Lane Width both sides @ 8 feet marked both sides @ 7 feet marked

Design Speed 35 mph above 35 mph
Pedestrian Crossing Time 16 seconds 24 seconds

BIKEWAY TYPE BLX - Bicycle Lane with Bicycle Box BLB - Buffered Bicycle Lane

 Riding Surface Width 5 feet with 14' deep box 5 feet with 4' striped buffer and 2' Shy Zone
Movement with	traffic with	traffic

Intersection Treatment signalized, Bicycle Box signalized, Peg-a-Track, colored, Bicycle Box, Bicycle Inductor Loops

Bicycle Parking rack, Bicycle Shelter, Bicycle Locker, Bicycle Station rack, Bicycle Shelter, Bicycle Locker, Bicycle Station

TRANSITWAY TYPE None None

TABLE 3A. THOROUGHFARE ASSEMBLIES (CONT.)



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC25
© Mike Lydon and Zachary adeLson 2010 

KEY          ST-57-20-BL
Thoroughfare Type

Right of Way Width

Pavement Width

Transportation

THOROUGHFARE TYPES
Rear Lane:  RL
Rear Alley:  RA
Road:   RD
Street:   ST
Commercial Street:  CS
Avenue:   AV
Boulevard:  BV
Drive:   DR
Path:   PT
Passage:  PS
BIKEWAY TYPES
Bicycle Trail (Shared Use): BT
Bicycle Path (Shared Use):  BP
Bicycle Lane:  BL
   Conventional                     BLC 
   Buffered  BLB
   Buffered - Two-Way BLB2
   Physically Separated BLP
   Shoulder  BLS
   With Bicycle Box BLX
Shared Vehicular Lane: SL
Bicycle Boulevard: BB

ASSEMBLY DESIGNATION CS-98-70-BLP DR-68-40-BLB2
Thoroughfare Type Commercial Street with Physically-Sep. Bicycle Lane Drive with 2-Way Buffered Bicycle Lane
Right-of-Way Width 98 feet 68 feet

Pavement Width 70 feet 40 feet
Transect Zone Assignment (retrofit)	T5,	T6 (retrofit)	T4,	T5,	T6

PUBLIC FRONTAGE

Drainage Type  4" raised Curb 4" raised Curb
Turning Radius 10 feet. 10 feet
Walkway Type 14 foot Sidewalk both sides 14 foot Sidewalk both sides

Planter Type 6 foot tree wells 6 foot tree wells
Landscape Type trees at 30 feet o.c. avg. tree wells 30' o.c. avg

Median Width n/a n/a

VEHICULAR LANES

Traffic	Lane	Width 10 feet 10 feet
Parking Lane Width both sides @ 7 feet marked one side @ 7 feet marked

Design Speed 35 mph 30 mph
Pedestrian Crossing Time 20 seconds 12 seconds

BIKEWAY TYPE BLP - Physically-Separated Bicycle Lane (Cycle Track) BLB2 - Two-Way Buffered Bicycle Lane

 Riding Surface Width 6 feet with 2 ft barrier 5 feet each way with 3 ft striped buffer
Movement with	traffic dual direction

Intersection Treatment signalized, Peg-a-Track, colored signalized, Peg-a-Track, colored,Bicycle Box, Bicycle Inductor Loops

Bicycle Parking rack, Bicycle Shelter, Bicycle Locker, Bicycle Station rack, Bicycle Shelter, Bicycle Locker, Bicycle Station

TRANSITWAY TYPE None None

TABLE 3A. THOROUGHFARE ASSEMBLIES (CONT.)



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC26

DESIGN SPEED TRAVEL LANE WIDTH T1 T2 T3 T4 T5 T6 										▪ BY RIGHT

Below 20 mph 8 feet ▪ ▪ ▪ ▫ 										▫	BY WARRANT
20-25 mph 9 feet ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▫ ▫
25-35 mph 10 feet ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪
25-35 mph 11 feet ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪

Above 35 mph 12 feet ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪
DESIGN SPEED PARKING LANE WIDTH 

20-25 mph (Angle ) 18 feet ▪ ▪
20-25 mph (Parallel) 7 feet ▪
25-35 mph (Parallel) 8 feet ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪

Above 35 mph (Parallel) 9 feet ▪ ▪
DESIGN SPEED EFFECTIVE TURNING RADIUS (SEE TABLE 8A)

Below 20 mph 5-10 feet ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪
20-25 mph 10-15 feet ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪
25-35 mph 15-20 feet ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪

Above 35 mph 20-30 feet ▪ ▪ ▫ ▫

TABLE 3B. VEHICULAR LANE DIMENSIONS

Table 3B:  Vehicular Lane Dimensions.  This table provides information for the design of Thoroughfare Assemblies, if 
any are needed to supplement Table 3A.  Appropriate lane widths for desired vehicle speeds are assigned by Transect 
Zone.  The desired vehicle speed in a given context is known as the Design Speed, which may be different from the posted 
speed limit.  Complete new assemblies (Vehicular Lanes and Public Frontage) created from Table 3B, Table 3C, Table 3D, 
and/or	Table	3E	are	subject	to	review	by	Warrant.	Specific	requirements	for	trucks	and	buses	shall	be	decided	by	Warrant.
 



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC27

TABLE 3C. VEHICULAR LANE & PARKING ASSEMBLIES

ONE WAY TWO WAY

 a.                  NO
PARKING

T1  T2  T3 T1  T2  T3 T1  T2  T3 T1  T2 T1  T2

Design ADT
Design Speed

300 VPD
20 - 30 MPH

600 VPD 
Below 20 MPH

 2,500 VPD 
20-25 MPH

22,000 VPD 
35 MPH and above

36,000 VPD 
35 MPH and above

b.        YIELD
PARKING

T3  T4 T3  T4

Design ADT
Design Speed

 1,000 VPD 
Below 20 MPH

1,000 VPD 
Below 20 MPH

c.  PARKING
ONE SIDE

PARALLEL

T3  T4  T3  T4  T5 T4  T5 T4  T5  T6 T5  T6

Design ADT
Design Speed

 5,000 VPD 
20-30 MPH

 18,000 VPD 
20-30 MPH

16,000 VPD 
25-30 MPH

15,000 VPD 
25-30 MPH

32,000 VPD 

d.  PARKING 
BOTH SIDES

PARALLEL

T4 T4  T5  T6 T4  T5  T6 T5  T6 T5  T6

Design ADT
Design Speed

8,000 VPD 
Below 20 MPH

 20,000 VPD 
25-30 MPH

15,000 VPD 
25-30 MPH

22,000 VPD
25-30 MPH

32,000 VPD 
35 MPH and above

e.  PARKING 
BOTH SIDES

DIAGONAL

T5  T6 T5  T6 T5  T6 T5  T6 T5  T6

Design ADT
Design Speed

18,000 VPD 
Below 20 MPH

 20,000 VPD 
20-25 MPH

15,000 VPD 
20-25 MPH

22,000 VPD 
25-30 MPH

31,000 VPD 
25-30 MPH

Table 3C:  Vehicular Lane/Parking Assemblies.  This table provides elements of Thoroughfare Assemblies, if any are 
needed to supplement Table 3A.  Projected design speeds determine the lane widths and turning radii for different Transect 
Zones.  Complete new assemblies (Vehicular Lanes and Public Frontage) created from Table 3B, Table 3C, Table 3D, and/
or Table 3E are subject to review by Warrant.
  



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC28

TABLE 3D. PUBLIC FRONTAGES - GENERAL

LOT   
PRIVATE FRONTAGE 

►
►

◄
◄

R.O.W.
PUBLIC FRONTAGE

a. Highway (HW):  this frontage has no parking, open swales drained by percolation, landscaping that 
consists of the natural condition or trees of multiple species arrayed in naturalistic clusters, bicycle trails, 
and buildings are buffered by distance or berms. 

T1
T2
T3

b. Road (RD):  this frontage has parallel parking in T3, open swales drained by percolation, landscaping 
that consists of trees of multiple species arrayed in naturalistic clusters, and may have a walking path or 
bicycle trail along one or both sides.

T1
T2
T3

c. Street (ST):  this frontage has parking on one or both sides, raised curbs drained by inlets, individual or 
continuous planters, landscaping that consists of street trees of a single or alternating species aligned in 
a regularly spaced allee, with the exception that streets with a right-of-way (R.O.W.) width of 40 feet or 
less	are	exempt	from	tree	requirements,	and	sidewalks.

T3
T4
T5

d. Drive (DR):  this frontage has raised curbs drained by inlets, individual or continuous planters, landscaping 
that consists of street trees of a single or alternating species aligned in a regularly spaced allee, and a 
wide sidewalk or paved path along one side, related to a greenway or waterfront.

T3
T4
T5
T6

e. Avenue (AV):  this frontage has parking on both sides, raised curbs drained by inlets, a narrow continuous 
planter, landscaping that consists of a single tree species aligned in a regularly spaced allee, and wide 
sidewalks. 

T3
T4
T5
T6

f. Commercial Street or Avenue (CS) (AV):  this frontage has parking on both sides, raised curbs drained 
by inlets, separate tree wells with grates, landscaping that consists of a single tree species aligned with 
regular spacing where possible, adjusted for shopfront entrances, and very wide sidewalks along both 
sides.

T5
T6

g. Boulevard (BV):  this frontage has side drives on both sides, raised curbs drained by inlets, planters, 
landscaping that consists of double rows of a single tree species aligned in a regularly spaced allee, and 
sidewalks along both sides.

T3
T4
T5
T6

Table 3D:  Public Frontages - General. The Public Frontage is the area between the private lot line and the edge of the 
vehicular lanes. This table provides information for the design Thoroughfare Assemblies, if any are needed to supplement 
Table 3A, as well as support for the Table 3A assemblies, where dimensions are given. Complete new assemblies (Public 
Frontage and Vehicular Lanes) created from Table 3B, Table 3C, Table 3D, and/or Table 3E are subject to review by War-
rant.



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC29

TRANSECT ZONE
Public Frontage Type

T1  T2  T3
HW & RD

T1  T2  T3
RD & ST

T3  T4
ST, DR & AV

T4  T5
ST, DR, AV & BV

T5  T6
CS, DR, AV & BV

T5  T6
CS, DR, AV & BV

a. Assembly
The principal variables are the 
type and dimension of Curbs, 
Walkways, Planters,  Land-
scape and Lighting.

Total Width 16-24 feet 12-24 feet 12-18 feet 12-18 feet 18-24 feet 18-30 feet

b. Curb
The detailing of the edge 
of the vehicular pavement, 
incorporating drainage.

 Type 
Pavement Radius

 Open Swale
10-30 feet

Open Swale 
10-30 feet

Raised Curb
5-20 feet

Raised Curb
5-20 feet

Raised Curb
5-20 feet

Raised Curb
5-20 feet

c. Walkway
The surface dedicated exclu-
sively to pedestrian activity.

 Type
Width

Path Optional 
n/a

Path 
4-8 feet

Sidewalk 
4-8 feet

Sidewalk 
4-8 feet

Sidewalk 
12-20 feet

Sidewalk 
12-30 feet

d. Planter
The layer that accommodates 
trees and other landscape.

Arrangement
Species

Planter Type
Planter Width

 Clustered 
Multiple

Continuous Swale
8-16 feet

 Clustered
Multiple

Continuous Swale
8-16 feet

 Regular 
Alternating

Continuous Planter
8-12 feet

 Regular 
Single

Continuous Planter
8-12 feet

Regular 
Single

Continuous Planter
4-6 feet

 Opportunistic
Single

Tree Well
4-6 feet

e. Public Planting
 

 See Table 3G  See Table 3G See Table 3G

f. Public Lighting
   

See Table 3H See Table 3H See Table 3H

TABLE 3E. PUBLIC FRONTAGES - SPECIFIC

Table 3E:  Public Frontages - Specific.  This table provides elements of future Thoroughfare Assemblies, if any are needed 
to supplement Table 3A. It illustrates types and dimensions for Curbs, Walkways, and Planters. Row (a.) assembles the 
elements pictured in the rows below it. Complete new assemblies (Vehicular Lanes and Public Frontage) created from Table 
3B, Table 3C, Table 3D, and/or Table 3E are subject to review by Warrant.



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC30

a. Park:  a natural preserve available for unstructured recreation. A park may be independent of sur-
rounding building frontages. Its landscape shall consist of paths and trails, meadows, waterbodies, 
woodland and open shelters, all naturalistically disposed. Parks may be lineal greenways, following the 
trajectories of natural corridors. The minimum size shall be 8 acres. Larger parks may be considered 
as Special Districts by Warrant in all zones.

b. Green: 	an	open	space	available	for	unstructured	recreation.	A	green	may	be	spatially	defined	by	
landscaping rather than building frontages. Its landscape shall consist of lawn and trees, naturalisti-
cally disposed. The minimum size shall be 1/2 acre and the maximum shall be 8 acres. 

c. Square:		an	open	space	available	for	unstructured	recreation	and	civic	purposes.	A	square	is	spatially	
defined	by	building	frontages.	Its	landscape	shall	consist	of	paths,	lawns	and	trees,	formally	disposed.	
Squares	should	be	located	at	the	intersection	of	important	thoroughfares.	The	minimum	size	shall	be	
1/2 acre and the maximum shall be 5 acres. 

d. Plaza:  an open space available for civic purposes and commercial activities. A plaza shall be spatially 
defined	by	building	frontages.	Its	landscape	shall	consist	primarily	of	pavement.	Trees	are	optional.	
Plazas should be located at the intersection of important streets. The minimum size shall be 1/2 acre 
and the maximum shall be 2 acres. 

e. Playground: 	an	open	space	designed	and	equipped	for	the	recreation	of	children.		A	playground	
should be fenced and may include an open shelter. Playgrounds shall be interspersed within residential 
areas and may be placed within a block. Playgrounds may be included within parks and greens. 
There shall be no minimum or maximum size.

f. Pocket Park: a small open space suitable for socializing, eating and resting. Pocket parks shall 
be	equipped	with	benches	and	plantings,	with	tables	and	public	art	optional.	They	may	be	placed	
alongside thoroughfares or as intimate spaces within blocks, but should be visible from a thoroughfare. 
The maximum size shall be one half (1/2) acre.

T1
T2
T3

T3
T4
T5

T5
T6

T4
T5
T6

T1
T2
T3
T4
T5
T6

TABLE 3F. CIVIC SPACE 

Table 3F:  Civic Space.  This table indicates the general character of public open space appropriate for each Transect Zone 
and provides some basic standards. 



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC31

T1  T2  T3 T3  T4  T5  T6 T5  T6
Thoroughfare
Type HW & RD ST, DR, AV & BV ST, DR, AV & BV CS

Columnar

▪ ▪ ▪ ▪

Oval

▪ ▪ ▪ ▪

Rounded

▪ ▪ ▪

Conical

▪ ▪

Spreading

▪ ▪

Vase

▪ ▪

Table 3G: Public Planting. This table provides tree shapes appropriate to thoroughfare types and Transect Zones. Specific	
trees and shrubs appropriate for the bioregion should be selected from the preferred plant list maintained by the Planning 
Department or the Grow Green Guide for Native and Adaptive Landscape Plants published by the City of Austin Watershed 
Protection and Texas A&M AgriLife Extension, as amended from time to time. 

TABLE 3G. PUBLIC PLANTING



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC32

T1 T2 T3 T4 T5 T6 SD
Cobra Head

▪ ▪

Pipe

▪ ▪ ▪

Post

▪ ▪ ▪

Column

▪ ▪ ▪

Double Column

▪ ▪

Table 3H: Public Lighting. 	Lighting	varies	in	the	character	of	the	fixture	according	to	the	Transect.	This	table	shows	five	
common	types.		All	lighting	in	vehicular	thoroughfares,	parking	lots,	and	civic	spaces	shall	be	incandescent,	fluorescent,	
halogen, natural gas elements, metal halide, or LED.  High-pressure sodium is permitted only in temporary parking lots.  
Fixtures	shall	be	full	cut-off	fixtures,	directing	light	downwards.		Street	light	specifications	are	maintained	by	the	City	Engi-
neer.

TABLE 3H. PUBLIC LIGHTING



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC33



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC34

4.1  INSTRUCTIONS
4.1.1 Chapter 4 is available by right for New Communities in the S1 General Sector, S2 

Station Sector, and S3 Old Town Sector as listed in Chapter 2. It shall be used in 
conjunction with Chapter 3 Thoroughfares and Civic Spaces.

4.1.2 New Community applications submitted in accordance with the provisions of this 
Code,	for	the	appropriate	Sector	and	requiring	no	Exceptions,	shall	be	processed	
administratively. 

4.1.3 Concept Plans shall include graphic representations of the following elements:
 a. Boundaries of the Community Unit(s) and the Pedestrian Shed(s) 
 b. The location and type of existing and proposed major thoroughfares
 c. The general location of the Transect Zones (and subzones if any)
 d. The acreage of each Transect Zone and the percent of each Transect Zone 

relative to the total 
	 e.	 The	Civic	Space	requirements	of	Section	3.4.

4.1.4 Concept Plans may overlap Sectors, but such plans shall follow the Community 
Unit standards of the Sector containing the greater land area.

4.1.5 Preliminary Plats may be submitted after approval of a Concept Plan and shall include 
one or more maps showing the following for each Community Unit in the plan area, 
in compliance with the Thoroughfare and Civic Space standards of Chapter 3 and 
the New Community standards of Chapter 4:

	 a.	 Specific	boundaries	of	Transect	Zones	(and	subzones,	if	any)
 b. Civic Zones including Parks and Open Spaces
 c. Thoroughfare network with block lengths and Thoroughfare Assemblies as-

signed
 d. Waste, Wastewater, and Drainage utilities
 e. Lot lines
 f. Special Districts, if any
 g. Special	Requirements,	if	any
 h. Warrants or Exceptions, if any

4.2  SEQUENCE OF COMMUNITY DESIGN 
4.2.1 The site shall be structured using one or several Pedestrian Sheds, which should 

be	located	according	to	existing	conditions,	such	as	traffic	intersections,	adjacent	
developments, and natural features. The site, or any Community Unit within it, 
may be smaller or larger than its Pedestrian Shed, except for CLD, which shall be 
smaller. 

4.2.2 Pedestrian Shed boundaries are not included on an adopted Transect Map and are 
not themselves regulatory.

4.2.3 The Community Unit boundaries may be adjusted to include land falling between or 
outside the Pedestrian Sheds, but the extent of each shall not exceed the acreage 
limit	specified	in	Section	4.3	for	the	applicable	Community	Unit	type.	

4.2.4 Areas of Transect Zones shall be allocated within the boundaries of each Community 
Unit according to the percentage ranges for each type provided on Table 2A and 
Summary Table 7A. Previously approved Participating Parcels shall be included, 
as provided in Section 4.4. 

4.2.5 Civic Zones shall be assigned according to Section 3.4.
4.2.6 Special Districts, if any, shall be assigned according to Section 4.7.
4.2.7 The Thoroughfare network shall be laid out according to Section 3.2 and Section 

CHAPTER 4.  NEW COMMUNITIES



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC35

3.3.
4.2.8 Density shall be calculated according to Section 4.6.
4.2.9 Remnants of the site outside the Community Unit(s) shall be assigned to Transect 

Zones or Civic Space by Warrant, or considered for Special District by Exception.
4.2.10	 Detail	the	plan	using	the	Special	Requirements	described	in	Section	4.8,	if	applicable.	
4.2.11 Incorporate the incentives available according to Section 1.6, if applicable.
 
4.3  COMMUNITY UNITS  
4.3.1   CluSTered lAnd developmenT (Cld)

 a. A CLD shall be permitted within the CD Sector as an option.
 b. A CLD shall fall within a Standard Pedestrian Shed and shall consist of no 

fewer than 20 acres and no more than 60 acres.
 c. A CLD shall include Transect Zones as allocated on Table 2A and Summary 

Table 7A.  30% minimum of the Community Unit shall be permanently allocated 
to the T1 Natural Zone and/or the T2 Rural Zone.

 d. Larger sites shall be designed and developed as multiple Community Units, each 
subject	to	the	individual	Transect	Zone	requirements	for	its	type	as	allocated	on	
Table 2A and Summary Table 7A. The simultaneous planning of adjacent parcels 
is encouraged.

4.3.2 TrAdiTionAl neighBorhood developmenT (Tnd) 
 a. A TND shall be the only form of development permitted within the S1 General 

Sector, and shall be permitted within the CD Sector as an option.
 b. A TND shall be structured by one Standard Pedestrian Shed or one Linear 

Pedestrian Shed and shall consist of no fewer than 40 acres and no more than 
160 acres. 

 c. A TND shall include Transect Zones as allocated on Table 2A and Summary 
Table 7A.

 d. Larger sites shall be designed and developed as multiple Community Units, each 
subject	to	the	individual	Transect	Zone	requirements	for	its	type	as	allocated	on	
Table 2A and Summary Table 7A. The simultaneous planning of adjacent parcels 
is encouraged.

4.3.3 regionAl CenTer developmenT (rCd) 
 a. An RCD shall be the only form of development permitted within the S2 Station 

Sector.
 b. An RCD shall be structured by one Standard Pedestrian Shed, one Linear 

Pedestrian Shed, or one Long Pedestrian Shed and shall consist of no fewer 
than 60 acres and no more than 640 acres. 

 c. An RCD shall include Transect Zones as allocated on Table 2A and Summary 
Table 7A.

 d. For larger sites that cross into the S1 General Sector, an RCD may be adjoined 
without buffer by one or more TNDs, each subject to the individual Transect 
Zone	requirements	for	TND	as	allocated	on	Table	2A	and	Summary	Table	7A.	
The simultaneous planning of adjacent parcels is encouraged.

4.4   PARTICIPATING PARCELS  
4.4.1	 The	owner	of	a	parcel	smaller	than	the	minimum	acreage	required	for	a	Community	

Unit within the S1 Sector or S2 Sector may submit a Concept Plan for a Community 
Unit	for	the	Pedestrian	Shed	containing	the	parcel,	and	may	request	the	allocation	

CHAPTER 4.  NEW COMMUNITIES



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC36

of one or more Transect Zones for the Participating Parcel based on (1) the loca-
tion	of	the	parcel	and	(2)	the	permitted	allocation	percentages	within	the	requested	
Community Unit.

4.4.2 If a landowner owns multiple parcels within a Community Unit, all of the parcels 
shall be included in the Concept Plan.

4.4.3 Participating Parcel Concept Plans shall follow the process for a zoning ordinance 
amendment	as	defined	in	the	Composite	Zoning	Ordinance.	

4.4.4  Upon approval by the City Council, the assigned Transect Zone(s) for the Participating 
Parcel (only) shall be recorded on the Transect Map, replacing the Sector designation 
for that parcel. For future Participating Parcel or New Community applications within 
the Concept Plan area, at the discretion of the Planning Director, the boundaries 
may be adjusted up to 20% by land area relative to the original size, and/or, after 
boundary adjustment, the location of the center of the full Community Unit may be 
moved up to 20% relative to the new boundaries, provided that the Community Unit 
is still compliant with Section 4.2.

4.4.5 Within the established Pedestrian Shed of a previously approved Participating 
Parcel, further Participating Parcel applications shall complement, in their allocation 
calculations, the Transect Zones of the other Participating Parcels, i.e., the portions 
of the Transect Map that already occupy their plan area.

  
4.5  TRANSECT ZONES
4.5.1 Transect Zones shall be composed of the urban design elements generally described 

in Table 1C, prescribed throughout this Code, and shown on Summary Table 7A.
4.5.2 Lot and Building standards for the individual Transect Zones T3, T4, T5, and T6 are 

provided on Table 7B, Table 7C, Table 7D, and Table 7E respectively.
4.5.3 Subzones of Transect Zones (e.g., T3.1, T3.2) shall be permitted for creating 

distinctions within Transect Zones, as long as their minimum and maximum metric 
standards and permitted types do not exceed the standards of the main Transect 
Zone.  Subzones are counted along with the main Transect Zone for allocation 
percentages. Subzones shall support the Intent of this Code.

4.5.4 An assignment of a Transect Zone to allow a different Function level (e.g., from 
Restricted to Limited) than that provided on Table 6E shall be subject to review by 
Exception. 

4.6  DENSITY CALCULATIONS 
4.6.1 The permitted Residential Density of each Transect Zone shall be calculated in 

terms	of	housing	units	(not	 including	accessory	units)	as	specified	by	Summary	
Table 7A. For purposes of density calculation, the Transect Zone areas include the 
private lots and thoroughfares but not land assigned to Civic Zones. 

4.7  SPECIAL DISTRICTS
4.7.1 Special District designations shall be assigned to areas that, by their intrinsic size, 

function,	or	form,	cannot	conform	to	the	requirements	of	any Transect Zone or com-
bination of zones. Development standards for Special Districts shall be prepared in 
compliance	with	the	requirements	of	the	Composite	Zoning	Ordinance	for	a	PUD	
and shall follow the process for approval of a PUD zoning ordinance amendment.

CHAPTER 4.  NEW COMMUNITIES



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC37

4.8  SPECIAL REQUIREMENTS
4.8.1	 A	Transect	Map	may	designate	any	of	the	following	Special	Requirements:	 

 a. A differentiation of the thoroughfares as A-Streets or B-Streets. Lots along an A-
Street shall be held to the highest standard of this Code in support of pedestrian 
activity. Lots along a B-Street may be considered for the following Warrants 
allowing automobile-oriented standards: driveways, drive-thru services, and/
or one double-loaded row of head-in parking in the Private Frontage (80 feet 
maximum setback).The frontages assigned to B-Streets shall not exceed 30% 
of the total length of frontages within a Pedestrian Shed. 

	 b.	 Retail	Frontage,	requiring	that	a	building	provide	a	Shopfront	at	sidewalk	level	
along the entire length of its Private Frontage. The Shopfront shall be no less 
50% minimum glass between 2 and 12 feet above the sidewalk, and may be 
shaded by an awning overlapping the sidewalk as generally illustrated in Table 
6C	and	specified	in	Chapter	6.	

	 c.	 Gallery	Frontage,	requiring	that	a	building	provide	a	permanent	cover	over	the	
sidewalk, either cantilevered or supported by columns. The Gallery Frontage 
designation may be combined with a Retail Frontage designation.

	 d.	 Arcade	Frontage,	requiring	that	a	building	overlap	the	sidewalk	such	that	the	
first	floor	facade	is	an	arcade	or	colonnade.	The	Arcade	Frontage	designation	
may be combined with a Retail Frontage designation.     

	 e.	 Coordinated	Frontage,	 requiring	 that	 the	Public	 Frontage	 (Table	 3D)	 and	
Private Frontage (Table 6C) be coordinated as a single, coherent landscape 
and paving design. 

	 f.	 Terminated	Vista	location,	requiring	that	the	building	be	provided	with	archi-
tectural articulation of a type and character that responds visually to its axial 
location, as approved by the Planning Director. 

	 g.	 View	Corridor,	requiring	that	an	existing	view	be	maintained	from	the	point(s)	
marked on the map, as approved by the Planning Director.

	 h.	 Cross	Block	Passage,	requiring	that	a	minimum	8-foot-wide	at-grade	public	
pedestrian access be reserved between or through buildings.

 

CHAPTER 4.  NEW COMMUNITIES



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC38

5. 1  INSTRUCTIONS
5.1.1 This chapter guides the planning of parcels larger than 10 acres that are suitable 

for	infill	and	redevelopment	in	areas	already	regulated	by	a	Transect	Map	within	
the Traditional Development Sectors S1, S2, or S3.  

5.1.2 The Planning Director shall determine a Community Unit type based on existing 
conditions and intended evolution in the plan area. Community Units in already 
urbanized areas are not subject to the Transect Zone allocation percentage ranges 
of New Communities.

5.1.3	 Concept	Plans	and	Preliminary	Plats	 for	 Infill	&	Redevelopment	shall	 follow	 the	
application procedures for New Communities as set forth in Section 4.1, with the 
added	 requirement	 that	 all	 the	existing	Transect	Zones	be	 shown	on	 the	map,	
whether inside or outside the applicant parcel.

5.1.4	 Infill	 &	Redevelopment	 applications	 shall	 follow	 the	 process	 for	 a	PUD	zoning	
ordinance	amendment	as	defined	in	the	Composite	Zoning	Ordinance.

5.1.5	 Within	Old	Town,	for	any	area	subject	to	an	approved	Infill	&	Redevelopment	Plan,	
this Code becomes the exclusive and mandatory regulation and the Composite 
Zoning Ordinance is no longer available.

5.2  COMMUNITY UNITS
5.2.1	 Infill	&	Redevelopment	 plans	 shall	 encompass	or	 complete	 one	or	more	of	 the	

following	Community	Unit	types:		Infill	CLD,	and	Infill	TND.		The	edges	of	the	Com-
munity Unit should blend into adjacent neighborhoods without buffers, and new 
Transect Zones should complement  and support existing Transect Zones in the 
same Pedestrian Shed.

5.2.2 An area smaller than the applicable Pedestrian Shed for the Community Unit may 
be regulated under this Code.  

5.2.3 No Pedestrian Shed shall assign more than 50% of its area to the T3 zone.
5.2.4 infill Cld (CluSTered lAnd developmenT)

	 a.	 An	Infill	CLD	consists	of	the	T3	and	the	T4	zones,	or	the	T4	zone	alone.	Infill	
CLDs	are	predominantly	residential	with	small	mixed-use	centers.		An	Infill	CLD	
shall be planned as part of a Standard Pedestrian Shed that includes one or 
more higher Transect Zones. The T1 zone and T2 zone are optional. 

5.2.5 infill Tnd (TrAdiTionAl neighBorhood developmenT)
 a.	 An	Infill	TND	consists	of	either	the	T3,	T4,	and	T5	zones,	or	just	the	T4	and	T5	

zones.	Infill	TND	should	be	assigned	to	neighborhoods	that	are	predominantly	
residential	with	one	or	more	mixed	use	corridors	or	centers.		An	Infill	TND	shall	
be planned as all or part of a Standard or Linear Pedestrian Shed oriented 
around one or more important mixed use corridors or centers. The T1 zone 
and T2 zone are optional. 

5.3 TRANSECT ZONES
5.3.1	 Transect	Zone	standards	for	Infill	&	Redevelopment	are	the	same	as	those	for	New	

Communities under this Code.  See Section 4.5. 
 

CHAPTER 5.  INFILL & REDEVELOPMENT 



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC39

5.4 CIVIC ZONES  
5.4.1  generAl

 a. An	 Infill	&	Redevelopment	plan	shall designate Civic Zones as either Civic 
Space (CS), Civic Buildings (CB), or both (CZ).

 b. Civic Zones may be considered by Warrant so long as they do not occupy more 
than	a	total	of	20%	of	the	area	of	each	Pedestrian	Shed.	A	Civic	Zone	requiring	
more than 20% of the Pedestrian Shed shall be subject to the creation of a 
Special District with its own standards, to be recorded on Table 7F.

 c. Parking maximums and locations for Civic Zones shall be determined by War-
rant.

5.4.2 CiviC SpACe (CS) 
 a. Civic Spaces shall be generally designed as described in Table 3F.

5.4.3 CiviC BuildingS (CB)
	 a.	 Civic	Buildings	 shall	 not	 be	 subject	 to	 the	 requirements	of	Chapter	 6.	The	

particulars of their placement and form shall be determined by Exception.
 b. Existing Civic Buildings in the plan area shall be inventoried and mapped as 

part of the Preliminary Plat. If there is no meeting hall in proximity to the main 
Civic Space of each Pedestrian Shed, a Civic Zone for it shall be reserved. 

 c. Civic Building sites shall not occupy more than 20% of the area of each Pe-
destrian Shed.

 d. Civic Building sites shall be located within or adjacent to a Civic Space, or at 
the	axial	termination	of	a	significant	Thoroughfare.

5.5  SPECIAL REQUIREMENTS  
5.5.1	 An	Infill	&	Redevelopment	plan	may	designate	any	of	the	Special	Requirements	

listed in Section 4.8. 

5.6  SPECIAL DISTRICTS
5.6.1 Special District designations shall be assigned to areas that, by their intrinsic size, 

function,	or	 form,	cannot	conform	 to	 the	 requirements	of	any Transect Zone or 
combination of zones.  Standards for Special Districts shall be prepared in compli-
ance	with	the	requirements	of	the	Composite	Zoning	Ordinance	for	a	PUD	and	shall	
follow the process for approval of a PUD zoning ordinance amendment.

CHAPTER 5.  INFILL & REDEVELOPMENT 



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC40

6.1  INSTRUCTIONS
6.1.1 Lots and buildings located in a Transect Zone of an adopted Transect Map shall be 

subject	to	the	requirements	of	this	Chapter,	with	the	exception of the S3 Old Town 
Sector, where this Code and the Conventional Zoning Ordinance are both available 
for selection. Their standards shall not be mixed on the same lot except by Warrant. 
If this Code is selected, it becomes the sole and mandatory code for the lot. 

6.1.2	 Civic	Buildings	shall	not	be	subject	to	the	requirements	of	Chapter	6.	The	particulars	
of their placement and design shall be determined in a public process. The Planning 
Director shall determine what constitutes a Civic Building.  A civic use that occurs in 
a building that is typical of the Transect Zone in which it is located shall be regulated 
by this Chapter.  

6.1.3 Temporary buildings and temporary lot improvements of up to 180 days in duration 
shall be subject only to review by the Planning Director, providing they do not violate 
the standards or Intent of this Code.

6.1.4 An applicant, a landowner, or a developer may have Site Development plans pre-
pared on his or her behalf.

6.1.5 Site Development plans shall be required	before	the	issuance	of	a	Building	Permit.	
Site Development plans shall be reviewed by the Planning Director and other 
reviewing departments as determined by the City Manager.

6.1.6	 The	building	codes	adopted	by	the	City	e.g.,	plumbing,	electrical,	housing,	fire,	etc.,	
governing construction of buildings shall remain in effect within the areas included 
in the Transect Map. 

6.1.7 Site Development plan submittals shall show the following, in compliance with the 
standards described in Chapter 6:
•	 Building	Placement
•	 Building	Form
•	 Building	Function
•	 Parking	Location
•	 Parking	Maximums
•	 Landscape
•	 Light	Levels
•	 Sound	Levels
•	 Signage
•	 Architecture

6.1.8	 The	Planning	Director	may	require	additional	information	consistent	with	this	Code	
as part of the application for Site Development plans.

6.2  PRE-EXISTING CONDITIONS
6.2.1 Existing buildings and appurtenances that do not conform to the provisions of this 

Code	may	continue	in	use	as	they	are	until	a	Substantial	Modification	is	requested,	
at which time the Planning Director shall determine the provisions of this section 
that shall apply.

6.2.2 Existing buildings that when renovated less than 50% have at any time received a 
certificate	of	occupancy	shall	not	require	upgrade	to	the	current	Building	Code	and	
may meet the standards of the code under which they were originally permitted. 

6.2.3	 The	modification	of	existing	buildings	is	permitted	by	right	if	such	changes	result	in	
greater	conformance	with	the	specifications	of	this	Chapter.	

CHAPTER 6.  LOT & BUILDING PLANS



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC41

6.2.4 Where buildings exist on adjacent lots, the Planning Director	may	require	that	a	
proposed building match one or the other of the adjacent setbacks and heights 
rather than the provisions of this Chapter.

6.2.5	 Addition	or	modification	of	a	building	of	actual	or	potential	historic	value	shall	be	
approved by Exception. The architectural harmony (similar materials, window 
proportions, color range, mass/void ratio, roof type and pitch) of the addition or 
modification	to	the	original	structure	shall	be	a	condition	of	approval.

6.2.6	 The	restoration	or	rehabilitation	of	an	existing	building	shall	not	require	the	provision	
of parking nor on-site stormwater retention/detention in addition to that existing.

6.3 SPECIAL REQUIREMENTS  
6.3.1 To the extent that a Transect Map or Sector Map designates any of the following 

Special	Requirements,	standards	shall	be	applied	as	follows:	
 a. A-Streets and B-Streets: Lots and buildings along A-Streets shall be held to 

the highest standard of this Code in support of pedestrian activity. Lots and 
buildings along B-Streets may follow the standards of this Code exclusively, or 
may use the automobile-oriented standards in Section 6.7.5, with the exception 
that corner lots on B-Streets that intersect with A-Streets shall be subject to 
the A-Street standards of this Code.

 b. Retail Frontage: The building shall provide a shopfront at sidewalk level along 
the entire length of its Private Frontage. The shopfront shall be 50% minimum 
glass between 2 feet and 12 feet above the sidewalk, and may be shaded by an 
awning overlapping the sidewalk as generally illustrated in Table 6C.  Awnings, 
if present, shall be 3 feet minimum depth and shall clear the sidewalk vertically 
by 8 feet, or 7 feet by Warrant.

 c. Gallery Frontage: The building shall provide a permanent cover over the side-
walk, either cantilevered or supported by columns, as generally illustrated in 
Table 6C. A Gallery Frontage may be combined with a Retail Frontage.

	 d.	 Arcade	Frontage:	The	building	shall	overlap	the	sidewalk	such	that	the	first	
floor	facade	is	an	arcade	or	colonnade	(as	generally	illustrated	in	Table	6B	and	
Table 6C). An Arcade Frontage may be combined with a Retail Frontage.     

 e. Coordinated Streetscape Frontage: The Public Frontage and Private Frontage 
shall be coordinated as a single, coherent landscape and paving design.

 f. Terminated Vista: The building shall be provided with architectural articulation 
of a type and character that responds visually to its axial location, as approved 
by the Planning Director.

 g. View Corridor: The existing view shall be maintained from the point(s) marked 
on	the	map,	as	approved	by	the	Planning	Office.

 h. Cross Block Passage: A minimum 8-foot-wide pedestrian access shall be 
reserved between buildings.

 
6.4  BUILDING PLACEMENT
6.4.1 SpeCifiC To Zone T2 

 a. Building Placement shall be determined by Warrant.
6.4.2 SpeCifiC To ZoneS T3, T4, T5, T6

 a. Newly platted lots shall be dimensioned according to Summary Table 7A.

CHAPTER 6.  LOT & BUILDING PLANS



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC42

 b. Building Placement types shall be as shown in Table 6A and Summary Table 
7A.

 c. Buildings shall be disposed in relation to the boundaries of their lots accord-
ing     to Summary Table 7A and Table 8A. 

 d. One Principal Building at the frontage, and one outbuilding to the rear of the 
Principal  Building, may be built on each lot as shown in Table 8A. 

 e. Lot coverage by building footprint shall not exceed that recorded in Summary Table 
7A.

 f. Facades shall be built parallel to a rectilinear Principal Frontage Line or to the 
tangent of a curved Principal Frontage Line, and along a minimum percentage 
of	the	frontage	width	within	the	front	setback	range,	as	specified	as	Frontage	
Buildout on Summary Table 7A.

 g. Setbacks for Principal Buildings shall be as shown in Summary Table 7A. In 
the	case	of	a	single	infill	lot,	setbacks	shall	match	one	of	the	existing	adjacent	
setbacks if it conforms to the range provided for its Transect Zone.  Setbacks 
may otherwise be adjusted by Warrant. 

 h. Rear setbacks for outbuildings shall be 12 feet minimum measured from the 
centerline of the rear alley or rear lane.  In the absence of rear alley or rear lane, 
the rear setback shall be as shown in Summary Table 7A.

 i. To	accommodate	slopes	over	ten	percent,	relief	from	front	setback	requirements	
is available by Warrant.

 j. For lots having two frontages, the one along the more urban frontage of the 
two shall be the Principal Frontage unless otherwise determined by Warrant. 

 k. Outdoor storage and trash receptacles shall be located in the third lot layer 
and, if necessary, screened from view from any frontage.  Dumpsters shall be 
surrounded by a masonry enclosure.

6.4.3 SpeCifiC To ZoneS T5, T6
 a. The Principal Entrance shall be on a frontage line.  

6.5  BUILDING FORM  
6.5.1 generAl To All ZoneS T2, T3, T4, T5, T6

 a. The Private Frontage of buildings shall conform to and be allocated in accor-
dance with Table 6C and Summary Table 7A.

 b. Buildings on corner lots and through-lots shall have two Private Frontages as 
shown	in	Table	8A.	Prescriptions	for	the	first	layer	pertain	to	both	frontages.	
Prescriptions for the second and third layers pertain only to the Principal Front-
age. 

 c. Residential buildings shall have a habitable room and two openings minimum 
facing each frontage, either a door and window, two windows, or two doors.

 d. Building heights, stepbacks, and extension lines shall conform to Table 6B.
	 e.	 Stories	may	not	exceed	14	feet	in	height	from	finished	floor	to	finished	ceiling,	

except	for	a	first	floor	commercial	function,	which	shall	be	11	feet	minimum	
with	a	maximum	of	25	feet.	A	single	floor	level	exceeding	14	feet,	or	25	feet	
at ground level, shall be counted as two (2) stories. Mezzanines extending 
beyond	33%	of	the	floor	area	shall	be	counted	as	an	additional	story.

 f. In a parking structure or garage, each above-ground level counts as a single 
story regardless of its relationship to habitable stories.

 g. Height limits do not apply to attics or raised basements, masts, belfries, clock 

CHAPTER 6. LOT & BUILDING PLANS



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC43

towers,	 chimney	 flues,	water	 tanks,	 or	 elevator	 bulkheads.	Attics	 shall	 not	
exceed 14 feet in height.

 h. The provision of one zero-step entrance to each building from an accessible 
path at the front, side, or rear of each building is encouraged.

	 i.	 All	the	first	floor	interior	doors	serving	habitable	rooms	(including	bathrooms)	
should provide 32 inches of clear passage.

 j. A	half	or	full	bathroom	should	be	provided	on	the	first	story	of	each	building.
6.5.2 SpeCifiC To ZoneS T3, T4, T5

 a. The habitable area of an Accessory Unit within a Principal Building or an Out-
building	shall	not	exceed	900	square	feet,	or	40%	of	the	square	footage	of	the	
Principal Building, whichever is greater, excluding a garage.

6.5.3 SpeCifiC To ZoneS T4, T5, T6
 a. Loading docks and service areas shall be permitted on frontages only by Warrant.
 b. In the absence of a building facade along any part of a frontage line, a hedge, 

fence, or wall shall be built coplanar with the facade.
	 c.	 A	first	level	residential	or	lodging	function	may	be	raised	from	average	sidewalk	

grade.  If at grade, the building should be set back 6 feet minimum from the 
sidewalk for privacy.

6.5.4 enCroAChmenTS SpeCifiC To Zone T3
 a. No portion of the Private Frontage may encroach the sidewalk.
	 b.	 Open	porches	may	encroach	into	the	first	layer	50%	of	its	depth.
	 c.	 Balconies	and	bay	windows	may	encroach	into	the	first	layer	25%	of	its	depth,	

except that balconies on porch roofs may encroach into as does the porch.
6.5.5 enCroAChmenTS SpeCifiC To Zone T4

	 a.	 Balconies,	open	porches,	and	bay	windows	may	encroach	into	the	first	layer	
50% of its depth, except that balconies on porch roofs may encroach as does 
the porch.

6.5.6 enCroAChmenTS SpeCifiC To Zone T4, T5, T6
 a. Stoops, balconies, bay windows, terraces, and lightwells may encroach into 

100%	of	the	depth	of	the	first	layer.
 b. Stoops, balconies, and bay windows may encroach the Public Frontage by 

Warrant.
 c. Awnings may encroach the Public Frontage to within 2 feet of the curb.  They 

shall be 3 feet minimum depth and shall clear the sidewalk vertically by 8 feet 
minimum, or 7 feet by Warrant.

 d. The following awning types are permitted. See Section 6.12 for Awning Sign 
standards.
i. Fixed or retractable awnings 
ii. Shed awnings
iii. Dome awnings

  iv. Other awning types may be permitted by Warrant.
 e. Awnings shall not extend beyond the width of the building or tenant space, nor 

encroach above the roof line or the story above.
 f. The height of the awning valance shall not exceed 12 inches.
 g. Galleries should overlap the Public Frontage to within 2 feet of the curb and 

shall clear the sidewalk vertically by 8 feet minimum.
 h. Galleries shall be 10 feet wide minimum.
 i. See Table 6C for general form of Private Frontages.

CHAPTER 6.  LOT & BUILDING PLANS



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC44

6.5.7 enCroAChmenTS SpeCifiC To ZoneS T5, T6
 a. Arcades should overlap the Public Frontage to within 2 feet of the curb and 

shall clear the sidewalk vertically by 8 feet minimum. 
 b. Arcades shall be 12 feet wide minimum.
 c. See Table 6B and Table 6C for general form of arcades
  

6.6  BUILDING FUNCTION 
6.6.1 SpeCifiC To ZoneS T2, T3, T4, T5, T6

 a. Buildings in each Transect Zone may be dedicated to functions and uses de-
scribed for that zone in Table 6E and Table 6F. Uses not shown but that are 
substantially similar to permitted uses may be approved by Warrant.  Uses that 
are	not	substantially	similar	to	permitted	uses	shall	require	a	zoning	amend-
ment.  

6.6.2 SpeCifiC To ZoneS T2, T3
	 a.	 Accessory	functions	of	Restricted	Lodging	or	Restricted	Office	shall	be	permit-

ted within an Accessory Building. See Table 6E.
6.6.3 SpeCifiC To ZoneS T4, T5

	 a.	 Accessory	functions	of	Limited	Lodging	or	Limited	Office	shall	be	permitted	
within an Accessory Building. See Table 6E.

6.6.4 SpeCifiC To ZoneS T5, T6
	 a.	 First	story	Retail	and	Office	functions	shall	be	permitted.
 b. Light Manufacturing may be permitted by Warrant.

6.7  PARKING LOCATION 
6.7.1 generAl To ZoneS T3, T4, T5, T6   

 a. Parking shall be accessed by Rear Alleys or Rear Lanes, when they are avail- 
able on the plan.

 b. Open parking areas shall be masked from the frontage by a building or hedge, 
fence, or wall.

6.7.2 SpeCifiC To Zone T3 
 a. Open parking areas shall be located at the second and third lot layers, except 

that	driveways	may	be	located	at	the	first	lot	layer.	
 b. Garages shall be located at the third lot layer as shown on Table 8A.

6.7.3 SpeCifiC To ZoneS T3, T4
 a. Driveways at frontages shall be no wider than 12 feet in the first layer, 

excepting a 15-foot-wide apron 3 feet deep maximum.
6.7.4   SpeCifiC To ZoneS T4, T5, T6

 a. All parking lots, garages, and parking structures shall be located at the third layer. 
 b. Two-way vehicular entrances to parking lots, garages, and parking structures 

shall be no wider than 24 feet at the frontage line and 30 feet at the apron. 
One-way entrances shall be no wider than 12 feet at the frontage line and 15 
feet at the apron. 

 c. Pedestrian exits from all parking lots, garages, and parking structures shall 
be directly to a Public Frontage line (i.e., not directly into a building) except 
underground levels which may be exited by pedestrians directly into a building.

	 d.	 Parking	structures	on	the	A-Streets	shall	have	liner	buildings	lining	the	first	and	
second stories. 

CHAPTER 6.  LOT & BUILDING PLANS



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC45

 e. One bicycle rack place at minimum shall be provided within the Public Frontage 
or Private Frontage for every 10 vehicular parking spaces.

6.7.5  SpeCifiC To B-STreeTS in Zone T5
 a. On designated B-Streets, surface parking consisting of one drive aisle and one 

or two rows of head-in parking spaces shall be permitted by Warrant within 80 
feet of the Frontage Line.  A hedge, fence, or garden wall a minimum of 3 and 
a maximum of 4 feet in height shall be maintained just inside the Frontage Line 
to screen the view of the parking from the adjacent ROW.

	 b.	 A	drive	aisle	in	the	first	layer	shall	connect	to	existing	drive	aisles	on	adjacent	
properties, or be designed to connect to future ones.

	 c.	 A	parking	lot	 in	the	first	 layer	shall	connect	to	side	streets	at	all	Secondary	
Frontages.

	 d.	 A	parking	lot	in	the	first	layer	of	a	corner	lot	shall	have	one	connection	to	a	
ROW spaced 300 feet maximum.

	 e.	 A	parking	lot	in	the	first	layer	shall	have	no	easements	other	than	as	necessary	
for parking lot drainage, parking lot lighting, and ingress and egress through 
the parking lot. The ingress/egress easement shall include a provision that the 
easement is revoked 6 months after approval by the City of Leander to allow 
a building to be built over that easement.

 f. There shall be a sidewalk a minimum of 12 and a maximum of 20 feet wide 
between the building facade and the parking lot, with trees in grates or planter 
boxes 

6.8  PARKING MAXIMUMS
6.8.1  generAl To ZoneS T3, T4, T5, T6

 a. Parking Maximums may be established by the Planning Director.

6.9  LANDSCAPE    
6.9.1  generAl To ZoneS T3, T4, T5, T6

 a. Stormwater management on thoroughfares and lots shall be primarily through 
underground drainage channeled by raised curbs. There shall be no retention 
or	detention	required	on	the	individual	lots	unless	regional	or	community	op-
tions are unavailable.  If such options are unavailable, temporary detention 
and	retention	may	be	required.

 b. Where front setbacks are 24 feet or deeper, one tree minimum shall be planted 
within	the	first	layer	for	each	30	feet of Frontage Line or portion thereof.  

	 c.	 Specific	plantings	allowed	shall	be	selected	from	the	preferred	plant	list	main-
tained by the Planning Department or the Grow Green Guide for Native and 
Adaptive Landscape Plants published by the City of Austin Watershed Protec-
tion and Texas A&M AgriLife Extension, as amended from time to time.

6.9.2  SpeCifiC To Zone T3
	 a.	 Two	trees	minimum	shall	be	planted	within	the	first	or	second	layer	for	each	

30 feet of Frontage Line or portion thereof.  
6.9.3  SpeCifiC To ZoneS T3, T4

	 a.	 The	first	layer	may	not	be	paved,	with	the	exception	of	driveways	as	specified	
in Section 5.7. 

 

CHAPTER 6.  LOT & BUILDING PLANS



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC46

6.10  LIGHT LEVELS
6.10.1 SpeCifiC To ZoneS T2, T3, T4 

 a. No lighting level measured at the building Frontage Line shall exceed 1.0 fc.
6.10.2 SpeCifiC To Zone T5 

 a. No lighting level measured at the building Frontage Line shall exceed 2.0 fc.
6.10.3 SpeCifiC To Zone T6 

 a. No lighting level measured at the building Frontage Line shall exceed 5.0 fc.

6.11  SOUND LEVELS
6.11.1 SpeCifiC To ZoneS T2, T3, T4

 a. Sound levels measured at the building Frontage Line shall not exceed 65 decibels 
from sunrise to midnight and 55 decibels from midnight to sunrise.

6.11.2 SpeCifiC To ZoneS T5, T6
 a. Sound levels measured at the building Frontage Line shall not exceed 70 decibels 

from sunrise to midnight and 60 decibels from midnight to sunrise. 
 

6.12  SIGNAGE 
6.12.1 generAl inTenT
 The intent of regulating signs that are visible from the Public Frontage is to ensure 

proper dimensioning and placement with respect to existing or planned architectural 
features, to maintain or improve public safety, to maintain or improve the aesthetic 
character of the context in which they are located, and to provide legible information 
for pedestrians, not just drivers. See Table 6D for general form, permitted Transect 
Zones, and a summary of permitted sizes.

6.12.2 AddreSS SignS
 a.	 Address	 sign	 numerals	 applied	 to	 retail,	 office,	 residential,	 institutional,	 or	

industrial buildings shall be between 4 and 6 inches tall.
 b. Address signs shall be easily visible by using colors or materials that contrast 

with their background.
 c. The address sign shall be attached to the front of the building in proximity to 

the Principal Entrance or at a mailbox.  
6.12.3 Awning SignS

 a. Signage shall be limited to the valance of the awning or the vertical portion of 
a dome awning.

 b. Awning signs shall contain only the business name, logo, and/or street address. 
 c. Letters, numbers, and graphics shall cover 70% maximum of the valance area.
 d. Awning signs shall not be internally illuminated or backlit.  

6.12.4 BAnd SignS
 a. All	businesses	are	permitted	one	Band	Sign	on	each	first	story	facade.
 b. Band Signs shall include only letters, background, lighting, and an optional 

logo. Information shall consist only of the name and/or logo of the business. 
Band Signs shall not list products, sales, or other promotional messages, or 
contact information.

 c. The following Band Sign construction types are permitted:
i. Cut-out letters. Letters shall be individually attached to the wall or on a 

separate background panel, and shall be externally illuminated.
ii. Flat panel. Letters shall be printed or etched on same surface as the 

background,	which	is	then	affixed	to	the	wall	and	externally	illuminated.	

CHAPTER 6. LOT & BUILDING PLANS



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC47

iii. Channel letters by Warrant. Each letter shall have its own internal lighting 
element, individually attached to the wall or onto a separate background 
panel. The letter shall be translucent, or solid to create a backlit halo effect.

 d. Height and width shall be measured using smallest rectangle that fully encom-
passes the entire extent of letters, logo and background.

 e. Band Signs shall not be wider than 90% of the width of the building facade or tenant 
space.

 f. Band Signs shall not project vertically above the roof line.
 g. Band Signs may be illuminated from dusk to dawn or during hours permitted by 

the lighting ordinance. External lights shall be shielded from direct view to reduce 
glare.

 h. Neon may be permitted on Band Signs by Warrant. No other internal lighting 
shall be permitted. 

 i. Electrical raceways, conduits and wiring shall not be exposed. Neon lighting 
elements shall be contained completely within the sign assembly or inside the 
wall.

 j. Band Signs should be placed where the architectural features suggest the best 
placement for signage. They should be vertically aligned with the center of an 
architectural feature such as a storefront window, entry portal, or width of a bay 
or overall retail space. They shall not interrupt or obscure these features or 
cause visual disharmony.

6.12.5 BlAde SignS
 a. Blade Signs shall be double-sided. 
 b. Blade Signs shall be permitted only for businesses that have a Principal En-

trance	on	the	first	floor.
 c. Each business is permitted one Blade Sign per facade, provided that the facade 

is not set back more than 6 feet from the Frontage Line. Blade Signs for deeper 
setbacks shall be reviewed by Warrant.

 d. Blade Signs may encroach into the Public Frontage up to 4 feet and shall clear 
the sidewalk by 8 feet minimum.

 e. Blade Signs shall not encroach above the roof line nor above the bottom of the 
second story window.

 f. Text and graphics on the Blade Sign shall be limited to the name and/or logo of 
the business and relevant illustration. Slogans, address labels, web addresses, 
operating hours and contact information shall be prohibited.

 g. Mounting hardware, such as supports and brackets shall complement the 
design of the sign, the building, or both.

6.12.6 mArqueeS
	 a.	 Marquees	shall	be	located	only	above	the	Principal	Entrance	of	a	building.
	 b.	 No	Marquee	shall	be	wider	than	the	entrance	it	serves,	plus	2	feet	on	each	

side thereof.
	 c.	 No	portion	of	a	Marquee	shall	be	lower	than	10	feet	clearance.
	 d.	 No	Marquee	shall	extend	closer	to	the	curb	than	2	feet.
	 e.	 Columns	or	posts	may	be	used	as	supports	for	Marquees	8	feet deep or deeper 

by Warrant.
	 f.	 All	Marquees,	including	anchors,	bolts,	supporting	rods	and	braces,	shall	be	

constructed of non-combustible materials and shall be designed by a structural 
engineer and approved by the Building Inspector.

CHAPTER 6.  LOT & BUILDING PLANS



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC48

	 g.	 Marquee	components	and	materials	may	vary.	Anchors,	bolts,	and	supporting	
rods	should	be	limited	to	the	interior	of	the	Marquee.

	 h.	 Message	Boards	shall	be	permitted	as	part	of	Marquees.
	 i.	 A	Band	Sign	shall	be	permitted	above	a	Marquee.	

6.12.7 nAmeplATeS
 a. Nameplates shall consist of either a panel or individual letters applied to a 

building wall within 10 feet of an entrance to the building.
 b. One Nameplate shall be permitted per address. 
 c. Nameplates shall not exceed 3	square	feet.
 d. Nameplates shall be constructed of durable materials.   

6.12.8 ouTdoor diSplAy CASeS
	 a.	 Each	business	 shall	 be	 permitted	 one	outdoor	 display	 case	 6	 square	 feet	

maximum, 3.5 feet maximum in any dimension, and 5 inches deep maximum.
 b. Outdoor display cases may be externally or internally illuminated.
 c. Theaters may be permitted larger outdoor display cases by Warrant.
 d. Outdoor display cases shall not be attached to shopfront windows.

6.12.9 Shingle SignS
 a. Shingle Signs listing multiple commercial tenants shall be permitted on a multi-

tenant building.  Shingle Signs shall comport with the standards for Blade Signs 
except as provided in this subsection.

 b. A building may have both the prescribed number of Blade Signs and the same  
number of Shingle Signs.

 c. Shingle Signs may encroach into the Public Frontage up to 2 feet and shall 
clear the sidewalk by 7 feet minimum.

 d. Text and graphics on the Shingle Sign shall be limited to the name, logo, and 
suite number of the business. Slogans, full street address labels, web ad-
dresses, operating hours and contact information are prohibited.

6.12.10 SidewAlk SignS
 a. Sidewalk Signs shall consist of freestanding, double-sided temporary signs 

placed at the entrance to a business in a primarily pedestrian environment. 
 b. Sidewalk Signs shall be removed at the close of business each day.
 c. One Sidewalk Sign shall be permitted for each business. 
 d. Sidewalk Signs shall not exceed 42 inches in height or 26 inches in width.
 e. Sidewalk Signs shall be moved inside during high winds or other weather 

conditions that might pose a hazard to public safety.
 f. Sidewalk Signs shall not block the free passage of pedestrians on the sidewalk.

6.12.11 window SignS
 a. Only the following Window Sign types shall be permitted:

i. Vinyl	applique	 letters	applied	 to	 the	window.	Appliques	shall	consist	of	
individual letters or graphics with no visible background. 

ii. Letters painted directly on the window.
iii. Hanging signs that hang from the ceiling behind the window. 
iv. Neon signs.
v. Door signs applied to or hanging inside the glass portion of an entrance 

doorway. 
 b. Window signs shall not interfere with the primary function of windows, which 

is to enable passersby and public safety personnel to see through windows 
into premises and view product displays.

CHAPTER 6. LOT & BUILDING PLANS



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC49

 c. Window signs shall be 25% maximum of the total area of the window onto which 
they are applied.  Sign area shall be measured using smallest rectangle that 
fully encompasses the entire extent of letters, logo and background.

 d. Window signs may list services and/or products sold on the premises, or provide 
phone numbers, web addresses, operating hours or other messages, provided 
that the total aggregate area of these messages not exceed the limit provided 
above.

 e. Letters on window signs shall be no taller than 8 inches.
6.12.12 yArd SignS

 a. One single- or double-post yard sign for each business may be permitted by 
Warrant, provided it is set back 6 feet maximum from the Frontage Line, does 
not	exceed	6	square	feet	excluding	posts,	and	does	not	exceed	6	feet	in	height	
including posts, measured from the yard at the post location.

6.12.13 TemporAry SignS And BAnnerS
 a. Any temporary sign may be approved by Warrant for a maximum 30-day period. 

6.13 ARCHITECTURAL STANDARDS
 generAl To ZoneS T3, T4, T5, T6, unleSS noTed oTherwiSe

6.13.1 Building wAllS & mASSing - mATeriAlS
	 a.	 Building	walls	shall	be	native	stone	 (or	synthetic	equivalent),	brick,	stucco,	

split-faced block (foundations only), or siding.
 b. Textured brick and variegated brick is prohibited.
 c. Native stone and brick shall be unpainted.
 d. Stucco shall be cement or synthetic and shall be integral color or painted.
	 e.	 Siding	shall	be	wood,	fiber	cement	or	fly	ash.	Vinyl	siding	and	aluminum	siding	

are prohibited.
 f. Lintels in masonry walls at frontages shall be masonry or concrete.
	 g.	 Trim	shall	be	painted	or	stained	with	an	opaque	stain	and	shall	be	indistinguish-

able from wood.
6.13.2 Building wAllS & mASSing - ConfigurATionS

 a. Simplicity of massing: Buildings shall be a single simple volume, or a combina-
tion of a few simple volumes (i.e., principal building + backbuilding + outbuilding).

 b. Building walls shall show no more than two materials on any exterior wall, 
not counting the foundation. The visually heavier material shall be below the 
lighter one. Vertical joints between materials shall only occur at inside corners 
where principal building, backbuilding and/or outbuilding meet. Wall designs 
and materials on the same building shall be consistent on all facades facing 
frontages.

 c. Brick shall be detailed and laid to resemble load-bearing construction. Brick 
shall course exactly to the top, bottom and sides of all wall openings.

 d. Stone shall be detailed and laid to resemble structural stone walls.
	 e.	 Stucco	finish	shall	be	smooth	or	sand-finish;	heavy	lace	is	prohibited.	EIFS	is	

prohibited within 8 feet of the ground.
 f. Lintels in masonry walls at frontages shall be detailed to appear structural. 

Running bond and soldier courses over steel angles are prohibited.
 g. Masonry arches and piers shall be 12 inches by 12 inches minimum, when 

viewed in plan.
 h. Color shall be selected according to building style and Central Texas precedent.

CHAPTER 6.  LOT & BUILDING PLANS



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC50

6.13.3 fenCeS And gArden wAllS - mATeriAlS
	 a.	 Fences	in	the	first	and	second	layers	shall	be	wood	(painted	or	with	an	opaque	

stain) or metal in a cast-iron style. They may have masonry or stucco piers and 
base. Chain link is prohibited on frontages.

	 b.	 Garden	walls	in	the	first	and	second	layers	shall	be	native	stone	(or	synthetic	
equivalent),	brick,	or,	stucco.	Where	the	building	walls	are	masonry,	garden	
walls should match the material of the building walls.  Garden walls are pro-
hibited at T3.

6.13.4 fenCeS And gArden wAllS - ConfigurATionS
	 a.	 Along	frontages,	the	finished	side	of	fences	shall	face	the	frontage.
	 b.	 Fences	and	garden	walls	shall	be	4	feet	maximum	in	height	in	the	first	layer	

of the lot.  In the second and third layers, fences shall be 6 feet maximum in 
height and garden walls shall be 8 feet maximum in height. Posts and piers 
may be up to 8 inches taller, but may not exceed 8 feet.

6.13.5 doorS And windowS - mATeriAlS
 a. When facing frontages, exterior doors shall be wood or clad wood for residential 

use and shall be wood, clad wood, steel or extruded aluminum for commercial 
use.

 b. When facing frontages (including garage doors of front-loaded houses that are 
set back from the house), garage doors shall be wood, clad wood, metal, or 
composite.

 c. When facing frontages, windows for residential use shall be wood, vinyl-clad, 
aluminum-clad wood, or solid PVC, but all shall be indiscernible from wood at 
arm’s length. Commercial windows may also be extruded aluminum or hollow 
steel	frame.	Commercial	windows	should	have	clear	glass.	Reflective	glass	
and glass block are prohibited.

 d. Storefronts shall be wood, custom metalwork, extruded aluminum, or hollow 
steel frame. Natural and bronze aluminum storefronts are prohibited.

	 e.	 Shutters	shall	be	wood,	fiber-cement,	or	solid	PVC,	and	shall	be	indiscernible	
from wood at arm’s length.

6.13.6 doorS And windowS - ConfigurATionS
 a. Doors shall be side-hinged except garage doors, which may be sectional. 

Sliders shall not be visible from frontages. The style of the front door shall 
match the building style. Doors, except garage doors, shall be, or appear to 
be,	constructed	of	planks	or	raised	panels	(not	flush	with	applied	trim).	Sliders	
are prohibited at frontages.

 b. Garage doors facing frontages and those facing alleys on corner lots shall be 
a maximum of 9 feet in width.

 c. Ratio of openings to wall: Openings shall not exceed 50% of the façade area of 
each	floor	except	at	shopfronts.	Each	floor	of	each	façade	shall	be	calculated	
independently.

	 d.	 Windows	shall	be	single-hung,	double-hung,	triple-hung,	casement,	or	fixed.	
The style of the windows shall match the building style. Window openings and 
panes	shall	be	vertically	proportioned	or	square.	Flush	mounted	windows	are	
prohibited. Sliders are prohibited at frontages.

 e. Windows in masonry and stucco walls shall be inset 3 inches minimum (mea-
sured from the exterior face of the wall to the exterior face of the top sash).

 f. Glazing of shopfronts shall be a minimum 50% of the area between 2 feet and 

CHAPTER 6. LOT & BUILDING PLANS



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC51

12 feet above the sidewalk. Muntins (but not mullions) may be counted as glass 
area.

 g. Bay windows shall extend to the ground or be supported by visible brackets.
 h. Shutters shall be exactly one-half the width of, and the same height as, the 

associated opening.
 i. Casing shall be 3-½ inches wide minimum except on masonry walls. Mullion 

casing shall be 3-½ inches wide minimum . Brick shall not be visible between 
a	door	or	window	and	its	casing.	Head	casing	shall	be	equal	to	or	taller	than	
the jamb casing, and shall be 1/6 the opening width minimum.

 j. Principal entry surround trim should be more substantial than other trim.
6.13.7 roofS And eAveS - mATeriAlS

 a. Roofs shall be metal, slate, wood shakes, tile (clay, concrete or metal), asphalt, 
or	equivalent	synthetic	or	better.

	 b.	 Flat	roofs	shall	be	permitted	in	T5	and	T6	only	and	shall	be	commercial	quality	
roofing.		Flat	roofs	may	be	approved	by	Warrant	in	T4.

 c. Eaves shall be wood, bead board of cement, or, synthetic stucco, or EIFS. 
Vinyl and sheet aluminum is prohibited. The eave return cap shall be built of 
continuous,	un-seamed	metal	flashing.

 d. Gutters and downspouts shall be copper (not copper-coated), galvanized steel, 
or aluminum.

 e. Dormer jamb material should be a solid casing assembly from the window to 
the corner of the dormer wall. Siding as jamb material on dormers is prohibited. 
Brick shall only be used for a dormer face when it forms a parapet at the top 
of the dormer.

6.13.8 roofS And eAveS - ConfigurATionS
	 a.	 Metal	roofing	shall	be	flat	between	the	primary	ribs	with	no	striations	or	pencil	

ribs.
	 b.	 Ridge	caps	shall	be	appropriate	to	the	type	of	roofing.	Bulbed	ridge	caps	shall	

be	used	with	5V	metal	roofing,	and	standing	seam	ridge	caps	shall	be	of	the	
lowest	profile	possible.

 c. Roofs of Principal Buildings, where sloped, shall be a symmetrical gable or hip 
with a slope of 4:12 to 7.5:12.

 d. Flat roofs are permitted in T5 and T6 only (T4 by Warrant) and shall be sur-
rounded by a horizontal parapet wall a minimum of 30 inches higher than the 
highest point of the roof deck.

	 e.	 Ancillary	roofs	where	sloped	shall	be	between	1/3	and	1⁄2	the	principal	roof	
slope.

 f. Gables shall not overlap except when the smaller gable is part of a balcony, 
porch, or entrance.

 g. Bay roofs shall be distinct from the primary roof, typically under the eave, and 
return on themselves at each end.

 h. Eaves shall be 16 inches minimum on gables and hipped roofs. Eave lines 
shall be simple and continuous, both horizontally and vertically. The trim im-
mediately below the cornice shall be a bed mold or similar shape, not a crown 
mold. Eaves shall return around the corner and die into the wall without the 
common	“pork	chop”	return.	Brackets	shall	extend	to	the	back	side	of	the	fascia.	
A frieze board shall occur below the eave. The depth of the eave overhang 
should match the style of the building. Formal styles may have closed eaves 

CHAPTER 6.  LOT & BUILDING PLANS



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC52

if appropriate to the style of the building, but vernacular buildings should have 
open eaves. Exposed rafter tails shall not exceed 6 inches in height.

	 i.	 Cornices	are	required	on	buildings	with	flat	roofs.	The	cornice	shall	include	a	
projection beyond the building face.

 j. Dormers shall be placed 3 feet minimum from side building walls. Dormers shall 
have roof trim beginning at the window head and shall be composed of a head 
casing,	soffit,	and	fascia	at	a	minimum.	Siding	shall	not	be	used	above	a	window	
head except in the triangular space enclosed by the pediment of a gable front 
dormer. The body of a single-window dormer shall be vertically proportioned 
or	square.	The	total	width	of	the	dormer	roof	shall	be	25%	to	40%	larger	than	
the width of the dormer body. Dormer windows shall be slightly shorter than 
typical	windows	in	the	floor	below.

	 k.	 Skylights	shall	be	flat	at	frontages.
 l. Roof penetrations, except stucco or brick chimneys, shall be placed so as not 

to be visible from frontages and painted to match the color of the roof, except 
those of metal which may be left unpainted.

6.13.9 ATTAChmenTS - mATeriAlS
	 a.	 Columns	and	posts	shall	be	made	of	wood,	CPVC,	fly	ash,	composite	metal,	

native	stone	(or	synthetic	equivalent).	Extruded	aluminum	is	prohibited.
	 b.	 Porch	beams	shall	be	wood,	fiber-cement,	fly	ash,	stone,	concrete,	stucco	or	

EIFS. The grain or texture shall be horizontal.
	 c.	 Porch	ceilings	shall	be	wood,	fiber-cement,	fly	ash	or	stucco.
	 d.	 Balconies	&	railings	shall	be	wood,	fiber-cement,	fly	ash	or	metal.
 e. Chimneys shall be clad in brick, stone, or stucco at frontages.
 f. Flues shall be clay tile, or galvanized metal left natural or painted black.
 g. Sign and awning materials are subject to Section 6.12 Signs.

6.13.10 ATTAChmenTS - ConfigurATionS
 a. Columns shall have entasis. Where classical columns are used, the Orders 

shall	be	Tuscan,	Doric,	Ionic,	or	Corinthian	with	correct	proportions	and	profiles	
according to the American Vignola.

	 b.	 Column	bases	shall	not	protrude	beyond	the	edge	of	the	porch	flooring.	The	
outer edge of the base should align with the face of the pier or foundation below.

 c. Column to Beam Alignment: The face of the beam shall align with the neck of 
the column or post. Capitals shall protrude.

 d. Intercolumniation: Spaces between columns shall be vertically proportioned.
 e. Posts shall be 6 inches by 6 inches minimum when viewed in plan.
 f. Porches and stoops must be 12 inches minimum above the adjacent sidewalk 

elevation. Porches shall be 8 feet deep minimum.
 g. Porch beams shall be visible from both the inside and the outside of the porch. 

Seams between beam face and bottom of built-up beams shall occur on the 
bottom of the beam, not its face.

 h. Balconies shall project 3 feet maximum from the face of the building and shall 
be visually supported by brackets.

 i. Railings shall have horizontally proportioned top rails and vertically proportioned 
bottom	rails,	with	the	bottom	rails	clearing	the	floor.		Balusters	shall	be	centered	
on the rails and spaced no farther apart than permitted by code.

 j. Openings between supports at galleries and arcades shall be vertically pro-
portioned.

CHAPTER 6. LOT & BUILDING PLANS



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC53

CHAPTER 6.  LOT & BUILDING PLANS

 k. Screens are prohibited on stoops and porches at frontages.
 l. Chimneys at frontages shall extend to the ground and have a projecting cap. 

Wood clad chimneys are prohibited.
	 m.	 Sign	and	awning	configuration	is	subject	to	Section	6.12	Signs.

6.13.11 meChAniCAl And uTiliTy equipmenT
	 a.	 HVAC	equipment,	 utility	meters,	 satellite	 dishes,	 permanent	 grills,	window	

air	conditioning	units	and	other	mechanical	equipment	shall	not	be	located	at	
frontages.	Mechanical	equipment	shall	not	vent	to	frontages.

	 b.	 Site	utility	structures,	such	as	transformers,	shall	not	be	located	in	the	first	lot	
layer at frontages. Utility structures shall be screened from frontages using 
landscaping or fences, hedges or walls.  Utility boxes and conduits on exterior 
walls facing frontages shall be painted to match the wall or their visibility oth-
erwise minimized.



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC54

TABLE 6A. BUILDING PLACEMENT

a. Detached  (center of yard):  A building that occupies the center of its lot with setbacks on all 
sides.  This is the least urban of types as the front yard sets it back from the frontage, while 
the	side	yards	weaken	the	spatial	definition	of	the	public	thoroughfare	space.		The	front	yard	or	
garden is intended to be visually continuous with the yards of adjacent buildings.  The rear yard 
can	be	secured	for	privacy	by	fences	and	a	well-placed	backbuilding	and/or	outbuilding.		Specific	
types - single family house, cottage, bungalow, ranch house, estate house, cabin, farmhouse.

T2
T3
T4

b. Detached (sideyard):  A building that occupies one side of the lot with the setback to the other 
side.		A	shallow	front	setback	defines	a	more	urban	condition,	often	with	a	wall	or	fence	along	
the frontage line, while a deeper setback is less urban.  If the adjacent building is similar with 
a	blank	side	wall,	the	yard	can	be	quite	private.		This	type	permits	systematic	climatic	orienta-
tion	in	response	to	the	sun	or	the	breeze.		Specific	types	-	Charleston	single	house,	zero	lot	
line	house.		Must	comply	with	the	building	separation	requirements	of	the	local	building	code.		
This may be accomplished by a rated wall on the lot line, and/or a non-construction easement 
recorded on the adjacent lot.

T4
T5

c. Semi-Detached:  a building that abuts a neighboring sideyard building.  Construction costs, 
energy	costs,	and	sometimes	noise	may	be	reduced	by	sharing	a	party	wall.		Specific	types	-	
double house, twin, duplex.

T4
T5

d. Attached:  A building attached to another and occupying the full width of the frontage, usually with 
the	entire	yard	in	the	rear.		This	is	a	very	urban	type	as	the	continuous	facade	steadily	defines	
the public thoroughfare.  The rear elevations may be articulated for functional purposes.  In its 
residential form, this type is the rowhouse or townhouse. In its commercial form, the rear yard 
can	accommodate	substantial	parking.		Specific	types	-	townhouse,	rowhouse,	live-work	unit,	
loft	building,	apartment	house,	mixed	use	block,	flex	building,	perimeter	block,	rearyard	building.	

T4
T5
T6

e. Courtyard:  A	building	that	occupies	the	boundaries	of	its	lot	while	internally	defining	one	or	
more private patios.  This is the most urban of types, as it is able to shield the private realm from 
all	sides	while	strongly	defining	the	public	thoroughfare.		Because	of	its	ability	to	accommodate	
incompatible	activities,	it	is	recommended	for	workshops,	lodging	and	schools.		Specific	types	
- courtyard house, courtyard apartment building, patio house. 

T4
T5

Table 6A:  Building Placement.  This table approximates the location of the structure relative to the boundaries of each 
individual lot, establishing suitable basic building types for each Transect Zone. The following are general descriptions only.

T6



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC55

T2 T4 T5

T6 T6 T6

 

2

1

3

2

1

N

4

3

2

1

Max. height

Max. height

Max. height

R.O.W.Lot
R.O.W.Lot

R.O.W.Lot

Max. height

8

7

6

5

4 

3 

2 

1 

8

7

6

5

4 

3 

2 

1 

Max. height

R.O.W.Lot

Max. height

R.O.W.Lot

6

5

4 

3 

2 

1 

R.O.W.Lot

Arcade max.

Min. height. Min. Height.Min. Height.

Arcade max.

TABLE 6B. BUILDING FORM - HEIGHT

WITH ARCADE FRONTAGE WITH ARCADE FRONTAGE

T3

Table 6B: Building Form - Height. 	This	table	provides	the	configurations	for	different	building	heights	for	each	Transect	
Zone. The front setbacks are illustrative only. The vertical extent of a building shall be measured by number of stories, not 
including a raised basement or an inhabited attic. Building height shall be measured from the average grade of the frontage 
line	to	the	eave	of	a	pitched	roof	or	the	surface	of	a	flat	roof.	The	minimum	height	for	all	office,	retail	and	mixed-use	buildings	
shall	be	18	feet.	Height	limits	shall	not	apply	to	towers	with	a	footprint	of	less	than	400	square	feet.



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC56

TABLE 6C. BUILDING FORM - PRIVATE FRONTAGES 

            SECTION                  PLAN
LOT   

PRIVATE 
FRONTAGE 

►
►

◄
◄

R.O.W.
PUBLIC
FRONTAGE

LOT   
PRIVATE 

FRONTAGE 

►
►

◄
◄

R.O.W.
PUBLIC 
FRONTAGE

a. Common Yard:  a planted frontage wherein the facade is set back 
substantially from the Frontage Line.  The front yard created remains 
unfenced and is visually continuous with adjacent yards, supporting a 
common landscape. The deep setback provides a buffer from the higher 
speed thoroughfares.

T2

b. Porch & Fence:  a planted frontage wherein the facade is set back 
from the Frontage Line with an attached porch permitted to encroach. A 
fence	at	the	Frontage	Line	maintains	street	spatial	definition.	Porches	
shall be 8 feet deep minimum. Variant: Dooryard: has a fence but no 
porch, suitable for zero-step entry.*

T3
T4

c. Terrace or Lightwell:  a frontage wherein the facade is set back from 
the Frontage Line by an elevated terrace or a sunken lightwell. This type 
buffers residential use from urban sidewalks and removes the private 
yard from public encroachment. Terraces are suitable for conversion to 
outdoor cafes. 

T4
T5

d. Forecourt:  a frontage wherein a portion of the facade is close to the 
Frontage Line and the central portion is set back.  The forecourt cre-
ated is suitable for vehicular drop-offs. This type should be allocated in 
conjunction with other frontage types. Large trees within the forecourts 
may overhang the sidewalks. 

T4
T5
T6

e. Stoop:  a frontage wherein the facade is aligned close to the Frontage 
Line	with	the	first	story	elevated	from	the	sidewalk	sufficiently	to	secure	
privacy for the windows. The entrance is usually an exterior stair and 
landing.	This	type	is	recommended	for	ground-floor	residential	use.	

T4
T5
T6

f. Shopfront:  a frontage wherein the facade is aligned close to the 
Frontage Line with the building entrance at sidewalk grade.  This type 
is conventional for retail use. It has a substantial glazing on the sidewalk 
level and may have an awning. Syn: Retail Frontage.

T4
T5
T6

g. Gallery:  a frontage wherein the facade is aligned close to the Front-
age Line with an attached cantilevered shed or a lightweight colonnade 
overlapping the sidewalk. This type is conventional for retail use. 

T4
T5
T6

h. Arcade:  a colonnade supporting habitable space that overlaps the 
sidewalk, while the facade at sidewalk level remains at or behind the 
Frontage Line.  This type is conventional for retail use. See Table 6B.

T5
T6

T3

Table 6C: Private Frontages.  The Private Frontage is the area between the building facade and the front lot line, and the 
facade itself. Corner properties have two Private Frontages.



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC57

▪ By Right
▫	By Warrant

T1 T2 T3 T4 T5 T6 SD SPECIFICATIONS

Address Sign

n/a n/a ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▫

a. Quantity (max)
b. Area
c. Width
d. Height
e. Depth / Projection
f. Clearance
g. Apex
h. Letter Height

1 per address
max 2 sf

max 24 in
max 12 in
max 3 in
min 4.5 ft

n/a
max 6"

Awning and Signband

▪ ▪ ▪ ▫

a. Quantity (max)
b. Area
c. Width
d. Height
e. Depth / Projection
f. Clearance
g. Apex
h. Letter Height
 i. Valance Height
 j. Distance from Curb

1 per window
n/a

max equals width of Facade
n/a

min 4 ft.
min 8 ft, 7 ft by Warrant

n/a
min 5 in, max 10 in

max 12 in
min. 2 ft.

Band Sign

▫ ▪ ▪ ▫

a. Quantity (max)
b. Area (max)
c. Width
d. Height
e. Depth / Projection
f. Clearance
g. Apex
h. Letter Height

1 (2 for corner buildings)
1.5 sf per linear ft Facade
max 90% width of Facade

max 3 ft
max 7 in
min 7 ft

n/a
max 18 in

Blade Sign

▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪

a. Quantity
b. Area (max)
c. Width
d. Height
f.  Depth / Projection
g. Clearance
h. Apex
i.  Letter Height

1 per Facade, 2 max
4 sf T2,T3,T4; 6 sf T5,T6

max 4 ft
max 4 ft
max 4 ft
min 8 ft

n/a
max 8 in

Marquee	and	Sign

▪ ▪ ▫

a. Quantity (max)
b. Area
c. Width (max)
d. Height
e. Depth / Projection
f. Clearance
g. Apex
h. Letter Height
i. Distance from Curb

1 per business
n/a

entrance plus 2' each side
max 50% Story height

min 4 ft, max 10 ft
min 10 ft

n/a
n/a

min 3 ft.

TABLE 6D. SIGNAGE



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC58

T1 T2 T3 T4 T5 T6 SD Specifications

Nameplate Sign

n/a ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪

a. Quantity (max)
b. Area
c. Width
d. Height
e. Depth / Projection
f. Clearance
g. Apex
h. Letter Height

1
max 3 sf

max 18 in
max 2 ft
max 3 in
min 4 ft
max 7 ft

n/a

Outdoor Display Case

n/a n/a ▫ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▫

a. Quantity
b. Area
c. Width
d. Height
f.  Depth / Projection
g. Clearance
h. Apex
i.  Letter Height

1
max 6 sf

max 3.5 ft
max 3.5 ft
max 5 in
min 4 ft

n/a
n/a

Shingle Sign

▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪

a. Quantity
b. Area
c. Width
d. Height
f.  Depth / Projection
g. Clearance
h. Apex
i.  Letter Height

1 per facade, 2 max
4 sf

max 2 ft
max 3 ft
max 2 ft
min 7 ft

n/a
max 8 in

Sidewalk Sign

▪ ▪ ▪ ▪

a. Quantity
b. Area
c. Width
d. Height
f.  Depth / Projection
g. Clearance
h. Apex
i.  Letter Height

1 per business
max 8 sf

max 26 in
max 42 in

n/a
n/a

max 42 in
n/a

Window Sign

▪ ▪ ▪ ▪

a. Quantity
b. Area
c. Width
d. Height
f.  Depth / Projection
g. Clearance
h. Apex
i.  Letter Height

1 per window
max 25% of glass

varies
varies

n/a
4 ft
n/a

max 8 in

TABLE 6D. SIGNAGE (CONT.)

▪ By Right
▫	By Warrant



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC59

T1 T2 T3 T4 T5 T6 SD Specifications

Yard Sign

▫ ▪

a. Quantity
b. Area
c. Width
d. Height
e. Depth / Projection
f. Clearance
g. Apex
h. Letter Height

1 max per Lot
max 6 sf 

max 3 ft (not counting post)
max 2 ft (not counting post)

n/a
min 3 ft to sign edge

max 6 ft to top of post
max 8 in

TABLE 6D. SIGNAGE (CONT.)

▪ By Right
▫	By Warrant



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC60

TABLE 6E. BUILDING FUNCTION

T3  T4 T5  T6
a. RESIDENTIAL  Restricted Residential: The number of 

dwellings on each lot is restricted to one 
within a Principal Building and one within 
an Accessory Building. Both dwellings 
shall be under single ownership. The 
habitable area of the Accessory Building 
shall	not	exceed	900	sf	or	40%	of	the	square	
footage of the Principal Building.

 Open Residential:  The number of dwell-
ings on each lot is unlimited except by the 
form regulations of Chapter 6.

 Open Residential:  The number of dwell-
ings on each lot is unlimited except by the 
form regulations of Chapter 6.

b. LODGING  Restricted Lodging: The number of 
bedrooms available on each lot for lodging 
is	restricted	to	five.	Food	service	may	be	
provided in the a.m. The maximum length 
of stay shall not exceed ten days.

 Limited Lodging: The number of bed-
rooms available on each lot for lodging 
is limited to twelve. Food service may be 
provided in the a.m. The maximum length 
of stay shall not exceed ten days. 

 Open Lodging: The number of bedrooms 
available on each lot for lodging is unlim-
ited. Food service may be provided at all 
times. The maximum length of stay shall 
not exceed ten days.

c. OFFICE  Restricted Office: The building area 
available	for	office	use	by	the	resident	of	
each lot, and one non-resident employee,  
is	restricted	to	the	first	floor	of	the	Principal	
Building or any part of an Accessory Build-
ing. Home Occupations are permitted 
anywhere. 

 Limited Office: The building area avail-
able	 for	 office	 use	 by	 the	 resident	 of	
each lot, and up to three non-resident 
employees,		is	restricted	to	the	first	floor	
of the Principal Building or any part of an 
Accessory Building. Home Occupations 
are permitted anywhere.

 

 Open Office:  The building area available 
for	office	use	on	each	lot	is	unlimited.

d. RETAIL  Restricted Retail: The building area 
available for retail use is restricted to one 
block	corner	location	at	the	first	story	for	
each	300	dwelling	units.	This	specific	use	
shall be further restricted to neighborhood 
store, or food service seating no more than 
20.

 Limited Retail:  The building area avail-
able for retail use with regular hours is 
limited	 to	 the	 first	 story	 of	 buildings	 at	
corner	 locations.	The	specific	use	shall	
be further limited to neighborhood store, 
or food service seating no more than 40. 
Cottage Industry with up to three employ-
ees shall be permitted at all locations, with 
retail sales by appointment only.

 Open Retail:  The building area available 
for retail use is unlimited.

e.  CIVIC  See Table 6F  See Table 6F  See Table 6F

f.  OTHER  See Table 6F  See Table 6F  See Table 6F

Table 6E:  Building Function.		This	table	categorizes	Building	Functions	within	Transect	Zones.	For	Specific	Function	and	
Use, see Table 6F.  



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC61

a. RESIDENTIAL T1 T2 T3 T4 T5 T6
Single Family ▪ ▪ ▪

Two-family (Duplex) ▪ ▪
Multi-family ▪ ▪ ▪

Live/Work Unit ▪ ▪ ▪ ▫ ▫
Group Home ▫ ▪

Accessory Unit ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪
Manufactured House ▫ ▫

Temporary Tent ▫ ▫ ▫ ▫ ▫ ▫ ▫
b. LODGING

Hotel (no room limit) ▪ ▪ ▫
Inn (up to 12 rooms) ▫ ▪ ▪ ▪

Inn  (up to 5 rooms) ▫ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪
S.R.O. hostel ▫ ▫ ▫ ▫ ▫

School Dormitory ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪
c. OFFICE

Office Building ▪ ▪ ▪ ▫
Live-Work Unit ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▫

d. RETAIL
Open-Market Building ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪

Retail Building ▪ ▪ ▪ ▫
Display Gallery ▪ ▪ ▪ ▫

Cafe / Restaurant ▫ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▫
Kiosk ▪ ▪ ▪ ▫

Push Cart ▫ ▫ ▫
Liquor Selling Establishment ▫ ▫ ▫

Adult Entertainment ▫ ▫
e. CIVIC

Bus Shelter ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪
Convention Center ▫ ▪
Conference Center ▫ ▪ ▪

Exhibition Center ▫ ▪
Fountain or Public Art ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪

Library ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪
Live Theater ▪ ▪ ▪

Movie Theater ▪ ▪ ▪
Museum ▫ ▫ ▪ ▪

Outdoor Auditorium ▫ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪
Parking Structure ▫ ▪ ▪ ▪

Passenger Terminal ▫ ▫ ▪
Playground ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪

Sports Stadium ▫ ▪
Surface Parking Lot ▫ ▫ ▫ ▪
Religious Assembly ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪

f. OTHER: AGRICULTURE T1 T2 T3 T4 T5 T6 SD
Grain Storage ▪ ▪ ▫
Livestock Pen ▫ ▫ ▫

Greenhouse ▪ ▪ ▫ ▫
Stable ▪ ▪ ▫ ▫

Kennel ▪ ▪ ▫ ▫ ▫ ▫ ▫
g. OTHER: AUTOMOTIVE

Gasoline ▫ ▫ ▫ ▪
Automobile Service ▪

Automobile Sales ▫ ▫ ▫
Truck Maintenance ▪

Drive -Through Facility ▫ ▫ ▪
Rest Stop ▪ ▪ ▫

Roadside Stand ▪ ▪ ▫
Shopping Center / Mall ▫

h. OTHER: CIVIL SUPPORT
Fire Station ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪

Police Station ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪
Cemetery ▪ ▫ ▫ ▪

Funeral Home ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪
Hospital ▫ ▫ ▪

Medical Clinic ▫ ▪ ▪ ▪
i. OTHER: EDUCATION

College ▫ ▫ ▪
High School ▫ ▫ ▫ ▪

Trade School ▫ ▫ ▪
Elementary School ▫ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪

Childcare Center ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▪ ▫
j. OTHER: INDUSTRIAL

Heavy Industrial Facility ▪
Light Industrial Facility ▫ ▪

Truck Depot ▪
Laboratory Facility ▫ ▪

Water Supply Facility ▪
Sewer and Waste Facility ▪

Electric Substation ▫ ▫ ▫ ▫ ▫ ▫ ▪
Wireless Transmitter ▫ ▫ ▪

Cremation Facility ▪
Warehouse ▫ ▪

Produce Storage ▪
Mini-Storage ▪

▪  BY RIGHT
▫  BY WARRANT

 

TABLE 6F. SPECIFIC FUNCTION & USE

SD

Table 6F:  Specific Function & Use.		This	table	expands	the	categories	of	Table	6E	to	delegate	specific	functions	and	uses	
within Transect Zones. 



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC62

TABLE 7A. SMARTCODE SUMMARY

T1
  

NATURAL 
ZONE T2 RURAL

ZONE T3
  

SUB-URBAN
ZONE T4

     

GENERAL URBAN
ZONE T5

 

URBAN CENTER
ZONE T6

 

URBAN CORE 
 ZONE
          

SD
  

SPECIAL 
DISTRICT

a. ALLOCATION OF ZONES for New Communities (by land area, per Community Unit)  See Table 2A
CLD 50% minimum of T1 and T2 or combination 10-30% 20-40% not permitted not permitted
TND permitted permitted 10-30% 30-60% 10-30% not permitted
RCD not permitted not permitted not permitted 10-30% 10-30% 40-80%

b.  BASE RESIDENTIAL DENSITY 
By Right 1 unit / 20 ac avg 4 units / ac gross 12 units / ac gross 20 units / ac gross no maximum*  
Other Functions Permitted* 10 - 20% 20 - 30% 30 - 50% 50 - 70% 

c. BLOCK SIZE 
Block Perimeter no maximum no maximum 4000’ max, b/f 1200 max 3600’ max, b/f 1200 max 2000’ max, b/f 600 max 2000’ max,b/f 600 max*

d. THOROUGHFARES  * 3000 ft max with parking structures

Rear Lane permitted permitted permitted
Rear Alley permitted required required required
Road permitted permitted permitted
Street permitted permitted permitted permitted
Commercial Street permitted permitted
Avenue permitted permitted permitted
Boulevard permitted permitted permitted permitted
RR permitted permitted permitted
Drive permitted permitted permitted permitted
Path permitted permitted permitted permitted
Passage permitted permitted permitted permitted
Bicycle Trail permitted permitted permitted permitted *    
Bicycle Lane permitted permitted permitted permitted
Bicycle Route permitted permitted permitted permitted permitted permitted

e. CIVIC SPACES  See Table 3F * permitted only within Civic Spaces

Park permitted permitted permitted
Green permitted permitted permitted
Square permitted permitted permitted
Plaza permitted permitted
Playground / Pocket Park permitted permitted permitted permitted permitted permitted

f. LOT OCCUPATION  
Lot Width by Warrant 40 ft min 120 ft max 16 ft min 96 max no min, 180 ft max 18 ft min 700 ft max

PL
AC

EM
EN

T

Lot Coverage 60% max 70% max 80% max 100% max

g. SETBACKS - PRINCIPAL BUILDING  See Table 8A
Front Setback (Principal) Outbuilding shall be behind Principal Building
Front Setback (Secondary) 48 ft min 12 ft min 6 ft min 20 ft max 0 ft min 12 ft max 0 ft min 12 ft max
Side Setback 100 ft min 12 ft min 0 ft min 0 ft min 24 ft max 0 ft min 24 ft max
Rear Setback 100 ft min 12 ft min 3 ft min    * 3 ft min    * 0 ft. min
Frontage Buildout n/a 40% min 60% min 80% min 80% min

h. SETBACKS - OUTBUILDING  See Table 8A
Front Setback n/a 20 ft min + bldg setback 20 ft min + bldg setback 20 ft min + bldg setback 40 ft max from rear lot line
Side Setback n/a 5 ft min 5 ft min 5 ft min or attached 5 ft min or attached
Rear Setback n/a 5 ft min 5 ft min 5 ft min 5 ft min

i. BUILDING PLACEMENT  See Table 6A
Detached permitted permitted permitted
Semi-Detached permitted permitted
Attached permitted permitted permitted
Courtyard permitted permitted

j. PRIVATE FRONTAGES  See Table 6C
Common Yard permitted permitted permitted

FO
RM

Porch & Fence permitted permitted
Terrace or LC permitted permitted
Forecourt permitted permitted permitted
Stoop permitted permitted permitted
Shopfront permitted permitted permitted
Gallery permitted permitted permitted
Arcade permitted permitted permitted

k. BUILDING FORM  See Table 6B
Principal Building 2 Stories max 2 Stories max 3 Stories max 4 Stories max 8 Stories max, 2 min.
Outbuilding 2 Stories max 2 Stories max 2 Stories max 2 Stories max

l. BUILDING FUNCTION  See Table 6E & Table 6F
Residential restricted use restricted use limited use open use open use

FU
NC

TI
ON

Lodging restricted use restricted use limited use open use open use
Office restricted use limited use open use open use
Retail restricted use limited use open use open use

Chapter 6
Chapter 3, 4, 5 



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC63

T3

(see Table 1B)

BUILDING FUNCTION (see Table 6E & Table 6F)
Residential restricted use
Lodging restricted use
Office restricted use
Retail restricted use

BUILDING CONFIGURATION (see Table 6B) 
Principal Building 2 stories max.
Outbuilding 2 stories max
LOT OCCUPATION  
Lot Width 40 ft min 120 ft max
Lot Coverage 60% max

BUILDING PLACEMENT (see Table 6A)
Detached permitted
Semi-Detached
Attached  
Courtyard    

SETBACKS - PRINCIPAL BUILDING
(g.1) Front Setback Principal 24 ft. min
(g.2) Front Setback Secondary 12 ft min
(g.3) Side Setback 12 ft min
(g.4) Rear Setback 12 ft min*
Frontage Buildout 40% min at setback

SETBACKS - OUTBUILDING
(h.1) Front Setback 20 ft. min. + bldg setback
(h.2) Side Setback 3 ft. or 6 ft at corner
(h.3) Rear Setback 3 ft. min

PRIVATE FRONTAGES
Common Lawn permitted
Porch & Fence  or Dooryard permitted

Terrace or Lightwell  
Forecourt   
Stoop   
Shopfront   
Gallery   
Arcade   

PARKING MINIMUMS
See Table 6E & Chapter 6

 *or 15 ft. from center line of alley

BUILDING HEIGHT

1. Building height shall be 
measured in number of 
stories, excluding attics 
and raised basements.

2. Stories may not exceed 14 
feet	in	height	from	finished	
floor	 to	 finished	 ceiling,	
except	for	a	first	floor	com-
mercial function which shall 
be a minimum of 11 ft with a 
maximum of 25 feet.

3. Height shall be measured 
to the eave or roof deck.

SETBACKS - PRINCIPAL BLDG

1. The facades and elevations 
of Principal Buildings shall 
be distanced from the lot 
lines as shown. 

2. Facades shall be built 
out along the Principal 
Frontage to the minimum 
specified	width	in	the	table.

SETBACKS -  OUTBUILDING

1. The elevations of the Out-
building shall be distanced 
from the lot lines as shown.

PARKING PLACEMENT

1. Uncovered parking spaces 
may be provided within the 
second and third layer as 
shown in the diagram.

2. Covered parking shall be 
provided within the third 
layer as shown in the dia-
gram. Side- or rear-entry 
garages may be permitted 
in	the	first	or	second	layer	
by Warrant.

TABLE 7B. SUMMARY OF T3

N

1 

Max. height

1 

2  

(g.1)

(g.2)

(g.3)

(h.2)

(h.1)

(h.2)

(g.1)

(h.1)

Secondary Frontage

Pr
inc

ipa
l F

ro
nta

ge

2nd 
Layer

1st
Layer

3rd 
Layer

20 ft

Max. height

(g.4) Corner Lot
Condition

Mid-Block
Condition

(h.3)

(g.4)

(h.3)

Corner Lot
Condition

Mid-Block
Condition



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC64

T4

(see Table 1B)

BUILDING FUNCTION (see Table 6E & Table 6F)
Residential limited use
Lodging limited use
Office limited use
Retail limited use

BUILDING HEIGHT (see Table 6B) 
Principal Building 3 stories max
Outbuilding 2 stories max
LOT OCCUPATION  
Lot Width 18 ft min 96 ft max
Lot Coverage 70% max

BUILDING PLACEMENT (see Table 6A)
Detached permitted
Semi-Detached permitted
Attached permitted
Courtyard   

SETBACKS - PRINCIPAL BUILDING
(g.1) Front Setback Principal 6 ft. min. 20 ft. max
(g.2) Front Setback Secondary 6 ft. min. 20 ft. max
(g.3) Side Setback 0 ft. min
(g.4) Rear Setback 3 ft. min*
Frontage Buildout 60% min at setback

SETBACKS - OUTBUILDING
(h.1) Front Setback 20 ft. min. + bldg. setback
(h.2) Side Setback 3 ft. min. or 6 ft at corner
(h.3) Rear Setback 3 ft. min

PRIVATE FRONTAGES (see Table 6C)
Common Lawn permitted
Porch & Fence  or Dooryard permitted
Terrace or Lightwell permitted
Forecourt permitted
Stoop permitted
Shopfront permitted
Gallery permitted
Arcade   

PARKING MINIMUMS
See Table 6E & Chapter 6

 *or 15 ft. from center line of alley
 

TABLE 7C.  SUMMARY OF T4

BUILDING HEIGHT

1. Building height shall be 
measured in number of 
stories, excluding attics 
and raised basements.

2. Stories may not exceed 14 
feet	in	height	from	finished	
floor	 to	 finished	 ceiling,	
except	for	a	first	floor	com-
mercial function which shall 
be a minimum of 11 ft with a 
maximum of 25 feet.

3. Height shall be measured 
to the eave or roof deck.

SETBACKS - PRINCIPAL BLDG

1. The facades and elevations 
of Principal Buildings shall 
be distanced from the lot 
lines as shown. 

2. Facades shall be built 
out along the Principal 
Frontage to the minimum 
specified	width	in	the	table.

SETBACKS -  OUTBUILDING

1. The elevations of the Out-
building shall be distanced 
from the lot lines as shown.

PARKING PLACEMENT

1. Uncovered parking spaces 
may be provided within the 
second and third layer as 
shown in the diagram.

2. Covered parking shall be 
provided within the third 
layer as shown in the 
diagram. 

2 

1 

N 

2nd 
Layer

1st
Layer

3rd 
Layer

Secondary Frontage

Pr
inc

ipa
l F

ro
nta

ge

Max. height

(g.1)

(g.1)

(g.2)

(g.3)

(h.2)

(h.1)

(h.2)

(h.1)

20 ft

1 

2

(g.4)

(g.4)

Corner Lot
Condition

Mid-Block
Condition

Corner Lot
Condition

Mid-Block
Condition

Max. height



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC65

T5

(see Table 1B)

BUILDING FUNCTION (see Table 6E & Table 6F)
Residential open use
Lodging open use
Office open use
Retail open use

BUILDING HEIGHT (see Table 6B) 
Principal Building 4 stories max
Outbuilding 2 stories max
LOT OCCUPATION  
Lot Width no min, 180 ft max
Lot Coverage 80% max

BUILDING PLACEMENT (see Table 6A)
Detached   
Semi-Detached permitted
Attached permitted
Courtyard permitted

SETBACKS - PRINCIPAL BUILDING
(g.1) Front Setback Principal 0 ft. min 12 ft. max
(g.2) Front Setback Secondary 0 ft. min 12 ft. max
(g.3) Side Setback 0 ft. min 24 ft. max
(g.4) Rear Setback 3 ft. min*
Frontage Buildout 80% min at setback

SETBACKS - OUTBUILDING
(h.1) Front Setback 40 ft max from rear lot line

(h.2) Side Setback 3 ft min or 6 ft at corner
(h.3) Rear Setback 3 ft. min

PRIVATE FRONTAGES (see Table 6C)
Common Lawn    
Porch & Fence or Dooryard    
Terrace or Lightwell permitted
Forecourt permitted
Stoop permitted
Shopfront permitted
Gallery permitted
Arcade permitted

PARKING MINIMUMS
See Table 6E & Chapter 6

 *or 15 ft. from center line of alley
 

TABLE 7D.  SUMMARY OF T5

BUILDING CONFIGURATION
1. Building height shall be 

measured in number of 
stories, excluding attics 
and raised basements.

2. Stories may not exceed 14 
feet	in	height	from	finished	
floor	 to	 finished	 ceiling,	
except for a first floor 
Commercial function which 
must be a minimum of 11 
ft with a maximum of 25 ft.

3. Height shall be measured 
to the eave or roof deck 
as	specified	on	Table	6B.

4. Expression Lines shall be as 
shown on Table 6B.

SETBACKS - PRINCIPAL BLDG

1. The facades and elevations 
of Principal Buildings shall 
be distanced from the lot 
lines as shown. 

2. Facades shall be built 
out along the Principal 
Frontage to the minimum 
specified	width	in	the	table.

SETBACKS - OUTBUILDING

1. The elevations of the Out-
building shall be distanced 
from the lot lines as shown.

PARKING PLACEMENT

1. Uncovered parking spaces 
may be provided within the 
third layer as shown in the 
diagram. 

2. Covered parking shall be 
provided within the third 
layer as shown in the 
diagram.

1 

2 
2

1 

3 

40 ft. max. 

4

Pr
inc

ipa
l F

ro
nta

ge

Secondary Frontage

Max. height

Max. height

2nd 
Layer

1st
Layer

3rd 
Layer

20 ft

(g.1)

(g.1)

(g.2)

(g.3)

(g.4)

(h.1)

(h.2)

(g.4)

(h.1)

(h.3)

Corner Lot
Condition

Mid-Block
Condition

Corner Lot
Condition

Mid-Block
Condition



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC66

T6

(see Table 1B)

BUILDING FUNCTION (see Table 6E & Table 6F)
Residential open use
Lodging open use
Office open use
Retail open use

BUILDING HEIGHT (see Table 6B) 
Principal Building 8 stories max., 2 stories min
Outbuilding
LOT OCCUPATION  

Lot Area no min
Lot Coverage 100% max

BUILDING PLACEMENT (see Table 6A)
Detached  
Semi-Detached  
Attached permitted
Courtyard permitted

SETBACKS - PRINCIPAL BUILDING
(g.1) Front Setback Principal 0 ft min 12 ft max
(g.2) Front Setback Secondary 0 ft min 12 ft max
(g.3) Side Setback 0 ft min 24 ft max
(g.4) Rear Setback 0 ft min
Frontage Buildout 80% min at setback

SETBACKS - OUTBUILDING
Front Setback 
Side Setback 
Rear Setback 

PRIVATE FRONTAGES (see Table 6C)
Common Lawn  
Porch & Fence or Dooryard  
Terrace or Lightwell  
Forecourt permitted
Stoop permitted
Shopfront permitted
Gallery permitted
Arcade permitted

PARKING PROVISIONS
See Table 6E & Chapter 6

 *or 15 ft. from center line of alley
 

TABLE 7E.  SUMMARY OF T6

BUILDING CONFIGURATION
1. Building height shall be 

measured in number of 
stories, excluding attics 
and raised basements.

2. Stories may not exceed 14 
feet	in	height	from	finished	
floor	 to	 finished	 ceiling,	
except	for	a	first	floor	Com-
mercial Function which 
must be a minimum of 11 
ft with a maximum of 25 ft.

3. Height shall be measured 
to the eave or roof deck.

4. Stepbacks, Recess Lines, 
and Extension Lines shall 
be as shown on Table 6B.

SETBACKS - PRINCIPAL BLDG

1. The facades and elevations 
of Principal Buildings shall 
be distanced from the lot 
lines as shown. 

2. Facades shall be built 
out along the Principal 
Frontage to the minimum 
specified	width	in	the	table.

PARKING PLACEMENT

1. Uncovered parking spaces 
may be provided within the 
third layer as shown in the 
diagram .

2. Covered parking shall be 
provided within the third 
layer as shown in the 
diagram.

Max. 
height

1 

N 

5 

4 

3 

2 min. 

2nd 
Layer

3rd 
Layer

1st 
Layer

Pr
inc

ipa
l F

ro
nta

ge

Secondary Frontage

(g.1)

(g.1)

(g.2)

(g.3)

Corner Lot
Condition

Mid-Block
Condition

Corner Lot
Condition

Mid-Block
Condition

20 ft

** What is SD 1?  



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC67

The	metrics	for	each	column	of	this	table	(SD1,	SD2,	etc.)	are	to	be	filled	in	for	each	Special	District	as	they	currently	exist,	
or as they are permitted.  More pages can be added. Special Districts that do not have provisions within this Code shall be 
governed by the standards of the pre-existing zoning. 

a.   ALLOCATION OF ZONES  
CLD 
TND
RCD

b.   BASE RESIDENTIAL DENSITY 
By Right
By TDR
Other Functions

c. BLOCK SIZE
Block Perimeter

d. THOROUGHFARES   
Rear Lane
Rear Alley
Road
Street
Commercial Street
Avenue
Boulevard
RR
Drive
Path
Passage
Bicycle Trail
Bicycle Lane
Bicycle Route

e. CIVIC SPACES   
Park
Green
Square
Plaza
Playground

f. LOT OCCUPATION
Lot Width

PL
AC

EM
EN

T

Lot Coverage

g. SETBACKS - PRINCIPAL BUILDING 
Front Setback
Side Setback
Rear Setback

h. BUILDING PLACEMENT (see Table 6A)
Detached
Semi-Detached
Attached

i. PRIVATE FRONTAGES  (see Table 6C)
Common Yard

FO
RM

Porch & Fence
Terrace, Dooryard
Forecourt
Stoop
Shopfront  
Gallery
Arcade
Parking Lot

j. BUILDING HEIGHT (see Table 6B)
Principal Building
Outbuilding

k. BUILDING FUNCTION (see Table 6E and Table 6F)
Residential

FU
NC

TI
ON

Lodging
Office
Retail

SD1  SD2  SD3 SD4 SD5 SD6 SD7

TABLE 7F. SPECIAL DISTRICT SUMMARY

** What is SD 1?  



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC68

CHAPTER 8. DEFINITIONS OF TERMS

8.1   DEFINITIONS 
This	 Chapter	 provides	 definitions	 for	 terms	 in	 this	 Code	 that	 are	 technical	 in	 nature	 or	
that	otherwise	may	not	reflect	a	common	usage	of	the	term.	If	a	term	is	not	defined	in	this	
Chapter, then the Planning Director	shall	determine	the	correct	definition.	Terms	that	are	
capitalized	within	Definitions	are	also	defined	in	this	Chapter.
 
Accessory Building:  an Outbuilding with an Accessory Unit. 
Accessory Unit:  an Apartment sharing ownership and utility connections with a Principal 
Building, either within an Outbuilding or within the Principal Building. See Table 6F and 
Table 8A. 
Address Sign:  a sign, generally applied to a building wall, that displays a building’s address. 
Allee:  a regularly spaced and aligned row of trees usually planted along a Thoroughfare 
or Path.
American Vignola:  The American Vignola	by	William	Ware,	first	published	in	1903.
Ancillary Roof:  a roof secondary to the roof of the Principal Building.
Apartment:  a Residential unit sharing a building and a Lot with other units and/or uses; 
may be for rent, or for sale as a condominium.
Apex:  the highest point of a sign as measured from the point on the ground where its 
structure is located, or, if no sign structure is present, from the point on the ground directly 
below the sign itself. 
Arcade:  a Private Frontage conventional for Retail use wherein the Facade is a colonnade 
supporting habitable space that overlaps the Sidewalk, while the Facade at Sidewalk level 
remains at the Frontage Line.
A-Street:  a designation for a Thoroughfare that is walkable, in comparison with a B-Street 
or a C-Street.
Attached:  characterizing a building that occupies the full Frontage Line and is attached to 
another of the same type, usually leaving the rear of the Lot as the principal yard. See Table 6A. 
Attic:  the interior part of a building contained within a pitched roof structure.
Avenue (AV):  a Thoroughfare of high vehicular capacity and low to moderate  speed, 
acting	as	a	short	distance	connector	between	urban	centers,	and	usually	equipped	with	a	
landscaped median. 
Awning Sign:  lettering applied directly on the Valance or other vertical portion of an awning.
Backbuilding:  a single-Story structure connecting a Principal Building to an Outbuilding. 
See Table 8A.
Band Sign:  a	sign	that	is	attached	flat	on	the	exterior	front,	rear	or	side	wall	of	any	building	
or other structure. 
Bed and Breakfast:  an owner-occupied Lodging type, serving breakfast in the mornings 
to guests. 
Bicycle Box:  a section of pavement designed to give bicyclists using a Bicycle Lane a head 
start at signalized intersections. A Bicycle Box is often colored and includes a standard white 
bicycle pavement marking. It improves visibility between motorists turning right and cyclists 
traveling through the intersection.  



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC69

CHAPTER 8. DEFINITIONS

Bicycle Lane (BL):  a dedicated lane for cycling within a moderate-speed vehicular Thor-
oughfare, demarcated by striping. 
Bicycle Locker:  an enclosed and secured locker that provides bicycle parking for long 
term use. 
Bicycle Route (BR):  a Thoroughfare suitable for the shared use of bicycles and automobiles 
moving at low speeds. 
Bicycle Shelter:  a roofed shelter that provides multiple bicycle racks for public use. 
Bicycle Station:  a building that provides self-service, attended indoor valet, or automated 
bicycle parking services, often accompanied by showers, lockers, bicycle repair and rental 
facilities. 
Bicycle Trail (BT):  a Bikeway running independently of a vehicular Thoroughfare. 
Bikeway:  any designated Thoroughfare or part of a Thoroughfare for bicycling.  
See Bicycle Lane, Bicycle Route, and Bicycle Trail. 
Blade Sign:  a sign mounted on the building Facade, projecting at a 90-degree angle. 
Block:  the aggregate of private Lots, Passages, Rear Alleys and Rear Lanes, circumscribed 
by Thoroughfares.
Block Face:  the aggregate of all the building Facades on one side of a Block.
Boulevard:  a Thoroughfare designed for high vehicular capacity and moderate speed, 
traversing	an	Urbanized	area.	Boulevards	are	usually	equipped	with	access	lanes	buffering	
Sidewalks and buildings. 
B-Street:  a designation for a Thoroughfare that has some automobile-oriented frontages 
but is still generally walkable in comparison with a C-Street.
Buffered Bicycle Lane:  a Bicycle Lane separated from vehicular travel and/or parking 
lanes by striped pavement markings which function as a buffer. 
Bungalow:  a Detached building type, one or one and a half stories.
By Right:  characterizing a proposal or component of a proposal for a plan that complies 
with this code and is processed and permitted administratively, without public hearing. See 
Exception, Variance, and Warrant. 
C-Street:  a designation for a Thoroughfare that has automobile-oriented frontages, and is 
not walkable in comparison with an A-Street or a B-Street.
Channel Letters:  removable	letters	that	fit	into	channels	on	a	sign	or	Marquee.
Civic:		pertaining	to	not-for-profit	organizations	dedicated	to	arts,	culture,	education,	religion,	
recreation, government, transit, or municipal parking.
Civic Building:  a building occupying a special physical place in the community and oper-
ated	by	not-for-profit	organizations	dedicated	to	arts,	culture,	education,	religion,	recreation,	
government, or transit, or for use approved by the legislative body. 
Civic Parking Reserve:		parking	structure	or	parking	lot	within	a	quarter-mile	of	the	site	
that it serves. 
Civic Space:  an outdoor area dedicated for public use. See Table 3F.
Civic Zone:  designation for public sites dedicated for Civic Buildings and Civic Space. 
CLD:  Clustered Land Development.



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC70

CHAPTER 8. DEFINITIONS OF TERMS

Clearance:  the	height	above	the	walkway,	or	other	surface	if	specified,	of	the	bottom	edge	
of an element. 
Clustered Land Development:  one of the Community Units regulated in this Code, a small 
settlement usually standing free in the countryside.
Commercial:		the	term	collectively	defining	Office,	Retail,	and	Lodging		Functions.	
Common Yard:  a planted Private Frontage wherein the Facade is set back from the Front-
age line. It is visually continuous with adjacent yards. See Table 6C.
Community Unit:  a regulatory category for the physical form, density, and extent of a 
settlement. The three Community Unit types addressed in this Code are CLD, TND, and 
RCD.	Variants	for	redevelopment	and	Infill	are	called	Infill	CLD,	Infill	TND,	and	Infill	RCD.
Concept Plan:		the	first	plan	required	for	a	New	Community,	Infill,	or	Participating	Parcel	
proposal. 
Conventional Development Sector:  the aggregate of the land areas on the Leander Sector 
Map that permit the option to develop in the form of CLD or TND Community Units, but are 
otherwise regulated by the Composite Zoning Ordinance.
Cornice:		a	horizontal	or	sloped	decorative	molding	that	edges	or	crowns	a	roofline,	door,	
window, portico, etc. In addition to its ornamental function, it can help throw rainwater away 
from the building.
Corridor:  a lineal geographic system incorporating transportation and/or Greenway tra-
jectories. 
Cottage:  a Detached Building type. A single-family dwelling, on a regular Lot, often shared 
with an Accessory Building in the back yard.
Cottage Industry:  artisan activities in the Principal Building, Outbuilding, or back yard. See 
Table 6E and Table 6F.
Courtyard Building:  a building that occupies the boundaries of its Lot while internally 
defining	one	or	more	private	patios. See Table 6A. 
CPVC:  Chlorinated polyvinyl chloride.
Curb:		the	edge	of	the	vehicular	pavement	that	may	be	raised	or	flush	to	a	Swale.	It	usually	
incorporates the drainage system. See Table 3D and Table 3E.
Design Speed:  the velocity at which a Thoroughfare tends to be driven without the constraints 
of signage or enforcement. See Table 3A. 
Detached:  characterizing a building that occupies the center of its Lot with Setbacks on all 
sides. See Table 6A.
Dooryard:  a Private Frontage type with a shallow Setback and front garden or patio, usually with 
a low wall at the Frontage Line. See Table 6C. 
Dormer:  a window set vertically in a structure that protrudes from a sloped roof, or the 
roofed structure containing such a window. 
Drive:  a Thoroughfare along the boundary between an Urbanized and a natural condi-
tion, usually along a waterfront, Park, or promontory. One side has the urban character of 
a	Thoroughfare,	with	Sidewalk	and	building,	while	the	other	has	the	qualities	of	a	Road	or	
parkway, with naturalistic planting and rural details. 
Driveway:  a vehicular lane within a Lot, often leading to a garage. See Section 4.8 and 



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC71

CHAPTER 8. DEFINITIONS OF TERMS

Section 6.7.
Effective Turning Radius:  the measurement of the inside Turning Radius taking parked 
cars into account. See Table 8A.
EIFS:  Exterior Insulation Finishing System.
Elevation:  an exterior wall of a building not along a Frontage Line. See:  Facade. See 
Table 8A. 
Encroach:  to break the plane of a vertical or horizontal regulatory limit with a structural 
element, so that it extends into a Setback, into the Public Frontage, or above a height limit.
Encroachment:  any structural element that breaks the plane of a vertical or horizontal 
regulatory limit, extending into a Setback, into the Public Frontage, or above a height limit.
Enfront:		placed	along	or	parallel	to	a	Frontage,	as	in	“porches	enfront	the	street.”
Entasis:  the diminution of a column beginning at a point 1/3 up the shaft and ending at the 
neck, which is 5/6 the diameter of the column at its base. See also The American Vignola.
Exception:		a	ruling	that	would	permit	a	practice	that	is	not	consistent	with	a	specific	provi-
sion of this Code nor its Intent (Section 1.3). See Variance. 
Facade:  the exterior wall of a building that is set along or parallel to a Frontage Line. See Elevation.
Fascia:  a horizontal band forming the vertical face of a cornice under a roof edge.
Fly Ash:	 	one	of	 the	residues	generated	 in	combustion	that	comprises	the	fine	particles	
rising	with	the	flue	gases.
Forecourt:  a Private Frontage wherein a portion of the Facade is close to the Frontage Line 
and the central portion is set back. See Table 6C.
Frontage:  the area between a building Facade and the vehicular lanes, inclusive of its built 
and planted components. Frontage is divided into Private Frontage and Public Frontage.  
See Table 3D and Table 6C.
Frontage Buildout:  the percentage of Lot width occupied by the width of the building Facade.
Frontage Line:  a Lot line bordering a Public Frontage. Facades facing Frontage Lines 
define	the	public	realm	and	are	therefore	more	regulated	than	the	Elevations	facing	other	
Lot lines. See Table 8A.
Function:  the use or uses accommodated by a building and its Lot, categorized as Restricted, 
Limited, or Open, according to the intensity of the use. See Table 6E and Table 6F.
Gallery:  a Private Frontage conventional for Retail use wherein the Facade is aligned close 
to the Frontage Line with an attached cantilevered shed or lightweight colonnade overlapping 
the Sidewalk. See Table 6C.
General Sector:  the S1 Sector on the Leander Sector Map.
Green:	 	a	Civic	Space	type	for	unstructured	recreation,	spatially	defined	by	 landscaping	
rather than building Frontages. See Table 3F.
Hammerhead:  a type of dead-end thoroughfare with one or two short extensions.
Head Casing:  the trim over the horizontal structural member spanning an opening.
Home Occupation:  non-Retail workplace enterprises. See Table 6E.
House:  a Detached Building type, usually a single-family dwelling on a large Lot, often 



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC72

CHAPTER 8. DEFINITIONS OF TERMS

shared with an Accessory Building in the back yard. 
Infill:  noun - new development on land that had been previously developed, including 
smaller	greyfield	and	brownfield	sites	and	cleared	land	within	Urbanized	areas.	verb - to 
develop such areas. 
Inn:  a Lodging type, owner-occupied, offering 6 to 12 bedrooms, permitted to serve breakfast 
in the mornings to guests. See Table 6E.
Layer:  a range of depth of a Lot within which certain elements are permitted. See Table 8A.
Lightwell:  a Private Frontage type that is a below-grade entrance or recess designed to 
allow light into basements. See Table 6C. 
Linear Pedestrian Shed:  an elongated Pedestrian Shed that is used for planning along an 
important Mixed Use Corridor such as a main street. It extends approximately 1/4 mile from 
each side of the Corridor for up to a mile in length, in a lozenge shape. See Pedestrian Shed.
Liner Building:		a	building	specifically	designed	to	mask	a	parking	lot	or	a	Parking	Structure	
from a Frontage. 
Live-Work:  a Mixed Use unit consisting of a Commercial and Residential Function.  The 
Commercial Function may be anywhere in the unit. It is intended to be occupied by a business 
operator who lives in the same structure that contains the Commercial activity or industry. 
See Work-Live. 
Lodging:  premises available for daily and weekly renting of bedrooms. See Table 6E and 
Table 6F.
Long Pedestrian Shed:  a Pedestrian Shed that is 1/2 mile radius, used for planning when 
a transit station is present or proposed as a walking destination of approximately 10-15 
minutes. See Pedestrian Shed.
Lot:		a	parcel	of	land	accommodating	a	building	or	buildings	of	unified	design.	
Lot Line:  the boundary that legally and geometrically demarcates a Lot.
Lot Width:  the measurement of the Principal Frontage Line of a Lot.
Manufacturing:  premises available for the creation, assemblage and/or repair of artifacts, 
using	table-mounted	electrical	machinery	or	artisanal	equipment,	and	including	their	Retail	
sale.
Marquee:  a structural feature of a building that provides shelter and sign space. 
Massing:  the general size and shape of a building.
Meeting Hall:  a building available for gatherings, including conferences. 
Message Board:  a sign with changeable text. Non-electronic Message Boards typically 
consist of letters attached to a surface within a transparent display case. Electronic Message 
Boards	typically	have	a	fixed	or	changing	message	composed	of	a	series	of	lights.
Mixed Use:  multiple	Functions	within	the	same	building	on	different	floors	or	by	adjacency,	
or in multiple buildings by adjacency or proximity.
Mullion:  a structural member joining windows and/or doors in a single structural opening.
Muntin:  a structural member supporting individual panes of glass in a single sash or window.
Nameplate:  a sign consisting of either a panel or individual letters applied to a building, 
listing the names of businesses or building tenants.



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC73

CHAPTER 8. DEFINITIONS OF TERMS

New Community:  a Walkable settlement intended for a land area that was previously 
undeveloped, or that has been cleared for new development.
Office:  premises available for the transaction of general business but excluding Retail, 
artisanal and Manufacturing uses. See Table 6E.
Old Town Sector:  the S3 Sector on the Leander Sector Map, delineating the traditional 
urbanized area of Old Town.
Open Space:  land intended to remain undeveloped or adapted as Civic Space.
Outbuilding:  an Accessory Building, usually located toward the rear of the same Lot as a 
Principal Building, and sometimes connected to the Principal Building by a Backbuilding. 
See Table 8A.
Outdoor Display Case:  a sign consisting of a lockable metal or wood framed cabinet with 
a transparent window or windows, mounted onto a building wall or freestanding support. It 
allows the contents, such as menus or maps, to be maintained and kept current. 
Park:  a Civic Space type that is a natural preserve available for unstructured recreation. 
See Table 3F. 
Parking Structure:  a building containing one or more Stories of parking above grade. 
Passage:  a pedestrian connector, open or roofed, that passes between buildings to provide 
shortcuts through long Blocks and connect rear parking areas to Frontages. 
Participating Parcel:		a	land	area	smaller	than	the	minimum	required	for	a	Community	Unit	
in its Sector, which can nevertheless contribute to a Concept Plan. See Section 1.4.1 and 
Section 4.4.
Path:  a pedestrian way traversing a Park or rural area, or alongside a Road, ideally con-
necting directly with the urban Sidewalk network. 
Pedestrian Shed:  a land area that is centered on a common destination such as a main 
Civic Space or a transit station. Its size is related to the average walking distance for the 
applicable	Community	Unit	type.	Pedestrian	Sheds	are	used	to	plan	communities.	See	specific	
types Linear Pedestrian Shed, Long Pedestrian Shed, and Standard Pedestrian Shed. 
Peg-a-Track:  parallel dashed pavement markings that continue a Bicycle Lane through an 
intersection. 
Physically-Separated Bicycle Lane:  a uni- or bi-directional Bicycle Lane separated from the 
motor vehicle travel lanes by Curbs, railings, plantings, parked cars, and/or grade separation. 
Planter:  the element of the Public Frontage which accommodates street trees, whether 
continuous or individual.
Plaza:  a Civic Space type designed for Civic purposes and Commercial activities in the 
more	urban	Transect	Zones,	generally	paved	and	spatially	defined	by	building	Frontages.	
Pork Chop Return:  triangular piece of trim at the bottom of a sloped fascia or cornice.
Principal Building:  the main building on a Lot, usually located toward the Frontage. See 
Table 8A.
Principal Entrance:  the main point of access for pedestrians into a building.
Principal Frontage:  on corner Lots, the Private Frontage designated to bear the address 
and Principal Entrance to the building, and the measure of Lot Width. Prescriptions for the 
parking	Layers	pertain	only	to	the	Principal	Frontage.	Prescriptions	for	the	first	Layer	pertain	



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC74

CHAPTER 8. DEFINITIONS OF TERMS

to both Frontages of a corner Lot. See Frontage. 
Private Frontage:  the privately held Layer between the Frontage Line and the Principal 
Building Facade. See Table 6C and Table 8A.
Public Frontage:  the area between the outer edge of the Vehicular Lanes and the Frontage 
Line. See Table 3D and Table 3E.
RCD:  Regional Center Development.
Rear Alley:  a more urban vehicular way located to the rear of Lots providing access to 
service areas, parking, and Outbuildings, and containing utility easements.
Rear Lane:  a more rural vehicular way located to the rear of Lots providing access to service 
areas, parking, and Outbuildings, and containing utility easements.
Regional Center Development:  one of the Community Units regulated in this Code, con-
stituting a high-density town or downtown with rail transit. 
Residential:  characterizing premises available for long-term human dwelling. 
Retail:  characterizing premises available for the sale of merchandise and food service. See 
Table 6E and Table 6F.
Retail Frontage:		frontage	designated	on	a	Transect	Map	that	requires	or	recommends	the	
provision of a Shopfront, encouraging the ground level to be available for Retail use. See 
Section 3.3.
Road:  a Thoroughfare of rural character and low-to-moderate vehicular speed and capacity.  
See Table 3D.
Secondary Frontage:  on corner Lots, the Private Frontage that is not the Principal Front-
age.	As	it	affects	the	public	realm,	its	first	Layer	is	regulated.	See Table 8A.
Semi-Detached:  characterizing a building that occupies one side of the Lot with a Setback 
on the other side, attached to another of the same type on the adjacent Lot. See Table 6A. 
Setback:  the area of a Lot measured from the Lot line to a building Facade or Elevation 
that is maintained clear of permanent structures, with the exception of Encroachments listed 
in Section 5.7. See Table 8A.
Shed Awning:  an awning with two short sides in addition to the main canopy. 
Shingle Sign:		a	small	Blade	Sign	usually	mounted	on	the	ground	floor	level,	displaying	a	
building’s professional tenant directory.
Shopfront:  a Private Frontage conventional for Retail use, with substantial glazing and 
usually an awning, wherein the Facade is aligned close to the Frontage Line with the building 
entrance at Sidewalk grade. See Table 6C.
Sidewalk:  the paved section of the Public Frontage dedicated exclusively to pedestrian activity. 
Sidewalk Sign:  a movable freestanding sign that is typically double-sided, placed at the 
entrance to a business to attract pedestrians. 
Sideyard Building:  a building that occupies one side of the Lot with a setback on the other 
side. This type can be Detached or Semi-Detached depending on whether it abuts the neigh-
boring house. See Table 6A.
Signband:  the	horizontal	signage	area	on	a	Valance	or	Marquee.	
Soffit:  the underside of an overhanging roof eave.



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC75

Square:  a Civic Space type designed for unstructured recreation and Civic purposes, spatially 
defined	by	building	Frontages	and	consisting	of	Paths,	lawns	and	trees,	formally	disposed.	
See Table 3F.
Standard Pedestrian Shed:  a Pedestrian Shed that is an average 1/4 mile radius, about the 
distance of a 5-7 minute walk at a leisurely pace. See Pedestrian Shed.
Station Sector:  the S2 Sector  on the Leander Sector Map, the land area within the approxi-
mate walking distance of the Leander rail station. 
Stoop:  a Private Frontage wherein the Facade is aligned close to the Frontage Line with 
the	first	Story	elevated	from	the	Sidewalk	for	privacy,	with	an	exterior	stair	and	landing	at	the	
entrance. See Table 6C.
Story:  a habitable level within a building, excluding an Attic or raised basement. See Table 6B. 
Street:  a local Thoroughfare of urban character and low speed and capacity. See Table 3D 
and Table 3E.
Substantial Modification:  alteration to a building that is valued at more than 50% of the 
replacement cost of the entire building, if new.
Subzone:  a subordinate zoning category created for a new Community Plan that creates one 
or more distinctions within a Transect Zone. See Section 4.5. 
Swale:  a low or slightly depressed natural area for drainage.
Terminated Vista:  a location at the axial conclusion of a Thoroughfare. 
Thoroughfare:		a	way	for	use	by	vehicular,	bicycle,	and/or	pedestrian	traffic	and	to	provide	
access to Lots and Open Spaces, consisting of Vehicular Lanes and the Public Frontage. See 
Chapter 3 and Table 8A.
TND:  Traditional Neighborhood Development.
Traditional Development Sectors:  the S1 Sector, the S2 Sector, or the S3 Sector, reserved 
for present and future traditional walkable development patterns.
Traditional Neighborhood Development:  one of the Community Units regulated in this 
Code, constituting a village standing free in the countryside, or a contiguous neighborhood,  
with its own mixed use neighborhood center.
Transect:  a cross-section of or path through the environment showing a range of different 
habitats. The rural-urban Transect of the human environment used in this code is divided into 
six Transect Zones. These zones describe the physical form and character of a place, accord-
ing to the density and intensity of its land use and Urbanism. 
Transect Map:		the	official	map	or	maps	that	are	part	of	the	zoning	ordinance	and	that	delin-
eates	the	Transect	Zones,	Civic	Zones,	Special	Districts	if	any,	and	Special	Requirements	if	
any, of areas subject to, or potentially subject to, regulation by this Code.
Transect Zone:  one of several areas on a zoning map regulated by this code. Transect 
Zones are administratively similar to the land use zones in conventional codes, except that 
in	addition	to	the	usual	building	use,	height,	and	Setback	requirements,	other	elements	of	
the intended habitat are integrated, including those of the private Lot and building and Public 
Frontage. See Table 1C.
Turning Radius:  the curved edge of a Thoroughfare at an intersection, measured at the inside 
edge of the vehicular tracking. The smaller the Turning Radius, the smaller the pedestrian 
crossing distance and the more slowly the vehicle is forced to make the turn. See Table 3C 

CHAPTER 8. DEFINITIONS OF TERMS



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC76

CHAPTER 8. DEFINITIONS OF TERMS

and Table 8A.
Urbanism:  collective term for the condition of a compact, Mixed Use settlement, including 
the physical form of its development and its environmental, functional, economic, social, 
and cultural aspects.
Urbanized:  developed at T3 (Sub-Urban) intensity or higher.
Valance:  the portion of an awning that hangs perpendicular to the Sidewalk. 
Variance:  a ruling that would permit a practice that is not consistent with a provision of this 
Code.	A	Warranted	Variance	(“Warrant”)	permits	a	practice	that	is	consistent	with	the	Intent	
section (Section 1.3),	whereas	an	Exceptional	Variance	(“Exception”)	permits	a	practice	that	
is not. See Exception and Warrant. See Section 1.5.
Vehicular Lanes:	 	 lanes	 intended	 for	vehicular	 traffic	and	bicycles,	whether	 traveling	or	
parked. 
View Corridor:  a opening along a thoroughfare or between buildings to maintain a scenic 
view.
Walkable:  an urban planning term characterizing a place, such as a street, that is safe 
and pleasant for walking, or an area, such as a neighborhood, that contains residences and 
useful destinations within walking distance of each other.
Warrant:		a	ruling	that	would	permit	a	practice	that	is	not	consistent	with	a	specific	provision	
of	this	Code,	but	that	is	justified	by	Intent	(Section 1.3). See Variance.
Window Sign:  a sign placed or painted on the interior of a Shopfront window or the window 
of a business door.
Yard Sign:  a permanent freestanding sign in the Private Frontage, including a supporting 
post or posts. 
Yield:		characterizing	a	Thoroughfare	that	has	two-way	traffic	but	only	one	effective	travel	
lane because of parked cars, necessitating slow movement and driver negotiation. Also, 
characterizing parking on such a Thoroughfare.



LEANDER SMARTCODE

SC77

Thoroughfare (R.O.W.)

a. THOROUGHFARE & FRONTAGES

BuildingPrivate 
Frontage

Public 
Frontage

Vehicular 
Lanes

Public 
Frontage

Private 
Frontage

Building

Private LotPrivate Lot

TABLE 8A. DEFINITIONS ILLUSTRATED

   

1-Pavement Radius at the Curb
2-Effective Pavement Radius 
(+8 ft)

b. TURNING RADIUS

1 - Frontage Line 
2 - Lot Line 
3 - Facades 
4 - Elevations 

e. FRONTAGE & LOT LINES 

1st layer

2nd layer

3rd layer

20
 fe

et

d. LOT LAYERS

1 - Principal Building
2 - Backbuilding
3 - Outbuilding

c. BUILDING PLACEMENT

Pa
rki

ng
 La

ne

Mo
vin

g L
an

e

1

2

1

1

2

33

2
4

3

3

4 4

1

1

3

1

4 4

f. SETBACK DESIGNATIONS

1

1

1-Front Setback
2-Side Setback
3-Rear Setback

3 3

1

2

2

g. PEDESTRIAN SHED (STANDARD AND NETWORK)

1s
t la

ye
r

2n
d &

 3r
d

 la
ye

r

Principal Frontage

Se
co

nd
ar

y F
ro

nta
ge

































































































































































CD 1 
 

DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS FOR THE CONVENTIONAL DEVELOPMENT 
SECTOR (CD) - (IN ADDITION TO THE STANDARDS IN THE COMPOSITE 
ZONING ORDINANCE) 
 
1.     INSTRUCTIONS 
 
1.1 The following standards apply to the land areas marked Conventional 

Development Sector (“CD Sector”) on the Leander Sector Map. The provisions of 
the Composite Zoning Ordinance and these CD Sector Standards shall apply to the 
CD Sector. When in conflict, the CD Sector Standards shall prevail. 

 
1.2 The Conventional Development Sector allows conventional single-use and mixed-use 

development with some basic design standards to provide a transition to adjacent 
neighborhoods and pedestrian-oriented communities, and for the possibility of future 
retrofit of the area to a more pedestrian-oriented pattern. 

 
1.3  As an option to replace the Composite Zoning Ordinance in the CD Sector, developers 

may use the Leander SmartCode to design communities in the pattern of Clustered 
Land Development (CLD) or Traditional Neighborhood Development (TND) as 
provided in Article 4 of the SmartCode. If the SmartCode is elected, it shall be 
applied in its entirety for the CLD or TND, and not mixed with another code. 

 
2.     STREETS 
 
2.1 STREET TYPES 
 Streets in the CD Sector are designated as A-Streets, B-Streets or C-Streets. A-Streets 

provide the highest level of pedestrian amenities and are intended to provide a 
walkable connection between commercial and residential uses.  B-Streets are more 
automobile-oriented, but still provide pedestrian amenities and limit the amount of 
surface parking between buildings and the street.  C-Streets are the most automobile-
oriented and provide for significant amounts of surface parking between buildings and 
the public right-of-way.  

 
2.2 ALLOCATION OF A-STREET, B-STREETS AND C-STREETS IN COMMERCIAL AND 

MULTI-FAMILY  ZONING DISTRICTS 
Each quadrant of Town Center, Community Center or Neighborhood Center nodes as 
designated in the Comprehensive Plan shall include at least one A-Street which shall 
provide a pedestrian-oriented streetscape and shall be designed to provide 
connectivity through the entire quadrant and connect to adjacent residential 
neighborhoods.  Commercial and multi-family projects within each quadrant of Town 



CD 2 
 

Center, Community Center and Neighborhood Center nodes shall have frontage on or 
connect to the A-Street.  All other Arterial and Collector Streets identified on the 
Transportation Plan within the CD Sector and not designated as an A-Street are 
designated B-Streets.  The frontage roads of 183A Toll Road are designated C-Streets. 

 
2.3 SPECIFIC TO A-STREETS IN COMMERCIAL AND MULTI-FAMILY ZONING DISTRICTS 

 a.  Parking is not allowed between the building and the right-of-way. 
 b. Parallel or head-in, on-street parking spaces shall be provided. 
 c. Sidewalks at least 12 feet wide shall be provided adjacent to all building frontages. 
 d. Street trees are required every 30 feet. 
 e. A continuous building frontage is required.  The frontage may only be broken by a 

street, pedestrian passage, courtyard or similar feature approved by the Planning 
Director.  For phased building construction within a block, a screen wall or 
landscape hedge shall be constructed at the building frontage line prior to building 
construction. 

 f. Minimum building setbacks in the Composite Zoning Ordinance do not apply along 
the street frontage. 

 g. The provision of pedestrian amenities such as benches, outdoor dining areas, 
awnings over sidewalks and other similar features is encouraged.  The Planning 
Director may provide a reduction of the minimum parking or landscaping 
requirement of up to 15% for the provision of pedestrian amenities. 

 
2.4 SPECIFIC TO B-STREETS IN COMMERCIAL AND MULTI-FAMILY ZONING DISTRICTS 

 a. Surface parking consisting of no more than one drive aisle with head-in parking 
spaces on each side of the drive aisle are permitted between the building and the 
right-of-way. A landscape screen or wall no taller than 4 feet in height shall be 
constructed and maintained to screen the view of the parking from the adjacent 
ROW. 

b. All drive aisles shall be designed and easements conveyed to connect to existing or 
future drive aisles on adjacent properties. 

c. Sidewalks and street trees in compliance with the Composite Zoning Ordinance 
shall be required between the parking lot and the right-of-way. 

d. Sidewalks at least 12 feet wide shall be provided between the building facade and 
the parking lot, with trees in grates or planter boxes every 30 feet. 



CD 3 
 

e. A continuous building frontage is required.  The frontage may only be broken by a 
street, pedestrian passage, courtyard or similar feature approved by the Planning 
Director.  For phased building construction within a block, a screen wall or 
landscape hedge shall be constructed at the building frontage line prior to building 
construction. 

 f. The provision of pedestrian amenities such as benches, outdoor dining areas, 
awnings over sidewalks and other similar features is encouraged.  The Planning 
Director may provide a reduction of the minimum parking or landscaping 
requirement of up to 15% for the provision of pedestrian amenities. 

 
 
2.5 SPECIFIC TO C-STREETS IN COMMERCIAL AND MULTI-FAMILY ZONING DISTRICTS 

 a.  Surface parking lots between buildings and the right-of-way shall be no deeper 
than 300 feet nor wider than 600 feet.    

 b. Surface parking lots between buildings and the right-of-way shall be designed as a 
pattern of internal streets and parking blocks. The parking blocks may have 
standard parking spaces and aisles. The internal streets shall have travel lanes, curbs, 
street trees, sidewalks and utility easements and may have parallel parking. The 
parking blocks shall be left free of easements with the exception of those for 
drainage and parking lot lighting in order to accommodate future construction of 
buildings. 

  
3.  LOTS & BUILDINGS 
 
3.1 Lots and buildings are subject to the following standards in addition to the standards 

of the Composite Zoning Ordinance. 
 
3.2 SPECIFIC TO LOTS & BUILDINGS ON A- AND B-STREETS IN COMMERCIAL AND 

MULTI-FAMILY ZONING DISTRICTS 
 a.  Buildings fronting on A- and B-Streets shall meet the Type A Architectural 

Component of the Composite Zoning Ordinance. 
b. Buildings fronting on A- and B-Streets shall provide a primary entrance facing the 

street accessing the required sidewalk. 
 
3.3 SPECIFIC TO LOTS & BUILDINGS ON C-STREETS IN COMMERCIAL AND MULTI-

FAMILY ZONING DISTRICTS 
 a.  Buildings fronting on C-Streets shall meet the Type A or Type B Architectural 

Component of the Composite Zoning Ordinance. 
  



CD 4 
 

3.4 SPECIFIC TO LOTS AND BUILDINGS IN RESIDENTIAL ZONING DISTRICTS 
 a.  All residential buildings shall meet the Type A Architectural Component of the 

Composite Zoning Ordinance. 
 b. A minimum overall gross density of 4 units per acre shall be required. 

 c. Any residential lot narrower than 50 feet shall not have driveway access from the 
front of the lot and must provide parking access from a rear alley.  The Planning 
Director may waive this requirement if unusual conditions are found such as steep 
slopes or other restrictive topography, floodplains, existing and incompatible adjacent 
development or other similar features.  



CD 1 
 

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS FOR THE CONVENTIONAL 
DEVELOPMENT SECTOR (CD) - (IN ADDITION TO THE STANDARDS IN THE 
COMPOSITE ZONING ORDINANCE) 
 
1.     INSTRUCTIONS 
 
1.1 The following standards apply to the land areas marked Conventional 

Development Sector (“CD Sector”) on the Leander Sector Map. The provisions of 
the Composite Zoning Ordinance and these CD Sector Standards shall apply to the 
CD Sector. When in conflict, the CD Sector Standards shall prevail. 

 
1.2 The Conventional Development Sector allows conventional single-use and mixed-use 

development with some basic design standards to provide a transition to adjacent 
neighborhoods and pedestrian-oriented communities, and for the possibility of future 
retrofit of the area to a more pedestrian-oriented pattern. 

 
1.3  As an option to replace the Composite Zoning Ordinance in the CD Sector, developers 

may use the Leander SmartCode to design communities in the pattern of Clustered 
Land Development (CLD) or Traditional Neighborhood Development (TND) as 
provided in Article 4 of the SmartCode. If the SmartCode is elected, it shall be 
applied in its entirety for the CLD or TND, and not mixed with another code. 

 
2.     STREETS 
 
2.1 STREET TYPES 
 Streets in the CD Sector are designated as A-Streets, B-Streets or C-Streets. A-Streets 

provide the highest level of pedestrian amenities and are intended to provide a 
walkable connection between commercial and residential uses.  B-Streets are more 
automobile-oriented, but still provide pedestrian amenities and limit the amount of 
surface parking between buildings and the street.  C-Streets are the most automobile-
oriented and provide for significant amounts of surface parking between buildings and 
the public right-of-way.  

 
2.2 ALLOCATION OF A-STREET, B-STREETS AND C-STREETS IN COMMERCIAL AND 

MULTI-FAMILY  ZONING DISTRICTS 
Each quadrant of Town Center, Community Center or Neighborhood Center nodes as 
designated in the Comprehensive Plan shall include at least one A-Street which shall 
provide a pedestrian-oriented streetscape and shall be designed to provide 
connectivity through the entire quadrant and connect to adjacent residential 
neighborhoods.  Commercial and multi-family projects within each quadrant of Town 



CD 2 
 

Center, Community Center and Neighborhood Center nodes shall have frontage on or 
connect to the A-Street.  All other Arterial and Collector Streets identified on the 
Transportation Plan within the CD Sector and not designated as an A-Street are 
designated B-Streets.  The frontage roads of 183A Toll Road are designated C-Streets. 

 
2.3 SPECIFIC TO A-STREETS IN COMMERCIAL AND MULTI-FAMILY ZONING DISTRICTS 

 a.  Parking is not allowed between the building and the right-of-way. 
 b. Parallel or head-in, on-street parking spaces shall be provided. 
 c. Sidewalks at least 12 feet wide shall be provided adjacent to all building frontages. 
 d. Street trees are required every 30 feet. 
 e. A continuous building frontage is required.  The frontage may only be broken by a 

street, pedestrian passage, courtyard or similar feature approved by the Planning 
Director.  For phased building construction within a block, a screen wall or 
landscape hedge shall be constructed at the building frontage line prior to building 
construction. 

 f. Minimum building setbacks in the Composite Zoning Ordinance do not apply along 
the street frontage. 

 g. The provision of pedestrian amenities such as benches, outdoor dining areas, 
awnings over sidewalks and other similar features is encouraged.  The Planning 
Director may provide a reduction of the minimum parking or landscaping 
requirement of up to 15% for the provision of pedestrian amenities. 

 
2.4 SPECIFIC TO B-STREETS IN COMMERCIAL AND MULTI-FAMILY ZONING DISTRICTS 

 a. Surface parking consisting of no more than one drive aisle with head-in parking 
spaces on each side of the drive aisle are permitted between the building and the 
right-of-way. A landscape screen or wall no taller than 4 feet in height shall be 
constructed and maintained to screen the view of the parking from the adjacent 
ROW. 

b. All drive aisles shall be designed and easements conveyed to connect to existing or 
future drive aisles on adjacent properties. 

c. Sidewalks and street trees in compliance with the Composite Zoning Ordinance 
shall be required between the parking lot and the right-of-way. 

d. Sidewalks at least 12 feet wide shall be provided between the building facade and 
the parking lot, with trees in grates or planter boxes every 30 feet. 



CD 3 
 

e. A continuous building frontage is required.  The frontage may only be broken by a 
street, pedestrian passage, courtyard or similar feature approved by the Planning 
Director.  For phased building construction within a block, a screen wall or 
landscape hedge shall be constructed at the building frontage line prior to building 
construction. 

 f. The provision of pedestrian amenities such as benches, outdoor dining areas, 
awnings over sidewalks and other similar features is encouraged.  The Planning 
Director may provide a reduction of the minimum parking or landscaping 
requirement of up to 15% for the provision of pedestrian amenities. 

 
 
2.5 SPECIFIC TO C-STREETS IN COMMERCIAL AND MULTI-FAMILY ZONING DISTRICTS 

 a.  Surface parking lots between buildings and the right-of-way shall be no deeper 
than 300 feet nor wider than 600 feet.    

 b. Surface parking lots between buildings and the right-of-way shall be designed as a 
pattern of internal streets and parking blocks. The parking blocks may have 
standard parking spaces and aisles. The internal streets shall have travel lanes, curbs, 
street trees, sidewalks and utility easements and may have parallel parking. The 
parking blocks shall be left free of easements with the exception of those for 
drainage and parking lot lighting in order to accommodate future construction of 
buildings. 

  
3.  LOTS & BUILDINGS 
 
3.1 Lots and buildings are subject to the following standards in addition to the standards 

of the Composite Zoning Ordinance. 
 
3.2 SPECIFIC TO LOTS & BUILDINGS ON A- AND B-STREETS IN COMMERCIAL AND 

MULTI-FAMILY ZONING DISTRICTS 
 a.  Buildings fronting on A- and B-Streets shall meet the Type A Architectural 

Component of the Composite Zoning Ordinance. 
b. Buildings fronting on A- and B-Streets shall provide a primary entrance facing the 

street accessing the required sidewalk. 
 
3.3 SPECIFIC TO LOTS & BUILDINGS ON C-STREETS IN COMMERCIAL AND MULTI-

FAMILY ZONING DISTRICTS 
 a.  Buildings fronting on C-Streets shall meet the Type A or Type B Architectural 

Component of the Composite Zoning Ordinance. 
  



CD 4 
 

3.4 SPECIFIC TO LOTS AND BUILDINGS IN RESIDENTIAL ZONING DISTRICTS 
 a.  All residential buildings shall meet the Type A Architectural Component of the 

Composite Zoning Ordinance. 
 b. A minimum overall gross density of 4 units per acre shall be required. 

 c. Any residential lot narrower than 50 feet shall not have driveway access from the 
front of the lot and must provide parking access from a rear alley.  The Planning 
Director may waive this requirement if unusual conditions are found such as steep 
slopes or other restrictive topography, floodplains, existing and incompatible adjacent 
development or other similar features.  













SAVANNA RANCH,SEC 1

BENBROOK RANCH,
SEC 2

BENBROOK
RANCH
PARK

DEVINE
LAKE
PARK

BENBROOK RANCH,
SEC 1

PLAIN
ES

LEANDER
PARK & RIDE
RAIL STATION

EONCR,SEC 2

EONCR,SEC 1
EONCR,SEC 3

ESTATES OF
NORTH CREEK
RANCH, SEC 4

BAGDAD
ES

NORTHCREEK,SEC 3
HAWKESLANDING

NORTH CREEKSEC 2

NORTH CREEKSEC 1
NORTHCREEKCOMMPARK

LEANDER 2243
SUBDIVISION

H.E.B

BAGDAD
CEMETERY

BAGDADMEADOWS

WESTWOOD

CARNEROSSUBDIVISION
WESTVIEWMEADOWS

WESTVIEWMEADOWSSEC 4

OLDTOWNVILLAGE

OLD TOWNVILLAGE,SEC 2

OLD TOWNVILLAGE,SEC 1
LISD LISD

LISD

LEO
CTR

WA
LK

ER
 A

DD
ITI

ON

ATKIN ADDITION

MASONS ADDITION

ORIGINAL TOWN OF LEANDER

LEANDER CROSSING

LEANDER CROSSING

LEANDER CROSSING

OVERLOOK ESTATES

CRYSTALCROSSINGPH 1

RIDGEWOODNORTH

OAKRIDGE,SEC4

OAKRIDGE,SEC3

OAKRIDGE,SEC2

OAKRIDGE,SEC1

ALLENREEDACRES

LEANDERHEIGHTS, SEC 3

LEANDER
MS

LEANDERHEIGHTS,SEC 1

MAGNOLIA CREEK

MASONCREEKNORTH,SEC 2

MASONCREEKNORTH,SEC 1

MASON CREEK.SEC 4

FALCON OAKS,SEC 1

BLEDSOE
PARK

VISTA RIDGE,PH 3

VISTA RIDGE,PH 1
VISTA RIDGE,PH 4 LION ACRES

LEANDERHEIGHTS,SEC 2

MASON
CREEK
PARK

N. CREEK
RANCH
PARK

NORTH CREEK DR

GLOBAL VILLAGE

NORTHSIDE MEADOW

VILLAS ATVISTA RIDGE
VISTA RIDGE,PH 2A

PALMERA RIDGE

MARBELLA

STEWARTCROSSING

4C

2A

5D

4C

2A

4C

3A

4C

4C

3A

4C

5D

5D

5D

5D

4C

4C

2A

5D

4C3A3A

4D

5D

4C
5D

3A

5D

4C

3A

5D

2A

2A

3A

4C
4C

4C

4C

4C
4C

4C

4C5C

3A

CR 270

US
 18

3

RM 2243

HERO WAY

183A TOLL RD FR NB

183A TOLL RD FR SB

183A TOLL RD SB
183A TOLL RD NB

W SOUTH ST

S U
S 

18
3

N 
US

 18
3

CR
 27

6

OLD 2243 WEST

ME
L M

AT
HI

S A
VE

E SAN GABRIEL PKWY

S W
ES

T D
R

HA
LS

EY
 DR

BA
KE

R 
LN

CR
 26

9

US
 18

3 S
B

OA
K 

GR
OV

E R
D

W SAN GABRIEL PKWY

LION DR

US
 18

3 N
B

W BR
OAD

E S
T

CR 26
7

LEE DR

HERITAGE GROVE RD

PVR 918

ORCHARD DR

HORIZON PARK BLVD

MUNICIPAL DR

CHRISTOPHER LN

WH
ITL

EY
 D

R

CA
RO

L A
VE

ME
SA

 D
R

S BAGDAD RD

SOUTH BROOK DR

RE
MI

NG
TO

N 
DR

MASON ST

HORSESHOE DR

MI
KE

S W
AY

AMANDAS WAY
CL

AY
TO

N 
DR

KING LN

BROADE WAY

NORTH CREEK BLVD

NO
RT

HE
RN

 TR
L

RIVA RIDGE DR

HAZELWOOD ST

JENNIFER LN

SHERRY DR

LEN BAR LN

TE
RR

AC
E 

DR
HE

NS
LE

Y D
R

LOS ROBLES RD

COLLABORATIVE WAY

BA
GD

AD
 ST

E SOUTH ST

PVR 949

METRO DR

NORWOOD DR

E EVANS ST

RUBLES CT
JOE BATES DR

TEAL LN

PARKHURST DR

MUNICIPAL DR

±0 1,000 2,000 3,000
Feet

ZONING CASE 14-Z-013
TOD PUD Amendment &
SmartCode Update

SFR
SFE
SFS
SFU
SFC 
SFL

SFT 
SFU/MH
TF
MF
LO 
LC

GC
HC
HI
PUD

TOD PUD Boundary
City Limits
Future Annexation Per DA
Involuntary Annexation
Voluntary Annexation



Amending Ordinance #05-028-00 

Ordinance    
 
 AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF LEANDER, TEXAS, AMENDING 

THE TRANSIT ORIENTED DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
COMPREHENSIVE MAP; AMENDING THE SMARTCODE WHICH 
GOVERNS AND REGULATES THE SUBDIVISION AND ZONING OF 
LAND WITHIN THE AREA OF THE DISTRICT; AND PROVIDING FOR 
RELATED MATTERS.  

 
 Whereas, the City of Leander, Texas (the “City”) established the Transportation Oriented 
Development District (the “TODD”), adopted the TODD Comprehensive Plan (the comprehensive 
master plan for the TODD), and adopted the Smart Code to govern subdivision and zoning of land 
with the TODD by Ordinance No. 05-028-00; 
 
 Whereas, the City Council finds that the amendments adopted herein are reasonable and 
necessary to promote efficient and orderly development of property within the TODD;   
  
 Whereas, interested landowners and their representatives have participated in, and have had 
the opportunity to participate in, the on-going planning process and hearings during the preceding 
calendar months, notices have been given and public hearings held regarding the proposed 
amendments;  
  
 Whereas, the Planning & Zoning Commission held a public hearing on the proposed 
amendments and forwarded its recommendation on the amendments to the City Council; and 
 
 Whereas, after publishing notice of the public hearing at least fifteen days prior to the date 
of such hearing, the City Council at a public hearing has considered the proposed amendments and 
finds that the amendments are reasonable and necessary to protect the health, safety, and welfare of 
the present and future residents of the City; 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF LEANDER, TEXAS, THAT: 
 
 Section 1. Findings of Fact. The above and foregoing recitals are hereby found to be 
true and correct and are incorporated herein as findings of fact.  
 
 Section 2. Amendment of the SmartCode and TODD Comprehensive Plan.  The 
City Council hereby amends and replaces in its entirety the Smart Code adopted by Ordinance No. 
05-028-00 with the SmartCode spread on the minutes of this meeting and incorporated herein for all 
purposes (the "SmartCode").  The SmartCode shall be the Uniform Development Code for the 
geographic area of the City that is included within the boundaries of the Transit Oriented 
Development District, described in Section 3.  The SmartCode shall be applicable to and govern the 
subdivision and zoning of land only within the geographic area that is within the TODD 
Comprehensive Plan.  The TODD Comprehensive Plan adopted by Ordinance No. 05-028-00 is 
hereby amended in its entirety and replaced by the Sector Map and Transect Sector Map spread 
upon the minutes of this meeting and incorporated herein for all purposes (the “Sector Map”).   



 

 
 

 
 Section 3. Property Subject to this Ordinance.  This ordinance applies to the 
properties identified in Ordinance No. 05-028-00, as shown in Exhibit “A”. The property is an 
area of approximately 2,400 acres in the Williamson County portion of the City of Leander, 
Texas as of May 16, 2014, lying generally east of County Road 279 / Bagdad Road, north of East 
Crystal Falls Roadway, west of County Roads 269 and 270, and south of the San Gabriel River; 
including  US Highway 183  from generally north of its intersection with Sonny Drive to south 
of its intersection with High Gabriel East; including the 183A Toll Road from just south of its 
intersection with High Gabriel East to approximately 2,500 feet south of its intersection with RM 
2243, and  including the following subdivisions Old Town, and the Original Town of Leander 
Mason's, Atkin's, and Walker's Additions.   
 
 Section 4. Application and Limitations.  The SmartCode adopted herein shall govern 
the subdivision and zoning of land within the boundaries of the Sector Map.  If the SmartCode is 
found or held to be invalid or unenforceable with respect to any lot, tract or parcel of land, in whole 
or in part, the subdivision and zoning ordinances applicable to the areas of the City that are outside 
the boundaries of the Sector Map shall apply to, regulate and control the development, use, 
subdivision and zoning of such lot, tract or parcel of land within the boundaries of the Sector Map.  
The SmartCode may be amended, from time to time, as necessary to give effect to its intent, and the 
legislative authority and discretion of the City Council is reserved in full. 
   
 Section 5. Conventional Development Sector; Zoned Properties.  The Conventional 
Development Sector set forth and shown on the Sector Map may be developed pursuant to Article 
14.02, Exhibit A, Leander Code of Ordinances, as amended (the “Composite Zoning Ordinance”), 
Article 10.02, Exhibit A, Leander Code of Ordinances, as amended (the “Subdivision Ordinance”), 
and other development ordinances of the City that are in effect from time to time in the areas of the 
City that are outside the boundaries of the Sector Map, subject to compliance with regulations 
applicable to the Conventional Development Sector set forth in the SmartCode and adopted with 
this ordinance. 
 
 Section 6.   Previously Adopted PUD Plans.  Properties located within the TODD for 
which the City Council has adopted a zoning ordinance and PUD Plan (the “PUD Zoning 
Ordinance”) prior to the effective date of this Ordinance, in response to a zoning application filed by 
the property owner or the property owner’s representative, shall continue to be subject to and 
governed by the specific provisions of the PUD Zoning Ordinance applicable to the property, and 
the specific provisions of such PUD Zoning Ordinances will not be amended by this Ordinance, 
provided that the property owner may elect to be governed by provisions of the SmartCode adopted 
herein to the extent authorized by the SmartCode.   
 
 Section 7. Savings Clause.  All rights and remedies of the City of Leander are 
expressly saved as to any and all violations of the provisions of any ordinances affecting zoning 
within the City which have accrued at the time of the effective date of this ordinance; and, as to such 
accrued violations and all pending litigation, both civil and criminal, whether pending in court or 



 

 
 

not, under such ordinances, same shall not be affected by this ordinance but may be prosecuted until 
final disposition by the courts. 
 
 Section 8. Effective Date. This ordinance shall take effect on the date set forth below 
on which this ordinance was adopted on second and final reading.  Pending zoning applications for 
property within the TODD that were filed prior to the effective date of this ordinance shall be 
governed by Ordinance No. 05-028-00, the SmartCode, and TODD Comprehensive Plan in effect 
prior to the effective date of this ordinance, unless the applicant elects to be governed by the 
SmartCode and Sector Map adopted by this Ordinance. 
 
 Section 9. Open Meetings. It is hereby officially found and determined that the 
meeting at which this ordinance is passed was open to the public as required and that public notice 
of the time, place, and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open Meetings Act. 
      
 
 PASSED AND APPROVED on First Reading this the 3rd day of July, 2014. 
 FINALLY PASSED AND APPROVED on this the 17th day of July, 2014. 
 
 
THE CITY OF LEANDER, TEXAS ATTEST: 
 
 
 
__________________________________ _____________________________ 
Christopher Fielder, Mayor     Debbie Haile, City Secretary 



SAVANNA RANCH,SEC 1

BENBROOK RANCH,
SEC 2

BENBROOK
RANCH
PARK

DEVINE
LAKE
PARK

BENBROOK RANCH,
SEC 1

PLAIN
ES

LEANDER
PARK & RIDE
RAIL STATION

EONCR,SEC 2

EONCR,SEC 1
EONCR,SEC 3

ESTATES OF
NORTH CREEK
RANCH, SEC 4

BAGDAD
ES

NORTHCREEK,SEC 3
HAWKESLANDING

NORTH CREEKSEC 2

NORTH CREEKSEC 1
NORTHCREEKCOMMPARK

LEANDER 2243
SUBDIVISION

H.E.B

BAGDAD
CEMETERY

BAGDADMEADOWS

WESTWOOD

CARNEROSSUBDIVISION
WESTVIEWMEADOWS

WESTVIEWMEADOWSSEC 4

OLDTOWNVILLAGE

OLD TOWNVILLAGE,SEC 2

OLD TOWNVILLAGE,SEC 1
LISD LISD

LISD

LEO
CTR

WA
LK

ER
 A

DD
ITI

ON

ATKIN ADDITION

MASONS ADDITION

ORIGINAL TOWN OF LEANDER

LEANDER CROSSING

LEANDER CROSSING

LEANDER CROSSING

OVERLOOK ESTATES

CRYSTALCROSSINGPH 1

RIDGEWOODNORTH

OAKRIDGE,SEC4

OAKRIDGE,SEC3

OAKRIDGE,SEC2

OAKRIDGE,SEC1

ALLENREEDACRES

LEANDERHEIGHTS, SEC 3

LEANDER
MS

LEANDERHEIGHTS,SEC 1

MAGNOLIA CREEK

MASONCREEKNORTH,SEC 2

MASONCREEKNORTH,SEC 1

MASON CREEK.SEC 4

FALCON OAKS,SEC 1

BLEDSOE
PARK

VISTA RIDGE,PH 3

VISTA RIDGE,PH 1
VISTA RIDGE,PH 4 LION ACRES

LEANDERHEIGHTS,SEC 2

MASON
CREEK
PARK

N. CREEK
RANCH
PARK

NORTH CREEK DR

GLOBAL VILLAGE

NORTHSIDE MEADOW

VILLAS ATVISTA RIDGE
VISTA RIDGE,PH 2A

PALMERA RIDGE

MARBELLA

STEWARTCROSSING

4C

2A

5D

4C

2A

4C

3A

4C

4C

3A

4C

5D

5D

5D

5D

4C

4C

2A

5D

4C3A3A

4D

5D

4C
5D

3A

5D

4C

3A

5D

2A

2A

3A

4C
4C

4C

4C

4C
4C

4C

4C5C

3A

CR 270

US
 18

3

RM 2243

HERO WAY

183A TOLL RD FR NB

183A TOLL RD FR SB

183A TOLL RD SB
183A TOLL RD NB

W SOUTH ST

S U
S 

18
3

N 
US

 18
3

CR
 27

6

OLD 2243 WEST

ME
L M

AT
HI

S A
VE

E SAN GABRIEL PKWY

S W
ES

T D
R

HA
LS

EY
 DR

BA
KE

R 
LN

CR
 26

9

US
 18

3 S
B

OA
K 

GR
OV

E R
D

W SAN GABRIEL PKWY

LION DR

US
 18

3 N
B

W BR
OAD

E S
T

CR 26
7

LEE DR

HERITAGE GROVE RD

PVR 918

ORCHARD DR

HORIZON PARK BLVD

MUNICIPAL DR

CHRISTOPHER LN

WH
ITL

EY
 D

R

CA
RO

L A
VE

ME
SA

 D
R

S BAGDAD RD

SOUTH BROOK DR

RE
MI

NG
TO

N 
DR

MASON ST

HORSESHOE DR

MI
KE

S W
AY

AMANDAS WAY
CL

AY
TO

N 
DR

KING LN

BROADE WAY

NORTH CREEK BLVD

NO
RT

HE
RN

 TR
L

RIVA RIDGE DR

HAZELWOOD ST

JENNIFER LN

SHERRY DR

LEN BAR LN

TE
RR

AC
E 

DR
HE

NS
LE

Y D
R

LOS ROBLES RD

COLLABORATIVE WAY

BA
GD

AD
 ST

E SOUTH ST

PVR 949

METRO DR

NORWOOD DR

E EVANS ST

RUBLES CT
JOE BATES DR

TEAL LN

PARKHURST DR

MUNICIPAL DR

±0 1,000 2,000 3,000
Feet

EXHIBIT A
ZONING CASE 14-Z-013
TOD PUD Amendment &
SmartCode Update

SFR
SFE
SFS
SFU
SFC 
SFL

SFT 
SFU/MH
TF
MF
LO 
LC

GC
HC
HI
PUD

TOD PUD Boundary
City Limits
Future Annexation Per DA
Involuntary Annexation
Voluntary Annexation









June 20, 2014 
 
Tom Yantis, AICP 
Director of Development Services 
City of Leander 
Post Office Box 319 
Leander, Texas 78646 
 
Dear Tom: 
 
As Leander’s consultants for your SmartCode and map revisions, we thought it might be helpful 
to respond to some recent comments, heard in public meetings and in the press, about what was 
formerly known as the “TOD” planning area, and to summarize your new proposed code and 
map. Please feel free to share this with the Planning Commission and City Council, and with any 
other interested parties. 
 
Working closely with your office, and having listened to all stakeholders over the past six 
months, we presented a new code that is more realistic for today’s market conditions. We believe 
it supports the vision expressed by the community for a more walkable, lively Leander, while 
providing real choices in neighborhood character, from a rural “tiny town” to a more “small 
town” feel to more “big town” urban character.  Most of the landowners, at the meeting we 
attended in May, used their comment time to address the old 2005 SmartCode rather than the 
new proposed 2014 Leander SmartCode.  Criticism of the 2005 code, while of interest, is not as 
helpful as comments on the 2014 draft.  
 
Here is a summary of the most significant changes. 
 
SMARTCODE STANDARDS 

- parking minimums removed 
- lot width minimums removed 
- height minimums removed or reduced   
- density minimums removed 
- residential building type minimums removed 
- mixed use minimums removed 
- architectural standards streamlined 
- entire code updated from model Version 6 (2005) to the best of the latest versions, v9.2 

and an in-house v9.5.  It is less repetitive and shorter, and it is easier to find the standards 
for each Sector or Transect Zone.  

 
These substantial changes offer opportunity for more incremental, small-scale development. For 
example, a T5 main street can be one story--one of the major requests by your stakeholders. 
 
MAPPING APPROACH & OPTIONS 
Landowners shared with us that they were constricted by the Transect Zoning from 2005.  The 
proposed Sector Map addresses this by allowing developers to produce their own Transect 
Zoning map for each community unit (transit village, village, or crossroads).  The rules for these 



are broad and flexible, with a range of percentages of Transect Zones permitted.  Property 
owners and developers can decide for themselves where the main street or center of the 
community should be, and how big the community should be. 
 
Further, 

- The options in the new Conventional Development Sector have been increased.  And the 
use of the SmartCode made optional in the CD Sector.  

- The options for using either code in Old Town are still in place, and the SmartCode 
standards are more flexible. 

- The options for Transect Zoning in the SmartCode Sectors S1 and S2 are much more 
open than before. 

 
Of the three map options provided on May 6, we recommend Option A which includes the 
largest of the three land areas proposed to be regulated by the SmartCode.  A City the size of 
Leander can surely support this much walkable development—particularly since it is centered on 
a coveted light rail stop. This would allow Old Town the ability to expand its historic walkable 
pattern without running into auto-dominated sprawl projects.  Otherwise, Old Town may become 
isolated.   
 
Leander residents should be aware that once land is removed from the SmartCode Sectors, it is 
unlikely that it will ever be developed as a walkable place, having been sold off in pieces and 
developed as sprawl. 
 
 
PERMITTING PROCESS 
In the 2014 Leander SmartCode, the process for submitting such community plans (Concept 
Plans, Preliminary Plats, and Final Plats) is now streamlined within the area regulated by the 
SmartCode.  Approvals not requiring variances may be obtained administratively, without a 
time-consuming and costly public process.  This change recognizes that the vision and standards 
for communities were already vetted through the public process that led to the drafting of the 
new code, so applicants would not have to go through that again. 
 
Those landowners asking to be removed from the SmartCode Sector area so they can develop 
conventionally should be aware that they are giving up the potential for this expedited process.  
 
ACREAGE OF SMARTCODE AREA 
We heard the feedback from nearly everyone that the SmartCode area was too large. We agreed 
with those who said it should not be mandatory east of the tollway, and in our new maps, 
reduced the mandatory SmartCode area down to only 30% of the previous map. Even so, we 
heard from a stakeholder that there are no other “TODs” in America as large as what we are still 
proposing in Option A (640 acres regulated). We explained that the 640-acre SmartCode 
planning area could encompass more than just a “TOD” or Transit-Oriented Development. Some 
of it is appropriate for a TOD, while other areas are more appropriate for less intense 
development, but still walkable.  And it does not all have to be developed; some land may be set 
aside for parks or greenways, for example. 
 



In any case, SmartCodes regulate much, much larger areas in numerous towns and cities around 
the country. To name just a few: 
 
- El Paso, Texas: SmartCode adopted as option citywide 2008. 160,320 acres. 
- Montgomery, Alabama: SmartCode adopted citywide as option, 2005, 155 sq mi or 99,200 
acres. Transect Zoned mandatory mapped areas total approximately 1200 acres. 
- Miami, Florida: Transect Zoned and adopted SmartCode citywide 2009, 55 square miles or 
35,200 acres. 
- Bradenton, Florida, SmartCode adopted for downtown 2011. 1830 acres. 
- Dardienne Prairie, Missouri, SmartCode adopted for uptown 2007.  2816 acres. 
-San Antonio, Texas, mandatory SmartCode Sector Plan for City South, 2005.  56,320 acres. 
 
It is very common for a “new town” according to SmartCode principles to encompass several 
pedestrian sheds or community units. Some examples include: 
Kentlands/Lakelands, Gaithersburg MD - 700 acres  (now a thriving 25-year-old town) 
Hampstead, Montgomery AL – 425 acres (about three ped sheds.) 
New Town St. Charles, Missouri, SmartCode 2003, 755 acres. 
 
GENERAL THOUGHTS 
While we are not marketing experts, our sense as planners and urbanists is that an emphasis on 
the Leander station area as a “destination” for outsiders may not be sustainable. If instead the 
emphasis is on the quality of life for the residents, then Leander will always have constituents, 
customers, taxpayers, contributors – i.e., citizens.  Why not bring the idea of “destination” down 
to the scale of the neighborhood? The new SmartCode can provide a walkable destination every 
day for the residents of each neighborhood. They’ll have a choice, and not be forced to drive to a 
store, a church, a park, or the train station. If they are among the 50% of Americans who do not 
drive, like the elderly, or children, they won’t be isolated, or always dependent on drivers. 
 
Tom, as you stated in the May 6 meeting, everyone agrees that the old “TOD” code that is in 
place now is not working. Therefore we join you in urging Leander to give the new 2014 
Leander SmartCode a try, and then give it some room to breathe. After all, codes are living 
documents. Nothing is written in stone, and there will certainly be amendments in the future, as 
with any code, if something is not working.   
 
The code is for all the people who live in, and are going to live in, the center of Leander. We 
congratulate you on your vision for this important area, and share your desire to see it succeed. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Sandy Sorlien, Smartcode Local 
and 
Mike Watkins, MICHAEL WATKINS ARCHITECT, LLC 
  
 



AGENDA ITEM # 23 

 

 
Executive Summary 

July 17, 2014 

 

Agenda Subject:  Consideration of the assignment and assumption of the Randall's 
development agreement from Randall's Food and Drugs, LP to Property Development Centers, 
LLC. 
  
Background:  The City Council approved a development agreement with Randall's Food and 
Drugs, LP on October 4, 2012 relating to the development of a Randall's grocery store and retail 
center at the southwest corner of Lakeline and Crystal Falls.  Randall's has requested that the 
agreement be assigned to their development entity. 
  
     
Origination:  Applicant: David Hardin, Real Estate Director, on behalf of Randall's 
 
Recommendation:  Staff recommends conducting the second public hearing 
 
Attachments:  

1. Assignment and Assumption Request 
2. Original Development Agreement 
 

Prepared by:   Tom Yantis, AICP 
 Director of Development Services 
 
 7/9/2014 



































































AGENDA ITEM # 24 

 

 
Executive Summary 

 
July 17, 2014 

 
 
Agenda Subject:   Consider nominations for appointment to Parks and 
                                    Recreation Advisory Board, Library Foundation  
                                    Board, Public Arts Commission, Veterans Park Committee 

and Economic Development Committee 
 
 
Background:   Several City Boards and Commissions have vacancies.  The 

Board Selection Committee has conducted several interviews and 
is ready to make nominations to fill the vacant positions 

 
 
Origination: Board Selection Committee  
 
  
Financial  
Consideration:   No financial impact to the City 
 
  
Recommendation: No staff recommendation 
 
 
 
Attachments: Recommendations & Applications 
 Tim Lehner – Parks & Rec. 
 Nancy Knickerbocker-Penick – Public Arts Commission 
 Janice Murdoch – Library Foundation Board 
 Bart Tracy, Carl Norman, Kenny King – Veterans Park Committee 
 Eric Johnson – Economic Development Committee 
  
Prepared By: Debbie Haile, City Secretary  
 







Tim Lehner 
412 Olmos Drive • Leander, TX 78641 

Email: timlehner@gmail.com 
Mobile: 845-430-2252 

  
 

PROFESSIONAL PROFILE 
•  Successful 15-year industrial career in Electronic Design Automation (software). 
•  Broad background in analysis and numerical modeling of complex systems. 

 
EDUCATION 

•  Ph.D., Experimental Physics.  University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, Urbana, IL, 1994. 
THESIS: Interface roughness mediated optical decay and carrier dynamics in type II AlAs/GaAs 
heterostructures. 

•  M.S., Computer Science.  University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, Urbana, IL, 1997. THESIS: Fast 
eigenvector solver of self-consistent 3-D Poisson-Schroedinger calculations. 

•  B.S., Physics, Math-CS.  Wheaton College, Wheaton, IL. 
 
EMPLOYMENT HISTORY 

•  Magma Design Automation (Synopsis).  Austin, TX. Member of Consulting Staff. 2006-Present 
•  IBM. East Fishkill, NY.  Advisory Scientist. 1997-2006 
•  University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign. Urbana, IL.  Teaching Assistant (1986-1989), Research 

Assistant (1989-1997). 
 
 
HONORS AND AWARDS 

•  Outstanding Technical Achievement Award. IBM, 2002 
•  Patents: 
◦ #6175947 Method of extracting 3-D capacitance and inductance parasitics in sub-micron VLSI chip 

designs using pattern recognition and parameterization.  January 16, 2001. 
◦ #7472364 Method of matching layout shapes patterns in an integrated circuit using Walsh patterns. 

December 30, 2008. 
◦ #7441213 Method for testing the validity of initial-condition statements in circuit simulation, and 

correcting inconsistencies thereof.  October 21, 2008. 
◦ #20030188267 (pending) Circuit and method for modeling I/O 
◦ #20030182639 (pending) Circuit simulator and method. 

 
OTHER 

•  Knowledge of Unix, C/C++, Matlab, Perl, bash/csh. 
•  Fluent in French. 
• Intern Mentor, IBM, East Fishkill, NY 2001-2004. 

Supervised and directed the work of several interns and the Ph.D. research of one intern, serving on 
her thesis committee. 
 
 

References available upon request. 

mailto:timlehner@gmail.com




































AGENDA ITEM # 25 

 

 
Executive Summary 

 
July 17, 2014 

 
 
Agenda Subject:   Appointments or reappointments to the BCRUA Board 
 
 
Background:   The City is required to appoint members to serve on the BCRUA 

Board annually.  Council Member Dishongh currently holds the 
Director position which is a voting member.  Mayor Pro Tem 
Garcia holds the position of Citizen Director which is a non-voting 
position. The Director position, held by Council Member Dishongh 
is currently the Secretary of the Board and will be moved to Vice 
President this month.     

 
Origination: Mayor Fielder  
 
  
Financial  
Consideration:   No financial impact to the City 
 
  
Recommendation: No staff recommendation 
 
 
Attachments: none 
 
Prepared By: Debbie Haile, City Secretary  
 


	Agenda
	Item # 8
	Item # 9
	Item # 10
	Item # 11
	Item # 12
	Item # 13
	Item # 14
	Item # 15
	Item # 16
	Item # 17
	Item # 18
	Item # 19
	Item # 20
	Item # 21
	Item # 22
	Item # 23
	Item # 24
	Item # 25



